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This is the third and final volume of Anthony Emery’s magisterial
survey, Greater Medieval Houses of England and Wales, 1300-1500.
The late middle ages was the first great era of house building in
England and Wales. The many surviving residences were often a
consequence of social aspiration and financial good fortune, but fre-
quently also a reflection of political, economic, and regional cir-
cumstances. Together, these houses stand as a vital mirror of
everyday life during the two centuries before the Tudors.

Across the three volumes Emery has examined afresh and
reassessed nearly 700 houses, the first comprehensive review of the
subject for 150 years. Covered are the full range of leading homes,
from royal and episcopal palaces to smaller manor houses and more
modest residences, as well as relevant community buildings such as
academic colleges, monastic granges, and secular colleges of
canons.

This third volume surveys southern England and is divided into
three regions, each of which is given a separate historical and archi-
tectural introduction. Included throughout the volume are the-
matic essays prompted by key buildings, addressing subjects as
varied as household lodgings, the defence of southern England
during the Hundred Years’ War, and medieval furnishings. The text
is complemented throughout by a wide range of plans and diagrams
and a wealth of photographs showing the present condition of
almost every house discussed.

For the general and academic reader alike, nearly every page
offers fresh insights into both well-known and lesser-known houses,
including many never before described. The richness of the subject
and the author’s probing analysis of early houses across the country
make this volume — and the series — an essential source for anyone
interested in the history, architecture, and culture of medieval
England and Wales.
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INTRODUCTION

N O new cathedrals were built in England or Wales after 1250, and
few monasteries were established between that time and their dis-
solution 300 years later. The castles of Edward I in North Wales
were almost the last fortresses to be erected in this country before
the advent of Henry VIII’s coastal forts and blockhouses. A consid-
erable number of churches were extended or rebuilt during the later
middle ages but they conformed in plan and liturgical function to
those of an earlier age. On the other hand, houses had begun to take
a recognisable form during the twelfth and thirteenth centuries
which reached fulfilment as a prism of society during the following
two centuries. They reflected the spread of wealth, the rise of new
families, social differentiation, and the organisation and growth
of household institutions. Out of the one and a half thousand med-
ieval houses that have survived in England and Wales, nearly 700
are described in these three volumes.! They stand as testimony to
the first great age of domestic architecture, for that was not an
achievement of the Tudors but a development of Plantaganet
society between 1300 and 1500. It is these houses that lie at the
heart of architectural and related institutional development during
the later middle ages.

The crown, the aristocracy, and the gentry of medieval England
were the movers and shakers of society. What they did, and how
they did it, at national, regional, and local levels affected the
government, the economy, the welfare, and the social justice or
injustice of the country atall levels of society. It also determined the
character, taste, and standards of society, and their homes are the
visible witness to those standards.

Innovations in house design and layout occurred in residences of
the ruling class. The crown and the aristocracy had the financial
means and the need to encourage the necessary developments.
Changes were gradual rather than dramatic, but once a technical
improvement or social enhancement had been achieved, it was
usually swiftly followed by people of the same social scale.
Furthermore, there was considerable mobility of craftsmen
throughout the later middle ages, capable of adapting or modifying
recent technical developments or the greater residential scale
demanded by a client. There was therefore a fairly rapid ‘trickle
down’ effect from high-status buildings. Leading members of
society were able to call upon the services of architectural praction-
ers who not only served regionally distinguished patrons but might
well carry out royal commissions. During the late fourteenth
century, the master-mason John Lewyn was as important in the
north of England as William Wynford in the south-west or Henry
Yevele in south-east England. Such people travelled considerable
distances to give their advice or submit designs for a new project.
Consequently, stylistic developments and architectural innovations
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FIGURE I The region covered in volume III

spread rapidly, contrary to the commonly held assumption that the
further houses lay from the metropolis, the more old-fashioned
they became. Enough contracts survive to show that kings, mag-
nates, leading prelates, and élite gentry had a very clear idea of what
they wanted in the way of building requirements and laid down
precise parameters. Palace-fortresses and large houses were not
built from off-the-peg designs but were a reflection of the personal
lifestyle and individual needs of the patron.

The consequences were threefold. The houses of England and
Wales display very considerable individuality. They follow the basic
components of residential planning — hall, chamber, and services —
but with variety and character. They made a visual and symbolic
statement befitting the owner’s rank, with their form and planning
determined by military or defensive factors, social status, domestic
comfort, ceremonial setting, circulation patterns, and the need for
privacy. Yet no two houses are alike, even when built for the same
patron or by the same master-mason.

These houses reveal something of the career, taste, and financial
resources of the owner. The availability of funds helped to deter-
mine the scale and quality of the residence and the standard of dec-
oration and content. A house can also indicate the size of the
patron’s patrimony, his political and social standing, and the scope
of his household. It is a living organism expressing his needs and
habits as well as those of his descendants, for most houses are
subject to the changes and modifications of later generations. In
distinguishing those changes, you also see the aspirations and
culture of later periods — whether of the fifteenth, seventeenth, or
nineteenth century — as well as those of the originator. More pre-
cisely, houses reflect the temper, the fears, and the ebullience of the
years when they were constructed or modified.

A house is essentially the framework to provide living space, so

that, apart from its form, the use made of that space is a primary
function of the building. This flows from an understanding of the
organisation of a household, how the occupants lived, and how the
demands for greater privacy were met through the planning func-
tion. Churches were built for contemplation, prayer, and ceremony
— an envelope for reflecting on the infinite wisdom and wonders of
God. Greater houses were built to induce awe, to declare status, and
to accommodate the owner’s family and his household. Neither
were built for the contemplation of architectural historians. Houses
were living units, sometimes with decorative features and increas-
ingly so as the middle ages progressed. Earlier historians have been
prone to concentrate on architectural analysis and detailing in pref-
erence to working from the residence’s initial function and purpose,
so that my approach has embraced different tenets:

* House development did not occur in a vacuum but as a conse-
quence of political, social, economic, and financial factors.
Hence the historical introductions and the references to the con-
temporary milieu in many individual house assessments.

¢ Domestic architecture was not a single stream of technical devel-
opment, emenating from some central but unspecified source. It
was a series of eddies — with regional centres — which interrelated
and spread to a greater or lesser extent. They were most obvious
in Durham, Winchester, and London during the later four-
teenth century and in Exeter, Shrewsbury, and Cheshire in the
later fifteenth century. These volumes have been divided on a
regional basis to help point up some of these local movements.

* Across this movement was a contrary one based on personal rela-
tionships and the networking of friends. The royal court, parlia-
ment, and private households were obvious channels of
intercommunication where senior churchmen, leading nobles,
and courtiers could discuss their building plans and influence each



INTRODUCTION

other, as the royal court did during the mid-fourteenth century,
or the friends of Ralph, Lord Cromwell and succeeding treasur-
ers of England in the mid-fifteenth century. The same interrela-
tionship can be seen between the greater and lesser gentry as they
served local administrative interests. Hence the thematic essays
on tower-houses, lodging ranges, and trophy houses.

* Houses were the framework accommodating the household, the
family, and their support staff, of different social rank under the
same roof. The major concern of architectural historians with
architectural detailing has obscured the fundamental purpose of
medieval house development — social distinction, greater
privacy, and more elaborate lifestyles. Some of the essays
embrace these considerations, including those on licences to
crenellate, secular art, and the impact of the Hundred Years’ War
on English houses.

* We have usually lost the immediate environment of any medie-
val residence. In recent years, the study of monastic establish-
ments has turned from the church and claustral buildings to
those of the outer court. This has yet to extend to the greater
houses where the buildings and enclosure were frequently
timber-framed and modest. But the larger picture extends to the
adjacent landscape, though post-medieval developments, chang-
ing taste, and fashion have replaced or destroyed the gardens and
parklands that were frequently an adjunct to such properties.
Within the last few years, landscaping and setting have been
given more weight, particularly in castle studies, while the
archaeological examination of early gardens has become a spe-
cialist discipline. But we still need to try and establish why a
patron chose a particular location or how he modified it to meet
his particular needs. Why did John Holand, earl of Huntingdon,
build Dartington Hall so far from the royal court, and to what
extent did he develop the previous house or landscape the
grounds close to his residence?

* Ifhouses are the means to protect the family unit, then they need
to be considered in the broader context of comparable residen-
tial institutions — contemporary educational foundations, secular
colleges of priests, monastic granges and lodgings — with their
comparable structural and functional components.

Like most disciplines, that of architectural history never stands
still. That is what makes it so fascinating. Studies like this are simply
snapshots of appreciation and understanding at a particular time.
They will undoubtedly be challenged or confirmed, though there is
a danger when the most recent critical appraisal is automatically
considered to be the most reliable one. On the one hand, studies
change with fashion, personal enthusiasm, or tendentious views (as
with military architecture). On the other hand, new documentary
sources are uncovered, greater academic precision is applied, tech-
nological developments are harnessed, and reassessments made
leading to new perspectives (and prejudices). Examples have arisen
during the course of preparing this trilogy. In volume I, my view
that Markenfield Hall was a single build of ¢.1310 was queried by a
correspondent who pointed out that there are some architectural
features that suggest the incorporation of a thirteenth-century
structure. I agree with him.? Since volume II was published, the
dendrochronology analysis of Baddesley Clinton has brought some
much-needed precision to this essentially Tudor house with only a
small standing part credited to 1458-9.> While I was preparing
volume III, an even more radical review was made of Acton Court,

highlighting how the interpretation of an apparently straightfor-
ward house can totally change. Within a few years, a house attrib-
uted to the early seventeenth century, and essentially considered to
be of one build with some jaded classical detail,* proved to be a
complex medieval site with a sequence of standing structures initi-
ated for a visit by Henry VIII and Anne Boleyn in 1535 and devel-
oped piecemeal during the mid-sixteenth century rather than to a
pre-ordained plan. The new ranges were innovatory, structurally
and decoratively, and were the precursor of the Elizabethan style.
Yet the site retained several medieval buildings to create a vital link
bridging the formative years of post-medieval architecture.’ None
of this is likely to have been appreciated had Acton Court contin-
ued to remain in occupation. At how many other houses would such
a revealing study be possible if family use did not inhibit such thor-
ough examination? And in this particular instance, the proposed
‘redevelopment’ programme by a developer in 1984 included
pulling down the internal partition with the rarest wall paintings (at
that stage unknown), multi-room division, new windows, no site
excavation, and the construction of four private houses within the
immediate grounds. I have no doubt that some of the other houses
in this volume will similarly reveal a more complex development
history during the next century or so.

As in the previous volumes, secular cathedral closes, town houses,
and vernacular properties have not been covered as they warrant sep-
arate study, while the opening and closing dates of the later middle
ages have been generously interpreted. The three regions of south-
ern England embrace the pre-1974 county boundaries, with the
property assessments prefaced by short historical and architectural
introductions. Relevant houses serve as an introduction to the essays
covering broader aspects of domestic architecture. Thornbury
Castle introduces one on household lodgings, the defences added to
Amberley Castle and Halnaker House lead to a consideration of the
impact of the Hundred Years’ War on English houses, while the wall
paintings at Cothay and Fiddleford Manor initiate a discussion on
medieval secular art. Regional bibliographies are selective while
those listed under a property are limited to publications which con-
tribute to our knowledge of that building.

Visiting a substantial body of houses over an eighteen-year period
has been a joy, but it has not been without some limitations. In his
introduction to Castles in 1926, Sir Charles Oman told intending
visitors that they must not attempt to present themselves at a prop-
erty as the resident owner might be giving a garden party, holding a
political meeting, or offering lunch to his tenants.’ I have never
experienced any of these activities taking place. Owners are often at
business, frequently in London, helping with farm or estate mainte-
nance, or organising the opening of the house to the public. Their
wives are either driving the children to or from school, maintaining
the garden, or cooking for visitors. Permanent staff are rare: part-
time staff are precious and few in number. Some houses have been
converted into hotels, schools, or holiday homes, while others are in
multi-occupation. Even so, I have been overwhelmed by the house
standards maintained and the love given to so many properties. The
great majority I have visited are still inhabited, with rooms in regular
use, beds made and slept in, and kitchens adapted with modern facil-
ities. In more than a handful of properties, I have finished my visit
with a headache after losing count of the number of rooms exam-
ined and making notes on the extent and sometimes contradictory
nature of the surviving evidence. For you are privileged to see areas
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where visitors rarely penetrate, examine roofs, and scour cellars
(nearly all post-medieval though Hunsdon was a welcome excep-
tion) in the hope of finding earlier structures.

There are few pleasures greater than privacy and I have been
most privileged to intrude on it. The amount of time I have been
able to spend examining a property therefore depended entirely on
the wishes of the owner. I have had to cover a number of houses in
less than an hour, walking behind the owner while scribbling at a
rate of knots as we move through an environment never before seen
by an architectural historian. Usually owners have been most gen-
erous with their time, and at some of the largest properties I have
been allowed to stay for days. There have been occasional restric-
tions. I have not taken interior photographs. The exceptions have
been few and with permission. Owners are equally cautious about
the preparation of floor plans. Some ask that they should not be
published, while others only allow a skeleton outline. Occasionally,
one or two rooms have been excluded from a visit, for security has
become of paramount importance since the 1970s.

Owners and architectural historians see houses in a different light
from each other, but there are also other approaches. The engrav-
ings of the Buck brothers encouraged the appreciation of the ruinous
and Gothick disorder in place of the symmetry and formality of
earlier topographical studies, while J. M. Turner’s perception of our
architectural heritage was steeped in the contagious spirit of
Romanticism. Whereas I see Trecarrell Manor as a never completed
courtyard residence of ¢.1500-10, with the granite hall and free-
standing chapel with their retaining roofs bearing comparison with
those at Cotehele, John Piper saw Trecarrell Manor as ‘farm build-
ings with medieval remains, perfect in rare and once common rela-
tionship of old and new. Medieval doorheads, mouldings, and other

fragments here and there . . . lying in grass and nettles. The whole
well-placed among old trees in a dip, approached only by remote
flower-starred lanes of East Cornwall. The ruins of hall of manor
house. ... of exquisite colour, greys, pale, stained with yellow litchen.
Interior used as a store, drying place, etc., earth floor, good beamed
ceiling. Darkness penetrated by lights from open door, cracks and
crevices. Windows largely blocked with slate slabs. Chapel across the
yard. Stone floor, traceried window intact without glass. Spreading
ash tree with twisting bole at corner. Muddy roads, washing hanging
out!”” All these are valid approaches to a subject that can be inspir-
ing, frustrating, puzzling, and quirky. It can bring discoveries as well
as disappointments, but most of it is a journey of adventure and fun,
as L hope the following pages will gradually reveal.

NOTES

1 In addition to the 700 houses noted in detail, a further 350 are briefly
described in the text. The earlier centuries were covered by Margaret
Wood in her two Archaeological Fournal studies in 1935 and 1950 listing
thirty-nine Norman and seventy thirteenth-century houses. As a conse-
quence of more recent research, these numbers should be increased by
at least 20-25 per cent. The balance is essentially made up of medieval
town houses. Fragmentary and excavated evidence is excluded from this
total.

2 Since confirmed in Med. Arch. 47 (2003) 292.

3 N. Alcock and R. A. Messon, Antiq. Jour. 85 (2005), which corrects
Greater Med. Houses, 11 (2000) 359-61.

4 N. Burton, Arch. Jour: 134 (1973) 329.

5 K. Rodwell and R. Bell, Acton Court (2004).

6 (1926) v.

7 July 1943, quoted and illustrated in R. Ingrams and J. Piper, Piper’s Places
(1983) 96-7.
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THE THAMES VALLEY:
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

GLOUCESTERSHIRE

THE River Thames and its tributaries have determined the land-
scape of Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, and Oxfordshire but the river
barely affects Gloucestershire. Its birth there is indistinct and the
nascent water barely achieves scale before it has left the county a
little beyond Lechlade. The River Severn and the Cotswold hills
are the primary features of Gloucestershire, determining three
contrasting landscapes. The Vale of Gloucester is spanned by the
Severn and its tidal estuary. The latter is flanked by the Forest of
Dean towards the Welsh border and the Vale of Berkeley (a contin-
uation of its sister vale) to the foot of the south Cotswolds. This
range of hills extends the length of the county and initiates its most
lovable characteristics. Beyond the Cotswold escarpment lies a
broad, gently sloping limestone plateau dipping towards the distant
Thames valley.

Each of these distinctive landscapes determines its building
materials, population, and economic prosperity. The Forest of
Dean was little populated and therefore lacks major medieval
houses. In contrast, the Severn was a leading trade route, frequently
subject to flooding but serving a rich pastoral region. The
Cotswolds were exposed, windswept, and thinly inhabited, as some
parts still are, but the hills provided some of the most profitable
sheep runs in England.

Arable farming was the main source of livelihood in the early
middle ages but the sheep runs developed in size between the
twelfth and fourteenth centuries to become the dominating
resource of the region. The lay subsidy of 1334 reveals that the
income-generating resources of Gloucestershire positioned the
county as eighth in England even though it had a relatively low pop-
ulation.! Bristol, near the mouth of the Severn estuary was the
leading export centre for the region. By the mid-fourteenth
century, it had become the second most wealthy town in the
country.

The limestone hills were a primary source of high-quality build-
ing stone and roof tiling, with a coloration that ranges from deep
cream to pale tobacco tones that has endeared it to generations of
church, house, and village builders. It was used for all high-quality
houses throughout the middle ages. The low plateau of the Forest
of Dean contains three series of rocks, a deep red sandstone suit-
able for building, coal measures, and limestone with iron ore
deposits which provided the livelihood of Forest occupants until
the twentieth century. The clay soils of the Vale and the lack of
building stone encouraged the use of timber framing, particularly
for houses lower down the social scale. The prior of Llanthony
used it for his country houses at Prestbury (fourteenth century) and
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FIGURE 2 The Thames valley: residences described in the text

Brockworth (1534-9), both timber-framed above a stone ground
floor, as was Manor Farm at Frampton on Severn (early fifteenth-
century rear wing). Total timber framing as at Ashleworth Manor
was not socially acceptable before the early sixteenth century. Like
Worcestershire, Gloucestershire is still a rural county, and like its
northern neighbour it was dominated throughout the middle ages
by ecclesiastical institutions.

There were fifteen monasteries in the county excluding short-
lived or minor foundations, six of them among the largest and most
wealthy in the country. The older-established Benedictine order
led with its foundations at Gloucester, Tewkesbury, and
Winchcombe, but the three twelfth-century Augustinian founda-
tions at Bristol, Cirencester, and Llanthony were almost as wealthy.
Their manors dominated the region, with just over a third of
the county in the hands of the church, though much of the
territorial wealth of Tewkesbury lay south of the Thames rather
than in Gloucestershire. The Cistercian foundations at Flaxley,
Kingswood, and Hailes were less important than their sister houses
in northern England.

Tewkesbury and Bristol abbeys also enjoyed the benefit of being
adopted by the two leading families — the Despensers made the
former their mausoleum from the early 1320s, while the lords of
Berkeley, who had founded St Augustine’s, Bristol, maintained their
patronage throughout the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries but
particularly during the vital years of rebuilding from 1298 to about

1330. Gloucester was not so fortunate initially, but its acceptance of
the body of the murdered Edward II at the close of 1327 trans-
formed its finances through royal donations and privileges. In all
three cases, the building consequences were among the most inno-
vative for the period in Europe.

The Berkeley family dominated lay society in the county. It might
be thought that the Clare earls of Gloucester would be more pow-
erful but they held relatively few estates in the region. The majority
lay in East Anglia, Kent, and Glamorgan, and after the death of the
last male heir at Bannockburn (1314) they were divided between
three co-heiresses with the Gloucestershire estates going to the
Despenser family. They lived at Hanley Castle in Worcestershire
from the early fourteenth to the late fifteenth century and now
acquired the important lordship and manor of Tewkesbury 7 miles
away, where Edmund Despenser (d.1375) built a house destroyed in

1471.2 Permanent occupation by the Berkeleys made them the fore-
most family in the region before the advent of the Beauforts in the
eighteenth century. This long-living house eschewed national poli-
tics in favour of local supremacy, except in the fourteenth century
when the two aspects were in tandem. The Berkeleys also had
several collateral branches to maintain their influence more widely
than would otherwise have been possible.

There were few other major families. Giffard of Brimpsfield
came to prominence under John Giffard (d.1299), a follower of
the earl of Gloucester with cousins who held prominent positions
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pLATE 1 Berkeley Castle: hall range

as archbishop of York (d.1279) and bishop of Worcester (d.1302).
However, the capture and execution of his son John (d.1322) as a
rebel supporter of the earl of Lancaster brought the direct line to
an end. The Giffards were the only family to establish a baronial
caput on the inhospitable Cotswolds. The younger branch of the
family that settled in the region at this time did so at
Leckhampton Court at the foot of the escarpment facing the Vale,
where virtually all the other leading families settled. This included
the earls of Stafford who had held the manor of Thornbury since
1348. It was only after Edward Stafford, 3rd duke of Buckingham
chose to make that manor house his principal seat and redevel-
oped it as a magnificent palace-fortress from 1507 onwards that
the spotlight of national politics fleetingly illuminated this corner
of Gloucestershire.

During the first part of the fourteenth century, about half the
manors in the county were held by the gentry.® Of this broad social
group of knights and esquires, the number of resident members of
substance has been estimated as about fifty in the 1340s with about
thirty of knighthood status, apparently reducing to about half that
estimated number by 1400.* They included the four collateral
branches of the house of Berkeley at Beverston, Coberley, Dursley,
and Uley and lesser families such as de la Mare of Cherington,

Denys of Syston, and Poyntz of Iron Acton. The foundations at
Acton Court nearby represent one of the few fourteenth-century
gentry houses to survive, together with the hall and services range
of Giffard at Leckhampton Court. They and the courtyard walls of
the Berkeleys at Coberley and the Willingtons at Yate make up less
than a tenth of the gentry houses known to have existed at that
time.’

It is often forgotten that knights were a broadly based class of
society, variously and vaguely defined, with a diverse span of
incomes that fluctuated between generations depending on the
number of manors they held and the range of additional financial
resources they mustered. In 1316, some knights and esquires in
Gloucestershire lived on the resources of a single manor (Sir John
Giffard of Leckhampton) but the average was about four manors
(John Berkeley of Dursley). Holders of six to eight manors were less
frequent (Theobald Russel of Dyrham with six manors in other
counties), while ten to thirteen manors were rare (Sir John
Willington of Yate with eight manors in other counties).®

More houses survive from the fifteenth century, including the
spectacular residence of the last Lord Sudeley, the Blaket family at
Icomb, Sir Maurice Denys at Olveston, followed by the expansion
of Acton Court by Sir Nicholas Poyntz during the 1530s. Poyntz
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was one of the local gentry families which rose on the tide of Tudor
politics and prosperity to mix with those newly risen from yeoman
stock or successful immigrant courtiers. Together, their industry and
resources transformed the landowning pattern of Gloucestershire
and its houses.’

Until the early fourteenth century, wool from the Cotswolds was
not significant, but its exploitation by monastic and lay families
from the fourteenth to the sixteenth century brought about an era
of sustained expansion and economic prosperity. For the monaster-
ies, it offset the decline in lay interest and property bequests that
many houses suffered during the last two centuries of their life.
Their granges spanned the Cotswolds as their abbatial houses did
the Vale. In 1276, Kingswood had eight granges producing wool
sales of 40 sacks per annum during the second half of the thirteenth
century. With a sack equalling 364 1b, this implied a flock of at least
8,000 sheep.? In the following century, Winchcombe had a similar
annual output.” The granges are mainly identified today by their
barns, as at Siddington (1245-7 Cirencester), Calcot (c.1300
Kingswood), Frocester (c.1300 Gloucester), Stanway (c.1370
Tewkesbury), and Farmcote (c.1500 Hailes)!® but the houses at
Ashleworth, Brockworth, Forthampton, and Prinknash are still
occupied, though the last three have been extended by later gener-
ations.!!

Sheep farming consolidated and enhanced the predominant posi-
tion of the Berkeleys and was a major factor in the redevelopment
of their houses as well as Berkeley and Beverston castles during the
first half of the fourteenth century. It brought similar benefits to a
broad span of ‘gentle’ families as well as those lower down the social
scale, but it was exploitation from a distance by families living in the
Vale and on the west flank of the Cotswolds rather than on the hills.
The anomaly of this era of rebuilding from the late fourteenth to
the mid-sixteenth century was that though many parishes rebuilt
their churches on the grandest scale and many small households and
townspeople benefited from redeveloping their homes in stone, the
more substantial landowners preferred the softness of the Vale to
the high, windswept hills.!2

There are few gentry houses before Richard II’s reign but their
numbers swell rapidly towards the Tudor period. Of the forty-seven
resident gentry families in the fourteenth century, two-thirds lived
in the Vale.!? At least twenty-three houses in south Gloucestershire
retain part of their late medieval roof structures, a further twenty
have features suggesting medieval origins, and a further seven have
reused medieval timbers.!* These fifty homes are admittedly at the
vernacular rather than the gentry level but they again reflect the
wealth of the region and its residential distribution pattern. As in
Wiltshire and Somerset, it is not the absence of later industrialisa-
tion that might otherwise have destroyed such homes but the pros-
perity of the region that accounts for the existence of such a
substantial number of houses today of late medieval origin. Even
after cloth making supplanted wool growing under the Tudors and
Stuarts, the centres of profitability did not move far, only from the
Cotswold hills to the valleys round Stroud, and to the Wiltshire
towns of Bradford-on-Avon and Trowbridge a little further south.

OXFORDSHIRE
Unlike Gloucestershire, none of the three counties of the central
Thames valley makes a natural unit, physically or administratively.
More than its neighbours, the county of Oxford straddles the
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Midlands and southern England, with the River Thames acting as
much as a physical division as the administrative boundaries mark
its territorial limits. In contrast, the Thames forms a well-defined
and long-standing administrative division between Berkshire and
Buckinghamshire at variance with its geographical impact as a
primary traffic artery serving the whole region.

None of the counties has a distinctive personality. They are
physically modest, rural, and long dominated by the county
town, though that has always been modest in the case of
Buckinghamshire. Oxfordshire is bounded by the Cotswolds to the
west, the Berkshire Downs to the south, and the Chilterns to the
south-east. The meadows and pastureland of the Thames and its
tributaries are the primary characteristics of the region. However,
the transfer of the lowland Vale of Whitehorse immediately south
of the Thames from Berkshire to Oxfordshire in 1974 was one of
the few sensible local government and boundary changes made at
that time. Berkshire and Buckinghamshire are also defined by the
tributaries that drain into the ever-widening Thames, and by the
low chalk hills to the south. The former created two broad clay low-
lands — the Vale of Aylesbury to the north-east crossed by the
Thame and the Ray, and the Vale of Whitehorse to the south with
the Ock as its most important tributary. The chalk downs sweep
south-westwards, with the Thames gap at Goring separating the
beech-clothed Chiltern Hills of south Buckinghamshire and
Oxfordshire from the open, bare downs of Berkshire. South of these
downs is the Kennet valley, the major routeway from the Thames
at Reading to Bath and the west followed in turn by road, canal,
railway, and motorway to the point north of Newbury where
Swindon’s presence forced the concrete ribbon to cross the downs.

Oxfordshire has been well endowed with good-quality building
stone. The Cotswold limestone in the west runs into iron ore depos-
its to the north-east, creating a distinctive belt of golden brown
stone in the area around Banbury and nearby Northamptonshire.
Oxford and the university in the central clay vale were fortunate in
the ready availability of ragstone from the low hills west of Oxford
with better-quality stone initially from Taynton, followed by
Wheatley from the late thirteenth century, Upton-by-Burford
during the fourteenth century, and Headington before the close of
that century. It was the combination of high-quality building stone,
awell-organised quarry industry, and river transport availability that
made it suitable not only for prestigious building at Oxford and
mansions such as Blenheim Palace, but also further afield at
Windsor Castle, St Paul’s Cathedral, and Westminster."> To the
south-west, the flint of the Chilterns is far less practical, as Greys
Court demonstrates, making the area among the earliest to take
advantage of the virtues of brick at Stonor Park (1416-17) and
Ewelme (1430s).

Except for the modest acres of the Wychwood Forest between
the Evenlode and Windrush valleys, there is little trace today of the
royal forests that extended across the centre of Oxfordshire. They
were essentially in three groups, with much open countryside and
fields between the more dense woodland. Wychwood in the west
extended from Burford to Woodstock, Shotover lay east of Oxford,
centred on Beckley, with Stowood immediately north of it and con-
tinuing to the forest of Bernwood in Buckinghamshire.!® Henry I
had built a royal hunting lodge at Woodstock, much favoured by his
successors, King John built another further west at Langley, and
Edward III rebuilt the earlier lodge at Beckley. There was also a
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PLATE 2 Broadway, Abbot’s Grange: from the east

separate tract of woodland covering much of the Chiltern Hills,
with a line of medieval parks centred on the major houses at Thame,
Shirburn, Ewelme, Stonor, Greys Court, and Watlington Castle.
These, together with the royal residences, were the two major con-
centrations of private parks. They reached a development peak
during the second half of the thirteenth century,!” with that estab-
lished by Lord Lovel in 1442 for his mansion at Minster Lovell
among the last of the medieval creations.

Considering the region’s accessibility and intense cultivation, it is
interrupted by surprisingly few large towns, though Oxford and
Wallingford both suffered from economic misfortune throughout
the later middle ages. People in the south-west and near Henley
looked towards London as the outlet for their goods and produce,
while those in the north-west and at Banbury found accessible
markets in the south Midlands and the Cotswolds. It is in this latter
part of the county that the combination of the wool trade and inten-
sive farming practices resulted in the line of splendid churches from
Adderbury and Bloxham to Chipping Norton, Burford, Witney,
and Bampton. The royal castles guarding the strategic river cross-
ings at Oxford and Wallingford made them significant during the
mid-twelfth-century struggles between Stephen and Matilda and
again during the reign of King John, but Oxfordshire otherwise
played little part in national affairs until the outbreak of Civil War
in 1642.
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As with Gloucestershire, the largest landowner in the county was
the church. The estates of the bishop of Lincoln were important
long after the see had been moved from Dorchester to Lincoln four
years after the Conquest. The bishop’s substantial holding, centred
on Banbury, Dorchester, and Thame, was not far less than that of
the bishop of Winchester with his estates at Witney (with an early
palace there) and in the north-west. Not surprisingly, the monastic
houses were in the vanguard of sheep farming,'® with Osney as the
pre-eminent monastic landowner, together with Thame and
Dorchester. And of course, the Oxford colleges were fundamentally
religious foundations with an ever-growing body of local estates.

Until the mid-fourteenth century, secular holdings had been
modest, with no dominant magnate or gentry leader. But the
growth of estate sales, particularly after the Black Death, and the
increasingly popular practice by monastic houses of leasing their
land rather than farming it directly, encouraged the prosperity of
several local families. The Stonors, for instance, initially built up
their estate by gradually purchasing one manor after another. By
1300, their holding comprised at least a dozen tenements varying
from 10 to 40 acres, scattered across the parishes of Stonor,
Watlington, Pyrton, Pishill, and Bix.!” From such modest begin-
nings, the family developed their landholding and standing in
society with a house that reflected the financial acumen of Sir John
Stonor (d.1361) as much as his appointment as Chief Justice of
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Common Pleas. Sir Edmund Chelrey (d.1372) similarly built up an
estate centred on his manor house at Childrey, near Wantage (for-
merly in Berkshire). He also came from a family of slender means
but became a lawyer in the 1340s, and a local administrator, and was
appointed to the King’s Bench in 1371.20 In the fifteenth century,
Richard Quatremains (d.1473), a customs official in London,
became a justice of the peace, a knight of the shire, and sheriff of
Oxfordshire.?! Living near Thame, he founded the chapel at Rycote
and the almshouses at Thame. Similar gentry evidence can be seen
in the brasses of the Dormer and Quatremains families at Thame,
that to Thomas Chaucer (d.1434) at Ewelme, and the chapel at
North Leigh built by Elizabeth Wilcote in about 1440 in memory
of her husband.

The shire’s landscape is still reflected in the agricultural pattern
of today — sheep to the west, open farmland and some woodland in
the centre, pasture and more dense woodland towards the
Chilterns. Equally telling are the considerable number of villages
that were deserted from the mid-fourteenth century onwards,?? one
of the more heavily affected areas in England, and the seventy or so
moated sites established in the clay vales. Though the forests have
been fragmented and frequently cleared, much post-medieval park-
land has been created out of them to form the ornamental settings
for the stone mansions at Cornbury (1666-77), Blenheim (1705),
and Ditchley (1720), though those at Bletchingdon (1782) and
Kirtlington (1742) were created out of farmland.”?

BERKSHIRE AND BUCKINGHAMSHIRE

Berkshire and Buckinghamshire were essentially pastoral counties,
with the two vales practising mixed farming and the downs support-
ing extensive sheep runs. Many of the large flocks were owned by
the abbeys of Abingdon, Notley, and Reading, but they were
increasingly outnumbered by those of minor gentry families like the
Stonors who took advantage of the leasing of monastic demesne
lands during the later middle ages. Their wool served the cloth
towns of Abingdon, Newbury, and Reading, but there were no com-
parable centres in Buckinghamshire apart from the market centre
at Aylesbury.

Buckinghamshire was (and still is) one of the most secluded of the
home counties close to the metropolis, and its low-density popula-
tion was scattered across the region as far as the infertile Chilterns.
Berkshire was not much more densely populated except in the Vale
of Whitehorse which enjoyed a buoyant economy arising from its
agrarian prosperity and the migration of cloth making from Oxford
and Abingdon to villages such as East Hendred and Steventon in
the fourteenth century, and developing high productivity levels in
the later fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries.

The light sandy soils of south-east Berkshire severely restricted
economic growth, while the several thousands of acres covered by
the royal forest of Windsor inhibited settlement. The situation
changed to some extent with extensive disafforestation after 1227,
with evidence of occupational growth for about a century until
stunted by the Black Death.?* Recovery to the same level was not
achieved before the early sixteenth century. Disafforestation was
also responsible for the parallel development of deer parks, which
similarly declined in number and extent after the mid-fourteenth
century.”’ Over forty have been identified in Berkshire (and more
than fifty in Buckinghamshire), principally established in east
Berkshire and the Kennet valley between 1200 and 1350. The
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crown was the leading holder with twelve, followed by the six
belonging to two bishops and four monasteries. Most of the
remaining parks were held by local landowners, for the six magnate
holdings were those of the absentee earls of Pembroke, Leicester,
and Salisbury.?®

Considering the long-standing presence and ever-developing
magnificence of the royal castle at Windsor, the region was surpris-
ingly lacking in magnate presence. The middle Thames valley was
dominated by the pivotal position of the royal castles at Wallingford
and Reading. There was a royal manor at Princes Risborough
throughout the middle ages, while the earl of Norfolk had a house
of some importance at Hampstead Marshall which came into the
king’s hands between 1345 and 1361.?7 Some of the most wealthy
and active centres were the monasteries at Abingdon, Reading,
Missenden, and Thame. Their hospitality, particularly at the first
two, was often stretched to the limit. Their estate houses could be
large as at Cumnor, while their granges differed little in scale and
layout from gentry houses as Charney Bassett and Sutton Courtenay
still show, though the latter was only developed to its present scale
after the abbey had given it up in the 1280s. This is demonstrated
even more forcefully at Bisham, the Thames-side preceptory built
by the Knights Templars in ¢.1260, taken over by the earl of
Salisbury in 1338 who added a chamber block to the earlier hall to
increase the accommodation for himself and his family.?® Even then,
the magnate’s house was considerably smaller than that of his eccle-
siastical equivalent, the bishop of Salisbury, at Sonning.

Sonning has long since been pulled down but has been excavated,
while Hampstead Marshall has entirely passed into history. As early
as Edward Ds reign, it had a great gate, two courts, and a hall, chapel,
and cloister to which Edward III may have added a second hall.?®
Other houses that have vanished include those of Sir Thomas
Sackville at Fawley (fourteenth century) and the Besils at
Besselsleigh (early fifteenth century), and the moated and brick
remains at Southcote near Reading (late fifteenth century). The
only evidence of the home of the de la Beche family of Aldworth is
the moated site 400 yards south of the church holding the impres-
sive collection of tombs to seven knights and two ladies, all dating
from the early to mid-fourteenth century. Nor is there any stand-
ing evidence of the four houses crenellated by Sir John Moleyns in
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the early 1330s at Stoke Poges, Ditton nearby, Weston Turville, and
Aston Mullins.?? At the height of his switchback career, Sir John was
the wealthiest man in Buckinghamshire but he was also an oppor-
tunist who paid dearly for crossing both king and queen.*!

The houses that have survived are those of the lesser gentry.
Those from the first half of the fourteenth century are medium
sized — Creslow, Fyfield, and Upton Court, Slough — with a number
held by gentry with only one or two manors such as Richard Brounz
at Harwell. His success in local service contributed to the rebuild-
ing of Bayliol’s Manor, just as that of Richard Abberbury in royal
service helped him to build and then extend his hilltop house at
Donnington in the 1380s. The reduced demand for new seats
during the first half of the fifteenth century was offset by the
increase in the size of existing estates through the acquisition of
smaller ones.

The new wave of courtiers who prospered under Henry VI’s
inept rule was led in this region by John Noreys, whose spacious and
forward-looking timber and brick mansion at Ockwells in the 1450s
made the subsequent brick houses at Chenies and Dorney Court
look parochial. Though a staunch Lancastrian supporter, Noreys’
career did not suffer from the accession of a Yorkist monarch. But
the Dissolution of the Monasteries nearly eighty years later brought
an influx of new estate owners. Out of the thirty-eight gentry fam-
ilies in seventeenth-century Berkshire, only seven had been estab-
lished in the county before 1500 and not one of their houses has
survived subsequent rebuilding.’? Nor did Berkshire experience
that spate of later-generation prodigy houses that are the true archi-
tectural and landscape glory of Buckinghamshire.??
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CASTLES

THREE royal castles guarded the central Thames valley,
Windsor, Wallingford, and Oxford, though this last was founded
by a leading baron with the Conqueror’s consent and came into
royal hands during the twelfth century. Wallingford and Oxford
were prominent in the war between Stephen and Matilda, and
while Oxford had fallen into disrepair by the early fourteenth
century, Wallingford was maintained for residential purposes for a
further century. To the west, the Severn estuary was guarded by the
royal fortresses at Bristol, Gloucester, and St Briavels. Bristol fell
into decay during the fifteenth century and Gloucester from the
close of that era, but though St Briavels lapsed from its primary
purpose as an administrative centre for the royal forest of Dean, it
was maintained for its court and prison function until the mid-
nineteenth century.!

The region shows a broad span of private castles, chronologically,
tenurially, and structurally, with three of them retaining substantive
evidence. Those of modest defensive capacity such as Ascott
d’Oilly, Stratton Audley, and Deddington had been abandoned
before the close of the fourteenth century. The stronghold of the
Giffards at Brimpsfield was destroyed on the orders of Edward I in
13222 to join the earlier abandoned earthworks and adulterine sites
scattered across the region. Nor does anything survive of Banbury
Castle, first erected by bishop Alexander of Lincoln in about 1130
as the administrative centre of the bishop’s extensive estates in the
area. It was almost entirely rebuilt during the early fourteenth
century in concentric form with drum towers and a massive gateway
and so maintained until the Civil War.?

Berkeley Castle retains the motte and bailey initiated by William
FitzOsbern, earl of Hereford after 1067, with the motte enclosed
by a shell keep in 1153-6 with a soil-raised interior. Most of the
slightly later curtain wall was swamped by the early to mid-
fourteenth-century residential development mentioned below. The
early thirteenth-century castle at Beverston was similarly expanded
a century later with residential additions by the Berkeley family.
The 1340s tower was an early example of a solar tower linked to a
first-floor hall, while the slightly later second-phase work was an
independent residential suite. The Beverston tower is a fine
example of the complex internal planning beloved of the mid and
late fourteenth century, similarly exhibited in the south-west at
Nunney and Wardour castles. The entirely new castle built at
Bampton by Aymer de Valence, earl of Pembroke in about 1315 was
very different in form and scale. Four times the size of Maxstoke
Castle and surrounded by a broad moat and water courses, it is an
early example of the totally rectangular plan with round corner
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towers and opposing central gatehouses. In contrast with Aymer’s
fortress at Goodrich, no more survives than the lower half of the
west gatehouse, flanked by a lodging block and a 30 foot stretch of
curtain wall.

PALACE-FORTRESSES

The mid to late Saxon and early Norman complex at Old Windsor
was identified by excavation in 1953-8, but no halls were uncovered
and our appreciation of the site is enigmatic.* It seems to have been
abandoned by the crown by the early twelfth century in favour of
the defensive and pleasurable attractions of the castle founded by
William the Conqueror 2 miles upstream. This change was spurred
by Henry I's rebuilding of the motte and bailey structure in wood
between 1107 and 1110, with the name of the ‘old’ settlement trans-
ferring with the court to the ‘new’ Windsor. The castle was rebuilt
in stone between the mid-twelfth and mid-thirteenth centuries,
with Henry II responsible for the stone curtain enclosing the upper
ward punctuated by square towers, and Henry III for that enclos-
ing the lower ward with rounded towers. The castle’s present form
had been fixed before Henry IIT’s death, with his successors remod-
elling the contained enclosure, principally the royal apartments of
the upper ward under Edward III and the college of St George
under Edward IV. Despite all subsequent changes, Windsor Castle
still holds to the triple complex of fortification, palace, and college
—a medieval power-house of several hundred inhabitants that still
functions in most respects little differently from its role over 500
years ago.

Edward IIT’s fundamental redevelopment of the royal apartment
between 1352 and about 1370 was the outstanding royal project of
the mid or later fourteenth century, whether considered by the scale
of the work force, the cost incurred, or its architectural significance
in disseminating the newly developed Perpendicular style. The
work was the matrix for the extensive building projects of the
master-mason and one of the clerks of work — William Wynford and
William Wykeham — but it was equally significant in the develop-
ment of palace-fortresses, and in the historical psyche of the
country. Only limited site evidence of this activity survives today,
but its importance has been more appreciated since the discoveries
made in the aftermath of the fire of 1992 confirming that Edward
IIT made the castle one of the pre-eminent buildings of the later
middle ages in a development programme of European signifi-
cance.

The sequence of apartments initiated at Berkeley Castle by
Thomas, Lord Berkeley in 1326-7 and continuing until the mid-
1340s anticipated many of the key features of Edward III’s work.
Lord Berkeley erected an imposing new hall, a substantial kitchen
and associated group of service rooms, a large private chapel next
to the hall, a spectacular sequence of first-floor family apartments,
and a two-storeyed lodging range. The whole was enclosed within
the castle’s earlier curtain wall, and though confined within a less
spacious bailey than at Windsor the project was on the grandest
scale for a magnate.’ In addition, the workmanship and architectu-
ral detailing reflected the distinctive Bristol version of the flamboy-
ant Decorated style just as Windsor trumpeted the early
Perpendicular form. A similar programme was being undertaken at
the same time by another leading magnate at Warwick Castle. This
movement of converting a fortress into a major residence without
inhibiting its defensive capability had been initiated at Goodrich at
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PLATE 4 Greys’ Court: Great Tower from the east

the beginning of the century, but Berkeley was its first full expres-
sion. Palace-fortress conversion was only practised at the highest
level of society, but the royal programme prompted Gaunt as well
as several northern magnates to follow suit during the later years of
the fourteenth century.

Gloucestershire also enjoys two similar-scale projects from the
mid-fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries respectively. As they
were new residences rather than fortress conversions, their military
aspects were honoured more in form than in substance. Much of
Sudeley Castle (c.1441-58) has been lost or absorbed through late
sixteenth-century rebuilding or nineteenth-century restoration but
its vast scale, with a double-courtyard plan that had the great hall at
the furthest end of the inner court, bears more than a passing
resemblance to Lord Cromwell’s contemporary palace-mansion at
Wingfield. Just as that residence moved up the social scale when it
was purchased by the earl of Shrewsbury, so Sir Ralph Boteler’s
castle at Sudeley was equally elevated through its acquisition by
Richard, duke of Gloucester. Even so, he replaced the family apart-
ments with a semi-royal suite (c.1469-78), which testifies to the
scale, taste, and splendour of contemporary court work.

The same applies a generation later to the duke of Buckingham’s
jewel at Thornbury, an even more imposing palace-fortress devel-
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oped between 1507 and the duke’s execution in 1521. Following the
same double-courtyard plan as Sudeley, with the family apartments
filling one side of the inner court that terminated in the great hall,
Thornbury bristles with military elements in comparison with
Sudeley or any other early Tudor mansion. The mixture of fortress
and residential features was audacious, as witness the juxtaposition
of the self-proclaiming gatehouse frontage with the duke’s lavishly
fenestrated apartment range. His huge windows would be outstand-
ing in any context, but like those of Edward IV’s time at Sudeley,
those of Henry VIII’s reign at Thornbury are supreme.

These three palace-fortresses are the only residences in
Gloucestershire of sufficient size and with owners of sufficient
social standing to need extended ranges of lodgings. Those enclos-
ing the outer court at Thornbury are particularly well preserved,
particularly as the Sudeley ranges were reconstructed in ¢.1572. A
small late fifteenth-century lodging unit was built next to the gate-
house at Berkeley Castle but there is little doubt that further accom-
modation was erected in the outer court for the large household of
the Berkeleys at their czput. But over and above their architectural
importance, these three residences are also of political and social
significance. Berkeley’s redevelopment was primarily a conse-
quence of sheep farming profitability, Sudeley reflected loyal
service to the crown, while Thornbury was a statement of ducal
hubris.

DEFENDABLE HOUSES

There were more lightly fortified houses across the region than
stone castles, and there is more evidence of them. There were at
least seventeen defendable houses in Gloucestershire but except for
Sudeley and Thornbury — and they were exceptional in every way —
the sites were only modestly fortified. All but four were in the Vale,
equally distributed between the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries.
The majority were the homes of lesser gentry such as the Poyntz of
Iron Acton (from mid-fourteenth century), Thorpe at Wanswell
(mid-fifteenth century), and Denys at Olveston (later fifteenth
century). Defence was limited to a moat, an enclosure, a gateway as
at Icomb Place, Yate Court, and Olveston, or a turret as at Court
Farm, Almondsbury.

In comparison with such minor remains, Broughton Castle
stands as one of the most important medieval houses of central
England. Its defensive capacity was always modest — an impressive
moat, a small gatehouse, and an embattled enclosure wall — and its
significance lies in the extent and quality of the residential range of
the family apartments, all the more important because they were
undertaken by a family of no more than local standing. At least six
medieval phases can be identified, centred round two vaulted
undercrofts at right angles to each other. All expansion has devel-
oped round this L-shaped core of later thirteenth-century date,
beginning with a ground-floor corridor enclosure and room
between 1295 and 1315 with first-floor ante-chamber above. This
enlargement was associated with a replacement hall that is the basis
for the present Elizabethan structure. Very shortly afterwards, a
three-storeyed bedchamber block was added, allowing the earlier
bedchamber to be converted into a chapel rising through two
storeys, one of the finest and best-preserved domestic chapels in the
country. Within a few years, the ground-floor corridors had been
embellished with vaulting so that the house now had a substantial
group of family apartments with large-scale windows and work-
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manship of high architectural quality. An imposing flight of chapel
stairs and an unusual loggia were added by bishop Wykeham of
Winchester after he had purchased the manor in about 1380, but
the major conversion of this residence occurred from 1540 onwards
when the earlier plan was reversed and the house was remodelled as
an Elizabethan mansion.

The appellation ‘castle’ to Broughton is a Victorian one that was,
rightly, never bestowed on Greys Court. Its plan is not easily iden-
tifiable, for the four flint-built towers that survive are isolated units
in an area of considerable size that lacks the gatehouse and retains
only fragments of its curtain walls and residential block. The licence
to crenellate obtained by Lord Grey in 1346 was for the develop-
ment of his earlier house, as was that sought for Broughton in 1406,
but Lord Lisle’s licence of 1377 for Shirburn Castle applied to an
entirely new structure. Stone-built and moat-surrounded, it was a
precursor of Bodiam Castle in its quadrangular form with round
corner towers, single central entry, and range-enclosed courtyard.
As at Broughton Castle, post-medieval development has been con-
tained within the original walls, but the early eighteenth-century
remodelling was drastic and overwhelming.

Twelve licences to crenellate were granted to Oxfordshire land-
owners and gentry between 1316 and 1377 — eight for houses that
no longer exist, and four covering the castles at Bampton and
Shirburn, Greys Court, and Camoys Court at Chiselhampton. This
last is even more of a domestic residence than the ‘castle’ at
Broughton, for although moated it shows no evidence of defensive
structures.” Camoys Court is yet another example where the line
between defensive and unprotected houses is too blurred to be
meaningful.

The gatehouses at Boarstall and Donnington, both protecting
strongly ditched enclosures, are high-quality examples of a military
form modified to domestic circumstances. Boarstall (1312) may
never have been more extensive: a low-lying and therefore well-
moated enclosure (like Bampton Castle) but with no more than a
palisaded surround. Donnington (1386), though high on a spur
overlooking the Kennet valley, was well protected by a towered
enclosure. Grove Farm, Ashley Green, was never licensed but
retains a strongly banked and ditched outer enclosure with a water-
filled inner moat protecting the base of two polygonal gatehouse
towers and part of the curtain. The small flint-built residential unit
is of late medieval date, uncertain purpose, and drastic restoration
in 1961.8 The house fortified by Sir John Moleyns at Weston
Turville was in the castle bailey of the Turville family, as had been
that of William Beauchamp at Castlethorpe in 1282, but moats are
the only evidence at the three other licensed sites in Berkshire and
Buckinghamshire.

ROYAL HOUSES

At the opening of the fourteenth century, the crown held two
houses in Buckinghamshire and three in Oxfordshire. The hunting
lodge at Brill serving Bernwood Forest ceased to be royal property
at the beginning of our period, while the moated house at Princes
Risborough, west of the church, declined in importance after the
death of the Black Prince though there was continuous site occupa-
tion until the sixteenth century.!® The house at Beaumont, outside
the walls of Oxford, was abandoned by Edward I and given to the
Carthusian order for priory conversion, and was demolished at the
Reformation. The house at Beckley north-east of Oxford, initiated
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by the earl of Cornwall in the mid-thirteenth century, was rebuilt
by Edward III in 1375-6 and well maintained to 1441, though only
the triple moats remain.!! Edward III also developed a complex of
manor houses and lodges belonging to the castle and forest of
Windsor. Easthampton and Wychemere were manor houses,
Foliejohn and Collingridge were lodges, though nothing survives at
any of the sites.!?

The same applies to the third royal Oxfordshire property,
Woodstock, the most important crown residence with Clarendon
Palace away from the Westminster/Windsor area. It lay on the
north bank of the river running through the 1,000 acre park,!3 close
to Vanburgh’s later bridge across Lancelot Brown’s lake. The addi-
tions made by successive monarchs to Henry I’s ‘favourite seat of
retirement and privacy’ converted the timber-framed hunting lodge
into a building of some size and splendour. In particular, Henry IIT’s
extensive work programme encompassed rebuilding the twelfth-
century aisled hall in stone, the development of separate apartments
roofed with Cotswold stone for the king and queen, the addition of
several chapels including a round one and a vaulted one for the
queen, and extensive wall paintings in the royal apartments. Later
work included a new apartment for the queen (1354), and a tower
by the entrance to the king’s chamber (1439-41), which was not
completed until after Edward IV’s accession.!* Major repairs and
partial rebuilding were undertaken during Henry VIIs reign,
including reroofing the two aisled halls and reconstructing the great
gateway (1494-1503). The property was kept in good order until
the early seventeenth century, and was only stripped of furniture
after a survey of the palace and park had been made in 1650. This
and earlier documentation show that the royal country retreat at
Woodstock was built round two courtyards, with the hall and
several lodging ranges facing the large gatehouse, and the royal
apartments encircling the smaller second courtyard. A drawing of
the manor in 1714 shows a tightly packed group of buttressed build-
ings with a prominent two-storeyed oriel, and an embattled tower
above the roofline that was probably the gatehouse, all ruthlessly
swept away at the duchess of Marlborough’s insistence in 1723.13

MAGNATE AND GENTRY HOUSES

More than many regions, the greater houses of the Thames valley
can be considered in three ways. They display the three primary
building sources of the later middle ages — stone, timber, and brick
—and can be considered on the basis of these materials. They display
a range of house forms extending from fortified to non-defensive,
and from open aisled hall with cross wings to single- and double-
courtyard houses. They can also be considered under the status of
their builders, with magnate development at Minster Lovell,
Ewelme, and Sonning, a broad range of greater and lesser gentry
dwellings, and a substantial number of monastic residences and
high-quality lodgings. No single approach is satisfactory, but in
reviewing under building materials, it should be remembered that
few houses survive of single-period build. Upton Court (c.1325),
Minster Lovell Hall (1430s), Ashleworth Court (early fifteenth
century), Ockwells (¢c.1455-65), and Yelford Manor (c.1498) are the
prime exceptions. Some houses show that one of the wings (the
upper at Sonning Palace, the lower at Bayliol’s Manor, Harwell)
pre-dates the hall that was rebuilt during the fourteenth century
(Sonning Palace, Sutton Courtenay ‘Abbey’) or the later fifteenth
century (Hendred House). The initial plan therefore is not always
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easy to determine, for what we see today is the culmination of a
house’s development. An initial T-plan of hall and cross wing sur-
vives at Ashbury Manor and Ashleworth Court and may be sus-
pected at many other properties,'® but the majority in the region
today are H-shaped with only a handful of single build.

Two Oxfordshire houses encapsulate the problems of material
and form. Stonor Park is a complex structure of almost continuous
development by a single family over an 800 year period. This house
of accretion begins with a mid to late thirteenth-century stone hall
of two aisles with a cross wing at the lower end. Prudent financial
stewardship by the Stonors enabled them to enlarge their residence
in the mid-fourteenth century with a timber-framed hall with cross
wings. As it superseded but did not obliterate the earlier hall,
Stonor Park is rare in retaining the two succeeding cores of the
house, though builtin different materials. Continuous use and post-
medieval alterations mean that less can be seen of the later than the
earlier hall, but this is not the case at Lewknor Church Farm. This
contemporary timber-framed hall similarly has a spere truss as at
Stonor Park, but its 30 foot wide span was so inherently weak that
the central truss had to be supported on aisle posts inserted after
construction. It is not known whether this hall was free-standing or
had an attached offices and chamber block, for all site occupation
has been abandoned in favour of farm activity, with the hall now
used as a barn.

Stone

Gloucestershire and Oxfordshire are primarily stone counties, with
some timber framing in the Vale (Ashleworth Manor, early six-
teenth century) and brick first occurring in Oxfordshire at Stonor
Park in 1416-17.

Gloucestershire amply demonstrates that there was no standard
medieval house plan. The twelfth-century abbot’s living quarters at
Gloucester were towered, and the bishop of Hereford’s moated
house at Prestbury had a thirteenth-century aisled hall with a
detached solar at its lower end,!” whereas the bishop of Worcester’s
house at Bishop’s Cleeve of ¢.1280 was L-shaped, with the solar
wing projecting from the upper end of the hall and services range.!®
Hall and services with chamber over was adopted by Sir John
Giffard at Leckhampton Court (1315-20), Daneway (1315),
Buckland Old Rectory (fourteenth century), and possibly Lypiatt
Park (late fourteenth century). The Bishop’s Cleeve plan of hall
with lower end block and an upper cross wing was adopted at
Ashleworth Court (early fifteenth century) and Buckland Old
Rectory as rebuilt in 1470, while the alternative H-form was
chosen at Wanswell Court (c.1450-60). Ashleworth Court and
Wanswell Court had ground-floor parlours with fireplaces, regret-
tably removed at Wanswell which had less-altered interiors than
any other house in the county before the earl of Berkeley’s depriva-
tions in the 1920s. Icomb Place (later fifteenth century) aped the
form displayed on a much grander scale at Sudeley Castle, but with
the hall in the central cross range of this small double-courtyard
house.

The halls at Leckhampton Court (1315-20) and that at
Forthampton Court (by early fifteenth century) have been much
abused but are still open to the roof, as are the better-preserved mid
to late fifteenth-century structures at Wanswell Court, Little
Sodbury Manor, Buckland Old Rectory, and Icomb Place. That at
Ashleworth Court has been floored and ceiled but is otherwise well
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preserved while that at Berkeley Castle is in a class of its own. Roofs
are fairly plain, usually supported on arch-braced collar trusses,
though Buckland has a central hammer truss of the 1470s. The hall
at Berkeley had two louvres to clear the smoke from the central
hearth whereas the later halls at Wanswell and Little Sodbury had
wall fireplaces. There are porches at Little Sodbury and Wanswell
(until 1929), contemporary glass in the hall windows at Buckland,
and a stair lobby opening off the upper end of the hall at Ashleworth
Courtand at Little Sodbury Manor in one of the two opposing bays.

Berkeley Castle retains its splendid chapel, and there are smaller
but still complete examples at Forthampton Court (with a retained
panel painting) and two finely detailed examples in the tower added
by the 3rd Lord Berkeley at Beverston Castle. The chapels are free-
standing at Lypiatt Park and Sudeley Castle though close to the
house. Some of the outbuildings also survive at Lypiatt Park, an
early Tudor garden layout at Thornbury Castle, and rare painted
cloth hangings, admittedly of late seventeenth-century date but fol-
lowing a medieval form, at Owlpen Manor.

Initially, the house form in Oxfordshire was as varied as
that further west. The mid-thirteenth-century prebendal house at
Thame began as a first-floor timber-framed hall with stone solar and
chapel projections.!” Excavations at Harding’s Field, Chalgrave,
revealed that this moated residence of the Barentin family included
a stone aisled hall of ¢.1250-60 by Sir Drew Barentin (d.1264) and an
early fourteenth-century cross wing.? The popularity of the H-
shaped plan of hall and cross wing has a long history in Oxfordshire,
beginning with Swalcliffe Manor House. Only the cross wings
survive of this mid to late thirteenth-century residence, the lower one
with its original screens passage doorways, and the upper one with its
vaulted undercroft.?! The hall between them was rebuilt by bishop
Wykeham of Winchester after he had purchased the property in
1381. The same plan had been adopted at Stonor Park (mid-four-
teenth century) and at the close of the fifteenth century at Yelford
Manor.?? Oxfordshire is usually considered a stone county but
Yelford is another example of a timber-framed structure, in this case
built entirely of elm. Though it now lacks most of its original detail-
ing, it retains its early form and internal volumes to an uncommon
degree.

Apart from Swalcliffe rectory manor, all these houses were gentry
owned — lower gentry in the case of Yelford and the earlier-
mentioned Lewknor, higher gentry at Stonor where the family were
poised at the close of the fifteenth century to take a higher social
position that, in the event, was never realised. That was not so with
the Harcourts, who had vacated their old family home at Stanton
Harcourt by 1688 and used much of its stonework for the founda-
tions of the mansion they built at Nuneham Courtenay to celebrate
their elevation to an earldom. Stanton Harcourt had been an early
example of a double-courtyard house, which, not surprisingly, is
little evident today. Even so, the beautifully landscaped garden
serves as a setting for the isolated remains retained for tenant
occupation — the late fourteenth-century kitchen, the mid-fif-
teenth-century chapel and tower, and the mid-sixteenth-century
entry range. The kitchen is one of the most important to survive,
with a striking octagonal roof structure, still smoke blackened
through current use. The chapel adjoined the family apartments,
whereas it had been detached initially at Stonor (early fourteenth
century) and was so left at Rycote (c.1449) enabling this fine chapel
to survive when the moated mansion was burnt in 1745.
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This is not the only one of several greater houses of fifteenth-
century Oxfordshire to have fared badly. Nothing survives of the
Fettiplace mansion of ¢.1490 at Swinbrook, pulled down without
record in 1805 after the last member of the family died without
heirs. The toy castle at Hanwell (1498-1520s) was abandoned in the
late eighteenth century and reduced to a brick corner tower and part
of the south range.?> Minster Lovell Hall was similarly abandoned
in the mid-eighteenth century but the ruins are more extensive and
almost entirely of one period, the 1430s. Built round three sides of
a quadrangle with an enclosing wall towards the River Windrush,
this mansion has a particularly tall hall with high windows, a central
hearth, and an exceptionally fine vaulted porch. Next to this was an
unusually sited self-contained suite with the chapel above linked to
the solar range in its usual position at the upper end of the hall. The
only subsequent addition was made a generation or two later, a four-
storeyed tower with a lodging suite and prospect room at the top like
thatat Stanton Harcourt. The house that developed into one of even
higher status was Ewelme Manor, acquired through marriage by the
de la Poles, earls of Suffolk, from the Chaucer family. The mansion
has been all but destroyed but the one undistinguished fragment that
remains conceals part of a two-storeyed lodging range of indepen-
dent rooms at both levels. It may have been the work of Thomas
Chaucer, the poet’s son, and more significantly a wealthy wool mer-
chant and royal councillor. However, it is the almshouse, school, and
rebuilt church that are Suffolk’s outstanding survivals at Ewelme,
still fulfilling their original function to create a glorious picture in
stone and brick.

It is arguable whether the outstanding survival from the close of
our period was more secular than monastic in origin, though the
question had become academic within a generation. The abbot’s
lodging is the primary survival of the abbey at Thame, and a glori-
ous one, extending for 105 feet from one side of the subsequent
Palladian mansion. This two-storeyed range, interrupted by bay
window and turret projections, terminates in a three-storeyed
tower. Superficially all of one period in a golden-coloured stone,
this lodging range was developed in three phases, two of the mid to
late fifteenth century with the tower and projections added between
1510 and 1520. Internally, a sequence of high-status apartments was
developed, some of them sumptuously decorated shortly after 1530
to give a spectacular final flourish to the broad span of early domes-
tic architecture that enriches this area.

Timber

Buckinghamshire and Berkshire are both poor in good-quality
building stone. Neither the limestone of north Buckinghamshire,
part of the great belt that sweeps from Lincolnshire to Dorset, nor
the chalk of the Chilterns was good building material. The primary
stone houses are Creslow Manor House to the east and the manors
at Ashbury and Childrey near Wantage to the west.>* Flint was used
in conjunction with stone at Bisham and with timber at Fyfield
Manor and Sutton Courtenay ‘Abbey’, but timber was the primary
source for a wide range of houses throughout the period.

Upton Court near Slough is a fine timber-framed example of
about 1320-5, probably built by Merton Priory as an administra-
tive centre but otherwise indistinguishable from a contemporary
gentry house. Restoration in 1986-90 has displayed its plan and
form with great clarity. Even so, it stands on the cusp of several
developments of that period. The lower block is in line with the
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PLATE 5 Sutton Courtenay ‘Abbey’: from the east

central hall, but the contemporary upper block was built as a cross
wing, a practice that became common at both ends as the century
progressed. The hall was of aisled form but with a central truss that
avoided the clutter of aisle posts. This was achieved by a highly
unusual hammer-beam structure of experimental form. Finally, the
approach to the first-floor solar in the cross wing was by an external
stair — a late example when such stairs were increasingly internal.
Two contemporary houses nearby, Denham Court and Savay Farm
near Denham, also have aisled halls, with the latter retaining its
cross wings, but York Farm, West Hagbourne (1284-5) is the ear-
liest timber-framed aisled hall to survive in the Vale of
Whitehorse.?

Aisled halls were of box-frame construction but the use of base
crucks avoided the need for aisle posts. In houses of base-cruck con-
struction, the inward-curving timbers or blades rise from the
ground and are joined at the head by a tie beam or collar carrying
the upper members of the roof to create a broad open area.?¢ It has
been estimated that nearly 120 examples survive, widely distributed
south of the Humber, Trent, and Mersey, but not beyond the Welsh
borderland, east of the Fens, or south of the Thames estuary.?”
They were built between the mid to late thirteenth and the late
fourteenth centuries to roof high-status and manorial buildings
until superseded by arch-braced and hammer-beam roofs.
Among such houses (described in volume II) are Tabley Old Hall
(Cheshire), Coningsby Old Rectory (Lincolnshire), West
Bromwich Manor House (Staffordshire), Mancetter Manor House
(Warwickshire), and Eaton Hall (Herefordshire).

The form was adopted in Buckinghamshire at Creslow Manor
House (early fourteenth century), Huntercombe Manor (mid-
fourteenth century), and Long Crendon Manor (probably late
fourteenth century) but barely thereafter. Long Crendon Manor
has been altered out of all recognition®® whereas the lavishly pro-
vided stone-built cross wing added at Creslow was modelled on the
recently completed family apartments at Broughton Castle.

Considerably more is known of these structures in Berkshire,
through the extensive research carried out between about 1960 and
1990 on the many late medieval and sub-medieval timber-framed
houses in the Vale of Whitehorse. Several parishes such as East
Hendred, Harwell, Long Wittenham, and Steventon retain up to a
dozen examples each, indicative of the area’s economic prosperity
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at that time. Initially, studies were limited to cruck cottages, in tune
with social studies at the time,?? but it was not long before it was
necessary to extend the work to the greater houses in the region.?
Helped by proximity to the Department of Forestry at Oxford
University and the nearby Research Laboratory for Archaeology,
this work pioneered the development and use of dendrochronology
in the dating and interpretation of framed buildings. It quickly
established that many timber buildings were far earlier than had
been previously considered, and that complex construction tech-
niques were being practised in lowland England by the early thir-
teenth century. This research, including an important paper on
crown-post roofs,’! ran parallel with the broad-based studies into
cruck construction, the seminal papers of J. T. Smith, and the car-
pentry analysis and chronology proposed by Cecil Hewett in Essex.
The work in the Vale of Whitehorse culminated in the extended
survey, detailed analysis, and reinterpretation of the larger medie-
val houses by Christopher Currie published in 1992.32

Sutton Courtenay ‘Abbey’, one of the earliest high-status houses
in the Vale, is also one of the most striking. It began as a timber-
framed hall and lower cross-wing house, probably built in ¢.1290 by
the Courtenay family after they had won back their right to a rec-
torial holding from Abingdon Abbey. The stone-built upper cross
wing may have earlier origins, but it is probably contemporary with
the hall. This is of base-cruck form, again creating an uncluttered
open area, but the extended sweep and weight of the roof proved so
heavy that the low timber walls had to be strengthened in ¢.1330-40
by stone encasement. The majority of the other base-cruck halls in
the Vale were developed before the Black Death, including the
much altered hall of the Brounz family at Sutton Courtenay Manor
House (mid-fourteenth century) and the hall of South Moreton
Manor, built by Sir Thomas Sandervill in ¢1340.33 In 1372-3
Richard Brounz, who subsequently became a shire member of par-
liament and sheriff, replaced the earlier hall at Bayliol’s Manor,
Harwell, with one of base-cruck form, and also added an upper
cross wing to the earlier house.

Well before the fifteenth century, the alternative way of clearing
away hall aisle posts and arcades through the development of tie-,
collar-, and hammer-beam trusses in association with side purlins
and wind braces had become popular for high-status buildings. The
lack of late fourteenth- and early fifteenth-century houses in the
region makes it difficult to clarify the transition, but Ockwells
Manor (¢.1455-65) is one of the most striking box-framed houses
with such a hall. The hall of Sir John Noreys” house is spanned by
arch-braced collars with side purlins and a line of wind braces, con-
tributing to a house of considerable elegance, while the late fif-
teenth-century hall at East Hendred was enhanced with a central
hammer-beam truss.** But it is all too easy to become bogged down
in the techniques of timber framing when the significance of a
major house such as Ockwells lies in other aspects. Following the
extensive use of brick in the construction of the royal collegiate
foundation at Eton (1440-9), brick was used extensively in associa-
tion with framing, as Sir John Noreys did at Ockwells, followed by
the Kestwold family at Dorney Court. But whereas Dorney is
essentially an early twentieth-century evocation of Ockwells, the
latter is one of the best-preserved and least-altered houses of mid-
fifteenth-century England. Delighttful in colour and texture, it is an
unequivocal statement of a courtier’s success and affluence. This
house is important because of its marked individuality and forward-
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looking internal layout, with the usual services block replaced by a
paired lodging with chamber above. The kitchen and services were
moved away from the polite rooms to the further side of a small
courtyard which was lined with an internal corridor to facilitate
food movement and improved access to the first-floor rooms. In
addition, Ockwells retains some of the stunning stained glass that
has always furnished the great hall, a complete serving hatch, and
many of the forecourt buildings that have so often been swept away
by later generations as at Dorney Court.

By the close of the fifteenth century, courtyard development was
becoming popular, as at Wytham ‘Abbey’ under the Harcourts, and
was percolating down the social scale. Additional ranges were added
between the mid-fifteenth and mid-sixteenth centuries to convert
the H-shaped ‘Abbey’ at Sutton Courtenay into a quadrangular res-
idence, while similar expansions were made to the granges at
Cumnor (fifteenth century) and Steventon (mid-sixteenth century).
Some of the larger houses extended their accommodation with
lodging ranges for their household staff as at Ewelme Manor, but
similar ranges are evident, roofed at Abingdon Abbey (mid-
fifteenth century), still occupied at Chenies (c.1526), and identified
after destruction in 1920-30 at Wooburn D’Eyncourt.*’

Considerable emphasis has been placed on the pivotal role of the
hall, but the close of the fifteenth century marks a reduction in this
position by restricting it to a ground-floor chamber to allow the
important withdrawing chamber to be sited over it. Ashbury Manor
is a particularly early and explicit example of about 1490 of a prac-
tice that had been developing rapidly in the south-west since the
middle of the century and was to become widespread within the
next fifty years. Ashbury Manor exhibits this movement because it
is essentially a stone-built Somerset house in a Berkshire landscape.
It was a development of Glastonbury Abbey on long-held monastic
land, and stands remarkably complete with retained original fit-
tings, enhanced by harmonious internal modifications immediately
after the Reformation. Itis also one of the few late houses in the dis-
trict that does not incorporate earlier site antecedents.

Apart from the hall, the Thames valley region exhibits a greater
number and broader range of domestic chapels than in any other
part of the country. The four-bay chapel at Hendred House, East
Hendred, has been in continuous Catholic use since 1256, while
domestication has not damaged the mid-thirteenth-century chapel
at the Prebendal House, Thame, or the late thirteenth-century
chapel off the first-floor chamber at Charney Bassett Manor House.
The early fourteenth-century example at Broughton Castle is as
fine as any in an English house, though it would have been close run
if the earl of Berkeley had not role-reversed that at Berkeley Castle
in the 1920s. The vaulted and finely decorated mid-fourteenth-
century chapel in Beverston Castle is superior to the domestic sur-
vivals close to the post-medieval replacement houses at Widmere
near Marlow, Chelmscote Manor (licensed in 1343), and Liscombe
Park. The chapels at Stanton Harcourt and Rycote, though simi-
larly sited, are superior fifteenth-century examples but pall in com-
parison with the several collegiate examples at Oxford.

Brick

The use of brick first occurs in the region for the chapel tower of
Stonor Park in 1416-17, and was followed by its adoption at
Ewelme for the manor, almshouse, and school. The almshouse,

founded by the earl of Suffolk in 1437, was directly informed by
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pLATE 6 Dorney Court: hall with reinstated bay window

Eton College. It broke with the earlier tradition of a large dormi-
tory for the inmates by housing them in individual dwellings
grouped round a small cloistered quadrangle. Like the contempo-
rary school built next to it, both structures still maintain their orig-
inal function 600 years later.

The extensive use of brick at Henry VI’s collegiate foundation
between 1441 and 1449 (but not the chapel) helped to make it a
fashionable material. It informed the development of Ockwells
Manor, Dorney Court, and the Hospital of the Guild of the Holy
Cross at Abingdon (1440s), all in association with timber framing.
Eton College is also important for the early use of diaper pattern-
ing, the combination of brick with stone for doors, windows, and in
this case buttresses, and the very early use of cuspless windows.
Though brick was the sole building material at Chenies Manor
House, it was used in association with stone dressings at Southcote
Manor, near Reading. Here the thirteenth-century dwelling on the
moated platform was replaced by a brick-built house during the
second half of the fifteenth century by Walter Sambourne or his son
Drew. The house was demolished in 1926 leaving only a freestone
‘tower’ of uncertain purpose and the moated enclosure.?®

Henry VII’s treasurer chose brick for Hanwell House (recently
upgraded to ‘Castle’) that he initiated in north Oxfordshire in 1498,
but only two mock-military ranges survive. Brick was also used in
the mid-Tudor expansion of Rycote, Beckley Park, and Stonor Park
when it was transformed into a grand mansion, but apart from its
use in 1514 for chimneys at Thornbury Castle, Gloucestershire
eschewed brick before the seventeenth century as high-quality
building stone was so readily available.

ECCLESIASTICAL HOUSES

Until the Reformation, most of Gloucestershire was part of the
diocese of Worcester with the Forest of Dean and the area west of
the Severn within the jurisdiction of Hereford. Oxfordshire and
Buckinghamshire were part of the vast diocese of Lincoln, while
Berkshire was under the bishop of Salisbury. The episcopal houses
at Cumnor (Salisbury), Dorchester (Lincoln), and Withington
(Worcester) are non-existent. Those at Prestbury (Hereford) and
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more importantly at Sonning (Salisbury) and Witney (Winchester)
have been excavated, but little of the late thirteenth-century house
at Bishop’s Cleeve (Worcester) survived the drastic remodelling of
the 1660s.

There was a wide spread of monastic foundations from the
estuary of the Severn to that of the Thames. Some of their magnif-
icent churches are still in use (Gloucester, Tewkesbury, Dorchester,
St Frideswide, Oxford), some have only fragmentary evidence that
hardly bespeaks their wealth and standing (Hailes, Abingdon,
Reading), and some are now abandoned or grass-covered sites
(Winchcombe, Cirencester, Eynesham, Godstow). Little of the
region was remote, nurturing future ruins on the scale of Tintern
or Cleeve. It was extensively crossed by travellers throughout the
middle ages. Osney acted as a bank for many Oxford people while
Bruern had a high reputation for the quality of its wool. Several
towns were dominated by Benedictine and Augustinian foundations
and some still are through their churches, while it was the country
houses and the secular character of some abbatial lodgings that
ensured their survival after the Dissolution.

The twelfth- and fourteenth-century abbatial lodging at
Gloucester continued in domestic use until the twentieth century
as the abbey became one of Henry VIII’s ‘new foundations’. The
embellishment of the abbot’s guest chamber at Flaxley Abbey for
Edward III in ¢.1355 made it the core of the present mid-sixteenth-
and late eighteenth-century house. The country houses at
Prinknash (1520-5 for the last abbot of Gloucester) and
Brockworth Court (1534-9 for the abbot of Llanthony) were simi-
larly enveloped in post-medieval developments, but the former
retains two fine first-floor rooms (one with an oriel), and the latter
retains some contemporary wall paintings in the attic. Far finer are
the three country houses for the abbots of Pershore, St Augustine’s,
Bristol, and Tewkesbury. Pershore’s house of ¢.1330 at Broadway
retains its open hall and residential cross wing with chapel block in
fine condition. The even more complete early fifteenth-century
Court at Ashleworth has the added attraction of a nearby tithe barn,
church, and green of rare charm. The most imposing but altered
residence is Forthampton Court near Tewkesbury with a large-scale
if heavily renovated early fifteenth-century hall, chamber block, and
chapel.

The two other substantive lodgings are within a short distance of
each other, either side of the River Thames and equidistant from
Thame. The high-quality domestic accommodation built at both
Thame Park and Notley Abbey was developed in the mid-fifteenth
century and extended in the early sixteenth century. Both resi-
dences, almost self-contained, were built on a lavish scale, and
embellished at the close of their life with exquisite panelling and
early Renaissance decoration by craftsmen who also worked a few
miles away for one of Henry VIII’s leading civil servants, Sir John
Daunce, at Nether Winchendon House. In 1780, the high-quality
panelling from the Notley lodging and in 1851 a fine roof with
some original colouring from the abbey buildings were removed to
crown and furnish an early Tudor chamber block attached to the
mid-Tudor Weston Manor in Oxfordshire. The line between
secular and ecclesiastical patronage had already become blurred by
the mid-fifteenth century and had become indistinguishable within
seventy years, as visits to this intriguing circlet of houses confirm.?”

Other secular elements of a monastic environment are modest.
The monastic colleges at Oxford occupied a distinctive position in
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the university, of which the fifteenth-century work at the Benedictine
foundation (now Worcester College) and the Cistercian establish-
ment are the most significant survivals. Other monastic buildings
include the corridor-lined lodging range and a plain gatehouse at
Abingdon, part of the abbey’s thirteenth-century grange at Charney
Bassett, considerably less of that of ¢.1300 at Dean Court, and hardly
anything of the important mid-fourteenth-century grange at
Cumnor.’® The gatehouse at Reading Abbey was rebuilt by George
Gilbert Scott in 1861 and looks it, so that the more decorative but
little-touched one at Kingswood is the most pleasing entry survival
in the region. It is a fitting contrast to the more secular fourteenth-
century version prefacing Standish Court, originally a country house
of Gloucester Abbey. Finally, the Shaven Crown at Shipton-under-
Wychwood is a particularly complete fifteenth-century house in
form and fenestration, originating as a hospice for the monks of
Bruern Abbey nearby and now a hostelry welcoming architectural
historians among its many travellers.

COLLEGIATE FOUNDATIONS

The college buildings of Oxford have been described as ‘a living
museum of Perpendicular development’? and its succeeding forms
can be clearly traced in the space of a short walk in the city. Early
structures were haphazard in layout and growth, as at Merton
College (¢.1266-1311), showing little concern for student accom-
modation. It was only with the creation of Merton’s Mob Quad by
the addition of the library range in 1371-8 to the earlier courtyard
buildings that a formal plan was developed, and this was through
the close partnership between client and architect. That proved to
be the keynote to the radical concept of New College almost imme-
diately afterwards, with its provision of good-quality accommoda-
tion for students as well as fellows.

The college buildings of the late middle ages are significant not
only because they stand in less altered condition than most resi-
dences of this period, but because they reflect the stylistic leader-
ship of the court and of the magnates and prelates of the realm.®
It was the patronage of the Winchester bishops Wykeham (New),
Waynflete (Magdalen), and Fox (Corpus Christi), and leading offi-
cials such as the chancellor (Merton), the treasurer of England
(Exeter), as well as the monarch (co-founder of All Souls) and a
royal consort (Queen’s), that ensured that the design and construc-
tion would be of the highest standards, particularly as colleges
were houses of religion as well as of education. Colleges, there-
fore, had to embody facilities for both activities. A chapel was
essential for the round of religious services with facilities for pro-
tecting its vessels and valuables as well as the muniments of the
college. Study rooms were needed for fellows (and later for stu-
dents) as well as a library, and a dining room for communal meals
and corporate life, together with the necessary kitchen and offices.
Sanitary needs had to be met, and an accounting and audit room,
special rooms for the college head, and a lodge for the porter were
also essential. All these facilities can be identified in the great
foundations that have survived, for the medieval colleges can be
grouped into those that were ‘grand’ in scale as New College was,
followed by All Souls, Magdalen, and Christ Church, and those
that were ‘smaller’ like Queen’s, Balliol, and Lincoln. New College
(1379—-.1406) not only provided the matrix for collegiate layout
for several centuries but was the foundation that introduced the
Perpendicular style to Oxford. Chapel and hall are in line in a con-
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pLATE 7 Oxford, New College: front quadrangle

tinuous range, with the first-floor hall windows suitably more
modest and thereby defining the relative importance of their inter-
iors and function. The T-shaped chapel, following the Merton
precedent, never developed a nave, while the remaining three
ranges contained rooms for study and sleeping by students as well
as fellows, a library, and the rooms of a watchful warden above the
first of Oxford’s gate-towers. This symmetrically closed quadran-
gular plan was surrounded by high walls to ensure peaceful study
rather than protection against civil commotion. The basic college
layout was completed in little more than six years (1379-86), a
remarkably speedy and sophisticated achievement on a scale hith-
erto unknown for any comparable building for students or secular
canons.

All Souls (1438-43) and Magdalen (1474-90 with slightly later
tower) followed the overall pattern, but with greater emphasis given
to the street frontage and a more imposing gateway. Whereas
Merton and New College were withdrawn from the city, All Souls
and Magdalen were more outward-facing. All Souls was also on a
smaller scale but its front quadrangle gives the closest impression of
the proportions and chapel domination intended by its founder
through retaining unheightened enclosing ranges.

The reaction to the ‘superfluous curiosity’ of ornament and dec-
oration that was among the instructions to Thomas Elkyn in 1439
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when completing the south side of the Divinity School is well
known. The architectural watchword was now austerity — the pref-
erence for gridiron tracery as at All Souls, Balliol College library
(¢.1431-80), and Merton College chapel tower (1448-51).

A more exuberant style developed during Edward IV’s reign,
identifiable at Magdalen where the mixture of gridiron tracery in
the chapel west front contrasts with the invention of the founder’s
tower, including the introduction of oriel windows, the bay window
in the hall, and the first embattled parapet in Oxford crowning the
fellows’ lodgings. Gateways became more prominent as at St John’s
and Merton, while window tracery became less austere, particularly
in the patterning of large window heads.

The final phase of late Gothic is marked by the more austere
character of Henry VIII’s reign in the grandest of all Oxford col-
leges. Christ Church under Cardinal Wolsey (1525-9) united quad-
rangle and cloister as at Magdalen, erected the most imposing of
gateways and halls, and worked on a scale such that his quadrangle
has been likened to a piazza.¥!

In their rectangular planning, communal occupation, and spiri-
tual purpose, colleges were analogous with some monastic founda-
tions, and more particularly with colleges of secular priests, but
with greater emphasis given to scale, high-quality workmanship,
and specialist residential accommodation. Nor were they markedly
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different from leading magnate houses in their adoption of a
common quadrangular layout, prefaced by a commanding gate-
tower. The dining halls were similar in form and function to those
of a larger secular household, though the collegiate halls are often
in a better-preserved early condition. Many kitchens and offices
hold to their original purpose, while college heads were soon
demanding less confining accommodation than above the entry
gate. In this, they were only following the trend of improved-
quality accommodation for secular as well as monastic heads.
Lodging ranges were adapted for their educational function
through corner studies in each heated living room. College chapels
were larger than in most secular households, and though the clois-
ter and integrated quadrangle design developed at Magdalen was
repeated only at Christ Church, the precedent had lain at Eton
College (1440s) and Herstmonceux Castle (c.1438-49).

We look to the major colleges for architectural innovation and
design development rather than the financially restricted smaller
foundations. New College set the standard by using the best talent
of the time, the master-mason William Wynford who had worked
under Wykeham at Windsor Castle, and the master-carpenter Hugh
Herland. Both worked closely with the king’s master-mason, Henry
Yevele, in their advice on other projects for Wykeham, and in concert
at Winchester College. William Humberville, another former
mason from Windsor Castle, and Wallingford Castle, had been in
charge of the library at Merton College (1370s). In the mid-fifteenth
century, Richard Chevynton and John Branche were the master-
mason and master-carpenter at All Souls, while William Orchard
who was responsible for Magdalen College had such an extensive
practice that he did not need to be in the orbit of royal works.

In these major projects of the late middle ages, in many respects
similar to mansions such as Dartington Hall, Wingfield Manor, or
Sudeley Castle, the colleges of Oxford with their equivalents at
Cambridge are without parallel in university architecture in
Europe. The university and college buildings in France, Spain,
Portugal, and Italy are almost always later in date, and despite many
individual glories, do not form a comparable medieval corpus.

In 1440, Henry VI established “The King’s College of our Lady
of Eton’ when he was only eighteen years old. His foundation
owed nothing to Oxford’s collegiate development but much to
Wykeham’s college at Winchester. Eton’s role as a college of
secular priests was initially more important than that of the school,
while the church was intended to be a leading pilgrimage centre.
The school survived and expanded: the church’s purpose changed.
Not so with that developed nearly forty years later within the royal
castle overlooking Eton. In 1475 Edward IV refounded the college
established by his predecessor at Windsor in 1348 and initiated the
spectacular and continuing foundation of cathedral-like propor-
tions.

MOATED SITES

Interest in moated sites of the region has declined since the 1980s
though the subject warrants more detailed study, particularly as the
region suffers in comparison with the more extensive research input
for the central Midlands. About eighty sites have been identified
in Gloucestershire,* seventy in Oxfordshire,¥ nearly sixty in
Berkshire,* and 170 in Buckinghamshire. Those in Gloucestershire
are mainly in the Severn valley north of Gloucester, but they extend
across the length of the clay lowland of the Thames to the Chiltern

scarp, turning northwards across Buckinghamshire towards the
Ouse valley. There are fewer than might be expected in the Vale of
Berkeley and on cleared sites in Wychwood and Shotover forests. It
seems that the majority belong to sites of manorial rank rather than
resulting from colonisation of forest land or waste. Some reveal
housing evidence as at Bradwell Bury, the site of the Barry manor,¥
or Harding’s Field, one of the three moated manorial sites at
Chalgrove identifying the extended development of a domestic and
farm site between the late twelfth and the late fifteenth centuries.*
A fourteenth-century manorial site at Leckhampton was excavated
in 1933 with gatehouse and bridge evidence,* while some sites
support post-medieval houses on the earlier platforms as at Beckley
Park and Wightfield Manor near Deerhurst, purchased by Sir John
Cassey (d.1400) in 1382 to become the principal seat of the family
until 1574 with a house rebuilt in the 1540s.*® Otherwise their chro-
nology and morphology follow the pattern of neighbouring
regions, including moats round hunting lodges of which eleven have
been identified in east Berkshire in or near deer parks.* A consid-
erable number of monastic sites were also moated, such as
Abingdon Abbey and Otley Grange in Oxfordshire, and Steventon
Priory and Cholsey Grange in Berkshire. Quadrilateral enclosures
are most common but with more subsidiary enclosures than are
usually recognised. The three concentric moats at Beckley Park
reflect different periods of occupation, of decreasing depth from the
inner moat, with the less continuous outer moat dug in 1376 when
the royal lodge was being rebuilt.’® The deliberate incompleteness
of many enclosures points to their being for status rather than for
defensive purpose.’!
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3
HOUSEHOLD EXPANSION,
CHAMBERS AND LODGINGS

GREATER HOUSEHOLDS

THE élite households of medieval England were limited to the
upper echelons of society, and they were distinguished and clarified
by that rapid movementin social mobility that marked the 150 years
between the beginning of the Hundred Years” War and the acces-
sion of the Tudor dynasty. As discussed in volume II,! the gradual
definition of the aristocracy from the relatively loose terms used in
1300 and the subsequent expansion of its lower ranks were essen-
tially determined by financial standing.

By the close of the fourteenth century, the number of hereditary
peers regularly summoned to parliament had stabilised at about
eighty holders. Though new ranks were created such as marquess
(1385) and viscount (1440), the number held fairly constant at
between eighty to ninety families until the close of that century. To
this number should be added the forty leading bishops and high-
income ecclesiastics deeply involved in the political life of late med-
ieval England. Landowners with an annual income of more than
£40 were expected to take up knighthood, though knights banneret
were an enigmatic group who gradually disappeared after the first
quarter of the fifteenth century. They were paid a daily rate twice
that of a knight, but it was not a hereditary rank, so that holders
moved either upwards into the peerage or downwards to the
knightly class. The demands of the crown on the battlefield and the
growing complexity of administration during the fourteenth
century helped to clarify the status of knights as well as the lower
one of esquires. It has been estimated that there were about a thou-
sand knights towards the close of the fourteenth century, but this
number had fallen by about half by 1500.? It was these three élite
groups, broadly reducing from nearly 1100 to 700 people between
the mid-fourteenth and the early sixteenth century who sought to
establish substantial houses and fill them with a household reflect-
ing their ‘estate’ — their rank, their public standing, and their gene-
rosity.

The first half of the fourteenth century marked a gradual reduc-
tion in the number of meaningful houses held by the leaders of
society.’ Edward I inherited twenty houses from his father, and
though this number rose to twenty-five early in Edward III’s reign,
it had fallen to seventeen houses by the close of the century, twelve
under Henry VI, and ten with the advent of Henry VII. The same
movement applied to many of the bishops. The bishop of Hereford
held at least thirteen houses in the early fourteenth century, but the
decision was made in 1356 to limit them to seven. In 1450, the
bishop of Lichfield was granted permission by the pope to abandon
all his residences except his castle at Eccleshall, his palaces at
Lichfield and Coventry, and three other houses. The remainder
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were to be abandoned and their materials used to repair those that
remained in the bishop’s hands.

The practice of concentrating one’s resources on a few properties
equally applied to the aristocracy. At the beginning of the four-
teenth century, Aymer de Valence, ear]l of Pembroke, had castles
at Haverfordwest, Pembroke, Goodrich, and Sutton Valence
(Kent), and residences at Moreton Valence (Gloucestershire),
Newton Valence (Hampshire), Inkberrow (Worcestershire), and
Hertingfordbury (Hertfordshire), and he built a new house at
Bampton in Oxfordshire. Yet we have records of him visiting
Bampton only twice, in 1307 and 1312, and hardly at all for travel-
ling to Pembroke or Haverfordwest.* The limitation of long periods
of occupation to two or three houses is one of the key changes in
residential development during the fourteenth century. It arose
because the practice of peripatetic travelling to use up the crops and
resources of an estate was no longer efficient or necessary.’ There
was also the realisation that all those resources needed to be hus-
banded so that they could be lavished on a handful of properties to
achieve the necessary scale of magnificence. Higher living standards
also made it financially prohibitive to bring the houses of earlier
generations up to date.’ The consequence was that households
became much more settled from the second quarter of the four-
teenth century and almost universally so by Richard II’s reign.
Instead of moving between properties once or twice a month, set-
tlement in a single house from four to eight months at a time and
only between two or three properties became the norm.” A London
house, though, became increasingly essential for any courtier.

Having shorn themselves of their peripheral properties for all
practical purposes, crown and aristocracy concentrated their
resources on those that mattered, expanding and improving the
comfort of those they favoured. And in so doing, they also helped
to build up their spheres of influence — their ‘locality’. John of
Gaunt spent much of his time at Leicester and Kenilworth castles
in the Midlands, and to a lesser extent at Tutbury and Higham
Ferrers not far away. He enjoyed visiting Pontefract Castle in the
centre of his northern estates, and expanded Hertford Castle at the
heart of his south-eastern interests, though he never visited or spent
money on Pevensey Castle or any of his residences in Wales. In the
mid-fifteenth century, Richard, duke of York, had extensive estates
on the Welsh border, centred on Wigmore and Ludlow castles,
and further centres of locality in Northamptonshire based on
Fotheringhay Castle, in Yorkshire centred on Sandal Castle, in East
Anglia from the long-established castles at Clare and Stamford, and
in the pale in Ireland with Trim Castle at its heart.

For many families, the reduction in houses had been offset by a
contrary trend. Children, particularly those of leading families,
often spent their formative years in the household of a superior, but
as soon as they were married they would be granted a subsidiary
house for their own establishment.® A network of family-related
residences therefore gradually spread across a region such as those
of the Courtenays in Devon during the mid-fourteenth century, the
Beauchamp family in the Midlands, and the Nevilles and Percys
throughout northern England a little later. And just as each leading
magnate had his ‘locality’, so did each rank below, with the more
important controlling several residences like the Clifford family
holding four castles in the Eden valley as well as Skipton Castle.
The Berkeley family dominated Gloucestershire from their caput at
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Berkeley, supported by relations in the castles at Beverston and
Dursley, the defensive houses at Coberley and Yate, and the manor
house at Wotton-under-Edge. Most knights had to be satisfied with
one or two good-quality houses but they shared the same outlook,
aspirations, and values in life as a magnate, and emulated those of
higher rank in their standards of living, the form of their household,
and the scale of their houses.

Architectural and academic historians often forget that a house is
essentially an envelope to contain a household, whether a magnifi-
cent one or that of a modest family. Furthermore, we know consid-
erably more about the form and development of the medieval house
than we do about the household that occupied it. The organisation
of the royal household has long been a fruitful field of research but
the crown has always been an exceptional case in scale and in the
wealth of documentation.” Otherwise the examination of house-
holds has been limited to a handful of studies on single families, or
to the quagmire of the causes and effects of bastard feudalism on
high society. It is only within the last few years that historians have
focussed their attention on the size, membership, finances, and
work practices of the household, essentially through the work of
Kate Mertes,'” Christopher Woolgar,!! and Christopher Dyer.!?
Even so, only a limited number of household accounts, ordinances,
and other documents have been pressed into use so far. As some of
the evidence is conflicting, considerable further research and debate
is necessary before we have a clear picture of this vital aspect of
medieval society.

The nucleus family of husband, wife, and children was character-
istic of English society from at least the fourteenth century and
probably far earlier than that.!® Relations did not usually live under
the same roof, though widows and in-laws sometimes did in élite
families.!* The staff and servants of a house made up its household,
and it was the size, splendour, and hospitality of that household that
indicated a lord’s standing in society. Such a household expressed a
person’s ‘lordship’, and in so doing made a political statement. The
scale and magnificence of a leading household made an equally
important social statement in which display and ceremony contrib-
uted even more than hospitality and charity. In concentrating on
the households of magnates, bishops, and knights, it is not intended
to minimise those of the lesser gentry but to indicate the standards
and scale achieved using the more extensive sources available for
élite households.

A household was essentially made up of two groups — the staff and
domestic servants permanently working for the lord and his family,
and the people retained by the lord but only periodically attached to
him. A lord’s household was a very hierarchicial organisation with
clearly defined departments, responsibilities, and status rules. The
permanent household of a leading magnate was divided into three
levels of rank, headed by three senior officers. The steward was the
general manager of a household in charge of its discipline, conduct,
and day-to-day running. The treasurer was responsible for its finan-
cial administration, overseeing its income and more particularly its
expenditure, and preparing regular accounts.!® The most important
households would also have a chamberlain, responsible for the staff
of a lord’s private or personal chambers, and this position became
more significant from the mid-fourteenth century onwards as
private apartments became increasingly extensive and important.
The treasurer might be a clerk, but laymen were increasingly
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employed, particularly as senior officers increasingly provided a
lord with advice and counsel. Chamberlains were frequently privi-
leged associates of a lord and would sometimes be a knight such as
Sir Robert Swillington (1376-83) in John of Gaunt’s household, Sir
William Oldhall in that of the duke of York (c.1448-60), or Sir
William Knivet who served the duke of Buckingham from about
1514.

Beneath these three senior officials came a second group who
dealt with the more routine aspects of a households welfare.
Though there might be a kitchen clerk who handled all food
accounts, responsibility for the running of the kitchen and all food
preparation in the adjoining offices lay with the chief cook. He was
one of the highest-paid employees in a household. Under him
would be several ‘departments’, including the pantler responsible
for bread and table linen, the butler responsible for ale, beer, and
wine, and the person overseeing the scullery, saucery, and pastry
making.!¢ (For kitchens, see pages 161-2.)

For more personal service, a lord would have a secretary respon-
sible for his letters, business correspondence, and legal papers. The
wardrober was responsible for the lord’s clothes, jewels, furniture,
furnishings, candles, and spices, and there would be a varied
number of personal or chamber servants in attendance on the lord
and his wife. The chaplain ordered the religious life of a house, for
every one had a private chapel, even that of an esquire. The chap-
lain might help with the education of the children of a household, !
and he would be assisted in his duties in larger residences by a
number of clerks. Finally, the marshall accounted for the lord’s
stables, hunting, and falconry, and by his quasi-military role he
could take charge of discipline in the hall of the largest household.

The third stratum in a residence consisted of the domestic staff —
valets, grooms, pages, and servants — employed to ensure the
smooth running of the household, cater for its needs, and provide
the comforts and lifestyle that the lord and his family demanded. In
larger households, each function or office would have its own
grooms and pages, under the responsibility of a valet or supervisor
so that there would be grooms, pages, and a valet for the larder, the
washhouse, the bakery, and the poultry, as well as for the hall, the
lord’s private chambers, the chapel, and the guests’ chambers. As
households grew from the mid-fourteenth century onwards, they
would worship in the lower chapel, possibly eat and sleep in their
own hall, and be employed to help create that atmosphere of good-
will and service that made life as comfortable as possible for the lord
and his family.

Just as the household of a leading magnate tended to mirror that
of the king, the world of a knight would reflect that of a magnate.
Scaling down would inevitably mean simplifying the structure. The
steward would serve as the treasurer, the chaplain would also be the
lord’s secretary, a valet would be in charge of the stables, and the
grooms and pages would share a broad range of duties between
them. Yet each household, whether that of minor gentry or a
leading magnate, reflected the fourfold division of personal service,
religious duties, food preparation, and hospitality. During the fif-
teenth century, duties in a large household became increasingly
fragmented and formalised, with individual responsibility for
carving, cup-bearing, handing round ewers, and acting as physi-
cians for health-care reflecting the increasing elaboration and
rituals of domestic life.!® Standards also tended to be more formal
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and exacting as the century progressed, reflecting the increase in
house size, intimacy, and luxury.

It can be seen that a household covered a wide social spectrum.
The majority of staff would be drawn from the locality, but the
more senior members, particularly in the fifteenth century, would
be esquires or gentlemen, hopeful of advancement through serving
those in a household of higher standing.!” For those working in
such an environment, it could be a centre of patronage and a source
of political, social, or financial well-being. Employment was rela-
tively stable at all levels, with food, shelter, and clothing provided
free, and a salary scaled to the employee’s position. Sleeping condi-
tions were crowded and privacy was limited, but there were the off-
setting benefits of gifts, tips, and perhaps promotion.

A household was almost entirely a male society throughout our
period. The only women were washerwomen, a nurse for the
householder’s children, and the serving ladies of the lord’s wife.
This partly arose from a household’s political role and the need to
support its head at times of war, partly through economic consider-
ations, and partly because the exclusion of women was considered
necessary for the maintenance of decorum and status whether the
lord was absent or at home.?® This situation started to change
among the lower ranks of a household during the later fifteenth
century,’! but throughout our period, wives and children were
expected to live outside or away from the employer’s residence.

All the members of the lord’s household identified so far were
expected to live within the curtilage of his house and to be ready to
attend him at all times. They were given a household title and were
listed on the household wage account. The other part of his house-
hold consisted of those members who were only employed period-
ically. They were his retainers and councillors, closer to the lord in
social standing than nearly all other members of his entourage.
They were essentially knights and esquires who took the lord’s
livery and wore it with pride, for livery wearing was standard.?? This
practice of retaining developed during the fourteenth century as
local offices were increasingly granted to local men, and this, in
turn, enhanced their importance to a nearby magnate. The princi-
pal way of securing their support was to grant them a retainer, so
that the practice of retaining or even employing members of the
gentry on a more permanent basis became a significant develop-
ment during the later years of the century. Most magnates had a
score of knights and esquires in their retinues, but dukes and earls
could have fifty or more. John of Gaunt was exceptional in having
200 or so retainers during the early 1380s. ‘Indentured’ retainers,
despite the extensive literature about them, seem to have been
unusual.??

Specially favoured retainers might be chosen to be among a
magnate’s councillors. They would be available to advise him on a
broad range of personal matters such as the running of his business
affairs, his political attitudes, and his private life, and their names fre-
quently occur in records as executors or trustees. They might
include the leading officers of his household, but were essentially
neighbouring landowners, politically influential knights, and
lawyers. Thus Sir Thomas Hungerford, member of parliament for
Wiltshire and Somerset, had initially acted as steward to the bishop
of Salisbury, but John of Gauntappointed him steward of all his lord-
ships south of the Trentin 1375 and he held that position until 1393.
He was too important to be a household steward, for he was a great
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estate agent and political persuader, wealthy enough to remodel and
expand his residence at Farleigh Hungerford, and just the sort of
person Gaunt needed to advise him over the troubled waters of
Richard ITs rule.?* His contemporary Sir Hugh Cheyne (d.1404) of
Cheyney Longville Castle similarly advised the earls of March. If the
senior officers and favoured retainers helped to make up the equiv-
alent of a board of directors, supporting the lord in his role as chair-
man or chief executive of a business company, some high-ranking
councillors, particularly those with political clout, would serve as the
equivalent of executive directors.”’ What is surprising is the number
of lawyers retained by a lord. There were at least nine on the Black
Prince’s council in the 1350s and the earl of Devon retained fourteen
in 1384-5. Most of these would only work to specific requests, but
most large households had at least one permanent lawyer charged
with safeguarding the lord’s rights and interests.

Councillors were particularly valuable in guiding a magnate
during periods of political uncertainty such as the middle years of
the fifteenth century, but their worth was equally important during
a minority in safeguarding an heir’s interests, or during the absence
of the lord on military service at home or abroad. And the rewards
for such service could be substantial — bequests in a will, fees for
good service, gifts and patronage from people hoping that a good
word would be put in for them in seeking a magnate’s approbation.

Most important of all was the magnificence of a household for
this was the most visible and outward sign of a lord’s largesse. Status
was all-important in late medieval England and all staff played a
part in demonstrating this. Their numbers and their dress adver-
tised a lord’s magnificence, particularly those making up his entour-
age when he rode to parliament or to a tournament, or visited a
neighbour. By observing a luxurious house, spectacularly furnished,
with a generous table and a well-filled stable, a visitor would
identify his host’s standing with his peers, his neighbours, and
his tenants. Outward show rather than personal ability was all-
important in late medieval society, for conspicuous expenditure and
conspicuous display were regarded not so much as virtues but as the
essential fabric of a magnate’s way of life.

If a magnate’s landholding was the principal source of his wealth,
his lifestyle was his prime area of expenditure, and one that was fre-
quently monitored and checked. There is considerable evidence
that most leaders took a detailed interest in the running of their
estates. Ralph, Lord Cromwell as much as the Ferrers family of
Baddesley Clinton regularly checked his accounts, be they house-
hold, building, or estate returns. Richard Beauchamp, earl of
Warwick, ‘retained full and active control in the administration of
his great landed inheritance . . . even if he was overseas’.?®

Analysis of the accounts that have survived shows that nearly half
a lord’s income was spent on maintaining his household, whether it
was the Black Prince, Lord Berkeley, or the Stonor family.?” The
largest item was food and drink, its scale determined by the size of
the household and the extent of a lord’s entertaining and hospital-
ity. Some of this seems conspicuously extravagant, like the meal
served at the enthronement of archbishop Neville in 1466 or the
vast amounts of food consumed in the household of the 5th earl of
Northumberland as described in volume 1.28 But when these are
considered in institutional terms, the quantities are modest.?’ Diets
were reasonably varied from produce obtained locally, supple-
mented with ale from malt and barley, and the produce of the
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demesne manors and rents in kind. Next to food was cloth and
clothing (a particularly conspicuous yardstick of status as the sump-
tuary legislation shows), followed by candles, wax, and fuel. Luxury
goods such as wine, spices, and silk fabrics depended on income
availability but would be supplemented by gifts. Staff salaries,
unlike the present day, were relatively modest.*

The medieval household not only became numerically larger and
with a greater division of duties as the fourteenth and fifteenth cen-
turies developed, but it varied continuously in size and content.
Councillors and friends would come and go, estate staff would make
periodic visits, knights and esquires would be in attendance for
limited periods, while records show that some of the permanent
members of the household would be given leave of absence, occa-
sionally for extended periods. Some households had to accommo-
date the lord’s mother who might be a wealthy widow who wanted
her own staff. In 1436, thirteen of the fifty-two peerages at that time
were held jointly between male heirs and widows.*! And if the lord
was away on military service, then the residential household would
be smaller as he would have taken some of his staff to cater for his
personal needs and to serve as part of his retinue. It is therefore
extremely difficult to give a precise indication of a household’s size,
for the snapshot offered by one record can be at variance with that of
another only a few years later. As today, it would also depend on such
vital factors as the fluctuations in income, the range of his interests,
the extravagance or frugality of his wife, the age and marriage pros-
pects of their children, and the number of maintained residences.

Because of the extended time-span, the varied range of financial
resources available to a broad band of society, and the fragmentary
nature of the documentation, it is all too easy to draw dubious con-
clusions from the limited information currently available. The
household of the 3rd Lord Berkeley (1326-61) included twelve
knights and twenty-four esquires,*? while Edward Courtenay, earl
of Devon had a complement of eight knights including five
members of his own family, forty-one esquires, fourteen lawyers,
and sixty-one servants in 1384-5.>* William, Lord Hastings in the
most fully documented fifteenth-century household had ninety
permanent retainers.’ In 1442, Humphrey Stafford, 1st duke of
Buckingham, one of the three wealthiest persons at the time, had
eighty-three retainers of whom a significant number were lawyers
and counsel, while the 3rd duke of Buckingham had a household of
between 300 and 400 between 1511 and 1514.%° All these can be
related to still-standing properties, and though the last confirms the
almost royal scale of Buckingham’s domestic and political base at
Thornbury Castle, numbers by themselves and the broader conclu-
sions drawn from them are not too meaningful. Holding to aver-
ages across a range of fourteenth-century families, it has been
estimated that the household of an earl was usually between fifty
and a hundred permanent staff. A baron would have between thirty
and fifty staff, a banneret between twenty and forty, and knights and
esquires between ten and thirty full-time staff.?¢ To these numbers
should be added the periodic visits of knights and esquires to earls
and barons, as well as friends and guests of all rank, some of whom
would bring their own servants.

There is considerable evidence for the view that the households
grew in scale at all levels during the fifteenth century.’” However,
Christopher Woolgar has made some calculations based on food
consumption which suggest that the largest households occurred in
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pLATE 8 Thornbury Castle: engraving from the south by S. and N. Buck (1732)

the first half of the fourteenth century, and that they decreased in size
during the late fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, with some growth
towards the close of the century.’® Even so, household numbers
suggest a widespread pattern of increase during the century, partly
arising from the weakness of royal authority, but partly to meet the
culture of greater luxury and display. It was in response to swollen
household numbers that ordinances were written in an attempt to
control and regulate them, such as the household regulations of
Edward IV, and those for George, duke of Clarence, the 3rd duke of
Buckingham, and the 5th ear] of Northumberland.?* The Black Book
of Edward IV’ household for instance, written in ¢.1471-2, suggests
that the size of a household should be 240 for a duke, 200 for a
marquis, 140 for an earl, eighty for a viscount, forty for a baron,
twenty-four for a banneret, sixteen for a knight, and ten for an
esquire. This is an ideal which in reality was less at the upper levels
but more at the lower. Nevertheless, it highlights the increase in size
and indicates the relative scale thought appropriate to a person’s
station.* And should it be thought that only the greater households
had substantial staff numbers, esquires such as Robert Waterton of
Mexborough had a household of forty staft in 1419-20, William
Vredale of Wickham had one of thirty-five staff in 1478-9, while
Robert Melton, a Suffolk yeoman farmer, had a household of seven-
teen from 1499 to 1508.%

"To emphasise this last point, not only did the nobility and gentry
share the same attitudes, lifestyle, and aspirations, but there was little
distinction between their homes as well. It is not immediately appar-
ent standing in front of Bolton Castle in Yorkshire and Bodiam
Castle in Sussex which was built by a knight and which one by a
magnate and officer of state. Nor is there any obvious differentiation
in the size and character of the magnate’s manor at Wingfield in
Derbyshire and the knight’s house nearby, Haddon Hall. The
impressive fortified house at Brinsop Court in Herefordshire was
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built by a local squire, while the far more modest house not far away
at Cheyney Longville was developed by a wealthy knight and long-
standing member of parliament. Lord Cromwell’s mansion at
Wingfield was eagerly acquired by the earl of Shrewsbury, a higher-
ranking magnate, with virtually no addition or alterations what-
soever. Sudeley Castle in Gloucestershire was built by a parvenu lord,
but Edward IV’s brother was happy to take it over and enlarge the
house as his principal residence in the south before ascending the
throne in 1483.%2

CHAMBER EXPANSION

These social and cultural changes substantially impacted on the
organisation and layout of the greater medieval houses. They did not,
however, affect the form and focal position of the hall and its service
rooms. The structural changes that occurred such as the removal of
aisle posts, the elaboration of roofs, and the insertion of bay windows
lighting the dais, were essentially intended to impress visitors of all
ranks and standing. The principal cultural change was that the hall
tended to become more of a ceremonial apartment — used for feast-
ing, entertainment, formal receptions, and hospitality. The only
development in service rooms was an increase in their number and
specialisation to meet this demand.

The prime structural developments during the later middle ages
occurred in the growth of private chambers and apartments, and in
intriguingly different ways. The status of an apartment depended on
several factors, succinctly analysed by Graham Fairclough.® The
most important was its position in the house in relation to the hall.
Ifit was beyond the screens and cross passage at the lower end of the
hall, thatis close to the offices and kitchen, it was usually of relatively
low status. If it was beyond the dais and high table in the hall, it
would be of high status. Furthermore, ground-floor rooms were of
lesser standing than first- or upper-floor rooms. In some of the
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largesthouses in the later middle ages, the hall was elevated to a first-
floor position as at Windsor, Llawhaden, and Wardour castles and
Wingfield Manor. Size and form had always been essential factors in
determining a room’s importance but it was now marked by the size
and number of its windows, the scale of its entry, and the form of its
roof, remembering that the upper rooms of a two-storeyed house
were nearly always open to the roof structure. As the benefits of
privacy became increasingly appreciated, a room’s position in rela-
tion to other comparable apartments became increasingly signifi-
cant. Privacy meant controlling access, and that was much easier as
the common practice was for rooms to be approached one from
another. Corridor access throughout our period only occurred in
very limited circumstances. The extent of a room’s facilities was sig-
nificant. They were, in order of importance, a fireplace, a separate
lavatory, a closet for clothes, and a wall cupboard. Occasionally there
would be a wall drain for washing as at Dacre Castle or Battel Hall.
Aroom’s decorative qualities also contributed to its standing, partic-
ularly an elaborate and decorated roof structure which is often the
primary survival when the chamber it served has been totally altered.
Equally indicative are the architectural embellishment of the
doorway and the windows, the inclusion of painted glass (or even
glass at all), elaborate scenes or designs painted on plastered walls,
and at the close of our period, the inclusion of decorative woodwork.
Finally, the status of a room depended on whether it was shared or
not, or whether it was part of a suite. Suites were usually of two
rooms, with the larger outer chamber with fireplace and garderobe
serving as a withdrawing chamber, and the smaller inner chamber
lacking such facilities used primarily as a bedchamber.

These factors translated into house development in a number of
ways during the later middle ages. The first was a substantial
increase in chamber accommodation, and more specifically in the
accommodation for the owner of the house and his family. There
were comparatively few chambers (or little privacy) in twelfth- and
early thirteenth-century houses, but the documentary evidence
for the royal houses at Westminster, Clarendon, and Woodstock
reveals the increasing number of rooms demanded by Henry III
and Edward I and their queens. An examination of two major
fourteenth-century residences, Goodrich Castle and Bolton Castle,
reveals the scale of the development within two or three genera-
tions. Externally, Goodrich (¢.1280-1300) rising from its rock-hewn
moat is as impressive and as formidable as any built by Edward I in
North Wales. Internally, as much care was taken with the residen-
tial accommodation as with its military capacity. Furthermore, the
accommodation of halls and associated chamber blocks, offices, and
chapels was carefully interlocked, pentice linked, and integrated
with the defensive frontages so that their function was in no way
endangered. Goodrich Castle is also particularly important because
it initiated the movement when residential planning became as
importantas defensive arrangements, a movement stimulated by the
mid-century redevelopments at Berkeley and Windsor castles. By
the time Lord Scrope built Bolton Castle (1376-96) the frowning
exterior concealed a veritable warren of halls and chambers, skilfully
interlocking but ensuring individual privacy and scaled by size and
appointments to the rank of the occupier.

Bolton Castle makes it clear that chambers were increasingly
assigned to individuals. They were not, however, used for a single
purpose as most of our rooms are today, but were multi-functional.
They could be a withdrawing room, a bedroom, a dressing and
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pLATE 9 Sudeley Castle: windows of private apartments of Richard, duke
of Gloucester

ablution room, and equally used for taking meals and receiving
guests. Most important, though, was that chambers were usually of
single social status. A lord’s chamber was strictly out of bounds to
all but him and those honoured few he cared to admit.

Chambers increased in the number and quality of their appoint-
ments. The number of garderobes and fireplaces at both Goodrich
Castle and Haddon Hall shows that comfort was becoming increas-
ingly important, and this began to apply to rooms used not only by
the owner but by his guests, senior members of his household, and
even some of his staff. Furnishings improved and decorative fea-
tures helped to enhance a chamber, as discussed in the last essay in
this volume, pp. 468-82. What is quite clear is that by concentrat-
ing on fewer residences than in the early middle ages, it was pos-
sible for a major householder to expand the number of good-quality
rooms in his house, and to furnish them appropriately with com-
fortable facilities and luxurious materials.

The increase in the number of chambers and the growth of house-
hold numbers inevitably meantan increase in the size of a house. The
development of courtyard houses brought discipline to residential
layouts. By the beginning of the fourteenth century, it was the
primary shape for most high-status residences, and by the close of the
century the courtyard was nearly always rectangular. The Neville
family rebuilt their castles at Brancepeth (¢.1360-80) and Raby
(¢.1367-90) on the plan of towers and apartments irregularly grouped
around courtyards. Within a few years, the family had adopted a more
formal quadrangular plan at Sheriff Hutton Castle (1382-1402), as
the Percy family did at Wressle Castle (1390s) not far away.

A quadrangular courtyard enabled ranges to be built against its
outer walls providing a line of lower- (ground-floor) and higher-
status (upper-floor) accommodation as at Maxstoke and Penrith
castles. But whereas initially such ranges were simply built against
the walls, they quickly became integrated with the walls during the
second half of the fourteenth century to create enclosing ranges
round a central court, as at Bolton and Wressle castles. Towards the
later fifteenth century, expansion might come up against site
restrictions, forcing an owner to develop additional higher-status
rooms above the services at the lower end of the hall as at Ightham
Mote and Cotehele.
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pLATE 10 Thornbury Castle: windows of private suites of the duke and
duchess of Buckingham

A single courtyard was adequate for most households; two court-
yards became desirable in the larger ones. Fortresses had often been
built with an outer and inner courtyard for defensive reasons and to
provide lines of protection, but the form did not develop in residen-
tial architecture until the later thirteenth century. It can be seen in
some of the largest episcopal palaces in London such as Winchester
House and Lambeth Palace, but one of the earliest purely country
houses to adopt the double-courtyard plan was Dartington Hall
during the 1390s. The form had become the norm for high-status
houses by the second quarter of the fifteenth century as at Caister
Castle, Wingfield Manor, and Haddon Hall. The two courtyards
were nearly always separated by the hall, facilitating the distinction
of an outer court for services, and an inner court for the private
apartments of the householder. The outer court was more open to
the world and had greater public access. The inner court encour-
aged privacy, and the development of secondary or inner chambers
and even suites, and gave greater control over access.

THE DEVELOPMENT OF LODGINGS

Guests were an extremely important factor in any household, par-
ticularly from the mid-fourteenth century onwards when there is a
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great deal of information about visitors to great houses, their length
of stay, and the costs involved. The late fourteenth-century poem
Sir Gawain and the Green Knight brilliantly depicts Gawain’s cordial
reception at the castle of Sir Bertilak, and though it may be ideal-
ised, it encapsulates the principles to be accorded to all guests irre-
spective of their rank. Some analysis of household accounts shows
that visitors — from magnates to workmen — in some bishops’ house-
holds accounted for between 20 per cent and 30 per cent of those
present at meal times, while they were between 44 per cent and 50
per cent of those present in the duke of Buckingham’s household at
Thornbury Castle.* Short- and long-stay guests would be accom-
panied by servants who also had to be housed and fed.

Two new types of accommodation were conceived to meet the
increasing numbers and status of household staff and provide gen-
erous hospitality facilities. One was the development of lodging
accommodation from the mid-fourteenth to the mid-sixteenth
century. The other was the introduction of residential tower-houses
from the second quarter of the fifteenth century to the closing years
of that era. As the latter was discussed in volume IL* the origin and
different types of household lodgings are considered in the remain-
der of this chapter.

In its fully developed form, a secular lodging usually consisted of
a room, about 20 feet square, with its own entry, window, fireplace,
and garderobe. They rarely existed as singletons but in a group,
usually a minimum of four lodgings — two at ground level and two
above approached by an external or internal stair. Lodgings lay
outside the immediate area of the family apartments and would be
described today as ‘bed-sitters’. However, such units did not sud-
denly appear fully formed.

References to chambers for senior staff and guests frequently
occur in thirteenth-century records, particularly those for royal
palaces.* They may have been large undivided rooms, rather like
small dormitories. So far, no such survivals have been clearly iden-
tified, though this is surely only a matter of time. That might have
been the purpose of the two rooms, one above the other, between
the services and the earlier keep at Berkeley Castle (second quarter
of the fourteenth century) now displayed as a dining room with
picture gallery above. A similar lodging existed next to the gate-
house at the archiepiscopal palace at Charing where the principal
lodging wing consisted of two communal rooms at the upper level
and two below, if the scale of the two garderobe projections is taken
into account.’ The ground floor could have held as many as
twenty-five staff, with fewer above if those rooms were occupied by
more senior people. Attributed to ¢.1340, this accommodation may
represent an early form before the rapid development stage of the
mid-century.

One of the themes of these volumes has been the close relation-
ship during the later middle ages between large-scale houses and
analogous buildings. This is particularly relevant to the develop-
ment of secular lodgings. The retinue of the king, a magnate, or a
church-leader was of sufficient scale to be considered a community
of people, and in planning accommodation for them it was natural
to look at existing institutions that had already faced comparable
accommodation needs. They would, in turn, be affected by the fully
developed secular form.*

There were three such communities — educational, ecclesiastical,
and charitable. Their organisation within a single residence and
their multiplication was a feature of the later middle ages. Nearly
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all the educational establishments were founded by the crown and
élite leaders of lay and ecclesiastical society, the same strata who
needed to enhance and extend their own accommodation facilities.
The ecclesiastical communities, including the vicars choral or sub-
sidiary clerics of a cathedral, the secular canons serving a large
parish church, and even extending to the Carthusian order where
monks lived a self-contained existence, were brought together
under a corporate umbrella. The charitable institutions — hospitals
and almshouses — are less important in the antecedents of lodging
ranges than in their reaction to them.

Architecturally, educational colleges are the most significant of
these community establishments for their ranges prefigure compar-
able secular examples. The north range (1304-7) and the east range
(1308-11) enclosing two sides of Mob Quad at Merton College,
Oxford, are the earliest college rooms at either Oxford or
Cambridge. They were two-storeyed with a room each side of the
small entry lobby holding a steep stair to the upper rooms, initially
open to the roof. The internal layout is difficult to make out today
as the windows have been remodelled and the internal partitions
and ceilings reflect post-medieval changes, but it has been estab-
lished that each heated room included four partitioned study closets
for occupation by four fellows.*” Between 1352 and 1377, two-
storey lodging ranges were being developed round three sides of the
quadrangle at Corpus Christi College, Cambridge, but with stu-
dents, four to a room, occupying the ground floor with the more
senior fellows at the upper level. A relatively complete collegiate
lodging of 1376-7 at King’s Hall has been incorporated in Trinity
College, Cambridge.*

The organisation of the priests serving collegiate churches into
college-like premises occurred during the first half of the four-
teenth century.’! Until then, chantry priests had lived locally but
communal living brought greater discipline as at Ottery St Mary
(1339), St Stephen’s, Westminster (1348), and St George’s,
Windsor (1348). Some of the college buildings erected by Sir John
Cobham at Cobham (¢.1370), the earl of Arundel at Arundel (1380),
and archbishop Courtenay at Maidstone (1395) still stand, grouped
round a quadrangle as in the larger academic foundations, with
gateway, dining hall, and lodgings.

The earliest standing college of vicars choral is that at Lincoln,
started in ¢.1270 with completion in ¢.1380. The gradually devel-
oped quadrangular form of this Vicars’ Close included a two-storey
residential range of apparently individual lodgings on the south side
dominated by massive garderobe stacks.’? Re-examination of this
much-altered structure of ¢.1300-9 shows that it initially consisted
of a hall with offices, and a group of six similar chambers at the west
end. There were three on each floor furnished with a fireplace,
garderobe, and atleast two (possibly four) windows. The upper floor
was more probably accessed by a newel rather than a straight stair.

The famous close at Wells of ¢.1340 is made up of two parallel
accommodation ranges on either side of the street, but they are a
line of individual two-storey and self-contained houses. Though
some monastic dormitories came to resemble the upper floor of a
lodging range, the division into separate cubicles was a relatively
late and independent development arising from the growth in
privacy.

Just as the organisation of specialist ecclesiastical communities
helped to transform parish churches, architecturally and constitu-
tionally during the later middle ages, so the organisation and hier-
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archial development of a magnate’s household led to a comparable
secular development. From the early fourteenth century, their
houses were increasingly formalised round a court, as were those
of comparable educational communities. In both instances, the
construction of lodging ranges was a contributing factor, but if
educational and some ecclesiastical communities influenced the
development of secular houses, the form — once conceived —
swiftly developed in secular hands.

It might be anticipated that the earliest structure specially
designed to provide a sequence of rooms for household officials
would be in a royal palace and it is possible that the crown led this
movement as it did in other fields. In 1975, the flint foundations of
a lodging range, 300 feet by 16 feet, were uncovered at King’s
Langley Palace. Probably built initially as a timber-framed struc-
ture on flintstone foundations, and ascribed to 130810, it consisted
of eight rooms with the fireplaces subsequently inserted in some
rooms in ¢.1370.%% There is a fifty-year gap before any comparable
royal work was undertaken but it was possibly preceded in the late
1350s by a two-storey lodging range at the Black Prince’s palace at
Kennington known as the squires’ chamber, though the evidence is
documentary, not structural or excavated.’*

Among the earliest ranges of retinue lodgings identified so far are
those lining two sides of the rectangular courtyard at Maxstoke
Castle, built by William, earl of Huntingdon between 1342 and
1346. Both ranges are ruined but the outer walls survive with post
sockets showing that the timber-framed lodgings on the south side
of the court consisted of four rooms for retainers at the upper level
with stores and services below. The north range was of a higher
standard with three paired lodgings, heated and garderobe pro-
vided, at the upper level with a fourth one below and three single
lodgings.*

The crown soon consolidated this initiative in spectacular form.
After completion of the royal apartments on the north side of the
upper ward at Windsor Castle, the east and south sides of the ward
were lined with ranges of two-storeyed lodgings between ¢.1365
and 1377. The rooms were generously scaled with the upper lodg-
ings reached by a straight internal stair. Though separated by six
four-storey towers which provided further accommodation, it is
possible there were up to twenty lodgings in the east range and con-
siderably more in the longer south range, with the upper rooms,
marked by larger windows, occupied by more senior staff. Hollar’s
engravings of the upper ward show that both ranges were regularly
configurated, a practice adopted shortly afterwards by bishop
Wykeham at New College, Oxford and Winchester College.
However, Wyatville’s remodelling of Windsor’s upper ward
(1824-30) virtually destroyed most of the fourteenth-century work
in favour of his corridors and replacement suites of royal apart-
ments.

The Windsor development can be sensed a generation later in
the semi-royal development by Richard II’s half-brother at
Dartington Hall. During the last decade of the fourteenth century,
John Holand, earl of Huntingdon, erected two-storeyed ranges of
lodgings filling both sides of the 250 foot long outer court.
Eschewing the single-minded uniformity of Windsor, the east
range (c.1390-5) has two-centred doorway heads, external entries,
and stone rear garderobes, whereas the west range (c.1395-1400)
adopted four-centred doorway heads and wood-encased rear garde-
robes, and retains the projecting porches with external stairs to the
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PLATE 11 Dartington Hall: engraving from the east by S. and N. Buck (1734)

upper rooms. The east range was made up of fourteen pairs of lodg-
ings, while the west range consisted of ten pairs, with the two next
to the hall considerably larger and probably for communal use by
junior staff. On the basis of two staff per lodging and about eight in
each communal room, then the two ranges could accommodate up
to 108 staff. The Dartington plan was swiftly reflected locally by
the 3rd earl of Devon’s four-room unit next to the chapel at
Okehampton Castle and by Sir Philip Courtenay’s short range at
Powderham Castle (1392-1406) where the upper floor has since
been converted into a chapel.

Turning to northern England, some of the rooms against the
courtyard walls at the mid-fourteenth-century quadrangular castles
such as Chillingham and Ford may have been dormitory-type
rooms, but subsequent redevelopments have obliterated their initial
function. The irregular-shaped palace-fortress of the Neville family
at Raby, developed piecemeal between ¢.1367 and 1388, would cer-
tainly have had lodging accommodation, particularly as the two-
tiered hall range on one side of the kitchen court (complementing
the much larger one for this powerful family astride the main court)
may well have been used by greater and lesser household officials.
But though the castle retains several single and paired lodgings,
post-medieval remodelling and the landscaping of the outer ward
have cleared any evidence of early lodging ranges. This is not the
case, however, with the next generation of the Neville family at
their stronghold at Middleham. Between ¢.1400 and 1430 Ralph,
Lord Neville and his son Richard Neville, earl of Salisbury, shortly
after his succession built three such ranges round the court that
encircled the Norman keep. Though ruined, the changes in their
form reflected stop-start construction. There were external stairs
to the upper rooms on the south and west sides but internal stairs
to the lodgings on the later north side. All units were heated and
garderobe provided, with single and paired lodgings in the south
and north ranges, individual lodgings on the west side. Middleham
Castle provided up to twenty-four mainly single-room lodgings
with the paired rooms among the earliest of this form.

Tiered accommodation developed concurrently with horizontal
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planning. Among the earliest was the three-storeyed gatehouse to
the Bishop’s Palace at Wells, erected in the early 1340s by bishop
Ralph to hold seven lodgings, probably for his household officials.
Equally quick off the mark was Thomas Beauchamp, earl of
Warwick, with his imposing frontal towers at Warwick Castle, the
three-tiered lodgings in Caesar’s Tower of the 1340s and the slightly
later Guy’s Tower where the first four high-standard lodgings were
identical. The north quickly followed, initially by Sir William
Aldeburgh with two similar but far more modest tiered units at
Harewood Castle (1366—¢.1388). Lord Scrope adopted the same
principle in the entrance range at Bolton Castle (¢.1378-96) with
two lodgings over the entry and three pairs to the side of it, all off
a central stair. A similar tiered pattern was adopted by John Lord
Lovel, filling two sides of his hexagonal castle at Wardour (¢.1393)
with paired as well as single lodgings, though few of them survived
the Civil War bombardment.

In little more than a single mid-century generation, the need for
substantial household and retinue lodgings had developed in three
ways from a dormitory-type unit — as a four-room unit, as an
extended range of many units, and as tiered lodgings. As might be
expected, all such lodgings were initially crown or magnate led
(ecclesiastical as well as secular), though the form had begun to
trickle down the social scale as at Powderham, at the enigmatic but
early range at Burwell, possibly influenced by Cambridge colleges,
and at Farleigh Hungerford Castle.*®

The fifteenth century brought refinements and modest improve-
ments rather than fundamental changes to the fully developed
form. The rooms at Ewelme Manor (possibly ¢.1420-30), though
heated, lacked individual garderobes, pointing to median social
status. There were also two communal end rooms as at Dartington
Hall, but the structure is notable for the external gallery approach
to the upper rooms, repeated in the range 243 feet long at Bishop’s
Waltham Palace (1438-43). The richly embellished upper lodgings
round part of the earl of Pembroke’s Fountain Court (1465-9) at
Raglan Castle were approached by a grand stair, while internal cor-
ridor access occurs at Gainsborough Old Hall (1479-85).
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pLATE 12 Haddon Hall: lower court, west lodging range

Ralph, Lord Cromwell’s mansion at Wingfield (c.1440-56) is a
summation of the hierarchial standards appropriate to the house-
hold of a leading magnate. The outer court included two-storeyed,
unheated, stone-built dormitories with a shared central garderobe,
and a more superior range opposite, possibly timber-framed to the
courtyard, with wall fireplaces and garderobes. There were three
lodgings on both floors of the cross range, either side of the central
gateway, not all identical. The twelve lodgings in the three-storeyed
west range of the inner court were of superior standard — the lowest
heated but with no windows to the field. Those above, approached
from two projecting octagonal stairs, had opposing windows, fire-
places and garderobes in a bold stack and closet pattern. This was
the precursor to the even more complex internal layout of four
suites of two rooms and one of four rooms in the west range at
Gainsborough Old Hall for Sir Thomas Burgh (1479-85). But
Wingfield Manor went one step further with a tier of four large-
scale, well-lit, comfortable lodgings in a commanding tower-house
appropriate to guests or officials of the highest rank.

Lodging ranges were now as much a part of the lifestyle of the
higher gentry as of magnates, with mid-century examples by John
Sydenham at Brympton d’Evercy, Sir William Fiennes at
Broughton Castle, and Sir Ralph Boteler at Sudeley Castle, by Sir
Henry Vernon at Haddon Hall later in the century, and by Sir
William Pierrepont at Holme Pierrepont Hall early in the sixteenth
century.’’ The facilities developed by Sir William Vernon to
accommodate his household and guests are as varied and as gener-
ously scaled as those at Wingfield Manor. They have the advantage
of still being roofed, little altered externally or internally, and in part
still occupied by the duke of Rutland’s staff.’8

We do not know to what extent such lodgings were limited to
permanent household staff, periodic retainers, guests, or visitors.
There was probably considerable flexibility depending on the
circumstances and standing of the lord, and that was liable to change
from generation to generation. The lodgings built by archbishop
Bourchier lining the east side of the outer court at Croydon Palace
(1454-86) were built to a higher standard than those he developed
on the west side. A survey of the ear] of Northumberland’s house at
Leconfield in 1537 makes it clear that the upper lodgings of a two-
storey galleried range were for gentlemen attending the earl and the
lower lodgings were for yeomen servants.’’ A leading household
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pLATE 13 Winchester, Hospital of St Cross: west lodging range

official would warrant a single room where he could work and sleep
—a combined bed-sitting room and office. He would expect a separ-
ate entry for privacy, and a fireplace and garderobe for his comfort.
Less senior staff might enjoy the same amenities but would expect
to share, at least two or more to a room. Junior staff would be in dor-
mitory-like accommodation which would need to be heated and
provided with a communal garderobe. Windows would be unglazed
but shuttered and walls probably plastered. Furniture would be
spartan, a bed with possibly a truckle bed underneath, a table, a stool,
and a washbowl. Guests would be allocated accommodation appro-
priate to their rank, but family guests and visitors of high standing
would expect a spacious self-contained lodging and possibly one
with an outer and an inner chamber. They would be accompanied
by their own servants and grooms who would also need to be
housed,% possibly the senior servants in rooms like the low ground-
floor lodgings in the west range at Wingfield Manor, close to their
masters above. Dormitory-type accommodation can also be seen
above the bakehouse and brewhouse at Bishop’s Waltham Palace
(1439-43).

The early sixteenth century opened with the impressive ranges
lining the outer court at Thornbury Castle (1507-21) and the sim-
ilarly positioned ranges at Hampton Court (1514-¢.22) with its
forty two-roomed guest lodgings round the Base Court. Both resi-
dences aroused the ire of the king, who took them both for his own
use. Fifty years later, three sides of the outer court at Sudeley Castle
were almost entirely rebuilt by Lord Chandos (1570-2) at the same
time that Sir Humphrey Stafford was developing lodging ranges at
Kirby Hall (1570-5). Both followed the same plan of courtyard
entrances to paired lodgings with guest chambers above and a long
gallery. Although the ranges were more sophisticated, they differed
little in planning terms (apart from the gallery) from those of
Edward III two centuries earlier for his courtiers and household
officials at Windsor.

There was a reciprocal development in other community institu-
tions. Until the late sixteenth century, collegiate lodgings at Oxford
and Cambridge continued to be two-storeyed, of one room thick-
ness (except the upper floor at Magdalen College, Oxford) and
usually filling at least two sides of the quadrangular layout. But fol-
lowing the royal precedent, bishop Wykeham introduced the social
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concept at New College of providing ground-floor lodgings for
those of lower status (students) with the upper rooms (with garde-
robes) for those of higher standing (fellows). The accommodation
would be for three or four occupants at ground-floor level and two
or three above, though his ground-floor communal rooms at
Winchester College could take up to thirteen scholars.

The radical improvement in the layout of secular colleges of
priests is reflected in Thomas de la Warr’s foundation of 1421 in
Manchester (now Chetham’s). The rooms, cloister approached, were
grouped round a small quadrangle, at two levels: eight lodgings with
individual entries, some with garderobes, at ground level and eight
further individual lodgings above. Bishop Stanbury’s equally well-
preserved college of 1472-5 at Hereford Cathedral held twenty-
seven two-roomed houses. The almshouse at Ewelme, established by
the earl of Suffolk in 1437, marked the development of individual
lodgings round a small court in place of the community accommo-
dation hitherto.®! Even more impressive was bishop Beaufort’s
regeneration of the Hospital of St Cross at Winchester, matching the
quality and scale of the Norman church and the late fourteenth-
century hall.2 The brethren’s ranges of ¢. 1445 were made up of forty
units. They were two rooms thick, not an outer and inner chamber
as in a paired lodging, but with a large courtyard-facing room with
fireplace and two smaller rooms at the rear, one with the garderobe
projection that served both floors as at Dartington Hall.®*
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GLOUCESTERSHIRE has been exceedingly well served by its
early historians. The 860 pages by the landowner and lawyer Sir
Robert Atkyns, The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire (1712),
are stunningly interlaced with seventy-three plates prepared by
Johannes Kip between 1700 and 1710. They are almost all of
country houses, and where they can be checked with existing build-
ings or other sources Kip’s bird’s-eye views prove to be extremely
accurate. Samuel Lysons, A Collection of Gloucestershire Antiquities
(1803), has even more plates of almost equal interest. Samuel
Rudder, A New History of Gloucestershire (1779), has a number of
country house plates engraved by Bonner, while Thomas Rudge,
The History of the County of Gloucester (1803), 2 volumes, an update
of Atkyns, completes this quartet of outstanding county histories.

For the landscape and its historical development, see H. P. R.
Finberg, The Making of the English Landscape: Gloucestershire (1975),
B. S. Smith and E. Ralph, A History of Bristol and Gloucestershire (3rd
ed. 1996), and C. and A. M. Hadfield (eds.), The Cotswolds: A New
Study (1973). For the leading families, see J. Johnson, The
Gloucestershire Gentry (1989) and the more specialist N. Saul,
Knights and Esquires: The Gloucestershire Gentry in the Fourteenth
Century (1981).

The Transactions of the Bristol and Gloucestershire Archaeological
Society have been published since 1876, but medieval houses have
not been well served in this county in comparison with medieval
churches. J. and H. S. Storer and J. N. Brewer, Delineations of
Gloucestershire, Being Views of the Principal Seats of Nobility and Gentry
(1825-7), is self-explanatory. The late twentieth-century version is
in three volumes by Nicholas Kingsley, The Country Houses of
Gloucestershire (1989-2001). Unfortunately volume I (1989) omits
some of the most fascinating properties as its coverage to 1660 starts
with the Tudors at 1500. Berkeley and Sudeley castles, in particu-
lar, badly need the detailed analysis so far limited to one residence,
Acton Court: The Evolution of an Early Tudor Courtier’s House by K.
Rodwell and R. Bell (2004). Otherwise the articles in Country Life
are often the only reliable source, even for some major houses. For
smaller houses, L. J. Hall, The Rural Houses of North Avon and South
Gloucestershire 1400-1720 (1983), points up the contrasts with the
greater houses in the region. The two volumes on Gloucestershire by
David Verey (1970) in The Buildings of England series did not main-
tain Pevsner’s high standards because of the author’s routine eye,
though this has been eradicated in the much-improved revised
edition by Alan Brooks, I The Cotswolds (1992), I1 The Vale and Forest
of Dean (2002), both with separate multi-introductions. Verey also
contributed an essay on the Perpendicular style in the Cotswolds in
Essays in Bristol and Gloucestershire History, ed. P. McGrath and J.
Cannor (1976).
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"The Victoria History of the County of Gloucester is continuing slowly
but majestically, with ten volumes published to date. Summer
Meetings of the Royal Archaeological Institute have been based at
Gloucester, 78 (1921), Cheltenham, 122 (1965) and Cirencester,
145 (1988) with useful programme notes including some covered in
sorties from Bath, 87 (1930) and Bristol, 134 (1977).

There are no indispensable early histories of Oxfordshire. The
earliest is Robert Plot, The Natural History of Oxfordshire (1677). Its
interest is natural resources, not history, and only the first volume
of John Dunkin’s projected county history was published, The
History and Antiquities of the Hundreds of Bullingdon and Ploughley
(1823). In the same year, J. Skelton published his Engraved
Llustrations of the Principal Antiquities of Oxfordshire. The only
survey, therefore, is J. Meade Falkner’s popular History of
Oxfordshire (1899), supplemented by the detailed early and mid-
nineteenth-century architectural drawings of J. and J. C. Buckler.
For all literature, see E. H. Cordeaux and D. H. Merry, 4
Bibliography of Printed Works Relating to Oxfordshire (1955) and the
smaller Oxfordshire: A Handbook for Students of Local History, ed.
D. M. Barratt and D. G. Vaisey (1977). The most detailed coverage
of the county is in the volumes published to date of the Victoria
County History, supplemented by the volumes of the Oxfordshire
Record Society since 1919 for documents relating to the history of
the shire, and the volumes of Oxford History Society since 1884 for
historical records relating to the university and city of Oxford. The
Oxfordshire Archaeological and History Society was founded in
1839, with its Proceedings ceasing in 1900. They have been replaced
since 1936 by Owxoniensia, a more valuable journal than many for the
history and architecture of a region as well as its archaeology. The
Fournal of Banbury History Society has covered that locality since
1960.

During the later twentieth century, the county was served by F.
Emery, The Oxfordshire Landscape (1974) and by A. F. Martin and
R. W. Steel, The Oxford Region: A Scientific and Historical Survey
(1954), but the chapter by W. G. Hoskins and E. M. Jope has been
superseded by that by J. Bond in The Archaeology of the Oxford
Region, ed. J. C. Steane (1986) 135-59. Similarly, E. T. Long’s
overview of medieval domestic architecture in Oxfordshire Arch.
Soc. Reports 84 (1938) 45-56 and 85 (1939) 97-105 has been super-
seded by J. Sherwood and N. Pevsner, Buildings of England:
Oxfordshire (1974), J. C. Pillling, Oxfordshire Houses (1993) aptly
subtitled ‘A guide to local traditions’, and the Summer pro-
grammes of the Royal Archaeological Institute for 1910 and 1978.
Specialist historical studies include A. Ballard, The Black Death on
the Manors of Witney (1916), P. Harvey, A Medieval Oxfordshire
Village: Cuxham 1240-1400 (1965), R. B. Wood-Jones, Traditional
Domestic Architecture of the Banbury Region (1963), and the valuable
booklet by F. Woodward, Oxfordshire Parks (1982). A detailed
study on Oxfordshire manorial sites, co-ordinated by Dr J. Blair,
was planned in 1986. That section covering the Vale of
Whitehorse was published in Oxoniensia in 1992. An overview of
medieval discoveries in the county and city between 1975 and
2000 by John Steane was published in Oxoniensia 66 (2001) 1-12.

The University of Oxford has been covered exhaustively ever
since Anthony Wood assembled an invaluable collection of
material, brought together in editions by J. Peshall (1773), J. Gutch
(1786-96), and A. Clark (1889). Thomas Hearne’s collections were
edited by C. E. Doble, H. E. Salter ez 4/. in eleven volumes between
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1884 and 1918, while the important drawings of the colleges by
John Bereblock (1566) and David Loggan (1675) have been fre-
quently reproduced in architectural studies on the colleges. All
books prior to 1968 are listed in E. H. Cordeaux and D. H. Merry,
A Bibliography of Printed Works Relating to the University of Ouxford
(1968). The three key volumes surveying all the colleges are Aymer
Vallance’s extensively illustrated and personal assessment, The Old
Colleges of Oxford (1912), RCHM, An Inventory of the Historical
Monuments of the City of Oxford (1939), and VCH, Oxfordshire, 111
(1954) which details the sites and historical development of the
individual colleges as well as their architectural story. Among more
recent popular books are M. Jebb, The Colleges of Oxford (1992), J.
Prest (ed.), The llustrated History of Oxford University (1993), and G.
Tyack, Oxford: An Architectural Guide (1998). Specialist studies
include W. J. Arkell, Oxford Stone (1947) and W. F. Oakeshott (ed.),
Oxford Stone Restored (1974), and papers by R. H. C. Davies, “The
chronology of Perpendicular architecture in Oxford’, Oxoniensia
11-12 (1946-7) 75-89; E. A. Gee on Oxford masons 1370-1530,
Arch. Four. 109 (1952) 54-131 and Oxford carpenters 1370-1530,
Oxoniensia 17-18 (1952-3) 112-84, and a stimulating essay by H. S.
Goodhart-Rendal, ‘Oxford buildings criticized’ in the same
volume, 200-15; and J. Harvey, ‘Architecture in Oxford 1350-1500’
in J. Catto and R. Evans (eds.), History of the University of Oxford, 11
(1992) 747-68. This seven-volume comprehensive History is super-
seding G. E. Mallet, A History of the University of Oxford (1924-7).

Neither Buckinghamshire nor Berkshire has been well served
by early studies. The best for Buckinghamshire is G. Lipscomb,
The History and Antiquities of the County of Buckingbamshire
(1831-47). However, both counties have benefited from com-
pleted surveys by the Victoria County History. That for the County
of Buckingbam is in four volumes (1905-28) with a separate index.
The shire has also been surveyed by the Royal Commission on
Historical Monuments, Buckinghamshire, 1, South (1912), II,
North (1913). N. Pevsner, Buildings of England: Buckinghamshire
(1960) was vastly extended and rewritten by E. Williamson and
G. K. Brandwood for the second edition (1994). Other relevant
works include M. Reed, The Buckinghamshire Landscape (1979) and
A History of Buckinghamshire (1992) and the recent papers in
Records of Buckingbamshire, the journal of the architectural and
archaeological society for the county, established in 1847 with the
first volume issued in 1854.

The four volumes of the Victoria County History for the County
of Berkshire were published between 1906 and 1924 but the last
two volumes had been completed by 1914 with publication
delayed by the First World War. J. Dils, An Historical Atlas of
Berkshire (1998) covers the county before the drastic boundary
changes of 1974. As with several other historical atlases, the choice
of subjects is eclectic, not comprehensive. Specialist works include
R. Faith, ‘Berkshire: fourteenth and fifteenth centuries’ in P. D. A.
Harvey (ed.), The Peasant Land Market in Medieval England (1984),
but the medieval aristocracy and gentry of Berkshire (and
Buckinghamshire) have yet to find their recorder.

‘The Berkshire Archaeological Transactions, first published in 1878,
became the Fournal in 1889 and the Berkshire, Buckingbamshire and
Oxfordshire Archaeological Fournal from 1895 until 1931 when it
reverted to its former Fournal title in recognition of its long-held
concern with the one county. The Transactions of the Newbury
District Field Club have concentrated on west Berkshire since 1870.
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Some of the recent archaeological surveys published under the aus-
pices of the Berkshire Archaeological Committee touch on the
medieval period, including G. G. Astill, Historic Towns in Berkshire
(1978), J. Richards, The Berkshire Downs (1978), S. Ford, East
Berkshire (1987) and S. J. Lobb and P. G. Rose, The Lower Kennet
Valley (1996). The principal overview of medieval domestic archi-
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tecture in the county is in three articles by E. T. Long, Berks. Arch.
Four: 44 (1940) 39-47, 101-13, and 45 (1941) 28-36. They are sup-
plemented by N. Pevsner, The Buildings of England: Berkshire (1966)
and by the series of papers since about 1960 on timber-framed
buildings in the Vale of Whitehorse, detailed in the architectural
introduction to the region.



5
THE THAMES VALLEY: SURVEY

ABINGDON ABBEY, Berkshire and monastic granges

At the time of the Dissolution, Abingdon Abbey was the sixth
wealthiest Benedictine monastery in England and one of the most
high-profile communities in the region. The scanty monastic
remains have some relevance to contemporary residential work,
while its granges are even more pertinent to our purpose.

The site is now almost completely covered by the borough
offices, houses, and gardens of Abingdon town, so that only the
abbey gateway! and a line of domestic buildings of the monastic
base court survive. The latter consist of the bakehouse and granary
(twelfth century with mid-fifteenth-century roof), the two-
storeyed exchequer (c.1260) and a residential range (mid-fifteenth
century) now used as a dwelling, a theatre, and an empty area
respectively. For our purposes, the residential range is of consider-
able value for comparison with contemporary secular ranges. Over
70 feetlong, this two-storeyed range is stone-built towards the mill-
stream and river Thames, but timber- and brick-built towards the
abbey court, the upper part open-framed. It is now curtailed by
about 25 feet at the east end, and with the lower half of the inner
wall stone rebuilt after 1820 (possibly during the 1895 restoration),
but the brick noggin between the studs is original, as are the first-
floor windows towards the river of paired cinquefoil lights,
transomed, under square heads, dating the range between the mid
and late fifteenth century.

The significance of the range lies not in its drastically modified
ground floor, possibly used for storage initially, but in the layout of
the upper floor. The original approach has been lost, but it led to a
corridor 4 feet wide with continuous unglazed windows towards the
court that ran the length of the range and accessed the line of
rooms. All partitions have been torn down leaving a single open
area and a line of corridor posts, but the mortices on the underside
of the tie beams identify the former partition positions separating
the two large central rooms from the three smaller rooms at each
end. The range is now divided into ten bays (formerly twelve).
Beginning at the exchequer end, the first rooms of a single bay each
were followed by a three-bay room with central fireplace (now
moved below) and two flanking windows. The further three-bay
room retains its central fireplace with replacement Elizabethan
lintel, and one of the two flanking windows. Only one of the three
further single-bay rooms survives plus a rebuilt end wall. The
rooms were open to the roof of braced tie beams with collars and
wind braces, with crossed braces spanning the corridor. The roof
was not elaborate but the tie beams were cambered rather than flat
within the two larger chambers and some of the partitioning infill
survives within the roof space. Whether this floor was intended for
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PLATE 14 Abingdon Abbey: corridor-lined lodging range

guests or abbey staff is unclear, but the layout of corridor-lined
rooms was comparable with those prefacing the prior’s lodging at
Wenlock Priory (c.1430), the inner court at Ockwells Manor
(c.1455-65), the east range (mid-1460s) and west range (c.1479) at
Gainsborough Old Hall, and in its present undivided layout with
the balconied north range (early 1460s) at Tretower Court.

Abingdon Abbey was among the largest landholders in Berkshire
and held properties in several neighbouring shires. The abbey
chronicler records that it was a veritable centre of civilisation
during the later middle ages, though it was more notably a centre
of controversy throughout most of the fourteenth century over the
monastery’s right to the town market. Major riots broke out over
this dispute in 1327, causing damage estimated at £10,000, and
though the abbey’s domination was restored, there was perpetual
friction during the extended rule of abbot Hanney (1361-1401).2
For Langland, writing in about 1377, this abbot of Abingdon sym-
bolised all that was wrong with the church and promptly prophe-
sied the fall of the great abbeys.? These disputes subsided in the
next century, and although there was initially a period of misman-
agement, stability and modest economic prosperity based on wool
were achieved during the last hundred years before the
Dissolution.
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GRANGES IN THE VALE OF WHITEHORSE

The leading Benedictine houses, in particular, were richly endowed
with extensive estates. By the mid-fourteenth century, Abingdon
held about seventy, mainly in two groups centred on the meadow-
land south of the Thames and the claylands of the Vale of
Whitehorse, with a second block on the Berkshire Downs as far as
the Kennet valley.* About twenty-eight of these estates were key
demesne manors, principally in the Vale, about half of them with a
substantial domestic range, and others with a significant complex of
farm buildings. Both are exemplified in five granges in the region,
four of them belonging to Abingdon.” Charney Bassett Manor
House retains the thirteenth-century solar and chapel wing of the
grange, now attached to an early nineteenth-century Tudor-style
replacement hall and slightly later offices block.® The well-
documented residential range at Cumnor Place was regrettably
pulled down in 1810, while Dean Court was excavated in the mid-
1970s and mid-1980s. The origins of two wings of Culham Manor
House lay in a grange of Abingdon, while that at Steventon was the
farm of an alien priory, granted to Westminster Abbey in 1399.

The architectural and archaeological examination of monastic
granges is still in its infancy, and the parallels with secular architec-
ture have hardly begun. Those in Berkshire are an ideal starting
point for they are among some of the best examples in England.
Dean Court, for instance, was one of the most extensive in the
country, but its importance lies not only in its size but that there
were two successive granges on different sites. Developed in the
north of Cumnor parish” and excavated in two phases in 1975-6 and
1984-5, Dean Court was a late twelfth-century property of the
abbey, with a group of early thirteenth-century stone buildings
including a modest house, larger barn and cowshed. This early
grange was abandoned when a new one was established in the valley
bottom towards the close of the century, moat surrounded, and
developed with a stone hall and solar (1280-1320), chapel, barn,
stables, dovecote, boundary wall, and fishponds. The reasons for
moving are uncertain, but the later grange was far more spacious in
layout and domestic facilities than the previous one. It was leased
out from the later fourteenth century and continued to be farmed
until the late twentieth century. The solar block still forms part of
the 1620 farmhouse, while the excavation confirmed the markedly
secular character of the buildings on this ecclesiastical site.?

This was even more evident at Cumnor, near Oxford. The
grange at this valuable estate was rebuilt in the mid-fourteenth
century as a country residence for the abbot and a sanitorium for
the monks of Abingdon Abbey. The residential range initially con-
sisted of a central hall with end blocks, and windows similar to those
inserted at about the same time in the hall and solar at Sutton
Courtenay ‘Abbey’. The hall, 44 feet by 22 feet and better propor-
tioned than the earlier hall at Sutton Courtenay, had been fitted
before the Dissolution with a stone fireplace with the arms of one
of the abbots. The solar above a low ground-floor chamber was lit
by a striking end-wall transomed window with ogee-traceried head.
The chamber above the offices at the lower end of the hall was
newel approached. During the fifteenth century, the house was
expanded on the east side by ranges on three sides of a small court,
one with a chapel, and each was interrupted by access approaches
from the main road, churchyard, and garden respectively.’

The house was chosen by the last abbot of Abingdon as his dwell-
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PLATE 15 Cumnor Place: engraving by N. Whittock (1830)

ing and it remained little modified untl the early nineteenth
century, though part of it had become ruinous. Because of its unal-
tered condition, it is one of the most missed of nineteenth-century
domestic demolitions, particularly as it had valuable parallels with
the development of Sutton Courtenay ‘Abbey’.!? Destroyed by the
earl of Abingdon in 1810, some of its stonework was incorporated
in Wytham church, 2 miles distant, during its rebuilding by the earl
in 1811-12."' Five two-light windows were reused, one as the
chancel window, and three lighting the south side of the nave.
These are all of Decorated character with flowing traceried heads,
but the fifth window on the north side of the nave with cinquefoil
lights and quatrefoil head is fifteenth century. The corbels support-
ing the nave roof came from the hall, even though its roof was still
in reasonable condition at the time of demolition, while the church-
yard gateway with a two-centred head may have been the hall
entrance, and the late fifteenth-century embattled entry was that
from the garden.

Steventon Priory was established as a grange of the abbey of Bec
in Normandy, but with the advent of the Hundred Years’ War the
property was unable to pay its regular subsidy to the alien mother-
house. The abbey therefore leased the grange to Sir Hugh Calveley
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in 1379 and sold it to him six years later.!? It was given to
Westminster Abbey in the last year of the century who leased it out
for nearly 450 years.!? Renamed Manor Farm and leased to absen-
tee gentry who sublet to yeoman farmers, the property was divided
into two habitations in 1843, amended to three in the 1950s.

The house lies at the church end of the raised causeway between
the village green and the parish church. This grange was a small
establishment under a prior, sub-prior, and seneschal and developed
its quadrangular plan in stages as at Sutton Courtenay ‘Abbey’. At
Steventon, the hall and a short west wing of offices with prior’s
chamber above had been erected by 1324.1% This modest house was
extended northwards (towards the street) in 1443—4 by an L-shaped
block to provide more generous residential accommodation.!* The
services may have been moved to the east wing at this point. Within
a generation, the hall had been replaced by the present one, creat-
ing a house round three and a half sides of a small courtyard. The
gap was closed in 1462-3 by Richard Doo (d.1476) at a cost of £13
11s. 5d.1¢ to create the present street fagade of three different build-
ing periods, immediately obvious by the contrasting framing tech-
niques. Therein lies part of this house’s interest, together with the
survival of its hall, open to the roof.
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The two-bay hall, 20 feet by 19 feet, stands at the rear of the
property. This small chamber was made more imposing by its
steeply pitched roof, 40 feet high to the roof ridge, though the stack
built against its upper wall in the late sixteenth century substan-
tially reduces these proportions. The two bays with original framed
end walls are separated by a false hammer-beam truss with open
trefoil lights between the beams and posts,'” and the roof is stabil-
ised by two lines of wind braces. The room was lit by timber-
framed windows in the upper half of the walling, with one of four
lights open to the courtyard and a blocked one opposite. The entry
door from the west wing has a four-centred head with decorated
spandrels, and the prior’s chamber above projects slightly into the
hall.

The two-phased parlour range extended in 1443-4 retains
similar doorways with traceried spandrels but with mullioned bay
windows and decorative gables added in the early seventeenth
century. The substantial east wing, modified at the same time as the
hall, is close studded with brick infill. The ground floor held a new
kitchen, replacing a lost detached one, offices, and a new screens
passage. Though the roofs are spanned by the original tie-beam
trusses, the interiors throughout the property have been modified
through continuous occupation. This applies even more so at
Culham where the L-shaped core of Steventon survives on a larger
scale. Timber-framed above a ground-floor stone base, the kitchen
was in the better-preserved fifteenth-century west wing with origi-
nal oak-block stair and king-post roof. The hall in the immediate
half of the range at right angle was refaced, floored, and thoroughly
remodelled in 1610 though the roof wall plate was retained.!®

MONASTIC GRANGES IN ENGLAND AND WALES

Although Abingdon Abbey was a Benedictine foundation, the great
majority of granges were established by the Cistercians as part of
their pursuit of the austere in location and building and an economy
of self-sufficiency. They pioneered the monastic farm, dividing
their properties from their earliest days in the twelfth century into
easily manageable agricultural units. To achieve this, it was neces-
sary to provide accommodation, cover for the equipment and stock,
and protection for the produce. Cistercian establishments were
usually isolated, while those of other orders were not far from the
mother church, as was the case with those of Abingdon or
Glastonbury Abbey.

A grange was the focus of monastic estate management, but the
word is not a very satisfactory term. Derived from contemporary
Cistercian usage, it can refer to an entire monastic estate, to the
group of domestic and agricultural buildings at its centre, or more
recently to the great barn that has often survived when most of the
other buildings have gone. Because of their continuing agricultural
purpose, a number of medieval granges still fulfil their purpose as
working farms as at Grange Hall, Westmorland, or Meare in
Somerset.

Initially, the prime need was for a small dwelling from which the
estate could be run. Such buildings would be modest and sometimes
built of wood. Greater prosperity during the late twelfth and thir-
teenth centuries and the priority completion of the mother house
freed funds for rebuilding or enhancing a grange’s residential
accommodation. Very often, a basic domestic unit for eating and
sleeping with separate kitchen would be replaced by a hall with end
unit, either offices with chamber above as at Steventon, or a solar
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block as at Dean Court. Subsequently, a second chamber, a kitchen,
or a chapel might be added, while the barn and agricultural build-
ings such as granary, byre, or dovecote would be extended or recon-
structed.

The houses at Swanborough (Lewes Abbey) and Minster (St
Augustine’s, Canterbury) are among the few to survive from the
twelfth century, both reflecting the plan of a small manor house
with hall, chamber, and chapel, and subject to substantial up-
dating at the beginning of the fifteenth century. Charney Bassett
dates from the thirteenth century, but the majority of houses are
of the following period, with obvious parallels to domestic archi-
tecture. The early fourteenth-century grange at Haversham in
Buckinghamshire (Lavendon Abbey) retains a slightly foreshort-
ened two-bay hall, now 24 feet by 19 feet, with screens passage,
two-light window, and fine central king-post truss. Though the
lower cross wing is a seventeenth-century rebuild, there is nothing
to distinguish this property from a small Northamptonshire stone
manor house, not even the square dovecote that stood near the
cross wing until the late 1950s.!” This symbiosis is even more
obvious in the larger granges built by the Benedictines at
Broadway, Meare, and Cumnor. These fourteenth-century houses
are also a reflection of their growing popularity as rest centres for
the monks, or as country retreats for the abbot or prior. A small
gatehouse prefaces the domestic quarters at Hawkshead Hall
(Furness Abbey), while another stands near the river approach to
the grange of Shaftesbury Abbey at Bradford-on-Avon. Here a
second large barn has been traced, contemporary with and at right
angles to the famous early fourteenth-century great barn and
opposite a rare granary of the same period to close the yard of a
planned complex.?® Bradford also retains its chapel, an oratory as
in a private house rather than a free-standing structure like those
at Salmestone in Kent and Wykeham Hall in Lincolnshire. Some
of these communities were given rudimentary protection such as
the banks and ditches at Monknash in Glamorganshire, but they
were essentially to keep out animals rather than human intruders,
though occasionally local circumstances warranted a tower as at
Wolsty (Hulme Cultram Abbey) in Cumberland.?!

Unlike monasteries, granges were not built to a standard plan.
They reflected the terrain, estate size, and agrarian function of the
area. They all needed a range of agricultural buildings and usually
a dwelling, but the early structures that have survived have fre-
quently been modified by post-medieval developments so that the
earthworks of a property can give a better idea of a grange’s layout
than the remains of the buildings as at Monknash. Excavations help
to flesh out the visual evidence as at Dean Court, the home grange
next to Waltham Abbey, and the preceptory of the Knights
Templars at South Witham where a complete farm layout of the
thirteenth century was revealed.?? All three sites exhibited a group
of domestic buildings as in a manor house, but with a greater
number of agricultural units including kilns, corn-drying ovens,
barns, vehicle sheds, dovecotes, fishponds, and mills, haphazardly
positioned round one or more yards. The larger sites, particularly
during the later middle ages, tended to separate the domestic and
agricultural functions between two or more courtyards. This is par-
ticularly clear at Tisbury (Shaftesbury Abbey) where the two courts
are prefaced by separate gatehouses.

Of the agricultural buildings, the most useful and substantial has
naturally tended to survive above all others. Barns were expensive
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PLATE 16 Steventon Priory: street frontage

as well as structurally forceful, usually intended for storing grain
brought from associated estates rather than local produce. But
though the huge size of these roofed and often still functioning
structures has long aroused admiration, dendrochronology has
dramatically altered their dating since the 1970s to reveal a broad
span extending from the barley and wheat barns at Temple
Cressing (¢.1200-40 and 1257-80, a Knights Templar grange) and
Great Coxwell (shortly after 1300, Beaulieu) to Middle Littleton
(c.1315 Evesham), Bredon (c.1345-50 Worcester), Enstone (¢c.1382
Winchcombe) and a number of fifteenth-century structures that
include Swalcliffe (1402-6 New College, Oxford) and Bretforton
(mid and late fifteenth century, Evesham). Not only had the struc-
tural developments of the earlier period been completed by about
1350, but later barns tended to be smaller than their predeces-
sors.?* It is because their structural similarities to domestic archi-
tecture can be underestimated that the most important have been
noted during the regional coverage of these volumes.

Granges fulfilled several purposes. Many were estate centres
rather than home farms. Others were stopping places for itinerant
monks, rest or retirement houses for the monks of the mother
house, or served as a country residence for the head of the commu-
nity. It was probably to meet this need that a large chapel, such as
that at Wykeham was built in the early fourteenth century. But
standing and excavated evidence is now being complemented by
topographical surveys such as those for Abingdon and Evesham
abbeys, enabling a more coherent picture to be built up of a
monastery’s estate and practices over several centuries.?*

The number of granges held by a foundation depended on a
range of factors that include the size and financial standing of the
mother house, its location, and the extent of its estate holding. By
the fourteenth century, Furness Abbey held twenty-six granges,
mainly in Cumbria, Margam owned about the same number spread
across Glamorganshire, while the small foundation of Stoneleigh in
Warwickshire held eight in that region at the close of the century.?’
Permanent staffing levels obviously depended on the size and loca-
tion of an estate, but the number tended to be modest. During the
mid-thirteenth century, there were between ten and twenty perma-
nent staff on the lowland granges of Kingswood Abbey, seventeen
at Wellingborough grange (Croyland Abbey) in 1290, and sixteen
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at Great Coxwell (Beaulieu Abbey) half a century later.? Temporary
staff were recruited as necessary, for the running of Cistercian prop-
erties by lay brethren after their initial development is no longer
accepted.”’

The development of monastic estates reached its peak at the close
of the twelfth century and had come to a halt by the early fourteenth
century. Even so, they tended to remain relatively immune from
confiscation, subdivision, or transfer through failure in the male
line as often occurred with lay properties. Yet the problems of staff
recruitment, inadequate capital investment, and debts were begin-
ning to be felt before the close of the thirteenth century, exacer-
bated by climatic problems and economic contraction during the
early fourteenth century. The leasing of the more distant or less
prosperous properties was the obvious solution. After the Black
Death, staff shortages and the rising costs of hired labour, combined
with too few men choosing the life of conversi, made the organisa-
tion and practice of demesne farming increasingly unprofitable.
Leasing became widespread, often with the choicest properties
subject to short leases, with one or two retained as the home farm,
or for use as an occasional residence or retreat. The latter applied
to both Tisbury 8 miles north-east of the mother house at
Shaftesbury, and Broadway 11 miles south-east of Pershore Abbey
where the farmland was sublet but the residence retained for the
sole use of the head of the house. The consequence was that the
grange system barely survived into the late middle ages. The prop-
erties became increasingly secular in character, particularly through
residential additions and agricultural units to meet changing farm
practices. The process was completed by the suppression of all
religious houses during the late 1530s. But whereas a monastery’s
function and purpose ceased forthwith, granges retained a substan-
tial element of continuity. Their agricultural and domestic build-
ings were often retained intact, even after the demesne lands had
been partitioned among several Tudor claimants, hungry for land.
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Oxford (1830). Samuel Lysons made some sketches and a rough plan of
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the site, Magna Britannia (1813) I, pt 2, 213. The site is now the garden
of a twentieth-century house, west of Cumnor churchyard. A report on
this property has been promised by Dr E. Impey.
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J. Stevenson (ed.), Chronicon Monasterii de Abingdon (1858)
VCH, Berkshire, IV (1924) 430-2

A. E. Preston, St Nicholas, Abingdon, and Other Papers (1929)
A. C. Baker and W. H. Godfrey, Abingdon Abbey (1949)

M. Cox, The Story of Abingdon 1 (1986), 11 (1989)

The economic aspects of monastic estate management are covered in a
number of single-house studies including M. Morgan, The English
Lands of the Abbey of Bec (1946), B. Harvey, Westminster Abbey and Its
Estates in the Middle Ages (1977), and R. B. Dobson, Durbam Priory:
1400-1450 (1973). C. Platt, The Monastic Grange in Medieval England
(1969) established the current historical and architectural basis for the
subject, superseding earlier studies such as R. A. Donkin, ‘The
Cistercian grange in England in the 12th and 13th centuries’, Studia
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Monastica 6 (1964) 95-144. Platt’s work has not yet been followed up
though there are brief surveys on late medieval farm buildings by J. H.
Le Patourel in The Agrarian History of England and Wales, I1, 1042-1350
(1988), ed. H. E. Hallam, 888-98, and III, 1350-1500 (1991), ed. E.
Miller, 865-85. Despite individual studies such as H. Williams, The
Cistercians in the Early Middle Ages (1998) and the beautifully produced
volume by W. Horn and E. Born, The Barns of the Abbey of Beaulieu
(1965), a detailed architectural analysis of the monastic grange is still
awaited.

ACTON COURT, Gloucestershire

Acton Court is a classic example of how a well-known house, essen-
tially considered to be sixteenth century, proves to be a highly
complex site with a development span of more than four centuries
retaining structural and decorative work of national importance.
Site excavation, building analysis, structural consolidation, and
garden archaeology between 1986 and 1996 are responsible for our
reappraisal of this manor house of the Poyntz family.

Acton Court was the principal seat of the Gloucestershire branch
of the Poyntz family from 1343 to 1680. It subsequently declined
to farm status, with the house gradually falling into a neglected con-
dition for most of the twentieth century until vacated by the farmer
in 1984. The house is L-shaped, representing the east range and
half of the north range of a larger quadrangular courtyard resi-
dence, originally moated, developed in stages, and with the medie-
val house crossing much of the site.

The earliest foundations can be attributed by excavated finds to
the twelfth or early thirteenth century and were possibly an indus-
trial building or the outbuilding of the earliest residence, which may
have lain north-east of the present Court. The house was moated
from an early date, with its position quickly revealed during prelim-
inary excavations, but it was only a late excavation in 1997 that
revealed evidence of a co-eval outer moat. The inner moat was
given a stone revetment in the mid-fourteenth century when the
advent of the Poyntz family led to a major construction campaign.
The buildings erected within the inner curtilage included a gate-
house or porch leading directly into the screens passage of the hall
on its left, which was flanked by a narrow chamber block at either
end. There were further residential structures of uncertain purpose
built at an oblique angle north of the hall.

Occupied continuously from the second half of the fourteenth
century, the gatehouse was rebuilt during the early fifteenth century
(presumably replacing an earlier structure) and was repaired in
1469. That there was a major refitting of the house towards the
close of the fifteenth century was evidenced by the quality of the
excavated finds, including glazed floor tiles of Malvern type, part of
a sculptured fireplace of ¢.1480-1520, imported glass and pottery,
and an elaborate small window built into the east range during the
eighteenth century. Whether this refurbishment occurred in 1486
when Sir Robert Poyntz and his house were host to Henry VII is
not known, but what is clear is that the Poyntz family enjoyed an
extremely high standard at Acton Court during the late middle
ages. Much of this site work has been left open for visitors.

The detailed study of the standing structure revealed its out-
standing importance through several building phases within the rel-
atively short timescale of 1534 to 1575. The two ranges were
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PLATE 17 Acton Court: reconstruction of house ¢.1535

erected on a different alignment from the medieval structures,
though some of the earlier buildings continued in use. The east
range of the L-shaped house was constructed by Sir Nicholas
Poyntz (d.1556) in 1534 for a visit by Henry VIII and Anne Boleyn
in the following year. This tall, oblong, two-storeyed range con-
sisted of a single reception area at ground-floor level, plastered
throughout in a single sweep, with three state apartments above of
great size and height (presence, withdrawing, and privy chambers),
lit by vast windows including one at either end of the range and two
in the east front. The parallel with the rooms of the ducal suite at
Thornbury Castle twenty years earlier is immediate. Other innova-
tions included laying the sandstone walls in loam rather than
mortar, and omitting any masonry cross walls to support the range.
A few years after the royal visit, the ground floor was divided into a
central entrance flanked by lodgings, one with a reused three-light,
late medieval window. But the inserted partition walls did not over-
come the range’s instability. Ambition had outstripped technologi-
cal capability, for the building’s great height and overlarge windows
made it unsafe. The windows had to be reduced in size in about
1700 and the walls were buttress-supported during the eighteenth
and nineteenth centuries.

The north and lost west ranges were erected in the late 1540s,
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with use being made of a roof of late fifteenth-century date brought
from elsewhere (probably Kingswood Abbey given to Sir Nicholas
in 1538) to cover the long gallery of the north range, though
without the wind braces that had been an essential part of its orig-
inal construction. The stair turretin the courtyard angle, seemingly
contemporary with the north range, was added in about 1575. The
excavations also revealed two totally unexpected factors affecting
our interpretation of the standing buildings on this side of the site.
What one imagines would have been an open court between the
north range and the two wings in a balanced Tudor design was
divided in two by a cross wall to create a small entrance court
approached through the retained medieval gateway and hall.
Furthermore, the other half of this enclosed area retained a further
medieval building cutting diagonally across the inner angle,
destroying its symmetry still further. This building must have been
of some essential purpose such as a chapel or chamber block, which
Poyntz felt unable to give up or replace.

Acton Court reveals architectural and painted classical details of
considerable importance. That in the east range of ¢.1535 may be
compared with contemporary work in the Loire valley, while the
inscriptions and paintings in the north range of ¢.1550 are contem-
porary with work at Lacock Abbey, Broughton Castle, and the circle
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of the duke of Somerset. In addition to its newly revealed role in the
vanguard of classical decoration in England, Acton also marks a
stage in the development of early Tudor garden design. In clearing
the approach court south of the house, a polyhedral sundial was
found, attributable to the king’s astronomer and dated 1520. This
was probably the focus of a major Renaissance garden for Sir Robert
Poyntz (¢.1520), which lay north of the house, aligned on the med-
ieval residence and not on the north range of ¢.1550. It was then that
the south or approach court, influenced by nearby Thornbury
Castle, was bounded by the crenellated and towered wall in antique
style. At the same time, the inner moat, cleared for the royal visit in
1535, was filled. Finds excavated at most sites usually date from the
period prior to its destruction (in this case, the late seventeenth
century) buta very considerable number of those recovered at Acton
Court date from this short fifteen-year period. They are of particu-
larly high quality and among some of the finest artefacts ever recov-
ered from this period. One final discovery awaited the excavators
working on the east of the house. Instead of finding a garden layout
as had been anticipated, the footings were revealed of a large range
of stables and lodgings, linked to the main house by wooden corri-
dors, indicating that Acton Court was a multi-courtyard residence.

This Gloucestershire house not only reflects the standing and
lineage of Sir Nicholas Poyntz, but incorporates one of the few
palace-like structures to survive from the early Tudor period and
reveals his response to his rapidly improving circumstances.
Although the Poyntz family was essentially of local importance
during the late middle ages, they clearly enjoyed a high level of
luxury. With the rise of Sir Nicholas in favour at the court of Henry
VIII and the honour of a royal visit, most of the older buildings were
replaced with ranges reflecting the latest architectural, technologi-
cal, and decorative developments. Yet the shape of the Tudor house
was determined by the plan of the medieval moat, while several
uncomfortably positioned medieval buildings were retained as a
deliberate reminder of his family’s antiquity. Unfortunately Sir
Nicholas’ sudden downfall from royal favour in the early 1550s and
that of his patron, the duke of Somerset, meant that he was unable
to develop Acton Court any further.

The medieval entrance range, the Tudor west range, and half of the
north range were demolished after 1680 when the house was reduced
to farm status. It continued to be so used until 1984, smothered with
ivy, and in a state of worrying decay. Yetit was precisely these circum-
stances, the almost total absence of Georgian and Victorian altera-
tions, and the possibility of stripping out the farmhouse interior of
inserted floors, partitions, ceilings, stairs, and cupboards that have
enabled its complex history to be recovered in such detail.

K. Rodwell and R. Bell, Acton Court (2004)

ASHBURY MANOR, Berkshire

Ashbury lies at the foot of the Berkshire Downs, immediately below
the slopes traversed by the ancient Ridgeway and facing the pas-
turelands of the Vale of Whitehorse. It is still a small agricultural
community, a world apart from Swindon less than 7 miles away.
Superficially, the Manor looks a single-period structure of advanced
late fifteenth-century design with a ground-floor hall and with-
drawing chamber above to the left of the entry porch, and the
offices and kitchen under bedchambers to the right of the porch.
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The house seems to have retained this fundamental plan through-
out more than five centuries of occupation. This is true, but only as
a result of at least five building phases.

Its present form was initiated by the abbey of Glastonbury using
two contrasting types of stonework, probably in the 1480s. The
western half is of that date, but the eastern half is later, marked by
unvaried stonework and a lower roofline. Its buttressed facade can
be dated by the uncusped Tudor window to the mid-sixteenth
century, but the storeyed structure behind is a nineteenth-century
rebuilding, maintaining the earlier room usage.

The property is rectangular in plan with a short contemporary
wing at the rear angle, and interest almost entirely centres on the
left-hand half. The ground floor was built of coursed chalk rubble,
but the upper walling was constructed of better-quality and larger
blocks of a lighter, cream-coloured chalk stone. The porch, which
is not bonded to the main structure, reverses these materials and
separates them with a string course not maintained across the body
of the range. These two phases are reflected in the form of the outer
and inner arches, both four-centred but the former with a continu-
ous shallow-moulded arch while the main entrance has hollow
moulding and quatrefoil spandrels set in a square frame. Following
these two phases, another is identified by the datestone in the upper
brick face of the porch inserted by T. White in 1697. Below this is
an enigmatic second date with an oddly shaped second numeral
which has been conjectured to be Mr White’s misinterpretation of
an earlier datestone of 1488,! a not unreasonable suggestion for the
initial development of the house. To this close sequence of work
1488, ¢.1495, and ¢. 1545 as well as that of 1697 and the nineteenth
century, all unified by the stone slate roof, the restoration of 1957
should be added — mainly windows copying the late medieval form.

The facade left of the porch is interrupted by two attractively
stepped buttresses with a diagonal one at the corner, dividing the
structure into three bays with two-light windows at ground- and
first-floor level. All dressed stonework is built of the better-quality
chalk stone. The lower windows are transomed, with the upper
cinquefoil lights under an ogee head, set in a moulded square-
headed frame without a label. The upper lights, lacking the
transom, are a little smaller. The west end wall is original, with
internal flues, but has a 1957 ground-floor window and door, the
latter replacing an early window.? The rear (north) wall retains
the cross-passage entrance with the same hollow moulding as the
opposing entrance, but the stone chimney stack is an early addition,
while the adjacent brickwork and window are nineteenth century.

The lower two-storey rear wing maintains the pattern of two
building materials and the two-light window form (copied in the
recent insertions), plus loops to the west and single trefoil lights to
the east and north. Despite the fall in ground level, this projection
is not buttress supported.

The frontage right of the porch was formerly triple buttressed as
shown on the elevation of the house at the bottom of a pictorial map
of the land held by the tenant farmer, T. White, in about 1700.3
Only one buttress survives, though the line of those removed can
be traced in the stonework. The elevation also shows two small
square ground-floor windows in the position of the present larger
ones and the uncusped two-light window at first-floor level.* The
rear wall, set back 6 inches from the line of the earlier structure, is
far less well built in the cream-coloured stone.

The entry doors open into the cross passage of the ground-floor
hall, though the original screen has been replaced by a nineteenth-
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FIGURE 4 Ashbury Manor: floor plans and development phases

century wall cutting across the first ceiling timber. The original
screen may have been like that at Wortham Manor on the line of
the first cross beam. The four-bay form of the hall, 40 feet by 20
feet, was emphasised by the three south-facing windows,” and the
rectangular pattern of moulded cross beams with three well-carved
central bosses with leaf surrounds lapping into the angles. The hall
was divided into two rooms in the mid-sixteenth century by a well-
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made post and wood panel partition astride the second window. It
was at this time that the north stack and fireplace (1957 replace-
ment) were added. The inner room was partially panelled in the
early seventeenth century but the end-wall fireplace (1957 replace-
ment) may be in the original position warming the hall, as that
immediately above heated the withdrawing chamber.

The ground floor of the north wing is essentially a single room,



THE THAMES VALLEY

15 feet square excluding the intruding stair housing. The plainness
of the cross beams and joists and the single loop (until the twenti-
eth century) emphasise this room’s utilitarian character. The stair
from the upper end of the hall is more stylish, lit by a trefoil light
at the lower level and a loop at the landing. The stone steps are in
first-class condition because wooden steps had long covered them,
although these have recently been removed. They access a half-
landing, marked by twin doorways to a lodging, with the wooden
ceiling rib coved over the remaining steps to the top of the stair.
The landing doorways with four-centred heads access a bedcham-
ber and garderobe respectively. The bedchamber is separated from
the stair by a plain post and wood panel partition, but the garderobe
division was replaced by a wider one in 1957 appropriate to a bath-
room. The wooden garderobe seat discovered at that time and
taken away by Dr Pantin was inadvertently burnt a few years later.

The great chamber followed the same plan as the hall below with
three south-facing windows, but with a further window in the
opposing wall above the rear entry. It was heated by the broad end-
wall fireplace with four-centred head, three lines of moulding and
base stops, cut in a single block of stone. The chamber was initially
open to a highly elaborate roof structure, basically divided into four
bays by arch-braced collar trusses with reverse-curved upper struts.
Each bay was subdivided by higher intermediate trusses springing
from small wall shafts. There were two tiers of cusped and counter-
changed wind braces with an uppermost line of cusped braces
shaped as two quatrefoils to a bay (only one survives). This is a
Somerset roof in a Berkshire environment. Like the hall, this richly
decorated and comfortable apartment was divided by a post and
panel partition in the mid-sixteenth century when the second fire-
place was added with its effete chamfer.® The west room was ceiled
at wall-plate level but the east chamber was ceiled at a higher level
to enable an embellished coving to be inserted round each side of
the newly created room, covered with sub-medieval Flamboyant-
style decoration of encircled S-shaped character. The original truss
in line with this partition had to be replaced with a tie beam with
upright posts to allow for the added coving.

The porch room, 10 feet square, was separated from the with-
drawing chamber by a three-bay screen. The lower half is panelled
below a line of open trefoiled lights with ogee heads and quatrefoil
spandrels continuing above the four-centred doorway. The room
was formerly open to a modest version of the adjacent main roof.
The two bays were spanned by braced collar trusses with higher
mid-arches, quatrefoil spandrels, and a quatrefoil frieze. It is pos-
sible that this room was an oratory but it has no features to confirm
this apart from the screen. The walling that might have held an altar
or piscina was rebuilt in 1697.

A particularly substantial stone wall has always separated the two
parts of Ashbury Manor. The offices half is of markedly utilitarian
character with low ceilings, crudely shaped beams, and Georgian-
style windows. The offices, initially flanking a central passage, have
been replaced, but the end kitchen (now a dining room) retains a
small fireplace set in the original larger stack. There are two bed-
rooms above, one with a mid-Tudor window, and both with roof
trusses of extremely basic form.

The manor of Ashbury had been held by the abbey of
Glastonbury since late Saxon times. A thirteenth-century survey
notes that abbot Robert (1261-74) built an inner gate and lodging,
and added a kitchen and offices to the house, and a dovecote.” The
house proved an extremely convenient lodging for the abbots on
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PLATE 18 Ashbury Manor: entry frontage

their journeys to and from London, and though the farm was leased
out by the fifteenth century, the house with its inner court and 2
acre garden was retained by the abbot as a country residence.® A
terrier of 1519 also confirms that the house had become a welcome
resting stage for scholar monks travelling between Glastonbury and
their academic lodging at Gloucester College, Oxford.’

All earlier structures were swept away in the late fifteenth century
when the house was redeveloped in a sequence of closely related
phases spanning the years between monastic and secular ownership.
The agricultural buildings that line the approach to the house mark
the position of the outer court where the tenant farmer lived in
1519. The inner court area is now lawn, but a comparable twin-
court approach with gates survives at Place Farm, Tisbury. The
body of the manor house consisted of the ground-floor hall with
withdrawing chamber above and a small lodging reserved for the
abbot or a leading official. There is little doubt that the house was
built by Somerset craftsmen employed on the abbey estates. The
windows, in particular, are very similar to those in the George Inn,
Glastonbury, built by abbot Selwood (1457-93) as pilgrim accom-
modation.!? The Berkshire rebuilding may be reasonably attributed
to him. Such a house could not function without the appropriate
kitchen and offices and they were possibly in a timber-framed
extension initially, particularly as Ashbury lay in a well-wooded part
of central England. The property not only is a compact one, but is
an early and clear example of the growing preference in smaller
houses for a one-storey hall with chamber over rather than a hall
open to the roof. This form was already becoming popular in the
south-west!! and in East Anglia during the last quarter of the
century'? though it did not spread to the south-east before Henry
VIII’s reign.

Ashbury Manor was acquired by Sir William Essex four years
after the dissolution of the abbey’s estates in 1539. Several altera-
tions were immediately put in hand to adapt the property as a
home for Essex’s eldest son. The two building stone form was
abandoned in favour of the lighter-coloured stone throughout.
The kitchen and offices were replaced by a buttressed, storeyed
extension. The hall and withdrawing chamber were divided, and
the north chimney stack was added to serve the newly created
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rooms. There is very little to distinguish between these late med-
ieval and sub-medieval phases. The style of the roof trusses of the
added porch differs little from that of the slightly earlier principal
chamber. The form of the mid-sixteenth-century room divisions is
close to that of the late fifteenth-century stair partition. The triple-
buttressed character of the kitchen extension mirrors the buttresses
of the hall block, while the decorative coving of the partitioned
upper chamber maintains the style of an earlier age, though
without a trace of the cusping that had characterised the windows,
screen, and wind braces. Ashbury Manor was an outlier — a strik-
ing late medieval stone house from Somerset in a region of timber-
framed houses. The new owner was anxious to maintain its earlier
character rather than introduce fashionable classical decoration or
vernacular-type additions.

It was probably in the early nineteenth century that the kitchen
and offices block was rebuilt behind the retained fagade, with the
new roof positioned above the line of the earlier one but maintain-
ing its lower level to the body of the range.!* Even so, this house
retains its initial compactness, its little-altered state, and a great deal
of its original character. This is all the more surprising in a prop-
erty that is still the heart of a working farm. Though the present
holding is not dissimilar in size to the 796 acres farmed by the abbey
of Glastonbury in the thirteenth century,'* it is essentially an arable
one rather than supporting the extensive sheep runs that made the
manor profitable during the late middle ages.

NOTES
1 Wood (1963) 8; Oswald (1966) 976. The porch upper window is a 1957
replacement.
2 Shown in the watercolour of 1818 by J. C. Buckler, Bodleian Library,
illustrated in Oswald (1966) 975.
3 This map is held in the house.
4 The drawing of ¢.1700 confirms that the Gothic-style doorway below the

mid-Tudor window, depicted in J. C. Buckler’s watercolour of 1818, was
a Georgian insertion.

5 There is no structural evidence that the nineteenth-century opposing
window is in the position of a taller original one.

6 A further fireplace was inserted in the central wall after the corridor
added before ¢.1700 had shut off this mid-Tudor one.

7 VCH, IV (1924) 505; Oswald (1966) 975.

8 Two deep gullies behind the house, formed by springs at the foot of the
Downs, afforded some protection on the north side. One of the gullies
was filled in the 1970s when the garden was extended.

9 VCH, 1V, (1924) 506. Six of the students at the college in 1336 came
from this abbey, R. A. Devereux and D. N. Griffiths, Worcester College,
Oxford (1969 edn) 4.

10 M. Wood, The English Medieval House (1965) 360.

11 See page 460. Also W. A. Pantin, Med. Arch. 1(1957) 118-46. Ashbury is
among the houses mentioned in his survey, together with a plan and
section, 144—6. Pantin and Wood considered the entire property to be of
the late fifteenth century, including the offices wing and upper-chamber
division. Their assessment was followed by Oswald, and more recently
by C. R.]J. Currie who was unable to see the house, Oxoniensia 57 (1992)
102.

12 A. Emery, Greater Med. Houses, 11 (2000) 25.

13 ‘rebuilt in comparatively modern times’, VCH, IV (1924) 503.

14 VCH, IV (1924) 505-6.

VCH, Berkshire, IV (1924) 503-6

M. Wood, Tians. Newbury Dist. Field Club 2 no. 3 (1963) 5-18
A. Oswald, Country Life (October 1966)

ASHLEWORTH COURT, Gloucestershire

The grouping of church, house and tithe barn facing Ashleworth’s
untrimmed green is a classic composition, backed by the west
meadows of the River Severn. The Court is a splendid survival,

pLATE 19 Ashleworth Court: west frontage
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FIGURE 5 Ashleworth Court: floor plans

hardly spoilt by any major alterations. An upper floor was inserted
in the open hall in the late sixteenth or early seventeenth century
and a considerable number of internal partitions (mainly at first-
floor level) were added in 1870 and the early twentieth century.
None of this work has impaired the basic character of the house,
which looks externally much as it did when it was erected.
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Built to a classic plan of a central hall with two-storeyed end
blocks, the house was spaciously planned with the services and
kitchen in line at the lower end and the two upper chambers at right
angles in a partial projection. The house is a hybrid of the hall and
cross-wing form resulting in an elongated L-shape with the hall and
lower block under a single roof ridge.
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Totally unbuttressed, the principal frontage has a flat-chested
appearance emphasised by the non-projection of the upper block
and lack of a hall porch. The house is built of local Blue Lias stone,
which weathers badly, and was formerly thatched until this was
replaced with roof tiles in the late nineteenth century; the chimneys
were replaced at the same time. The staircase lobby in the rear angle
rose higher before truncation in the late sixteenth century.

The hall entry with its two-centred head and decorated square
hood stops opens directly into the cross passage, with the screen
replaced in the late sixteenth century by a timber-framed and brick-
filled partition. The hall, 37 feet by 18 feet, is a magnificent four-
bay apartment lit by a pair of two-light transomed windows in both
side walls, with trefoil heads, lobed quatrefoil, and square hood
stops. Two sills were lowered to provide more light when the hall
was floored and partitioned. The roof is spanned by arch-braced
collar trusses with embattled wall plates, and three tiers of curved
wind braces. There is no wall fireplace evidence.

The projecting lobby at the upper end of the hall accesses both
floors of the upper residential block. The ground-floor parlour with
a nineteenth-century replacement fireplace retains its close-
beamed ceiling. The rough-hewn condition of the beams contrasts
with the equally close-set but finely chamfered beams in the
ground-floor hall of Ashleworth Manor nearby.! The end windows
at both ground- and first-floor level are restorations or renewals of
1870 in keeping with the original work. The much smaller inner
chamber has two wall cupboards but no other original features.

The newel-approached upper floor was initially to the same plan,
but the partition has been removed though the slots remain for the
vertical members in the collar beam. The principal retiring room,
formerly open to the roof, was of three bays with arch-braced collar
beams with wind braces and embattled wall plate as in the hall. The
single-bay room lacks wind braces and formerly possessed an
outside door. It is more likely to have led to a garderobe than the
usual attribution of an external entry to a court room.

Two doors in the cross passage accessed the services and kitchen
passage. Some projecting stones in the ceiling and a narrow light
above mark the site of the stair to the upper floor. The kitchen at
the far end of the house, closely beamed like the parlour, has door
access to a rear yard. An immense stone fireplace fills most of the
end wall. The upper area, presumably divided into two rooms as
below, was lit by paired lights under rectangular hood moulds.

The manor of Ashleworth was given by the Berkeley family to
Bristol Abbey in the mid-twelfth century and held by them
throughout the middle ages. It was one of the abbey’s richest
manors, most of which were located in south Gloucestershire and
north Somerset. Though the Court is all of one build, its date is
unclear. The form of the hall windows could be as early as those at
the Abbot’s Grange, Broadway (c.1330) or as late as the Tattershall
tower-house (1440s), while the contemporary hall doorways are
more fourteenth than fifteenth century. However, the inclusion of
a heated parlour and a solar stair projection as at Wanswell Court
(1450-60) suggests a date nearer the mid-fifteenth century. It is
usual to attribute the construction of this house to ¢.1460% under
abbot Walter Newbury (1428-73) on the evidence of one of the two
stone corbels at the top of the newel stair representing a crowned
head with the letter ‘h’ on his surcoat, taken to be Henry VI, but
the corbels are not in situ. Leaving aside Newbury’s deposition
between 1451 and 1456, construction during the second quarter of
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the century is suggested here until documentation or dendrochro-
nology brings greater precision. Of very considerable size for a rec-
torial manor, the house was possibly constructed shortly after the
estate had been let out on a lay tenancy basis rather than being the
work of the abbey.> With its pristine plan, unitary construction, and
almost intact condition, Ashleworth Court has few peers as an
example of a fifteenth-century manor house.

NOTES

1 The contrast between the Court and Ashleworth Manor (only so-called
since 1937) half a mile away could not be greater. The Manor is timber-
framed throughout to an E-shaped plan with two-storey porch and
single-storey hall. The left-hand wing is a mid-nineteenth-century
rebuild, probably on the site of a comparable cross wing. The right-hand
rear wing was added at the same time, making the house H-shaped. As
at the Court, the thatched roof has been replaced by tiles. The heavily
beamed hall, 24 feet by 18 feet, has an end-wall fireplace with four-
centred but bastardised head. The beamed parlour in the cross wing
retains the jamb of its original fireplace behind the present Victorian one
but little more of the early roof survives than a single row of wind braces.
The house is usually credited to abbot Newbury of Bristol (d.1473) but
no supporting documentary evidence has been traced. The attribution
rests on the fleur-de-lis and wheat sheaves on the stops of the entry
doorway and the vine and rose in its spandrels similarly found on the
abbot’s tomb. They could have been a Victorian enhancement, for the
house is mid-sixteenth century.

2 M. Wood, The English Medieval House (1965) 355; D. Verey and A.

Brooks, Gloucestershire, II (2002) 155. Newbury was responsible for the
abbey’s central tower and the reconstruction of the transepts as well as
the remodelling of the church at Ashleworth.
For early sixteenth-century tenants, C. Platt, The Monastic Grange in
Medieval England (1969) 188. According to the Berkeley recorder,
Smyth, the tithe barn of ten bays with queen-post trusses was erected by
abbot Newland (1481-1515). Newland also initiated the transept vault-
ing at St Augustine’s Abbey and a replacement nave. He also rebuilt the
cloisters, added the upper part of the gatehouse with its oriel windows
above the late Norman entry gate (drastically restored in 1888), and
rebuilt the prior’s lodging. Bristol Cathedral, ed. ]. Rogan (2000) 34.
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D. Verey, Arch. Four. 122 (1965) 238

BAMPTON CASTLE, Oxfordshire

The royal manor of Bampton was granted by Henry III to William
Valence, earl of Pembroke in 1248 and passed to his son Aymer in
1296. Bampton Castle was built by Aymer Valence, earl of
Pembroke, under a licence to crenellate awarded in May 1315.! It
could not have formed a greater contrast to the Herefordshire castle
that Valence’s father had built at Goodrich. The latter was rock-
hewn, tower-encircled, compact, and internally complex: Bampton
was low-lying, grandiosely scaled, and internally spacious.

Parts of the west gatehouse and curtain wall survive, fortuitously
supplemented by a sketch of 1664 of the entire west front in its
completed state by Anthony Wood.? The castle plan was simple, a
350 foot square described by Wood at the time of his drawing as
built with ‘a round Tower at each corner, which was ascended to by
stone-steps: And for spedier conveyances up to the said wall there
were besides these 4 Towers, a larg and high Gatehouse (Tower like)
on the West and East sides (some say on every side) of which this
here represented was the west tower.” Their extent makes it likely
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that the north and south frontages were interrupted by mid towers.
Most of the castle had been demolished before the close of the fol-
lowing century, leaving no further visual or documentary evidence
of its form.

The site was surrounded by an extremely wide moat with an even
larger quadrangular enclosure to the north, ditch enclosed.* The
whole is visible to the eye, with the moat drained on two sides and
reduced to a sluggish watercourse on the south and east sides. Most
of the castle enclosure is covered by post-medieval farm buildings,’
but the farmhouse is made up of three original stone structures —
the lower half of the west gatehouse, a stretch of curtain wall to the
south, and part of a two-storeyed chamber block to the north. All
three structures are contemporary, with detailing entirely consis-
tent with the second decade of the fourteenth century.

The castle, called Ham Court since the seventeenth century, is
entered from the south so that the early buildings are approached
from the rear prefaced by a dominant Victorian extension. Their
early form becomes more obvious from the garden. The centre of
the farmhouse is the lower half of the west gatehouse, with the
upper floor reduced to a pitched attic. The entry passage has been
blocked at both ends and floored at mid-level. The Victorian exten-
sion of about 1870 has been built against the south curtain which
has never been reduced in height or suffered from inserted
windows, and though the balancing wall to the north has gone,
single-storey outhouses rise from its footings to the chamber block
immediately behind it.

The gatehouse projects 12 feet from the curtain, with two pairs
of corner buttresses and a blocked arrow slit on the south side and
less obvious evidence of one on the north. The outer arch survives
behind the ivy, with two late seventeenth- or early eighteenth-
century mullioned windows in the entry infill. The same form
occurs in the rear face though the entry arch is visible. The two-bay
passage is now divided into two rooms at both levels but the inter-
nal faces of the entry arches are in mint condition, those to the front
with single chamfer and those to the rear with triple chamfer.
Opposing two-centred doorways access the stone newel and
lodging range. The upper rooms are dominated by the pristine
octopartite vaulting with single-chamfered ribs and badly worn
central bosses in each bay. The broad stairs in the polygonal turret
continue to the upper floor, which was replaced by an attic in the
late seventeenth or early eighteenth century. Wood’s drawing shows
that the lost chamber was lit to the front by a two-light transomed
window with shaped head, no doubt a larger version of that light-
ing the upper room of the adjacent block. A drawing of 1821 by
J. C. Buckler shows that this upper chamber had a fireplace with a
chimney head decorated with a ball-flower frieze.®

The lodging block is only just over 10 feet wide internally and
stood in line with the rear face of the gatehouse. It was set back 3
feet from the inner face of the curtain rather than built against it.
The ground floor reflects the modifications of about 1700, but the
upper floor is a high-quality chamber retaining a fine two-light
transomed window with ogee shaped trefoil heads and a quatrefoil
below the two-centred hood. It accords extremely well with the
licence of 1315, as does the fireplace with double-corbel-supported
stone lintel and hood. The room was entered from the north end,
now lost, so that a forced entry has been made from the gatehouse.

Thirty feet of embattled curtain wall stands 33 feet high. Wood’s
scale drawing of 1664 shows that the curtain, extending about 160
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FIGURE 6 Bampton Castle: suggested plan (modified from Blair) with
comparative area of Maxstoke Castle marked in south-east quarter

feet either side of the gatehouse, was interrupted midway by a
corbelled-out turret, buttress supported, and terminated in three-
storeyed round towers. There was a line of elongated cross slits at
the lower level and smaller cross slits in alternate merlons. Two of
these lower cross slits survive in broad semi-circular embrasures 7
feet deep, visible internally by opening farmhouse cupboards. Two
of the merlons are also original, confirming the accuracy of Wood’s
drawing.

The importance of Bampton Castle lies even more in its planning
than in the evidence of good-quality workmanship. Valence
adopted the quadrangular plan of regular form that became a stan-
dard pattern for fortified houses and those that aspired to that form
for nearly two centuries. Many of the key elements had been
adopted in the inner ward of Caerphilly Castle (¢.1268-72), but the
slightly larger and more regular inner ward of Beaumaris Castle
(1295-¢.1298) was a closer model for Bampton. Though Bampton
lacks Beaumaris’ concentric outer wall, both castles were developed
on entirely new and level sites, were constructed on low-lying
ground that facilitated broad watercourses, and followed a rectan-
gular plan of imposing symmetry with opposing central gatehouses,
high curtain walls, rounded angle towers and mid towers in the two
other fronts. But Valence’s court was three times larger than that at
Beaumaris and four times the size of that at Maxstoke Castle, one
of several residences that followed Bampton’s form.” But there were
other differences too. Bampton was externally formidable, unbro-
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PLATE 20 Bampton Castle: engraving of gatehouse and curtain wall from

Parker (1853)

ken by windows (apart from the gatehouse) if the west front reflects
the pattern for the other frontages. Whereas later quadrangular
castles were built with their perimeter ranges against the outer
curtain, those at Bampton were set back to allow immediate access
to the defensive embrasures that are likely to have been repeated on
all sides. Nor was an opposing gatehouse or even a second entry
repeated at Maxstoke, Shirburn, Bolton, Wressle, or Lumley
castles, though it was adopted at Bodiam. And though we are not
clear whether the west or the lost east gatehouse was the principal
entry at Bampton, the small scale of the existing gatehouse as well
as an inner arch that was more complex than the outer one suggests
that it may have been primarily approached from the courtyard side
and was therefore the rear gate to the castle.

The tight residential planning imposed by site restrictions at
Goodrich did not apply at Bampton, where a residential complex of
greater spread was possible. High standards and quality workman-
ship are evidenced in the gate-passage vaulting, in the broad steps
of the newel and in the chamber fireplace, but the vast internal area
is likely to have been divided into more than one court. Like
Goodrich Castle, Bampton could well mark an early stage by one of
the key figures of Edward II’s court in this country’s movement
from fortress to palace-mansion.

The castle was strategically sited midway between Valence’s
block of properties in Gloucestershire and Herefordshire centred
on Goodrich Castle, his major group of estates in eastern England
and Kent, and the seat of government in London.* Goodrich’s
development was determined by the still unsettled border condi-
tions whereas Bampton was on the edge of a flourishing market
town and meadows of the Thames plain, with the river 2 miles
south. The castle was externally strong and internally spacious. Was
it simply the comfortable caput of Valence’s Midland estates® or was
it a private stronghold developed as a potential refuge during the
political uncertainties of Edward II’s rule, like the 2nd earl of
Lancaster’s contemporary castle at Dunstanburgh (1313-22)?
The Oxfordshire and Northumbrian castles have vast courts in
common, while the castle under construction by the young Gilbert
Clare at the same time at Llangibby (¢.1310-14) has one of the
largest single enclosures in England and Wales.!® Some thirteenth-
century castle courtyards were almost as large as at Pembroke (mid-
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thirteenth century) and Denbigh (1282-95), with the terrain deter-
mining their irregular shape, but the only subsequent court of com-
parable size and similarly capable of holding a substantial force was
the outer court of Thornbury Castle built by the provocative and
ill-advised duke of Buckingham (c.1510-21).!!

Aymer is known to have visited Bampton Castle in 1307 and
1312, and probably did so in 1321 when he participated in a tour-
nament at Witney nearby.!? He left no record of his intentions and
the property was of little interest to his successors, the Talbots, later
earls of Shrewsbury. Like Beaumaris and Llangibby, Bampton was
possibly never completed and, like Llangibby, quickly became a
white elephant after the death of its builder in 1324.1 There are no
grounds to believe that Aymer was hedging his political bets when
he sought the licence to crenellate in 1315, even though he had lost
his pre-eminent advisory role to the crown as Warwick and
Lancaster gained in importance (autumn 1314 to April 1316).1* It
is arguable whether Aymer Valence was responsible for leading a
‘middle party’ of magnates and prelates between Edward II and the
duke of Lancaster from 1317 to 1321, but he was always in favour
of moderation and negotiation rather than provocation. As
Goodrich Castle was too far from government to be a power-base,
Bampton seems to have been intended for this role. Aymer also had
a substantial retinue, as befitted a leading magnate, and Bampton
was capable of housing them on a generous scale. Apart from his
permanent household members, he had between fifteen and twenty
retainers at any one time from a pool of between forty and fifty sup-
porters. This increased to eighty-one when he went on campaigns
against the Scots in 1314 and was well over a hundred in his 1315
and 1322 campaigns.” He also needed a suitable retinue befitting
his position when he went on embassies to France. Yet despite its
scale, Bampton Castle was essentially residential rather than a for-
tress enclosure.!

NOTES

1 Cal. Pat. Rolls: 1313-17, 278. Aymer’s father built a house close to the
present site in ¢.1256 when he purchased oak and beams for a new hall.
VCH, XIII (1996) 23. It was visited by his wife in August 1296. C. M.
Woolgar, The Great Housebold in Late Medieval England (1999) 49.

2 Bod. Lib., Wood MS EI, f.12. Blair (1988) fig. 5 and VCH, XIII (1996)
24.

3 Bod. Lib., Wood MS EI, £.12. Blair (1988) fig. 5 and VCH, XIII (1996),
24.

4 It is described briefly in VCH, Oxfordshire, I1 (1907) 331. Dr Blair sug-
gests it may have contained gardens and orchards, or was even the cur-
tilage of the earlier royal manor before it was granted by Henry III to
Valence’s father. Blair (1988) 6.

5 A cruck barn of sub-medieval date stands on the north side of the site.
For its position and a reconstruction of the castle plan, Med. Arch. 32
(1988) 269.

6 Brit. Lib. Add. MS 36372 £.118 and verso.

7 Bampton 335 feet by 335 feet; Beaumaris 194 feet by 175 feet; Maxstoke
175 feet by 153 feet.

8 For Joan Valence’ itinerary between the estates in 1296-97, Woolgar,
The Great Household in Late Medieval England 48-9.

9 VCH, XIII (1996) 24.

10 Dunstanburgh, determined by the headland area, was approximately
570/660 feet by 600/730 feet; Llangibby 540 feet by 270 feet. The
purpose behind Llangibby seems to have been precautionary against
Welsh attacks, not Edward II whom Clare warmly supported before his
death at Bannockburn.
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11 Pembroke 330 feet by 300 feet; Denbigh 310 feet by 290 feet
Thornbury 275 feet by 275 feet. The large area at Greys Court, 350 feet
by 220 feet, was developed in stages. For large-scale domestic courts, see
page 125.

12 Blair (1988) 1;J. R. S. Phillips, Aymer de Valence (1972) 35, 215. Itis argu-
able that part of the castle had been completed when he visited his wife
there in June 1312 whilst conveying Piers Gaveston to Wallingford
Castle. Leaving his prisoner unguarded at Deddington enabled the earl
of Warwick to seize Gaveston and execute him nine days later.

13 Severe financial difficulties from 1317 after his unexpected capture and
ransom in France would have curtailed any further building activity. He
died in debt. After Aymer’s death, his young widow founded Pembroke
College, Cambridge and was responsible for remodelling Denny Abbey
where she lived from the 1330s to 1377. A. Emery, Greater Med. Houses,
1I (2000) 60, 80-3.

14 Phillips, Aymer de Valence 71-99.

15 Ibid. 252-61, 295-311.

16 Several items of the Valence family have survived. The Valence casket
(V & A) made in sheet metal but enamel decorated was probably a jewel
casket made for William or his son Aymer. The lid of a nautilus-shaped
cup (All Souls College, Oxford) was possibly made in Paris in ¢.1300 for
Aymer’s wife and enamelled with her arms. A horse harness pendant
(Brit. Mus.) with the enamelled arms of the family also pre-dates 1324.
The Age of Chivalry, ed. J. Alexander and P. Binski (1987) 259, 357-8.

J. Blair, Bampton Castle, Bampton Research Paper 1 (1988)
VCH, Oxfordshire, XIII (1996) 23-5

BERKELEY CASTLE, Gloucestershire and the house of
Berkeley

For Leland, Berkeley Castle was ‘no great thinge’. Certainly, it is
the antithesis of town-dominating fortresses such as Richmond,
Ludlow, or even Cardigan, so that many travellers might well agree
with their Tudor predecessor in seeing little of interest behind the
church and the screen of trees. As at Warwick, it is necessary to
cross the river to see the castle’s dominating face, or in the case of
Berkeley to cross the marshy meadows of the Little Avon river.
Even so, the fourteenth-century developments which transformed
both fortresses reflected the contrasting attitudes of the Beauchamp
and Berkeley families. The domestic rebuilding at Warwick was
secondary to its military development, whereas the concentration
of the less political Berkeleys was essentially on residential enhance-
ments within the earlier buttressed curtilage. This is emphasised by
the absence of an inner gatehouse. Since the fourteenth century,
access has always been through the door and portcullis-protected
passage! piercing the inner enclosure as in a fortified house.

On entering the castle courtyard, the visitor faces a unified devel-
opment extending round three sides from the shell keep of ¢.1153-6
to the early Tudor gatehouse extension marked by the change to
three storeys using blocks of Cotswold stone. Built in a unified pro-
gramme against the three-quarter circular Norman curtain of
¢.1180, this two-storeyed development in local tufa limestone
ranging from red and purple to grey and brown tones with ashlar
dressings is one of the most impressive domestic survivals from the
first part of the fourteenth century, unfolding like a cardboard cut-
out model encompassing staff quarters, offices, and kitchen serving
the great hall in the centre preparatory to the extended residential
range on the right-hand side. Continuous occupation has meant
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that the interiors have been subject to more radical changes than are
apparent externally. The plan is complete but not the detailing.
Only the kitchen, hall, chapel, and ‘cellars’ retain their early char-
acter, for the remainder is a reflection of early nineteenth-century
pastiche and early twentieth-century medievalising.

The last earl of Berkeley (1916-42) expended a fortune between
1920 and 1930 on restoring the state and private apartments to their
earlier form, richly furnished, and supplemented by imported
architectural features from England and France as Randolph
Hearst was similarly doing at St Donat’s Castle. The work was
financed by the earl’s sale of Berkeley Square and other Mayfair
holdings for nearly £2 million.? He acted as his own architect and
archaeologist and was not prepared to brook criticism, though the
work was completed to extremely high standards and created a
sequence of evocative and lavishly furnished apartments. The
ground plan by Turner and Parker (1858) and combined ground-
and first-floor plan by G. T. Clark (1876) helped Patrick Faulkner
to establish the castle’s medieval plan (1965) prior to the changes
highlighted by comparing Marklove, Views of Berkeley Castle (1840)
with the photographic record in Country Life (1932).

The hall and kitchen are single-storeyed but a deep-corbelled bat-
tlemented parapet maintains a common height with the remainder
of the range.’ The hall is its heart, sited like its forerunner almost
opposite the entrance but emphasised by a recessed frontage with a
line of close-set windows. The two-storeyed porch is characterised
by a feature that is the signature of all the early fourteenth-century
work at Berkeley, half-octagonal headed openings, here marking
both outer and inner entrances (pl. 1). They are plain, like the vault
of the porch (head corbels and stops excepted), though the heart-
shaped side window suggests that more elaborate forms will follow.

They do so in the screens passage where the three service door-
ways, the central one to the kitchen passage higher than its col-
leagues, are enhanced by multi-foiled inner arches, the Berkeleys’
other signature of this period. The early Tudor screen with
Elizabethan painted decoration is a 1925 importation from Caefn
Mably, Pembrokeshire, replacing one long destroyed. Never parti-
tioned or floored, the hall continues to impress today by its scale, as
it was purposed to do in the fourteenth century. The remains of the
late Norman hall were not fully disclosed until 1922-3 when its
three window embrasures in the outer wall and that of the two-
storeyed end block were revealed. Its early fourteenth-century suc-
cessor combined the two units in a single wider apartment, 62 feet
by 32 feet and 32% feet high.

The four courtyard-facing windows of the hall, the upper lights
with trefoiled heads and the lower with scalloped shouldered heads,
are enhanced with half-octagonal cusped rear arches.* Separated
externally by mini triangular buttresses, they have low window seats
facing imported medieval French frames in the embrasures oppo-
site. A four-light traceried window illuminates the lower end of the
hall as at Clevedon Court (¢.1320). The contemporary eight-bay
roof is ceiled at the head of the braced collar trusses to create a
double-pitched roof with a third line of wind braces.” The mid-
fifteenth-century wall fireplace is a 1925 insertion brought from the
hall of Wanswell Court to replace an early nineteenth-century
Gothick mantelpiece. The added stack to a formerly sixteenth-
century hearth here replaced the central hearth with its two louvres,
shown in Buck’s 1732 engraving and restored in 1925.

Access from the hall dais to the residential range is by a 1925
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replacement Berkeley arch. It opened into a stair bay, presumably
rectangular to balance the entry porch but rebuiltin 1637 when the
present stair was inserted. It was extended in 1925 with a half-
octagonal outer porch embellished with French elements.t In its
early form, the stair would have risen to a rectangular ante-chamber
above the ground-floor lobby, possibly with a ribbed ceiling. This
was the prelude to the three first-floor family apartments, the
chapel at the angle, and the great or outer chamber followed by
the inner chamber filling the remainder of the courtyard range. The
moulded jamb of the chapel doorway was revealed in 1923 with the
opposing end-wall entry to the great chamber repositioned in the
nineteenth century.” The forward newel turret which dominated
the courtyard until 1925 gave immediate access to the ante-
chamber and private apartments.

The fourteenth-century private chapel is one of the most glori-
ously preserved in England. The last earl of Berkeley, already having
a chapel sufficient for his needs in the keep, unnecessarily converted
this one in 1922 into a morning room or ‘solar’ by reversing the
entry to the opposite end of the room, inserting a fifteenth-century
French doorway, fireplace and overmantel, and removing the out-
standing private pew to the adjacent room.® Despite these solecisms,
the individuality of the chapel survives: 39 feet by 23 feet with an
apsed east end, the chapel is lit at both ends by a generous window
in the outer wall with twin trefoil lights and quatrefoil head backed
by a multi-cusped rear arch. Between them, a passage 3 feet wide was
created in the thickness of the 14 foot deep wall, spanned by curved
shouldered openings, with the inner wall little more than a screen
with foliated open windows and doorway. The tie beams of the low-
pitched five-bay roof and shallow-apsed end bay are carried on short
triple columns supported on head corbels of marked individuality.

> ¢ . R
pLATE 21 Berkeley Castle: engraving from south-east by S. and N. Buck (1732)

60

The braces are enhanced with blind trefoil decoration with contra
braces in line with the walls. The braces and ribs retain early painted
decoration with an inscription added by John Trevisa, the chaplain
of the castle (1379-1402). The text is that of a thirteenth-century
Anglo-French manuscript of the Apocalypse, the only surviving
example of such an extended medieval Bible translation on a ceiling
in France or England. It continues above the ceiling panels. Similar
inscriptions were traceable on the walls of the south passage and,
according to Trevisa’s translation of Higden’s Polychronicon (1387),
inscriptions in Latin and French formerly covered the chapel walls.’
The piscina with ogee head between the door and window, shown
in early Country Life photographs, was removed in 1922. The
narrow chaplain’s room off the apse, created within thickened
walling, retains incised decoration on its plaster walls.

The gallery at the opposite end of the chapel, now in the next
room, is an extremely rare survival. It is usually stated that this pew,
of Tudor date, had been brought to the castle after the Reformation
from Longridge Hospital in Berkeley, founded by the family in the
twelfth century and pulled down in 1586.1° It would have been
rather overwhelming for such a location, could well be fourteenth-
as much as fifteenth-century work, and is more likely to have been
an integral fitting of this impressive private chapel than in the
Hospital. The pew is 7 feet deep, carried on a single frontal beam
with carved spandrels, with the projecting central bay, supported on
two pillars. The raised frontage is divided into two, the lower part
of solid panels with blind trefoil decoration, and the upper part with
an open screen (central bay mullions restored in 1922) surmounted
by an embattled cresting.

The two private apartments of the Berkeley lord are fourteenth
century in their rectangular shaping but too heavily modified in
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pLATE 22 Berkeley Castle: interior of chapel

Tudor and Georgian times to give much indication of their early
character. The 1800s remodelling was particularly thorough,
including replacement windows to the courtyard (original rear
arches) and one in each room through the 12 foot thick curtain, as
Kip’ engraving of 1712 shows. The purpose of the early twentieth-
century work was to restore a medieval character to the rooms as a
background for the magnificent parcel gilt furniture and tapestries.
It included revealing the stone walls and post medieval roofs, and
inserting replacement mid-fifteenth-century fireplaces in the outer
walls, from Wanswell Court in the outer chamber (great drawing
room) and probably from this source in the inner chamber (small
drawing room).!! Intercommunication between the two rooms was
by the charming open-sided turret lobby spanning the courtyard
end of the partition wall, with a garderobe in the opposite corner.
The post-medieval changes to the ground-floor porch and hall
stair, and the devaluation of the ground-floor rooms of the south
range have concealed their original function. The open-vaulted
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porch entered alongside the range gave access in two directions, to
the vaulted chamber below the chapel and to the apartment below
the great chamber. The roughly triangular-shaped corner room has
long served as a beer cellar, but such a function would never origi-
nally have been sited in this superior position almost on the same
level as the hall. Lit by lancets pierced through the buttressed outer
wall, it is enhanced by an ingeniously groined and vaulted ceiling.
A trefoil-headed doorway in the west wall opens into a small ribbed
and vaulted room, 5 feet lower and between 8 and 10 feet wide. It
is ill lit by a replacement lobby window and is now used as a wine
cellar. The large vaulted chamber served a superior function,
perhaps a staff room as a vice in the outer corner of the wine cellar
intercommunicated with the family suite above.

The two ground-floor chambers in the south range mirrored the
apartments above. Now corridor lined and fitted as a modern
kitchen and offices, their position and size indicate that they were
originally a suite of lesser family apartments.
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The planning of the medieval kitchen and offices was condi-
tioned by the curved shape of the outer curtain, with service rooms
either side of the single-storey kitchen positioned in the courtyard
angle. Even so, the facilities ran for 50 feet from the hall porch (80
feet to the field) in a more extended sequence than any other con-
temporary survival. The first section retains early windows and
parapet to the courtyard but the remainder is an early nineteenth-
century remodelling. Only the entry doorways survive to the
kitchen passage, subsequently absorbed into the buttery. The
kitchen, an irregular-sided hexagon approximately 21 feet in diam-
eter, is a fine survival, open to the roof, with the three longer sides
filled with broad hearths and internal stacks with flanking lights in
the upper walling.!? This pivotal centre has been subject to several
late medieval renewals, including the fireplace lintels, windows, and
roof structure attributed by Smyth to the close of the fifteenth
century.!? There was no courtyard access for it was approached only
from the kitchen passage and the bakehouse. This last was the
largest of the irregular-shaped offices, spanned by two massive low
vaulting ribs with further wall hearths, ovens, and entry to the
courtyard well passage.

The range filling the north side of the courtyard, now a dining
room display with picture gallery above, may have been a staff hall
with communal lodgings above. The present through-passage at
the side of the keep is a mid-nineteenth-century insertion replacing
a cross passage within the staff hall marked by the courtyard and
opposing entries converted into windows. The head of the court-
yard doorway and the machicolation above the outer entry survive
and a postern bridge in line with the doorways was recovered by
excavation in the 1930s.!* This rear entry, well sited for services and
goods, is similar to the Tudor facility at Ightham Mote. The two
fourteenth-century triangular-headed arches on square piers span-
ning the upper end screened the stair to the staff lodging above and
a pair of garderobes in the opposing turret.

DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT

Among the outstanding facets of the early fourteenth-century resi-
dential development of Berkeley Castle are the quality and scale of
the accommodation facilities for household staff as much as for
family."* Not until the rebuilding of the domestic accommodation
at Kenilworth Castle later in the century was there such extensive
work within a castle courtyard. The kitchen was supported by a sub-
stantial number of offices and service rooms, and the staff by their
own hall and accommodation above. The family enjoyed a sequence
of private apartments at ground- and first-floor level, and probably
the lodging above the services next to the screens. The whole was
centred on a hall of impressive scale and character. The decorative
qualities of this work are equally striking, using masons who had
been employed on the rebuilding of St Augustine’s Abbey, Bristol.
The remodelling of the castle followed in the wake of one of the
most brilliant and contrasting displays of English architectural
inventiveness when the choir, aisles, and lady chapel of three abbey
churches in the lower Severn region were rebuilt in turn, at
Bristol (1298-¢.1325), Tewkesbury (1322—.1344), and Gloucester
(1331-51). Berkeley’s use of masons from the Bristol lodge is not
surprising. The family had founded St Augustine’s Abbey, which
had become their mausoleum, and they were financially support-
ing the new work under abbots Barry (1294-1306) and Knowle
(1306-32). The castle’s redevelopment also reflects the planning
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clarity, block form, and spaciousness of the Bristol choir, not often
found in a domestic context.!® Berkeley eschewed ball-flower dec-
oration which was spattering the region further north, as in the
nave south aisle at Gloucester abbey (1319-29) before supplanted
there by the Perpendicular style, while the castle was sparing in its
use of the ogee form and flowing tracery adopted for the choir at
Tewkesbury (c.1325-40).

The years from about 1310 to 1320 may not be unreasonable for
the commencement of this building activity by Thomas, 1st Lord
Berkeley, who spent the later years of his long life at Berkeley when
not on the battlefield, but Smyth only refers to Thomas’ respon-
sibility for gatehouse building in 1313.'7 The five years between
1321 and 1326 can be eliminated because of the imprisonment of
Maurice, 2nd Lord (d.1326) and his son. The first years of Thomas,
3rd Lord Berkeley are most likely for initiating the major rebuild-
ing programme, arising from his marriage to Roger Mortimer’s
young daughter in 1320 and his growing prosperity through estate
enhancement and improved agricultural husbandry (see below).
His work, encompassing both service and family apartments, was
centred on the chapel and the hall. Both have distinctive architec-
tural features. The inner cusping of the chapel windows is close to
the shaping of the hall windows at Caerphilly Castle of ¢.1326 for
Hugh Despenser the Younger. The semi-octagonal head of the hall
and cross-passage doorways, the so-called Berkeley arch, also dis-
tinguishes the Berkeley tombs in St Augustine’s Abbey, Bristol (now
the cathedral) erected during the 1330s. Lord Berkeley’s respon-
sibility has never been in doubt, confirming Smyth’s statements to
that effect. Furthermore, it is not unlikely that the rebuilding of the
hall and apartments at Caerphilly Castle, particularly the scale of
the unaisled hall, may have spurred Lord Berkeley to undertake his
own plans.

Richard K. Morris has added some flesh to these bones. The
combination of carved foils with delicate ogee arches like those in
the chapel windows occurs in the Berkeley chapel at Bristol (1320s),
Wells Cathedral presbytery (after 1326), and Bristol Cathedral
presbytery high vault (late 1330s/early 1340s), giving a twenty-year
span.!® The roll and undercut chamfer moulding of the chapel
windows is repeated in the broken pulpitum of Tintern Abbey
(¢.1330?), Wells Cathedral clerestory (1330s), and the south tran-
sept aisle windows of St Mary Redcliffe, Bristol (1340s).!? The
timber ribs of the chapel ceiling are identical in form to those of the
main vault of Bristol Cathedral (1330-45) and the eastern arm of
Ottery St Mary (after 1337).2% It is therefore likely that the chapel
was begun in 1327 when, as Smyth noted, Thomas IIT ‘In the first
year of King Edward III . . . and the year following somewhat built,
but more beautified his castle of Berkeley’,?! and that it was com-
pleted during the 1330s.22 The work is likely to be by William Joy,
who was responsible for the major work at Wells Cathedral trifor-
ium (after 1329), Bristol Cathedral east arm (1330-45), St Mary
Redcliffe south porch (¢.1340), and the front of Exeter Cathedral
(1346-7).2

The great hall seems to have been the work of a different and
slightly later master-mason, influenced by the earlier idea of Joy.?*
In particular, the distinctive Berkeley arches with more simple
chamfer mouldings than those in Bristol Cathedral more readily
compare with those at St David’s and more particularly in the cathe-
dral pulpitum screen and the palace hall porch (probably 1340s).25
Morris attributes the castle hall to the 1340s with the same master
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pLATE 23 Berkeley Castle: hall interior

responsible for the Pembrokeshire and Gloucestershire work.?
This is supported by the form of the lierne vault of the quadrangu-
lar hall porch which has an affinity with those spanning the tran-
septs at Ottery St Mary and St Mary Redcliffe of the 1340s.?” This
attribution coincides with Smyth’s documentary reference to ‘newe
worke at the castle in 18th-19th year of Edward I1I [1344-5] which
is that part without the keepe on the northeast next the little parke
and next to the great kitchen, the roofe wherof Henry VII brought
from Wootton as tradition tells us’.?

It is remarkable that although the Berkeleys were the leading
Whig family in eighteenth-century Gloucestershire, they never
seriously attempted to remodel the castle interior, while irregular
occupation in the nineteenth century inhibited the Victorianisation
that afflicted Alnwick, Arundel, and Cardiff castles. Consequently
Berkeley Castle stands alongside Haddon Hall as one of the
supreme residential survivals of the fourteenth century. It provides
an uncluttered and little-altered example of domestic planning at
the upper level of society, particularly important when as much sur-
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vives of the household and staff quarters as of the family apartments.
The French additions of the last earl can irritate in this English
context and some of his changes were autocratic, but without his
financial resources and historically sympathetic approach by an
enquiring mind, Berkeley Castle would not stand today in such
splendid condition.

THE BERKELEY FAMILY

The house of Berkeley is as colourful as any in the English peerage,
with a more than ample share of eccentrics and cads. Their activ-
ities have ranged from the battlefield and royal murder to scientific
exploration and diplomacy — from vicious feuds and the last private
battle on English soil to an infamous case of bastardy spanning most
of the nineteenth century. They are one of the longest-living fami-
lies in English history, were responsible for the longest case of liti-
gation in English law (1417-1609), have been the outstanding
county name for centuries and continue to occupy the castle of their
ancestors.
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During the fourteenth century, the Berkeley family attained
regional rather than local influence and power, comparable to that
of some of the greatest families. Yet unlike the houses of Mortimer,
Neville, or Stafford, they were never granted an earldom at that
time and the likelihood of achieving this slipped away between the
early fifteenth century and the Tudors. That we know so much
about this family is due to the extensive archive still held in the
castle?” and the survey built up from that material in 1618 by John
Smyth of Nibley, the Berkeley’s steward, who used documents that
no longer survive.

After the Conquest the lordship and castle were held by a
Berkeley until the time of Stephen when they were given by
Henry II to the Bristol merchant Robert FitzHarding for his
financial support. FitzHarding subsequently married into the
Berkeley family and adopted their name. The barony by writ
begins with Thomas, 1st Lord Berkeley (d.1321) who inherited in
1295 and spent much of his adult life until after Bannockburn
fighting the Welsh, Scots, and French. His son Maurice (d.1326)
spent his last adult years in prison so that it was left to Thomas,
3rd Lord Berkeley (d.1361) to continue expanding the patrimony
when he was not fighting in the Scottish and French wars.
Maurice (d.1368) died at a relatively early age, as a result, it is said,
of war wounds. Thomas, 5th Lord Berkeley (d.1417) enjoyed a
long tenure and was a noted patron of the arts, particularly authors
and illuminators.’® James, 6th Lord Berkeley (d.1463), his 23-
year-old nephew and male heir, kept a low profile during an
extended period of high politics to defend his inheritance against
the claims and assaults of the daughter of the 5th Lord and her co-
heirs after her death in 1422. These claims were stifled in 1470 by
the death of Viscount Lisle and many of his supporters in an
armed feud with William, 7th Lord Berkeley (d.1492) at Nibley
Green. William restored the family’s depleted lands by acquiring
half the vast Mowbray inheritance through the reversion rights of
his mother and the associated title of ear] of Nottingham (1483).
To disinherit his brother and successors, this vituperative person
settled virtually all the family estates on Henry VII and his heirs
male and received a marquisate in return (1489). When the royal
male line failed in 1553, all the outstanding alienated estates were
returned to the family.

Throughout the fourteenth century, the Berkeley lords were
intent on building up their two groups of estates centred on the
Hundred of Berkeley and the outskirts of Bristol by expanding else-
where in Gloucestershire and into neighbouring Wiltshire and
Somerset. The most successful was Thomas, 3rd Lord who inher-
ited a relatively rich holding of thirty-three manors which he
extended in 1330 by purchasing Beverston on the Cotswolds, with
two further manors to the north and six in nearby Wiltshire. He
added three manors to his estates near Salisbury and four close to
the Somerset border. Within thirty years, he had added nineteen
manors and twenty-eight lesser areas to the family holdings, mainly
adjoining the larger properties, drained and enclosed land at
Slimbridge,*! and with his second marriage to a rich widow in 1347
consolidated his hold on the Tortworth area south-east of Berkeley.
Similarly, his grandson’s marriage to the heiress of the Lisle estates
added about two dozen of their manors spread across seven coun-
ties to the Berkeley holding in 1382.

There was a triple purpose to this policy — to increase the family
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resources and support a retinue of size and magnificence, to make
provision for younger sons who could further the Berkeley influ-
ence without breaking up the estate, and to capitalise on the region’s
rich agricultural resources through astute estate management, pro-
gressive husbandry, and domestic efficiency. South Gloucestershire
and north Wiltshire were particularly well placed to benefit from
extensive sheep runs, the dominant economic resource of late med-
ieval England. In 1327, about 90 per cent of the Berkeleys’ demesne
was arable; forty years later this had fallen to 65 per cent with the
remainder taken up by pasture.’? This was the motive prompting
Thomas’ purchase of Beverston with its stock of 1,500 sheep, a
further 1,500 wethers in 1344,** and pasture holdings round the
mouth of the Wye in the 1340s and 1350s. The rise in his annual
income from £425 in 1328 to £659 in 1335, and then £977 in 1345
to £1,150 in 1347 was reflected in his enhanced lifestyle which
marked the zenith of Berkeley fortunes in the middle ages.’* Yet
land acquisition and economic development were matched by
accounting stringency. Smyth cites documents confirming that the
Berkeleys were as assiduous in checking their financial records in
the fourteenth century as the duke of Buckingham was with his at
Tudor Thornbury.*’

The Berkeley records reflect the size and multi-dimensional
activity of the household. Under the 1st Lord (d.1321), the house-
hold consisted of ‘200 persons and upwards, milites, armigeri,
valeti, garciones et pagetti, knights, esquires, yeomen, groomes, and
pages beside husbandmen . . . and others of lower condition’.*¢
Under the 3rd Lord (d.1361) Smyth estimated that at least 300
mouths of the standing house were fed each day.’” ‘All the knights
robes were of cloth of ray, and of bastard scarlet, furred with the best
miniver. And the habit of the lord himself was therto sorted. The
robes of an esquire were of fine broad ray colour cloth, fured with
a courser sort of miniver. And so were the clerks of the chapel and
men of office . . . The livery of the gartion and underservants were
all of them of cloth and fured with coney, lambskin and budge, each
a degree under other.”*® A retinue of this size demonstrated a lord’s
standing, his reputation, dignity, and ‘presence’, not only when he
travelled between his estates or to London, but when he was enter-
taining distinguished guests. The Berkeley retinues were among the
largest but they were by no means the most ostentatious. What they
did do more clearly than anything else was underline the Berkeleys’
pre-eminence in the region. Smyth noted that the 3rd Lord’s
retinue included twelve knights and twenty-four esquires while Saul
established that the majority of knights were local men, with the
remainder drawn from Somerset and other nearby counties where
there were Berkeley interests.?? Under the daughter of the 5th Lord
(d.1417) who had married Richard Beauchamp, earl of Warwick,
the household account book for 14201 creates a vivid picture of a
great medieval household and its progress from Berkeley to the
countess’ various family estates, mainly in the Midlands. They
include such details as the household stores and stock, with wine
and ale making up the largest purchases at Berkeley. In one year,
3,000 gallons of wine were purchased and 19,000 of ale were con-
sumed, though Dr Ross concluded that the household was one of
ordered domestic efficiency.*

Berkeley Castle illustrates better than most medieval houses the
axis of progression from humble to grand, and from public to
private — from hall (both public and grand) to family suite (both
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grand and private). Furthermore a residence on this scale received
and disgorged a spectrum of society from royal guests to family
friends and local landowners. Equally both outer and inner courts
encompassed pages, grooms, servants, and hangers-on, who spread
the word about the plenitude of the family and the Berkeleys’ ‘good
lordship’. Their castle is one of those rare examples where the
standing buildings and the documentary evidence combine to
reflect the plenitude and patronage of the lord more vividly than in
most county communities in fourteenth-century England.

Berkeley influence was extended by four related branches of the
family. The original line had moved to Dursley and flourished there
until 1403.*" A branch of the founder had long been established at
Coberley near Birdlip.*> The second son of Maurice, 2nd Lord
founded the Berkeleys of Uley (and Stoke Giffard) while John, the
younger son of the 3rd Lord, established the Beverston line. The
3rd Lord sought to protect the patrimony from partition between
co-heiresses or other alienation by entailing the estate in 1349
solely on his heirs male, while the 5th Lord spent most of his life
fighting to prevent such an occurrence.*® A similar campaign was
rerun against the crown during the first half of the sixteenth
century.

Roger Berkeley who had initiated the development of Berkeley
Castle also founded the Augustinian priory of Leonard Stanley
before his death in 1131. His son of the same name established
Dursley Castle before the mid-twelfth century, while Robert
FitzHarding founded St Augustine’s Abbey, Bristol in 1141. It
served as their mausoleum until the fifteenth century as much as
Tewkesbury Abbey did for the Despensers.* Kingswood Abbey
near their house at Wootton-under-Edge, founded by William
Berkeley in ¢.1170, benefited substantially from his successors after
the Black Death had impoverished the monastery, though the sur-
viving gatehouse was the result of an improving economy under the
first Tudor. In the 1520s, Maurice, 9th Lord paid for rebuilding the
church of Greyfriars, Gloucester, though there had been numerous
bequests over the previous three centuries since its foundation by
the family (c.1231) as well as to churches on their properties.®

During the second quarter of the fourteenth century, the 3rd
Lord had houses at Bedminster, Bradley Wendora, and Portbury,
built one at Awre (1327), had lodges at Newpark (1328) and Over
(1346), spent £100 repairing that at Wootton-under-Edge (1346)
‘and in other years the like’, and purchased Beverston Castle and
remodelled it, as well as consolidating the family seat at Berkeley.*
‘In the course of his whole life, I seldom observed [Thomas, 3rd
Lord] to continue one whole year together at any one of his
houses but having many furnished, he easily moved without
removing.”" Yate was purchased by Maurice, 8th Lord after his
brother had settled all the Berkeley holdings on the crown. It was
occupied by his son and grandson and retains some sections of the
earlier moated structures.® The partly embattled wall that
encloses two sides of the churchyard at Coberley screened the
courtyard immediately in front of the fifteenth-century house
shown by Kip before its destruction in 1790. The present farm-
house was part of the outer court and there was a third court south
of the house.* The castle at Beverston still stands but that of
younger members of the main line at Bradley Court, Wootton-
under-Edge was rebuilt by them in 1559.°° The house of the Uley
and Stoke Giffard branch at Stoke Park just north of Bristol was

65

similarly rebuilt in the later sixteenth century and again in
1750-64, shortly before it passed to the Beaufort family.’! It was
only with their advent that Berkeley ceased to be the pre-eminent
lay magnate in the county.

NOTES

1 The inner archway portcullis groove was noted by Clark (1884) 230-1.

2 H. P. R. Finberg, Gloucestershire Studies (1957) 145. The magnitude of
this transformation is described by James Miller in Country Life
(December 2004).
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Baddeley (1926) 156-7.
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The added arms are those of Henry VII. Turner and Parker (1859) 178,
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in 1881-2 (Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 6 (1881) 319). It was subse-
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13 J. Smyth, The Lives of the Berkeleys, ed. J. Maclean, I (1883) 309. Baddeley
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14 Berkeley (1938) 314-15. Other fourteenth-century defensive work
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Smyth, I (1883) 308-9. Its domination is well shown in Knyft’s landscape
views of ¢.1676 held in the castle. J. Harris, The Artist and the Country
House (1979) 64-5. The three-storeyed gateway to the inner court had
also been rebuilt with a larger porter’s lodge (believed by the earl to have
been used for stabling at some time: Berkeley (1938) 325) and two sets
of lodgings, the larger outer room above the entry passage with a pro-
jecting garderobe turret off the smaller west-facing room. The gate-
house ‘builte of newe in 1313’, Smyth, I (1883) 168, was that with
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(d.1417) enlarged the ditch round part of the shell keep by taking part of
the churchyard in return for any annual rent of 6s. 8d. Smyth, II, (1883)
12.
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21 Smyth, I(1883) 308. The spur for this work was ‘the marriage of his only
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BEVERSTON CASTLE, Gloucestershire

The thirteenth-century defensive features of Beverston Castle 2
miles west of Tetbury are formidable enough to justify its castle
nomenclature, but its non-strategic position on the high but flat
Cotswold uplands shows that the moat, gatehouse, and towers are
more truly those of a fortified house. Today, an attractive
seventeenth-century manor house occupies the site of the earlier
hall so that the mixture of medieval ruins and a broad-windowed
house combined with the jumble of Cotswold roofs and a well-
maintained garden create a highly picturesque ensemble.

The origins of the castle lie in the work of Maurice Gaunt
(d.1230), who built it without crown authority but subsequently val-
idated by a licence to crenellate in 1229.1 When the castle was pur-
chased a hundred years later in 1330 by Thomas, 3rd Lord Berkeley
(d.1361), it consisted of a single courtyard of rhomboid shape
defended by several circular or half-circular towers and gatehouse
of ovoid form protected by a drawbridge and a portcullis.? Most of
the south side of the small courtyard was enclosed by a first-floor
hall range with a residential wing at right angles to it. When the hall
was replaced by the two-storeyed Jacobean house, the thirteenth-
century upper-end wall was retained with its ground-floor window
with semi-circular rear arch, evidence of internal wall arcading in
the hall above (shaft and capital), and a roofline immediately below
the later oratory window. Much more survives of the contemporary
west wing with its two ground-floor vaulted rooms and single
chamber above, now used as bedrooms. A third storey was unlikely
at this stage.

Lord Berkeley began his redevelopment by removing the west

and south-west circular towers to replace them with a dominating
rectangular residential tower next to the hall range and a short link
joining up with the earlier west wing. The existence of earlier build-
ings meant that this work, apparently three-storeyed externally, was
multi-levelled internally. Standing to parapet level and little
altered since its construction, the only replacements are some late
sixteenth-century mullioned and transomed windows and a con-
temporary newel stair in an unbonded half-octagonal projection at
the angle where the tower touched the upper end of the hall. It is
this stair opening from the still-occupied house that gives access to
a structure which, though empty, has the distinction of never losing
its roof or foregoing its frittered stonework, vacant windows,
uneven floors, and bats.

Basically, the tower has a single room on each floor, with two
rooms in the adjacent wing at the lower and a single room at three
upper levels, all linked by a plethora of stairs. The ground floor was
originally approached from the hall undercroft, but a trefoil
window was converted in post-medieval times into an outer
doorway. The room is vaulted, and retains a fine trefoil light and a
fireplace in the south-west corner.

The first floor was approached by a still-surviving door from the
former hall opening into a narrow stepped passage. This floor was
entirely filled by the chapel, one of the finest of such survivals in any
castle. It is divided into two parts. The body of the chapel has a fine
tierceron vault with carved bosses at the rib intersections, an ogee-
headed trefoil light in the south wall, and a late sixteenth-century
replacement window at the west end. The sanctuary at a slightly
higher level has a ribbed barrel vault and is distinguished by the
double sedilia and piscina with crocketed ogee canopies separated
by elegant pinnacles.* The piscina across the corner has a trefoil
head and a credence shelf, while the three-light east window with
cinquefoil heads (an early example) retains some of its trefoiled kite-
shaped tracery which can be seen more completely in the chancel
of the nearby church.

From the chapel passage, steps lead at a lower half-level to an

5
2
$
1
-.-1

PLATE 24 Beverston Castle: engraving from the north by S. and N. Buck (1732)
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BEVERSTON CASTLE

PLATE 25 Beverston Castle: great tower

ante-chamber and room in the projecting wing, apparently with a
blocked fireplace beneath a window in the west wall.

Directaccess from the hall via the newel stair bypassed the chapel
but gave immediate entry to the great chamber on the second floor
of the tower. It is lit today by a large square-headed sixteenth-
century window in the west wall but there were formerly traceried
windows in the east and south walls, now blocked. The roof is a rel-
atively modern replacement.

Several rooms lay north of the great chamber, needless to say at
differing levels, to make the second floor a private suite for the
castle’s owner. At a higher level lay Berkeley’s inner chamber and
oratory, with the latter reached first through a broken-down west
wall. This little-touched room retains its canopied piscina, a pair of
twin diagonal squints opening into the residential chamber on each
side, and a large circular (possibly rose) east window immediately
above the earlier hall roof, now blocked by a later square opening.
The inner chamber is rather featureless, with replacement windows.
The tiny room beneath part of the oratory is said to have been a well
chamber though it may have been used for storing valuables, while
the narrow room above the oratory was probably for the chaplain.
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Berkeley’s tower has affinities with contemporary solar towers
such as that at South Kyme (mid-fourteenth century) in its relation-
ship to a first-floor hall and its residential purpose at all levels. It is
an early example of that enthusiasm for interlocking levels and
multiple chambers popular in the later fourteenth century, while its
decorative qualities are a fitting adjunct to the sophisticated earlier
work at Berkeley Castle. But whereas that nearby residence
has been continuously occupied and thoroughly restored, the
Beverston tower and associated wing were abandoned in the mid-
seventeenth century and have remained untouched.

In a second phase, Berkeley modified the west wing to create an
independent suite, probably for honoured guests. The wing was
heightened by a second floor with a contemporary window inserted
in the outer wall and courtyard-facing stair turrets added at either
end. The earlier circular north-west tower was replaced by a square
one, set diagonally, to provide comfortable retiring chambers at
first- and second-floor levels with garderobes and a fireplace, linked
by a minute newel stair.* The tower is ruined, the courtyard wall
reduced and the uppermost floor partially open to the sky but the
plan is clear. The first-floor chamber, possibly partitioned, was
accessed from the upper end of the hall. The courtyard stair oppo-
site the retiring chamber led to the uppermost suite, where the large
outer chamber was independent of the tower chamber. The two
fireplaces in the body of the range are sixteenth century.

The castle’s remodelling is dated by Smyth, chronicler of the
Berkeley family, to 1348-9.% It is built in a distinctive style favoured
in south-west England between about 1320 and 1350 (as at Wells
and Exeter cathedrals and Ottery St Mary collegiate church) and
more particularly comparable to the work in the prime Bristol
churches of the 1330s and 1340s such as the east arm of St
Augustine’s Abbey (c.1330-45) and the south porch of St Mary
Redcliffe (c.1340). The ornate sedilia in the chapel can be compared
particularly with the lady chapel reredos in St Augustine’s Abbey
(now the cathedral) and the lady chapel screen at Ottery St Mary.
The ascription to the years 1348 and 1349 given by Smyth may
point towards the conclusion of this work, or rather to the second
phase of a project that had been initiated some years earlier during
the 1330s.

Leland records that the work was funded by the ‘spoyles that he
wan yn France’ for he was told by Sir William, the collateral great-
grandson, that Berkeley ‘was taken prisoner in Fraunce, and after
recovering his losses with Frenche prisoners and at the Batail of
Poyters buildid after the castell of Beverstane thoroughly, a pile at
that tyme very preaty’.” Not only is this historically questionable®
butitis more likely that rebuilding was resourced by Berkeley’s pro-
gressive husbandry on this estate in particular. The large sheep runs
of the high Cotswolds made the Beverston property highly attrac-
tive to the 3rd Lord, particularly as he was in the forefront of those
changing from an arable to a pastoral economy. It became one of
the primary centres of his sheep-rearing activities,” helped to treble
his annual income,!? and almost certainly prompted and probably
funded the castle’s remodelling.

The result was to make the castle the equivalent of an eighteenth-
century country villa centred on an agriculturally prosperous estate.
By updating the earlier fortified house, Berkeley not only provided
personal comfort for himself in a powerful but non-military tower
reflecting his elegance and wealth, but also provided generous inde-
pendent accommodation for his guests. The moated outer court,
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barely traceable today but marked by a late fourteenth- or early
fifteenth-century barn,!! probably always fulfilled a farming function.

Berkeley granted Beverston to John, the younger son of his
second marriage, who established the prominent gentry line of
Berkeley of Beverston until the castle was sold in 1597. It was
subject to some updating but was besieged and captured by the par-
liamentarians in 1644, then abandoned in part shortly afterwards,
with the Jacobean house subject to further repairs after a fire of
1691 and continuous occupation ever since.

NOTES

1 Cal. Pat. Rolls: 1225-32, 260.

2 J. Smyth, Lives of the Berkeleys. . . ed. Sir John Maclean, I (1883) 326.

3 For a cross-section of both chapel and oratory above, T. H. Turner and
J. H. Parker, Some Account of Domestic Architecture in England, 11T (1859)
183.

4 The earlier thirteenth-century tower form can be established externally
in the use of rubble walling and its shaping where it joins the later dressed
stonework.

5 Lives of the Berkeleys, ed. Maclean, I, 309. ‘In 22 and 23 years of that kinge,
hee much re-edified his castle of Beverston where he spent many months
in the yeare, especially after it was become the joynture of his second wife
and entailed upon her children.’

6 S. Harrison et al., Antiq. Four: 78 (1998) 223, 232-3. The authors include
a valuable discussion on the work of Thomas, 3rd Lord Berkeley at
Beverston and Berkeley castles in the stylistic context of a major archi-
tectural lodge in south-west England under the innovative master
William Joy, 177-268.

7 Itinerary, IV, 132-3. This dating attribution was followed by Joan Evans,
English Art 1307-1461 (1949) 120 and D. Verey and A. Brooks, The
Buildings of England: Gloucestershire, 1 (1999 edn) 65, 165.

8 It was Berkeley’s son who was taken prisoner at the battle of Poitiers, and
he was only ransomed with difficulty. First noted by Elizabeth Hodges
in Some Ancient English Homes (1895), this was more academically con-
sidered by K. B. McFarlane, The Nobility of Later Medieval England (1973)
22 note 1, who did not entirely rule out ransoms achieved before the
1356 battle, by either Berkeley or his son.

9 C. Given-Wilson, The English Nobility in the Late Middle Ages (1987)
125-6.

10 Smyth, Lives of the Berkeleys, ed. Maclean, 1, 306.
11 Described and illustrated in E. Mercer, English Vernacular Houses (1975)
157, 106.

A. H. Thompson, Arch. Four. 87 (1930) 453-5
C. Hussey, Country Life (February 1944)

P. A. Faulkner, Arch. Four. 122 (1965) 201-2
N. Pounds, Arch. Jour: suppl. 145 (1988) 48-51

BOARSTALL TOWER, Oxfordshire

This is the gatehouse to a residence crenellated under licence by
John Handlo in 1312,! close to Bernwood Forest and the royal
manor of Brill. Handlo had acquired the property by marrying the
last of the FitzNigels in 1299 and it is possible that the 3 acre plat-
form was already in existence. The east arm of the wet moat was
infilled when the gardens were formalised in the early eighteenth
century, while the large courtyard house on its south side was pulled
down in 1778. An equally major change was the loss of the village of
Boarstall, destroyed during the Civil War, leaving only the house and
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the now rebuilt church alone on the broad clay Vale of Aylesbury.?

The gatehouse is a striking three-storeyed structure with bold
hexagonal turrets at each corner of the rectangular block. The
slimmer rear turrets hold newels and rise above the roof, as did
those facing the approach (see blocked loops below south-east bat-
tlements). They were reduced in the early seventeenth century
when the gatehouse was totally refenestrated with handsome
square-headed, mullioned, and transomed windows, and canted
bays to the front and sides. The roof was raised by 28 inches and
balustraded to create a viewing platform. The property is as much
like a Jacobean hunting box as a fourteenth-century gatehouse.

Built of local rubble limestone with ashlar dressings, the body of
the gatehouse is original, as are the gargoyles and cross-shaped
arrow loops at several levels. The seventeenth-century balustrade
was raised directly over the original crenellated parapet, encasing
its embrasures. The entrance, partly masked by the supports to the
bay window above, may have been buttressed and was portcullis
protected.? There was a drawbridge, raised by a central chain® to fit
under the lip of the string course above the entry with its depressed
segmental head. It opened into the central passage with a room on
either side. The east partition wall was removed in 1926 when the
property was rehabilitated and entries forced through to the rear
newels. The mezzanine floor repeats the same plan while the upper-
most floor is a single chamber, magnificently windowed and height-
ened with a roof of ¢.1615.

The internal medieval features that survived the Jacobean
remodelling are limited. All doorways with two-centred heads to
the closets and from the stairs to the upper rooms are original. Only
two single lights with trefoil heads at the top of the south-east turret
escaped the remodelling programme but some of the Jacobean
windows reused the earlier splays. No garderobe evidence has been
found but the rough ceiling joists in the porter’s lodge have been
dendro dated to a felling date of 1312/13.° The modest changes
made in the late fifteenth/early sixteenth century included new
courtyard doorways to the newels, the moulded frame to the first-
floor chamber entry, and the finely shaped fireplace to that apart-
ment.

This was a spacious gatehouse with ground-floor staff rooms,
generous and multi-lit frontal closets at all levels, and an important
top-floor lodging, probably originally divided into two with a larger
heated outer chamber and a smaller inner chamber. It would have
been approached from the south-east stair, slightly wider than its
fellow and opening via an original wooden doorway instead of the
stone form used elsewhere. This gatehouse was more for show than
for defence. No evidence was found of an enclosing curtain wall or
corner towers during a geophysical survey in 1998, and they are
absent from the illustration of 1444 (see below). The site was prob-
ably always palisaded and was still so enclosed during the Civil
War.S The tower frontage was embellished with ashlar banding
while the pair of newels rather than a single one points up its resi-
dential purpose. It should be compared with the slightly later gate-
house at the Bishop’s Palace, Wells, in form and function.

This moated manor house is depicted in two important docu-
ments. The Boarstall Cartulary was prepared for Edmund Rede,
lord of the manor, in 1444. It includes a coloured picture depicting
the village, the nearby open fields and woods, and the stand-alone
gatehouse with a notional representation of the manor house to its
rear.” The other is a superbly detailed engraving of 1695 by Michael
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PLATE 26 Boarstall Tower: gatehouse from the north-east

Burghers giving a bird’s-eye view of the property. It shows that the
house originated with a hall and entry porch almost facing the
gateway and developed into a substantial courtyard residence with
a services yard to the east, surrounded at that time by formal
gardens.’

NOTES

1 Cal. Pat. Rolls: 1307-13, 493.

2 S. Porter, Rec. of Bucks. 26 (1984) 86-91.

3 The grooves have been infilled but the RCHM is quite clear about their
existence in 1912: 1 (1912) 57.

4 Responsible for the grooves in the window sill above.

5 Vern. Arch. 30 (1999) 99.

6 Symonds’ Diary, Camden Soc. 74 (1940) 231.

7 The Boarstall Cartulary, ed. H. E. Salter and A. H. Cooke (1930). The
volume is held in Bucks. County Record Office, Aylesbury. The map and
a 1970 aerial view to the same scale and position are reproduced in
M. W. Beresford and J. K. St Joseph, Medieval England (1979 edn)
110-13. See also R. A. Skelton and P. D. A. Harvey (eds.), Local Maps and
Plans from Medieval England (1984) 211-19, and P. D. A. Harvey in
Medieval Villages, ed. D. Hook (1985) 33—45, for a consideration of the
cartulary and later documentary evidence.

8 Engraved for W. Kennett, Parochial Antiquities Attempted in the History of
Ambrosden, Burcester (1695). Reproduced in J. Harris, The Artist and the
Country House (1979) 105.

RCHM, Buckinghamshire, 1 (1912) 57-9
The National Trust, Boarstall Tower: Guide (1989)

BROADWAY, ABBOT’S GRANGE, Worcestershire!

“The Abbot of Peareshore was onely Lord of the Manor, but also
had here a farme famous for the greatness.”” Thomas Habington’s
comment of 1586 still holds good for the abbot’s house at Broadway.

Close to the parish church at the Evesham end of this show village,
the house was rescued by the American artist Frank Millet and his
wife towards the close of the nineteenth century. They were
responsible for the two Jacobeathan-style wings of 1907 and 1933
that create the open west court. Though Abbot’s Grange is a three-
period house, each phase is self-contained. The fourteenth-century
hall and upper cross wing with chapel extension fill the east side of
the court. The early seventeenth-century block abuts its upper end.
The site of the services and kitchen is covered by the 1907 family
wing while that of 1933 touches the Jacobean block (pl. 2). The
house is built of Cotswold stone throughout, with Cotswold tiled
roofs. There is no documentary evidence to identify the first con-
struction period, but it is a single-phase structure which can be
attributed on architectural grounds to the years close to 1320-30.

The hall, 26 feet by 20 feet, is open to the roof. The cross-passage
entries were not porch protected. That to the east (facing the
village) retains its single-chamfer jambs with a remade two-centred
head. That to the west, now blocked, was remodelled with a square
head in the early seventeenth century at the same time that a floor
was inserted in the hall. This apartment is entered from the 1907
wing via a wide Jacobean archway, probably replacing a smaller one
like the two to its side with bold ogee-decorated heads. Nothing
survives of the services cross wing, now covered by the panelled
dining room and staircase hall, but the three doorways suggest two
service rooms and a stair to the chamber above. Traces were found
of such a spiral stair in 1907° while a drawing by Blore of ¢.1820
shows a square building north-east of the hall that may have been
the kitchen.*

The hall is lit by four windows, all of different character. Those
to the west are of two lights, transomed, with ogee-shaped trefoil
heads. That by the entry has upper cusps which the larger window
lacks though it is set in a square hollow-chamfered frame. Both
were restored by Millet, based on retained features. The two oppo-
site windows follow a similar but less ornate form, with that next to
the chapel wing obliquely angled because of the chapel wing and
the only one to retain its original tracery. The different size and

PLATE 27 Broadway, Abbot’s Grange: from the west
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FIGURE 9 Broadway, Abbot’s Grange: ground plan

character of these windows is unusual, though there is no reason to
doubt the accuracy of their restoration.’

The two-bay roof is spanned by arch-braced collars with upper
collars to heavily moulded purlins, close-set rafters, and a single line
of wind braces. The ogee moulding of the central truss that ceases
about 6 feet from the ground appears to have been continued in stone
to the floor but has been hacked away. The end-wall fireplace is a
1913 insertion, for the hall would have been heated originally by a
central hearth. The two doorways in the south-east angle open to the
chapel and solar wings, the latter repeating the ogee-headed form.

The one unusual feature of this house is that the stone stair to the
solar cross wing serves both ground and upper floors. Though the
steps were remade by Millet, they follow the original form, includ-
ing the divergence to solar and chapel. The ground-floor chamber
retains a single two-centred light in one corner but both end
windows and the fireplace are seventeenth-century replacements of
original features. The upper chamber is partitioned by an open
Victorian screen to create a corridor to the Jacobean room beyond.
Ignoring this, the abbot’s withdrawing chamber is little touched,
with a fine west window set in a hollow-chamfered frame internally,
of two transomed trefoiled lights with a reticulated head. The lower
lights were shuttered; the upper lights were glazed. The two-light
east window is more modest. The two-bay roof is similar to that in
the hall, repeating the arch-braced trusses rising from low-set wall
posts with a single line of wind braces. The fireplace jambs, double
brackets, and stone hood are a rebuild but apparently follow the
original evidence to the undisturbed corbel-supported chimney
stack.” The two-centred doorway to the Jacobean block initially
accessed a timber-framed garderobe projection.’

The ground floor of the chapel wing, approached by an early
seventeenth-century entry, retains its three original window splays
though one has been enlarged.’ The room above does not show any

72

altar (the window sill?), piscina, or sedilia evidence but its claim to
be a chapel is not unreasonable.!® The east end is lit by two single
trefoil lights in the side walls, and a two-light east window with
reticulated head similar to but less elaborate than that in the abbot’s
chamber. The circular window looking into the hall shows evidence
of lost cusped running tracery. The moulded wall plates and plain
double-raftered roof are original.

Pershore Abbey held major sheep pastures on the hills above
Broadway, for the manor was the most profitable of the abbey’s pos-
sessions at the time of the Dissolution and accounted for a quarter
of its income. This well-preserved country house of the abbey, a
particularly fine example of a single-phase structure, is attributable
to abbot William Herwynton (c.1307-40) with the outside possibil-
ity that it may have been by abbot Thomas Pyriton (1340-9). Note
the subtle design emphasis at two key points — the west window of
the abbot’s chamber, and the chapel east window compared with its
neighbour serving the abbot’s chamber.

NOTES

1 The houses of Worcestershire were covered in volume II, but Broadway
is geographically and architecturally part of the Cotswolds and should be
considered with comparable buildings in Gloucestershire.

2 A Survey of Worcestershire, ed. J. Amphlett, II (1899).

3 VCH, IV (1924) 35.

4 Brit. Lib., Add. MS 42108, 15/16. Substantial stone foundations includ-
ing the south corner of a building were traced west of the hall in 1991 at
the same time as a geophysical survey was made of the earthworks sur-
rounding the grange. Med. Arch. 35 (1991) 163-4.

5 Millet was advised by William Morris, who had recommended the house
to him.

6 VCH, IV (1924) 35.

7 Tipping (1911) 58.

8 The narrow ground-floor doorway immediately below in heavily dis-
turbed stonework may have served a similar purpose. The jamb of an
entry arch against the south face of the replacement extension is early
seventeenth century, not original work pace Tipping and Pevsner,
Worcestershire (1968) 103.

9 The ‘oriel-like chamber’ of M. Wood is unconvincing: The English
Medieval House (1965) 103.

10 A similarly positioned chapel had been built a few years earlier at
Evesham Abbey. According to the abbey’s chronicler, abbot
Brokehampton (128213 16) built ‘a magnificent abbot’s hall, the walls of
which were completed in stone, and above it he constructed a wooden
roof of wonderful workmanship, covered with lead, and made a vaulted
porch at the entrance of the said hall, and above it a reception room, sim-
ilarly roofed with lead. He added a kitchen to this hall, finely finished
throughout in stone. He built a pantry by the abbot’s kitchen, and also
the abbot’s chamber, painted with the story of Joseph, together with a
small chapel adjacent to it. He constructed a strong vault beneath this
chamber where the wine cellar now is’. The Chronicle of Evesham Abbey,
ed. D. C. Cox (1964) 50-1.

H. A. Tipping, Country Life (January 1911)
VCH, Worcestershire, IV (1924) 34-6

BROUGHTON CASTLE, Oxfordshire

Broughton Castle is one of the medieval jewels of central and south-
ern England, even though it was initiated by a family of no more
than local importance. Seen across the sparkling water of the moat
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and the verdant lawns that enclose the house on three sides, the vast
windows and multiple gables of the castle suggest that it is essen-
tially an Elizabethan mansion with evidence of its medieval origins
towards the east end. In fact, it was never a castle,! is medieval
throughout, and has achieved its present state through at least
eleven building stages — six medieval, two Elizabethan, one mid-
Georgian, and the restorations of the 1860s and 1980s. Not surpris-
ingly, the architectural story of the house has not yet been fully
unravelled, mainly because of the idiosyncratic development of the
medieval apartments which are as spectacular in execution as they
are intriguing in layout.

OUTER COURT, ¢.I1250—-I500

The house and church stand immediately west of the Sor Brook,
with an approach that immediately reveals the three defensive ele-
ments of the site and their order of importance — moat, gateway, and
embattled enclosing wall. The width of the brook-fed moat varies
between about 50 feet where it was crossed by two bridges and
about 130 feet where it widens on the north side into a small orna-
mental lake. It is one of the most impressive moats in England and
encloses an equally imposing rectangular platform of between 3 and
4 acres. The embattled wall divides the area into two, with the
house and courts to the front and rear filling only half the site, but
there was evidence early in the twentieth century of a watercourse
immediately under the battlemented wall dividing the area into two
courts.?

The two-storeyed gatehouse is relatively modest, mainly late
fourteenth century in its present form but at least fifty years earlier
in origin. It consists of no more than a through-passage with
chamber above, and an embattled parapet initialled W' S from the
repairs of 1655. The entry was protected by a drawbridge® and an
outer and inner pair of doors with the former dated 1617. There
was no portcullis. The lower walling and mid-arch were incorpo-
rated from an early fourteenth-century entrance with cross loops
similar to those in the garderobe turret at the south-east corner of
the house. The outer and inner arches with their depressed heads,

stair turret, and upper storey (originally two floors) are a rebuilding
later in the century, with generous two-light windows of that date.

The enclosing wall is a late feature. Too low to be described as a
curtain wall and protecting only half the platform, the wall extends
for about 70 feet before its reduction to a garden wall. Standing 10
feet high to the broad wall-walk with the embattled parapet adding
a further 4 feet, it is little more than a decorative enclosure similar
to the brick garden wall of the 1470s at Buckden Palace. Buck’s
engraving of the castle in 1729 shows that it continued southwards,
linked up with the four-centred arch that stands as a garden feature
close to the south arm of the moat, and continued along the east
side to the surviving lodging range. This east wall was interrupted
by two features in line with the wall, though projecting internally:
a secondary entry with room over and a two-storeyed embattled
turret. Neither was a significant defence, and the entry was charac-
terised by an arch that Buck shows was similar to the gatehouse
entry.

Only the two-storeyed lodging range survives of the forecourt
buildings, filling most of the north side. The upper floor retains a
line of narrow slits to the forecourt, fireplace evidence, and two dec-
orative mid-fifteenth-century windows overlooking the moat of
twin cinquefoil lights with traceried heads. The range was used for
lodgings above ground-floor stables. There is no documentary evi-
dence of further structures in the forecourt or service court, though
they must certainly have existed. Stone bases of unknown date have
been noted during trenching at the north-east and west ends of the
house, but the removal of all service buildings and other traces of
the hugger-mugger of life creates a sylvan picture which is certainly
false to the house’s late medieval character.

HOUSE DEVELOPMENT, ¢.I1250—-1330

Built of local golden-brown limestone, Broughton Castle was as
extended in its late medieval state as the present structure, marked
by diagonal buttresses at both ends. The house has always been in
line, for unlike most properties on this scale it has never needed
projecting wings. In plan, the house has always centred on the great

pLATE 28 Broughton Castle: engraving from the north-east by S. and N. Buck (1729)
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hall, with the kitchen and offices originally at the lower end and the
family rooms at the upper. This plan was present from the first, but
it was developed and expanded between the second half of the thir-
teenth and the second half of the fifteenth centuries in a sequence
of phases. Their identification lies essentially in a consideration of
the architectural evidence, with the caution that all roofs are post-
medieval, and that the Victorian restoration by George Gilbert
Scott Jnr. was an extremely sensitive one. The documentary evi-
dence is also scanty before the mid-nineteenth century. Only two
medieval references directly relate to the building, a licence granted
in 1331 to allow divine service to be celebrated in the chapel,* and
a licence to crenellate granted in 1406.° Neither sits comfortably
with the surviving structures.

Today, the hall is essentially an Elizabethan four-bay chamber,
54% feet by 28% feet, with large rectangular windows in both side
walls, two forecourt bays, and a decorative plaster ceiling. Nothing
is as it seems. The hall was originally a three-bay structure, about
40 feet by 28% feet internally, with entry at the lower (west) end, not
at the upper (east) end as at present. The left-hand outer jamb and
hood of the south cross-passage door survive, though the evidence
for the principal entry from the forecourt was lost when the
Elizabethan bay window was inserted. At that time, the outer walls
were totally refenestrated. However, the Elizabethan entry and
staircase projection at the upper end did not entirely destroy earlier
window evidence and unblocking has revealed opposing tall
windows in this end bay with depressed heads and roll-moulded
splays of late fourteenth-century date. The early hall, open to the
roof, was generously scaled and is still so, despite the ceiling
inserted in the mid-sixteenth century, with simulated Elizabethan
plasterwork of the 1760s.

The early hall was increased to the present size during the third
quarter of the fifteenth century by taking in the original two-
storeyed offices and chamber block. That had been made up of a central
passage flanked by the buttery and pantry, with a residential
chamber above. The evidence can be read in the present end wall,
which was the outer wall of the block facing on to an offices yard.
At ground level, the nearly central door opened to the passage of an
independent kitchen, flanked by a hatch on one side and a door on
the other from the yard. The blocked openings above from south
to north are a fourteenth-century barred doorway, a tall recess of
unknown date and purpose, a barred fifteenth-century doorway,
and an internally approached fourteenth-century doorway. The
barred openings suggest the first-floor chamber was externally
approached across two centuries, though this would be surprising
even by the fourteenth century when internal access from the
screens was common, particularly in a residence of this scale. The
alternative is that the barred approach was from the upper room of
a double block of which all trace was destroyed in the post-medieval
rebuilding. The chamber above the offices was lit by a cusped
window in the south wall that survives in part, and there would have
been a similar one in the lost north wall. The first-floor north door
is likely to have opened on to a garderobe.

The buttressed outer walls at the west end of the house are part
of the enclosure wall of the kitchen and offices yard, but all evidence
of the internal buildings was destroyed when the west end of the
house was totally remodelled during the later sixteenth century.
Some drainage evidence survives in the cellar below the Gothick

library.
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PLATE 29 Broughton Castle: engraving of vaulted south corridor from
Parker (1853)

Of the two fourteenth-century-style doorways at the upper end
of the hall giving entry to the family apartments, only that next to the
sixteenth-century stair is original. The other, by the present fore-
court entry, is a late nineteenth-century insertion by Scott.® The
contrast between the simple chamfered doorway and the elaborate
vaulted corridors that it reveals is one of the many surprises that
Broughton Castle offers. Turning to the left, the corridor immedi-
ately behind the dais wall accesses the room below the great
chamber. This is the core of the house and its earliest structure.

The principal undercroft is an extended room, 38 feet by 15 feet,
with three bays of quadripartite vaulting with single-chamfered ribs
springing from moulded corbels. The square-headed fireplace
lintel is a mid-fifteenth-century insertion, as is the stylish south
doorway. Parker’s plan of 1853 and his drawing of the corridor
show that it was matched by two taller openings in the same wall of
eighteenth-century form, made at the same time that the Gothick
windows were inserted. The plain character of the vaulting ribs and
the corbel mouldings indicates construction during the second half
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FIGURE 10 Broughton Castle: annotated ground plan from Parker (1853)

of the thirteenth century. The same construction occurs in the adja-
cent room at right angles below the chapel. This second undercroft
consists of two bays of quadripartite vaulting springing from similar
moulded corbels, though the two mid corbels are carved with oak
and hawthorn leaves. This room could only be approached exter-
nally until its use as a kitchen in the twentieth century necessitated
a forced link between the two undercrofts and the conversion of the
east window into a doorway.

The corridors almost encircle a narrow internal room next to
the larger undercroft. The passage entry and adjacent window
(blocked) are original, as the vaulting seems to be,” but the second
entry, fireplace, and recesses are relatively recent. The purpose of
this room is not immediately clear but its position opposite the
newel stair to the family rooms above indicates staff usage. It may
have been for a porter guarding access to those rooms or more likely
for junior staff attendant on the family and within close call of their
needs.

The 6 foot wide corridors are a highly individual feature of the
house. Lit by replacement Gothick windows of mid-eighteenth-
century date, these corridors encircle the staff room and undercroft
to lead to the newel turret on the north side, and a flight of steps to
the first-floor chapel on the east side. The south and short east cor-
ridors are spanned by chamfered cross arches helping to support the
rooms above, but all four corridors are divided into two (north),
four (west), seven (south), and one (east) bays of quadripartite vault-
ing. There are no ceiling bosses and the springers are of darker
stone than the ribs, which are of triple-roll form. There are two
types of corbels: the majority are carved with animals, faces, and
foliage, but two or three are smaller moulded corbels, possibly
reused. The vaulting does not rise over the chapel stair, which has
a crude barrel vault. Four deductions may be made. The corridors
were an integral part of the development of the hall, with their outer
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walls in common. Secondly, they were contemporary with the
expansion of the family apartments, with doorways of similar form
(single-chamfered jambs, two-centred head, single hood mould) to
the newel, undercroft, staff room, and hall dais. Thirdly, the elab-
orate vaulting is an addition, cutting across the line of the cross
arches. Fourthly, the vaulting stops against the cross arch at the foot
of the chapel stair, which in turn blocks a large window in the right-
hand wall. The stair is a subsequent development inserted in what
had previously been a narrow room, approached from the short east
corridor. The likely dates for these three phases of construction
identified so far will be considered below.

The far end of the south corridor opens into a single-bay vaulted
room of the bedchamber block repeating the plain chamfered ribs
and foliated corbels, with the jamb of an east window (within a cup-
board). Forced openings in the side walls access the twentieth-
century staircase hall (north) and the garderobe drain (south)
serving the bedchambers above. Though the vaulting is of the
earlier form, the absence of angle buttresses to this block, the ces-
sation of the moulded plinth, and its projection 2 feet further than
the chapel block indicate that it was an addition.

The newel (with added stone hand-rail) in the polygonal turret
in the north angle was the original approach to the firsi-floor family
rooms — ante-room, great chamber, chapel, and bedchamber with
garderobe projection. The newel approach to the ante-chamber has
long been blocked, so that it can only be approached today from the
door that always led to the great chamber. This heated room,
backing on to the hall dais wall, has been divided into a bedroom of
entirely modern character and a panelled ante-room. It was lit in
each end wall by a two-light trefoiled window with cusped circular
head, but that overlooking the forecourt has been replaced by a
Gothick window.

The heated great chamber, an impressive 45 feet by 15 feet, has
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PLATE 30 Broughton Castle: engraving of chapel east window from
Parker (1853)

been similarly divided into two rooms, a withdrawing room and a
study, again of entirely modern character with no visible early evi-
dence apart from the moulded jambs of the south window?® and the
chapel doorway.

The fourteenth-century chapel is one of the most beautiful private
chapels to have survived. It is small but lofty, 17/ feet by 10% feet,
rising through two storeys to a low-pitched timber roof, a Scott
replacement following the original form. It is lit by an east window
of three cinquefoil lights below tri-lobed heads to the side and a
central head of three five-lobed circles.” The north window of two
cinquefoil lights and cusped circular head is a Scott replacement,
closely based on original evidence. The chapel retains its original
floor tiles, bracket-supported altar slab, and piscina with cinquefoil
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head and hacked pinnacles. The east window glass is made up of
three fourteenth-century shields and sixteenth-century armorial
glass in a stained glass setting created in 1994. The squints, gated
newel opening, and balcony door are insertions, as is the flight of
steps from the ground-floor corridor, made when the chapel
became more public in the late fourteenth century rather than
being the family chapel solely approached from the great chamber.

From the south-east corner of the great chamber, a door opened
into a bedchamber, originally similar in area to the chapel, with pro-
jecting garderobe turret with large cross slits (one remade) in its
outer faces. The room has since been divided into a stair lobby and
the extended bedroom has been united with the garderobe.

The newel shows signs of extension to the second floor, internally
by a change in stonework and externally by a truncated canopied
head of two shafts and capitals flanking a (renewed) trefoiled light.
As there was no ante-chamber at this level, the stair originally
opened directly into the room above the great chamber, though it
does so today by some forced steps. This privy chamber is now par-
titioned into two bedrooms; the principal one (Queen Anne Room)
is an Elizabethan state chamber with window, ceiling, and room-
height fireplace and mantel of that period. There was no access
from this privy chamber to any chapel balcony, only an unglazed
window facing the altar, but it was the approach (now via a bedroom
with early sixteenth-century window heads) to the privy bedcham-
ber in the south-east angle, again with garderobe provision in the
projecting turret. Though currently divided into a bathroom and
landing, this room enjoys its original fenestration: two windows
with twin cinquefoil lights with five-lobed circular head. The
garderobe closet also retains its shouldered entry and large cross
slits in the three outer walls.

BUILDING RESPONSIBILITY, ¢.I1250—1I330

In a particularly complex and unorthodox house, its development so
far should be summarised with an indication of responsibility from
the limited recorded history. The manor was held by John
Broughton in 1242-3.1In 1301, a John Broughton, either his son
or his grandson and referred to here as John Broughton 2, was
granted free warren at Broughton.!! He fought overseas and against
the Scots, was knighted by Edward I, and died in 1315."> He was suc-
ceeded by his son, John Broughton 3, who was still alive in 1346.13

The vaulted undercrofts of the L-shaped chamber block were
erected during the second half of the thirteenth century, possibly
during the last quarter. Vaulted undercrofts beneath first-floor res-
idential chambers were common in high-quality homes. Boothby
Pagnell Manor, Little Wenham Hall, and Penshurst Place immedi-
ately come to mind, as do those at Drayton House, Southwick Hall,
and Swalcliffe Manor House closer to Broughton. It is now known
that Boothby Pagnell and Little Wenham Hall were associated with
a probably contemporary hall, possibly timber-framed, and this
may have been the case at Broughton Castle, with the hall initially
next to the chamber block with the two undercrofts supporting a
great chamber and bedchamber!* (see page 78).

With the rise in the family fortunes under John Broughton 2, the
earlier house was substantially enlarged in two phases. The hall was
rebuilt as a three-bay structure, now separated from the earlier
chamber block by a ground-floor staff room and encircling corri-
dor, with a turret stair approach to the upper floor. While the hall
would have been an imposing one on the same scale as Clevedon



BROUGHTON

Court (40 feet by 26 feet) and Haddon Hall (42 feet by 27 feet), the
corridors are an early example of restricting circulation, rare in a
gentry house, but marking a stage in the desire for greater privacy.
This part of the property can still be readily divorced from the
remainder of the house 700 years later. This highly unusual plan
seems to have been a local development. Whichford Castle, 7 miles
south-west of Broughton, was a fortified house which had a narrow
passage between the hall and the upper residential block.
Excavations in the 1950s showed that it was not later than the early
fourteenth century, when the property was abandoned. Swalcliffe
Manor House, only 2 miles from Broughton, similarly retains a mid
to late thirteenth-century vaulted undercroft beneath the solar with
a vaulted passage parallel with the north wall.

The expansion of the family apartments was a second phase
undertaken during the opening years of the fourteenth century. A
three-storeyed bedchamber block with associated garderobe turret
was added at the south-east angle of the chamber block, this time
lacking the buttress support or the moulded plinth of the earlier
work.!” This enabled the former bedchamber to be developed as a
chapel rising through two storeys. At the same time, the turret
stair was heightened to provide access to a more private second-
floor chamber and the second-floor bedroom.!® Three-storeyed
chamber blocks were not common at this time, but the form was
being adopted by leading magnates as at Acton Burnell Castle
(c.1284-94), and at Ludlow Castle (c.1290-5) at the lower end of
that hall, but duplicated between 1308 and 1328 at the upper end
of that same hall. These additional structures at Broughton are
linked by the very similar window forms in the chapel, first-floor
ante-chamber, and second-floor bedchamber. All these apartments
offer the same large Rayonnant windows, a display which would
have been even more impressive when seen in association with
those in the hall.!” They follow the form first seen locally at Merton
College chapel (1290-4), so this work was probably not initiated
before about 1295, and would have been completed before the
regional diffusion of the ogee form after about 1310.!% Like
the plain doorways in the family apartments, these windows reflect
the early formality of the Decorated style rather than the inventive-
ness and exuberance of the 1320s and 1330s. Though built by a
knight of no more than local significance, the alliances on Sir John’s
tomb show that he was related to many regionally important fami-
lies. He ensured that his building programme was no less than that
of the best of his peers and that it was a ‘fair manor place’ 200 years
before Leland said so.!’

His son added the corridor vaulting. This is a secular example of
the dramatisation of space, the domestic equivalent of the compart-
mentalising of a narrow aisle and the tight mesh of multiple divi-
sion developed at St Augustine’s Abbey, Bristol (1298-¢.1330). Such
a display of inventiveness is usually seen in an ecclesiastical context,
but this miniature secular example similarly offers ‘the novel means
.. . of stressing the longitudinal continuity of the interior’.?” As the
corbels are orthodox rather than ebullient and the roll-moulded
ribs are not dissimilar to those lining the jambs of the chapel east
window, this addition was made in the 1320s, certainly before 1327
when John Broughton 3 had already come of age.?!

HOUSE DEVELOPMENT, ¢.1375-1600

No building activity can be ascribed to Sir Thomas Broughton, who
died without heirs before 1377, leading to complex negotiations
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PLATE 31 Broughton Castle: engraving of south front from Parker
(1853)

that resulted in William Wykeham, bishop of Winchester, purchas-
ing the manor of Broughton early in Richard II’s reign.?? Although
there was an episcopal manor at Adderbury East, the bishop pur-
chased Broughton to have a property in the area more befitting his
position and not too far distant from overseeing his collegiate foun-
dation at Oxford, initiated in 1379. Such an enthusiastic builder did
not leave Broughton alone but enhanced it as an occasional dwell-
ing for himself with a most unusual structure, a loggia. He raised a
double arcade between the two end walls of the chapel and bed-
chamber projections, rising through two floors. The retained area,
virtually 19 feet square, was left open towards the moat but was
vaulted in two bays. Vaulting rather than a timber ceiling was
chosen for aesthetic reasons and to support a belvedere opening
from the second-floor bedchamber. Concurrent with this work, the
window in the east-facing ground-floor room was blocked, and
Wykeham inserted a straight flight of stairs to what had hitherto
been a family chapel but now warranted a more imposing approach
befitting a grandee bishop. Additional chapel accommodation was
also achieved by an inserted balcony, approached from the head of
these steps by a short mural stair and newel.

The loggia survived for nearly a century, but during the later fif-
teenth century the vaulting was taken down and replaced by a
lower flat ceiling, leaving only the springers as evidence. The
arcade was infilled, a mid floor was inserted (since removed),
approached from a door made at the head of the chapel stair and
lit by the plain square-headed windows shown in Buck’s engrav-
ing.?® The area is now the staircase hall of the private apartments
with a 1970 free-standing concrete spiral stair. The belvedere
above was also enclosed in the later fifteenth century when a
central fireplace flanked by two highly individual windows was
inserted in the outer wall. This room became part of a suite with
the adjacent bedchamber, lit by windows of four upper trefoil lights
and two larger cinquefoil lights below, set in a square frame of
convex jambs.

The house remained little altered until the 1540s, when the
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process began of converting it into an Elizabethan mansion with the
earlier plan reversed. The kitchen and offices were replaced by new
reception rooms and the hall was remodelled, but the medieval
family apartments were left relatively untouched. The work can be
divided into two main phases. In the first, the hall was completely
remodelled through the removal of its roof and the insertion of a
low ceiling to allow two floors to be created above. Externally, the
double-storeyed bay windows were added facing the forecourt, with
a first-floor oriel between them to impart a fashionable symmetri-
cal character to the entrance front, surmounted by a gabled roof-
line. To the rear, imposing gabled staircase projections were added
and a central chimney to the hall. Internally, the reshaped hall was
given new windows, a fireplace, staircase doorways, and a new entry
at the former dais end.

The medieval west end of the house was totally transformed in
the second phase. The kitchen and offices had possibly already been
transferred to the south side of the house, but all earlier structures
were stripped out to allow two state rooms to be created within the
shell, one on each floor. The ground-floor chamber was intended
as a dining room, elaborately wainscoted and plaster ceiled, while
the withdrawing chamber above has an equally elaborate ceiling.

DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY

Broughton Castle is one of the largest and best-preserved houses of
medieval England. The work is of outstanding quality, marked indi-
viduality, and considerable complexity, heightened by equally sig-
nificant alterations and additions of the Elizabethan era. Bringing
the architectural and limited documentary evidence together, the
development of this fortified house over a span of five centuries can
be summarised. The choice of site and the creation of the broad
platform, spectacularly moated, is not later than the middle of the
thirteenth century when it is known that John Broughton 1 held
the manor. There is no documentary evidence to indicate when the
present house was begun, but the two undercrofts date from
the second half of the century and this reasonably applies to the two
family rooms above. The early house was enlarged by a replacement
three-bay hall and associated offices block towards the last years of
the century by John Broughton 2, separated by corridors from the
family apartments. In a second phase during the first years of the
fourteenth century, he improved the extent and quality of his
accommodation by remodelling the earlier family apartments,
raising a second-floor privy chamber, and building a three-storeyed
bedroom block with garderobe turret. This allowed him to convert
the earlier first-floor bedchamber into a chapel. By this phase,
Broughton, already a substantial house, had become a very stylish
one, heralded by a gatehouse. His son, John Broughton 3, height-
ened the approach to the family apartments during the 1320s with
corridor vaulting.

The property appealed to bishop Wykeham of Winchester, who
purchased the manor shortly after 1377. He added to its character
by creating the loggia with its second floor belvedere, and a more
imposing approach to the private chapel. The hall was updated with
new fenestration, while the gatehouse was similarly modernised by
masons who worked for Wykeham at Winchester and Oxford.?*
"Two years before the bishop’s death in 1404, the manor had passed
to his nephew, Sir Thomas Wykeham, who was granted licence to
crenellate his property in 1406. It is tempting to attribute the low
embattled wall to this phase but it is more likely to be co-eval with
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the lodging range sixty years later. There was probably some type
of enclosing wall well before the fifteenth century for the present
length is more ornamental than formidable. The licence may have
been precautionary or for status reasons.

Upon Sir Thomas’ death in 1443, the estate passed to his son, fol-
lowed by his granddaughter, Margaret, who married Sir William
Fiennes, 2nd Lord Saye and Sele, in 1451. Fiennes succeeded to
Broughton in right of his wife in 1457 and died in 1471 at the battle
of Barnet fighting for Edward IV. Fiennes’ father had built
Herstmonceux Castle and it was during the 1460s that Sir William
updated part of Broughton Castle. He enlarged the hall by incor-
porating the offices and chamber block in it, and built new offices
and kitchen further west. Because of the scale of this work, a new
hall roof was also likely. At the same time, he added further rooms
to the private apartments by infilling the bishop’s loggia, inserting
amid floor in the newly created space, and making a new room over
the loggia. A new door and fireplace were inserted in the larger
ground-floor undercroft, and a two-storeyed lodging range was
erected next to the gateway. Where it survives, this work is marked
by elaborate mouldings and window heads.

Some years after his coming of age in 1541, Richard Fiennes, 6th
Lord Saye and Sele (d.1573) initiated the transformation of this for-
tified house into an Elizabethan mansion, completed by his son by
about 1599. The late medieval hall was converted by about 1554
into a three-storeyed central range with frontal bays and rear stair
towers accessing the second-floor long gallery which was twice as
wide as it is today. The west end of the house was totally remodelled
to create two state chambers for dining, with parlour above. A state
bedchamber was created out of the medieval privy chamber, the
only part of the earlier family rooms touched in the sixteenth
century. Some of this work shows the influence of the contempo-
rary Fontainebleau style, but the two western chambers were in the
late Elizabethan style. The result was that the now lowered hall
served as a reception room and the approach to the state dining
chamber. The new east stair led to the broad long gallery, with the
state bedchamber at one end and the state parlour at the other with
descent by the new west stair. By this transformation, Broughton
Castle developed its present form of an Elizabethan mansion with
a suite of impractical state apartments, and a close-knit group of
medieval rooms at the east end.

All subsequent modifications have been modest and have left the
earlier fabric undisturbed. The most important was the low, battle-
mented eastern service block added in the eighteenth century, and
the remodelling of several principal rooms in the fashionable
Gothick taste of the late 1760s, including the ground-floor library
and narrowing the long gallery for bedrooms. This work, like that
undertaken at all key building periods, was funded by property
sales.?> This pattern culminated in the sale of all contents in 1837
to meet the extravagances of the 14th Lord Saye and Sele, but
prudent husbandry since then has regenerated the castle so that it
stands in better condition, internally and externally, than at any
time over the last 400 years.

NOTES
1 Broughton House prior to its Victorian embellishment.
2 Tipping (1930) 54.
3 The small wheels were not part of the raising mechanism but were used
in association with a belt for opening the gates.
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4 Bod. Lib., MS Top. Oxon, C 394, p. 197.

5 Cal. Pat. Rolls: 1405-08, 161.

6 See the important plan in Turner and Parker (1853) opp. 262.

7 It is not shown on Turner and Parker’s plan, suggesting Scott insertion,
but their text refers to a ‘groined room of small size’ adjoining the newel
staircase, 262.

8 Turner and Parker’s 1853 illustration of this front shows the window
restored to its early form, identical with that lighting the ante-chamber,
opp. 261, 265.

9 Ibid. opp. 79.

10 Book of Fees, 824.

11 Cal. Charter Rolls: 1300-26, 1.

12 He is buried in the nearby church which was redeveloped by him.

13 Feudal Aids, IV, 178.

14 It would be feasible to stretch the construction of these undercrofts to
the close of the century, as commentators have done prior to Slade (1978)
142, but the family were clearly living at Broughton much earlier in the
century and my gut feeling is that the present chamber block was the
core of their residence.

15 The single-vaulted bay of the ground-floor area is similar to those of the
undercrofts, but the external evidence makes it clear that it is part of the
added structure.

16 Without the second floor, access to the upper bedchamber has to be
ascribed to the inserted second-floor stair and its return, vide Slade
(1978) 148 who recognised clumsiness, sudden reversal in planning
sophistication, and obvious contrivance.

17 A similar display was adopted at Markenfield Hall, Yorkshire
(c.1310-15).

18 The ogee form occurs before 1312 on St Edburga’s shrine at Bicester
Priory, now in Stanton Harcourt church. It is also present in the chancel
side window of St Mary’s church, Broughton, and the tower west door
where it is used in association with ball-flower decoration. The only evi-
dence of the ogee form at the castle is the chapel piscina head, a late
insertion possibly related to the oratory licence of 1331.

19 Itinerary, 11, 14. See Creslow Manor House for a similar group of family
apartments of ¢.1330, probably modelled on those at Broughton.

20 J. Bony, The English Decorated Style (1979) 51.

21 As an indication of the architectural problems still to be resolved at this
fascinating house, it has been suggested to me that though the corridor
ribs are medieval, the vaulting construction is not. Elizabethan make-up
or Civil War repairs have been suggested.

22 Slade (1978) 149. Wykeham also purchased other manors in the area as
part of his endowment of New College, Oxford, including Swalcliffe and
Adderbury where the college was responsible for rebuilding the chancel
(1408-19).

23 Confirmed by further work in 1995, Med. Arch. 40 (1996) 277, though
the opinion that there was always a chamber above the vaulting is open
to doubt.

24 Slade (1978) 151, where their marks are reproduced. The gateway was
more domestic than the contemporary three-storeyed gatehouse at
Michelham Priory.

25 The Knole and Hever estate (mid-fifteenth century), land in Hampshire
and Somerset (mid-sixteenth century), Lincolnshire (mid-seventeenth
and mid-nineteenth centuries), Kent (mid-eighteenth century).

T. H. Turner and J. H. Parker, Some Account of Domestic Architecture in
England, 11 (1853) 261-7

W. H. St]. Hope, Arch. Jour. 67 (1910) 382-6

H. A. Tipping, Country Life (January 1930)

VCH, Oxfordshire, IX (1969) 87-91

M. Binney, Country Life (December 1976)

H. G. Slade, Arch. Four. 135 (1978) 138-94

80

BUCKLAND OLD RECTORY, Gloucestershire

This small hall house, attractively situated below the Cotswold
escarpment near Broadway, offers a four-phase development. The
central hall rising the height of the building is flanked by two-
storeyed end blocks in line, but though the hall was built during
the third quarter of the fifteenth century, the lower block is earlier.
It was a timber-framed structure with an outside staircase on the
west side leading to a first-floor chamber. The gable-end wall sur-
vives completely to form the lower-end wall of the fifteenth-
century hall. The jetty at first-floor level confirms that it was an
exterior wall, built of hornbeam with each member numbered for
erection. Probably fourteenth century, this building was subse-
quently faced with stone to blend in with the remainder of the
house.

During the late fifteenth century, the hall and north residential
block was added to the earlier house and the outside staircase was
enclosed. The residential block was rebuilt in 1630 and the timber-
framed unit was extended at the same time. Some further offices
were added in 1849 and again in 1993.

Mid-nineteenth-century modifications including roof dormers
have made the entrance frontage too bland but the rear elevations
show the late medieval character of the house more clearly. Itis also
well shown in a drawing by Buckler of ¢.1805. The outer jamb of a
now destroyed porch survives on this side, but there is no evidence
of a matching porch on the present entry side. The opposing doors
open into a cross passage created within the fourteenth-century
house area, with the timber-framed end wall doubling as a screen
with central hall entry.

The impressive two-bay hall is open to a roof, divided centrally
by an unbuttressed hammer-beam truss with angels bearing shields
on the beam-ends. The upper end wall was rebuilt in 1630 but the
side walls are original, pierced by a pair of tall two-light transomed
windows. Those in the west wall are original, with trefoil heads, and
retain much of their contemporary stained glass. One light has the
rising sun of Edward IV and the other the rebus of William Grafton
and the arms of Gloucester Abbey. Both windows are decorated
with birds, apparently woodcocks, in various attitudes holding
scrolls inscribed In Nomine Fesu. The lights in the east-facing
windows were replaced in the early seventeenth century. All four
windows have shutters, not the original ones, but following an orig-
inal feature. There is no trace of any central hearth, fireplace, or

pLATE 32 Buckland Old Rectory: from the south-east
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FIGURE 12 Buckland Old Rectory: ground plan

louvre in the restored roof with its heavily moulded wall plates and
two tiers of wind braces.

The late fifteenth-century residential block was replaced by the
projecting one in 1630, but the foundations of its west wall in line
with that of the hall were discovered in 1972 beneath the dining
room floor. Traces of an earlier, possibly late fifteenth-century fire-
place were also identified.

The staircase on the south-west side was roofed separately. It
encloses the original outer stair and probably garderobes at ground-
and first-floor level, lit by slits, now blocked but still traceable. The
present staircase is seventeenth century but the original well-worn
stone steps remain underneath. The upper chamber retains its early
roof above the seventeenth-century ceiling. The kitchen was a sep-
arate building, long since destroyed.

The late fifteenth-century rebuilding of Buckland occurred
during the rectorship of William Grafton (1466-1510) whose name
and rebus occur in the hall windows.! As one of the lights also has
the sun in splendour, construction can be limited to the years of
Edward IV’ reign between 1466 and 1483. But was this residence
intended for the rector? It has always been assumed so but the
village always was a small one and the rectory is a very large and pre-
tentious house for the parish priest. The hall has a hammer-beam
truss which is not only structurally unnecessary for such a small
room but is likely to have been inserted for swank. Was the house
built by the Abbey of Gloucester who held the living, and subse-
quently let out to the rector? It ceased to be so used only towards
the close of the twentieth century. In any case, Buckland is essen-
tially a small manor house built on quite a grand scale.
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NOTES
1 Hlustrated in Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 45 (1923) pl. 19.

W. Bazeley, Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 9 (1884-5) 103-24

CHENIES MANOR HOUSE, Buckinghamshire

The Cheyne family held the manor between the late twelfth and
early sixteenth centuries. The earliest residential evidence is stone-
built, an isolated undercroft, possibly of ¢.1300, roofed by a series
of chamfered transverse ribs with evidence of end doorways. There
is also a 164 feet deep well (under an early nineteenth-century well-
house), constructed before 1400 on the evidence of excavated
material.!

Of inverted L-shape and brick built, the occupied manor house
was developed in two phases. The short north wing consisting of
the so-called hall and stair tower is early sixteenth century, while the
extended east wing was added in the 1550s by the Russell family
who owned the property until 1957. The later brickwork is slightly
deeper and warmer in colour than that employed slightly earlier.
Leland recorded that ‘the olde house of the Cheyneis is so trans-
lated by my Lorde Russel . . . that little or nothing of it yn a maner
remaynith ontranslatid and a great deale of the house is even newly
set up made of brick and tymber’.2

The south end of the earlier core has been absorbed by the
extended east wing built by the Russell family. This leaves a short
block on two planes with angle pinnacles and finials, separated by a
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prominent three-storeyed octagonal stair turret. The right-hand
bay and turret with two original ground-floor windows with square
hood moulds is the only surviving early work. It is a fine regional
example of brickwork in a high-status house, and incorporates some
diapering. The structure is attributed on architectural grounds to
the 1520s, probably after the Russell family acquired the property
in 1525-6.

Both frontages are marked by Blore’s crow-stepped gables of
1829-30 while most of the windows on the west side are copies
made at the same time. There are few original features internally
apart from the cut-brick hand-rail (overpainted) to the stair, com-
parable to those at Faulkbourne and Oxburgh Hall. The initial plan
is unclear. The stone-flagged parlour in the lower north end of the
wing is said to have been the hall with a central hearth, open to the
roof. This is a structure of alternating diagonally braced trusses and
queen posts, now concealed above the first-floor plaster ceiling, but
the size and position of the room do not fit comfortably with its sup-
posed purpose. On the other hand, the timbers are soot covered and
a huge six-chimney stack was inserted when the area was floored by
1535 (dated stack).

The 140 foot long east wing with its splendid line of chimney
stacks was added by Sir John Russell, later 1st earl of Bedford
(d.1555) in 15523 when Chenies Manor was extended into a
double-courtyard house. This two-storeyed range of lodgings (with
unbroken attic) consists of a row of interconnecting chambers at
both levels, linked to the west wing by a narrow gallery and at the
further end by a staircase pulled down by Blore. To the rear are six
(formerly seven) bold projections, crow-stepped gabled and
chimney surmounted, holding fireplaces, closets and garderobes,
separated midway by a taller stair turret. This is an important range
of sub-medieval lodgings and the most rewarding architectural
feature of the house. The north side of the courtyard was bounded
by a mainly timber-framed range, pulled down in the eighteenth
century, and the courtyard was formerly enclosed by a low brick
gatelodge. There were further Tudor buildings west of the house
including a ruined one, part of Russell’s ‘fair logginges . . . new
erected in the garden’.?*

NOTES
1 Haslam (1982).
2 Itinerary, 1, 105. The Russells moved to Moor Park, Rickmansworth by
1608 and to Woburn Abbey in the 1630s.
3 Vern. Arch. 35 (2004) 96.
4 Ibid.

RCHM, Buckinghamshire, 1 (1912) 90-1

G. S. Thompson, Two Centuries of Family History (1930)
R. Haslam, Country Life (October 1982)

CRESLOW MANOR HOUSE, Buckinghamshire

This exceptionally interesting but heavily altered house 5 miles
north of Aylesbury can be dated on architectural grounds to
¢.1325-40. It was built by John Stretley, an under-tenant of the earls
of Salisbury who held the manor in dispute with the crown between
acquiring it in 1312 and settlement in 1324 in the latter’s favour.!
Stretley subsequently held the property unfettered until his death
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in 1346.2 Built of rubble limestone, Creslow Manor formerly con-
sisted of a hall with three-storeyed solar wing at right angles to it
with contemporary chamber and tower projections, and an offices
wing at the lower end of the hall. The house was altered in the early
seventeenth century while the offices wing, depicted in drawings of
¢.1820, was pulled down shortly afterwards at the same time that the
end bay of the hall was removed.

The hall, initially of four but now of three bays, is still essentially
single-storeyed with attic windows added in the steeply pitched roof
during the early seventeenth century® when the hall was remodelled
with an inserted floor, partitions, and a tall stair tower with a con-
temporary stair and crow-stepped gable. Further changes were
made during the mid-nineteenth and mid-twentieth centuries so
that this apartment has become suburban with its early character
limited to one small window and the sooted roof structure. The
former is a stone circular opening with quatrefoil tracery at ground
level in the dais bay. The latter (visible from the cross-wing attic)
consists of base crucks to cambered tie beams with moulded arched
braces and braced collars, intermediate upper trusses repeating the
braced collars, and two lines of curved wind braces.

The three-storeyed upper cross wing is taller than the hall, with
seventeenth-century stepped gables at both ends. Below the eastern
third of this cross wing is a small undercroft, 14 feet square and 9
feet high, with a high-quality tierceron star vault, well-carved
bosses, a single light, and a projecting external entry.

The ground floor consists of two stone-divided rooms with a
fifteenth-century intercommunicating doorway, one room with an
original window, and the other with a raised floor over the under-
croft and two replacement rectangular windows.

The first and second floors were remodelled in the early seven-
teenth century. The first-floor great chamber was partitioned into
two and refurbished with moulded ceilings and chimneypiece,
though it is said to retain an original single light with tracery in the
return wall facing the hall. The second floor was converted into a
long gallery with a plaster ceiling and enlarged windows.

The three-storeyed tower projects from the south-west corner of
the solar wing, with an octagonal stair turret at the junction serving
all floors and rising above roof level. The tower is built of roughly
coursed stone blocks with slit windows and a parapet supported on
a fourteenth-century corbel table, enriched with ball-flower deco-
ration and gargoyles. A drawing of ¢.1860 in the Bodleian Library?
shows the tower with a crenellated parapet rather than the present
plain unbroken one. The ground-floor room is approached by an
arched doorway and retains a lancet in each face (one converted into
a door) but two facing the approach. The first floor retains original
moulded ceiling beams and a fine window of two trefoil lights under
a Flamboyant head with label and stops externally and a rear arch
springing from slender pillars internally. The remaining windows
were replaced in the seventeenth century and the fireplace a little
later. The uppermost room repeats the evidence of a two-light
window (blocked) and the replacement windows, but holds its four-
teenth-century fireplace lintel with Decorated head and jambs. The
stone newel continues to the roof.

The two-storey extension projecting from the south-east corner
of the cross wing faces the tower, with a twentieth-century ground-
floor infill between. It retains its fourteenth-century internal door-
ways opening from the cross wing.

The parish church immediately north-west of the house is of
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pLATE 33 Creslow Manor House: from the north-west

limestone rubble. 41 feet long, the walls hold a twelfth-century
doorway, two thirteenth-century windows, and several of the fif-
teenth century. They were blocked in Stuart times when the chapel
was floored and the fifteenth-century roof was given a timber east
gable.

Creslow Manor House is a particularly important survival that is
currently barred to architectural historians who contaminate
privacy. Even without inspection, it is clear that this was a major H-
shaped house with base-cruck hall and a far larger upper cross wing
than was usual at the time. The tower was not defensive but served
as a contemporary chamber extension to each floor, with the more
important upper rooms heated. This structure, in combination with
the second extension and cross wing, closely resembles the near-
contemporary family apartments at Broughton Castle, 25 miles to
the north-west, similarly built by a family of no more than local
importance. The three vaulted ground-floor rooms at Broughton
are replaced by unvaulted ones at Creslow, though they are asso-
ciated with the independent vaulted undercroft of otherwise
unclear purpose.” The great chamber, 47 feet by 17 feet, was slightly
larger than that at Broughton, similarly divided today into two
rooms with early features limited to a window and an internal
doorway. The tower room would have been a bedchamber, and it is
possible that the second extension followed the Broughton pattern
as a chapel. The second floor repeated the Broughton plan of linked
privy chamber and inner chamber. Though the Broughtons devel-
oped their family wing over a span of at least forty years with com-
pletion by about 1320, that at Creslow seems to have been a
single-phase project undertaken shortly afterwards, with work
completed during the years close to 1330-5.

NOTES

1 VCH, III (1925) 337. The manor passed out of crown hands in 1673.

2 Stretley settled the manor on his widow for life, with remainder to her
son and his five brothers.

3 ¢.1610, RCHM, II (1913) 95; c.1646-47, VCH, I (1925) 335 and
Northampton Archit. and Arch. Soc. Reports and Papers 43 (1935-6) 13.

4 RCHM, II (1913) 95.

5 Copy in NMRC, Swindon.

83

6 The church is now used for storage, while the former village close to the
house has been reduced to earthworks.

7 The brief note in T. H. Turner and J. H. Parker, Some Account of Domestic
Avrchitecture in England, 11 (1853) 269 refers to ‘two wings or towers of
stone, one of which has been destroyed, the other remains tolerably
perfect, with the ground rooms vaulted as usual’. Despite the initial
error, it is possible that some ground-floor vaulting has been destroyed
since the 1850s.

RCHM, Buckinghamsbhire, 11 (1913) 94-8

VCH, Buckingbamshire, I11 (1925) 335-6

N. Pevsner and E. Williamson,
Buckinghamshire (1994) 261-2

The Buildings of England:

DONNINGTON CASTLE, Berkshire

Is this late fourteenth-century residence, constructed by one of
Richard II's three guardians, a fortress or a fortified house?
Dominating the broad valley between the Lambourn and Hampshire
downs and the road from London to Bristol, the manor of
Donnington had been held by the Abberbury family since the late
thirteenth century. There is no evidence of an earlier structure before
the present one, which was built in two stages. The present walls 2-3
feet high are the lower courses of the curtilage of a small courtyard
house. They are prefaced by an almost complete gatehouse which is
now the principal feature of the site.

The semi-rectangular courtyard residence with its prow-shaped
west end is approximately 120 feet by 80 feet externally. Built of flint
with sandstone dressings, it has four small round towers at the
corners and two rectangular side towers, but no projection at the
point of the prow. Ranges were built against the walls, with some
footings of internal walls on the east side, but the remaining ranges
round the cobbled courtyard were probably timber-framed.
Hearths, the base of at least one stair tower (north-west) and the
chute of the garderobe tower (north) can be traced, together with
the residential character of the apartments of the east range with its
inner face common with the added gatehouse.

The centrally positioned entrance, thrust forward of the earlier
building, is a three-storeyed block with frontal drum towers rising
a further stage. That to the south held the stair and its companion
held garderobes, necessitating a straightened side to allow for
drainage shafts. The gatehouse was protected by a barbican with
short side walls, a drawbridge across the ditch,! a well-set-back
entrance with double doors, and a portcullis. The entrance passage
was vaulted in two bays, and there was a large single room on both
upper floors with square-headed fireplaces. The battlements are in
good condition.

The young Richard Abberbury did not succeed to the family
lands until the early 1360s.2 He was a scion of Berkshire and north
Oxfordshire gentry who had pursued a successful administrative
career earlier in the century before the family suffered an eclipse
through minorities and early deaths. Richard restored the family
fortunes through war service, initially under Henry, duke of
Lancaster in Brittany and Normandy in 1356, followed by service
under the Black Prince in Aquitaine in 1366 and in Aquitaine and
Castile in 1368-71. Though he was never a member of the prince’s
inner circle,’ he was for a brief time steward of his son’s lands and
then tutor to the young Richard II. It was at this point that the
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financial rewards became substantial, helped by serving the new
king in a diplomatic capacity and as chamberlain to the king’s first
wife (1383-6).* During the subsequent problematical times at
court, he kept out of the way by busying himself with judicial duties
in Oxfordshire and Berkshire, though he was among those expelled
from court by the Lords Appellant early in 1388. He subsequently
resumed his diplomatic career and extended his family holding.’
Abberbury chose to make Donnington his caput honoris, founded
the almshouses for twelve poor men and a master in the village in
1393,% and died six years later.

In June 1386, Abberbury was granted a licence to ‘build anew and
fortify with stone and lime and crenellate a certain castle on his land
at Donyngton’” and the gatehouse is ascribed to this period.® This
is not certain. The licence could equally have applied to the towered
and crenellated courtyard house as much as to the gatehouse, for
there was little time difference between the two structures. In plan-
ning terms, the house follows the same form as that at Shirburn
Castle (1377-¢.1382), particularly before Abberbury replaced the
modest entrance with the present gatehouse. The plan also super-
ficially resembles Bodiam Castle (1385-.1390) where the mid
towers were repeated. The gatehouse similarly has affinities with
the double-towered entrance added by Courtenay to his earlier
castle at Saltwood (1380s). That the Donnington gatehouse was an
addition against the east face of the earlier house, with its still extant
but lower battlemented head, is made clear by the building lines at
the angles, the cramped window hoods, and the unusually sited
portcullis position slotted between the two faces and therefore at
the rear of the entry passage. Structurally, both phases were built of
the same materials, with the gatehouse maintaining the modest
batter that runs round the outer walls of the courtyard house and
towers, and the string courses at first-floor level. Common straight-
headed fireplaces and square window hoods, as well as cinquefoil
lights in the house, indicate that there were few years between the
two phases.

The detailing of the gatehouse demonstrated the owner’s stand-
ing and refinement. The drum towers were designed to taper
upwards and were given the appearance of being five-storeyed
through the slight set-backs emphasised by projecting string
courses. Above the small rectangular first-floor window was a larger
one of two trefoil lights with a quatrefoil head. The first two string
courses rose decoratively over these windows as labels and were
extended across the outer face of the courtyard house. The second
and third courses were ornamented with gargoyles. The entry was
framed with handsome mouldings, the side walls of the passageway
were chequered in flint and stone, and the central panels of its vault-
ing were decorated with trefoiled lobes. The two upper floors were
comfortable apartments and extended the earlier quarters in the
adjacent courtyard range.

Donnington’s position is outstanding, commanding western
Berkshire where the road from London to Bristol crosses that from
Oxford to Southampton. The steep slopes of the spur on which the
castle stands make it particularly difficult to attack, as was proved
in the famous nineteen-month siege during the Civil War
(1644-6). Though Sir Richard’s licence was for a replacement
house, the site does not seem to have been fortified before his time.’
Nor do events nearly 300 years later necessarily dictate its original
character. The choice may have been determined initially by the
‘fair prospect’ noted by Camden and equally applicable today,
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PLATE 34 Donnington Castle: gatehouse from the south-east

emphasised by the ‘windows in all sides, very lightsome’.!1? Though
the walls are 4% feet thick, the towers are no more than turrets and
that to the south-west has extremely thin walling. The entry was
simply a passage in the east wall (as at Shirburn), while the decision
not to protect the head of the prow-shaped west face undermined
any serious defensive intent. Appearance was all, and like Shirburn,
Donnington made a statement by a returning soldier from
France.!! The gatehouse is rather different. Like that at Saltwood
Castle, it combines an external seriousness of purpose with inter-
nal comfort — in this case, an extension of the apartments of the
adjacent eastern range. But whereas the Kent gatehouse was in
reaction to the anticipated invasion from France during the 1370s
and 1380s, Donnington is similar to the gatehouse-towers at Bothal
(1343), Hylton (1390s), and Bywell (c.1418) in Northumbria — a
combined imposing entrance and comfortable residence. In addi-
tion, it was a much more obvious advertisement of Sir Richard’s
hard-earned prosperity.

In just over a century, the Abberburys had risen from the ranks
of the free peasantry to the position of friend and advisor of kings
and princes. As a consequence, Donnington was converted in quick
succession from a crenellated house into a gated house that made a
clarion statement of Sir Richard’s personal achievement to society
throughout the region.
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NOTES

1 Replaced by a bridge in 1568 preparatory to Elizabeth I’s visit.

2 S. Walker, ‘Sir Richard Abberbury and his kinsmen: the rise and fall of a
gentry family’, Nott. Med. Studies 34 (1990) 118.

3 Ibid. 120.

4 At the same time, Sir Richard’s son served under Gaunt in Portugal in
1386-8 and became his chamberlain. After Henry IV’s usurpation, the
fortunes of the family quickly declined, ibid. 132-4.

5 Ibid. 124.

6 Refounded by the duchess of Suffolk in the 1430s and by the earl of
Nottingham in 1602, and rebuilt in 1822. In 1415, Sir Richard’s son had
sold the manor to Thomas Chaucer of Ewelme, whose only daughter
became duchess of Suffolk through her third marriage.

7 Cal. Pat. Rolls: 1385-9, 156.

8 Wood (1964) 2, 3; C. Platt, The Castle in Medieval England and Wales
(1982) 118-19.

9 Before then, the nearest castle had been at Hamstead Marshall, 3 miles
south-west, where three mottes survive, close together.

10 Britannia (1586). By Camden’s day, such windows may well have been
enlargements. Not surprisingly, it was this part of the castle that suffered
most severely from Parliamentary guns during the Civil War siege,
Godwin (1872).

11 When I first visited the castle in 1947, the gatehouse was still occupied
by a First World War veteran.

H. Godwin, Archaeologia, 44 pt 2 (1872) 459-79
VCH, Berkshire, IV (1924) 91-4
M. Wood, Donnington Castle: Handbook (1964)

DORNEY COURT, Buckinghamshire, and local framed

houses

Between the early eighteenth and early twentieth centuries, Dorney
Court was a house of Georgian character concealing a Tudor,
timber-framed structure. At the beginning of the twentieth century,
the three-storeyed Georgian-pedimented east frontage, built of
stock brick, was pulled down, at the same time that all casement
windows and walls in the south-east and north-west frontages were
remodelled. All three faces were replaced by multi-gabled, timber-
framed and red brick fagades with Tudor-style windows, decorative
barge boards, and the considerable use of old materials. At the same
time, the hall was embellished with a bay window, and the plaster-
covered offices range was stripped and renewed in harmony with
the other facades (pl. 6). Only the eighteenth-century dining and
kitchen ranges in a cottage vernacular style were left untouched.

Christopher Hussey enthused over this transformation in 1924
in a manner that would be decried today. The word ‘fakery’ slips all
too easily from the lips of many architectural historians. Yet the
Georgian remodelling was entirely alien to the house’s internal
character, an ill-fitting and cheaply made dress dictated solely by
fashion. The restoration was sympathetic in its choice of materials
and proportions, even if it betrays a character equally as much of its
time as the mid-Tudor period it was seeking to evoke.

Dorney Court stands 3 miles west of Windsor on a slight rise on
the flood plain of the River Thames. Very roughly Z-shaped, the
house was developed during at least five phases — late fifteenth
century, early to mid-sixteenth century, 1733, 1867 (both drainpipe
dates), and ¢.1905-10. The property was formerly much larger, for
garden activity has revealed evidence of brick courtyard ranges to
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pLATE 35 Dorney Court: hall interior

the south and north, with the latter enclosed by a turreted wall and
the gatehouse that formed the original approach to the house.! Both
courts were pulled down by the early eighteenth century when the
entrance was moved to the middle of the residential wing and pref-
aced with a seven-bay classical frontage. Not surprisingly, the hall
lost its prime position, whereas it still dominates the frontage at
Ockwells, the model for the house’s rehabilitation in ¢.1905-10 and
obviously so from the garden side of the hall.

The house was originally a timber-framed structure with brick
noggin infill and this was repeated in the most recent stage of its
development. The phases in between used brick only. The hall, 38
feet by 23 feet and open to the roof, retains its original volume and
has regained its early character and atmosphere. The cross-passage
doorways survive with four-centred heads, that to the south
with leaf-decorated spandrels. Any porch was subsumed in the late
nineteenth-century lobby, while the opposing door opens into a
corridor range added in 1867 against the north wall of the hall. This
conceals any early window evidence, for those on the south side are
entirely reasonable reinstatements, made in ¢.1905-10 with a con-
tinuous line of upper lights in the second and third bays and a full-
height dais bay window 4 lz Ockwells.> Other replacements at that
time included the late fifteenth-century fireplace with a stone lintel
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FIGURE 13 Dorney Court: site plan

of low four-centred head with spandrels of quatrefoil-enclosed
shields, the seventeenth-century screen with gallery over, and the
linenfold panelling that originated in the abbot’s quarters of
Faversham Abbey. This last partly covers the original end walls with
broadly spaced vertical posts. The roof is divided into four bays,
spanned by arch-braced collar trusses with a single line of curved
wind braces. The roof was ceiled above the collars in the early six-
teenth century, concealing the crown posts above. An original door
with plain four-centred head opens from the dais to the residential
wing, and there has never been more than a single door to the
offices. It is probable that the hall was built before the close of the
fifteenth century.

Much of the two-storeyed wing beyond the dais seems a genera-
tion later, though both rooms on each floor have been subject to
several phases of remodelling including the creation of a central
entrance and staircase hall in the early 1730s. The original chimney
stacks with diapered faces and stone fireplaces on both floors have
survived all later modifications while Hussey identified the position
of the bay windows as ‘authoritative’. Subsequent additions include
the two mid-sixteenth-century polygonal bays in the parlour, ini-
tially fully glazed, and the early twentieth-century frontage with its
imported features.

The house retains its early layout of kitchen and offices, with the
passage-approached kitchen on the further side of a small courtyard
as at Ockwells. The core of these two ranges is probably late fif-
teenth century, heavily modified in the early to mid-sixteenth
century and so marked on the plan.

Dorney Court follows in the footsteps of Sir John Noreys’ house
(¢.1455-65) but lacks its documentation. The manor of Dorney was
held during the late fifteenth century by John Scott who was in pos-
session of the house in 1490 and may have been responsible for its
initial development. The property passed through a succession of
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families during the next half-century, beginning with Richard
Restwold (d.1505) and then Thomas Lytton to whom he had sold
the reversion. Lytton may have expanded the property before
selling it in 1513 to Richard Hill who was lord of Dorney in 1530.
Seven years later, the property was purchased by Sir William
Garrard, later lord mayor of London, whose early seventeenth-
century successor married a Palmer, the present owners of the
house. Despite the many changes, Dorney Court retains some of its
early layout and character, though far less so than Ockwells or
Hendred House, East Hendred. On the other hand, it is an instruc-
tive example of successive changes of taste, particularly that art his-
torical yearning for the style of an earlier age, either late medieval
or romantic Tudor.? Dorney Court is also the best preserved of the
late medieval gentry-type houses in Buckinghamshire of timber-
frame construction with brick infill.

Three such houses retain evidence of their fourteenth-century
origins, two of them in the pretty village of Denham, still not over-
whelmed by the suburban tentacles of Outer London. Denham
Court was the manor of Denham. It is primarily a late seventeenth-
to nineteenth-century residence, but it encases the frame of a two-
bay aisled hall with part of a cranked tie-beam truss with arch braces
at the services end. It was built well before 1350 when it was among
the properties leased out by the abbots of Westminster. Savay Farm,
a sub-manor of Denham by the Durdents family, retains consider-
ably more evidence of its original hall and cross-wing plan. The
aisled hall, 36 feet by 34% feet, has lost its west aisle (though not its
posts) but retains the arcaded east aisle. The apartment has been
devalued through division and flooring in the mid-sixteenth
century. The cross passage holds evidence of its service doors and
access to the chamber over the services. The upper cross wing with
an oversailing first floor was added in the late fourteenth century. It
has an early Tudor end extension, made at the same time that the
services wing was replaced.* Both houses were moated, but there is
no such evidence at Huntercombe Manor, Burnham, probably
developed by the Huntercombe family during the mid-fourteenth
century. The two-bay hall is of base-cruck construction, still open
to its roof with a central cambered tie beam supported on large arch
braces. The offices wing retains evidence of the buttery, passage,
and kitchen, the last with an unsophisticated roof. Huntercombe
Manor, though, is far more significant for the internal character of
its upper wing, remodelled and staircase enlarged in Carolean style
in about 1670.

Ignoring county boundaries, six high-status late medieval houses
co-exist within a 6 mile radius of Slough, three of monastic devel-
opment — Upton (q.v.), Denham, Huntercombe — and three of
secular origin — Savay, Dorney, Ockwells (q.v.). All are timber-
framed with brick or plaster infill, of hall and cross-wing plan, with
a development span across a 150 year period. They extend from the
modest two-bay aisled form at Denham Court and Savay Farm, via
the three techniques for dispensing with arcade posts using base
crucks as at Huntercombe, a hammer-beam truss as at Upton, and
braced collar trusses with side purlins and wind braces as at
Ockwells and Dorney Court. The expansion of cross wings was
helped by jetties from the mid-fourteenth century onwards as at
Upton Court and Savay Farm, by the extension of these wings on a
substantial scale for high-status rooms as at Ockwells and Dorney
Court, and by their development round service courtyards at the
same houses to facilitate generous hospitality.
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NOTES

1 The two crude crayon drawings in the house showing these extensions
are unreliable, as are their sources, two mid-eighteenth-century mini-
atures in the Palmers’ pedigree book.

2 Two windows filled with early stained glass had been removed in 1840
when the hall was ‘improved’.

3 C. Aslet, The Last Country Houses (1982) 155-81, though the influence of
the work at Ockwells and Dorney Court, disseminated by word of mouth
as well as through the pages of Country Life, is not mentioned.

4 RCHM, I (1912) 116-18.

5 Ibid. 78. A. Oswald, Country Life (June 1949). The hall was altered during
Charles II’s reign when its walls were raised and brick faced (subse-
quently stucco covered), the central crown post was removed, and the
roof was ceiled at collar level.

RCHM, Buckinghamshire, 111 (1925) 221-3
C. Hussey, Country Life (July/August 1926)

EAST HENDRED, HENDRED HOUSE, Berkshire

The restoration of the volume and character of the hall of this
manor house through the removal of the inserted floor in 1971
has substantially increased its architectural and aesthetic value.
Hendred House stands foursquare to the open approach from near
the centre of this compact nucleated village. It is a hall and cross-
wing house with an immediate clarity of plan. The central hall is
flanked by narrow projecting cross-wings with a low eighteenth-
century forward projection to the right (single storey with attic),
and a much larger early nineteenth-century projection to the left
(two storeys with attic). The whole house is rendered, completely
concealing its timber-framing but winningly colour-washed in pale
lemon with white woodwork.! It might be anticipated that the cross
wings are similarly modest in their rear projection. This is true of

the offices, but the solar wing is in line with a mid-thirteenth-
century chapel, clunch built with ashlar dressings but now rendered
and coloured to match the remainder of the property. The mid-
nineteenth-century wing, almost a mini house in itself, equals the
length of the chapel to create a three-sided courtyard, open to the
garden on the fourth side (pl. 3).

The Turberville family held the manor from about 1150 to 1308,
marked by Sir John Turberville’s receipt of papal authority in May
1256 to build a chapel and appoint a chaplain. The property passed
to William Arches through his first marriage and was held by that
family from 1323 until it passed to the present holders, the Eyston
family, in 1453. The manor of Arches was one of six recorded in the
relatively wealthy village of East Hendred? but it is the only one to
have retained its leading house, essentially rebuilt in the late fif-
teenth century. In addition to the two late extensions, the house was
thoroughly refenestrated in the eighteenth century, with casements
under later rectangular hoods, and the front door was centred.
Barge boards were added to the cross wings in the early nineteenth
century and the roofs were covered with clay tiles.

The entry was correctly removed to its present cross-passage
position in 1971, though no evidence of the earlier doorway was
recovered. The opposing one is also a relatively modern replace-
ment. The hall, 32 feet by 22 feet, is divided into four short bays,
once more open to the roof though retaining the nineteenth-
century stair against the upper end wall and galleried landing round
two sides of the apartment. The first and third trusses are arch-
braced intermediate collars, moulded with hollow chambers. The
second truss is a false hammer beam with solid braces, a fine central
feature when viewed from the dais. There are two lines of wind
braces, four-centred with modest chamfers. Though the entrance
wall has a line of ground-floor sash windows and two upper case-
ments, two timber windows (externally blocked) have been uncov-
ered in the opposite upper wall, divided into four lights with plain
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four-centred heads.’ The roof timbers were sooted when revealed
in 1971, but the open hearth must have had a short life for a mural
fireplace was inserted in the east wall close to about 1500 with
moulded four-centred head and panelled frieze of quatrefoil roun-
dels.* The absence of any medieval documentation concerning the
house (excluding the chapel), the lack of decorative detailing, and
dendro analysis limitations have inhibited close dating this apart-
ment so far.’ The hammer-beam truss could be mid-fourteenth
century on analogy with that at Upton Court, but there is no evi-
dence that the truss at Hendred House was an insertion. The pro-
portions of the hall, the line of upper windows, and the roof
structure point to the fifteenth century and more particularly to the
mid to later years, the work of John Eyston (d.1492), the first of that
family.

The northern lower cross wing was thoroughly remodelled when
the early nineteenth-century extension was added against it. This
unit with its four-centred ogival wind braces has been dendro dated
to ¢.1535-6.° Nor does the broader upper cross wing retain much
early internal character through its eighteenth-century remodel-
ling. The ground floor is at a lower level than the hall, possibly
reflecting that the predecessor (see below) was used for storage.
The present single room has recently been created out of two, with
windows of the form common throughout the house. The two bed-
rooms are ceiled, but the four-bay roof structure above is unsophis-
ticated — the timbers are rough, with thin purlins, crude collar
braces and cranked wind braces. The structure has been attributed
by analogy to the early fourteenth century,” with dendro evidence
of timber felling in 1335-6 and 1375-1407.3

The single-storey chapel, in line with this wing and its roof ridge,
is linked internally with it for there is no stone west wall, merely a
partition. Clearly, the chapel originally abutted an early timber-
framed chamber block, subsequently replaced by the present cross
wing. The chapel is a substantial one, comparable with the much
later chapel at Rycote and one of the three in this country to have
retained unbroken Catholic use.’ It has diagonal end buttresses,
central mini buttresses, and renewed opposing west porches. It was
originally lit by opposing lancets in broad splays'® with the east
window replaced in the mid-fourteenth century by a larger one with
twin lights and reticulated tracery. The south-facing windows in
fourteenth-century style are late Victorian replacements of earlier
insertions with timber mullions, made when the chapel was
restored and reroofed,'! and the tabernacle overdecorated. The
sedilia opposite is original. The balconied west end was separated
in the later middle ages by a lath and plaster partition to create an
upper room for the chaplain. Part of a straight-headed, four-light
window (blocked externally) survives in a north-facing cupboard,
with the broad splays retaining traces of wall painting (Virgin Mary
on the west side) and timber mullions with sliding-shutter evidence.
The fireplace opposite has a four-centred head. This room was
opened up to become part of the chapel in the nineteenth century.

NOTES
1 A few elements of the hall framing have been left exposed at the rear.
2 VCH, IV (1924) 296-300.
3 Mr Eyston tells me that identical windows remain covered up in the
front wall and both cross wings.
4 The fireplace was recovered from a house in the village in the 1860s and
inserted against the staircase in the hall. During the restoration a
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hundred years later, it was found to fit perfectly the blocked-up opening
discovered in the third bay.

5 Vern. Arch. 33 (2002) 83.

6 Vern. Arch. 32 (2001) 77-8.

7 Currie (1992) 117, revising his attribution to the late fourteenth century
in Med. Arch. 19 (1975) 249.

8 Vern. Arch. 33 (2002) 83.

9 The others are at Hazlewood Castle and Stonor Park. Recent refurbish-
ment has helped to overcome its ‘singularly dull and disappointing inte-
rior’ occasioned through looting by William of Orange’s soldiers in 1688
and the Victorian restoration. E. T. Long, Berks. Arch. Four. 44 (1940)
107-8.

10 Incised pilgrim crosses and other graffiti have recently been discovered
on one of them.
11 The line of the former plaster ceiling is marked on the west wall.

VCH, Berkshire, IV (1924) 295
C. R.]. Currie, Oxoniensia 57 (1992) 114-18

ETON COLLEGE, Buckinghamshire

CONCEPT AND DEVELOPMENT

The original layout of Eton College is not as immediately obvious
as that of Winchester or New College, Oxford. This arises from the
very particular purpose of this royal foundation which enshrined
three objectives — education, religion, and charity. It was not only a
school for boys, but a college of secular priests, and an almshouse
for poor men. Education was an integral element of Henry VI’s
concept, and is the immediate response to the name ‘Eton’. Yet this
was not its founder’ primary purpose. Religion was its cornerstone,
and it was this religious intent which determined the pivotal role of
the chapel. Not only was this building meant to be amongst the
largest in England, but it went through three modifications in quick
succession, each one increasing the size, before it attained its
present impressive but truncated scale. The same purpose deter-
mined the provision for chaplains, the elaborate services, and the
many relics and gifts bestowed on the foundation. Furthermore,
Henry preferred not to put his faith in the prayers of monks but
turned to poor bedesmen, and the prayers of men of learning. As
well as being a centre of pilgrimage, Eton was a vast chantry to pray
and sing masses for the souls of the king and his family and all other
college benefactors. The education aspect was intended not as a
separate end in itself, but as a means to an end, and that again meant
the church. It was a school for training scholars who would help
spread theology, propagate the faith, and put their wisdom and
learning at the service of the state.

Henry’s intentions not only affected the architectural character
of the “The King’s College of Our Lady of Eton beside Windsor’
but account for the overwhelming size of the chapel in the first
court, and the relegation of the hall and kitchen to the second court.
Furthermore, the initial staffing levels of the college as well as its
architectural form were substantially amended by the founder in a
wildly ambitious scheme which had a major effect on the present
structure. To appreciate the constitutional and architectural form of
Eton, therefore, it is prudent to remember that although the relig-
ious foundation and the school may be considered as separate archi-
tectural elements, they were joined in a common purpose.

Eton College was established by Henry VI when he was only
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eighteen years old. It was symbolic that it was his first act upon
attaining his majority in September 1440. His intention was to
surpass Wykeham’s foundation at Winchester which he had visited
in 1440, and just as Winchester had its counterpart at Oxford, so
Henry created a sister foundation in 1441 at Cambridge, formally
linked two years later. Although less was built at King’s College than
at Eton, both foundations represent the king’s personal involve-
ment as well as his patronage. This was both beneficial and disad-
vantageous. Henry’s caring interest meant a generous flow of funds,
but it also led to major building changes during the course of con-
struction.

The king’ initial intention (11 October 1440) was to create a
college of secular priests with the addition of a small school and
almshouse. It would consist of a provost, ten fellows who were
priests, four clerks, six choristers, a schoolmaster, twenty-four indi-
gent scholars aged between eight and twelve who would receive free
education, and twenty-four poor and infirm men. The foundation
was, therefore, quite different in intent from Wykeham’s founda-
tion at Winchester but was in tune with more recent establishments
such as that by the duke of York at Fotheringhay (1415) or arch-
bishop Chichele at Higham Ferrers (1422). It was a religious centre
with a nave and a choir for parish and college respectively, support-
ing a community of priests, an educational foundation, and an alms-
house. It was underpinned by lavish grants of land, a huge collection
of ornaments and holy relics, and the rare papal privilege of indul-
gences to all penitents who visited Eton on the Feast of the
Assumption. The scheme was intended to make Eton the most
important place of pilgrimage in England.!

It was not long before Henry modified his intentions. In 1442
William Waynflete, headmaster of Winchester College, was
installed as provost of Eton. A year later, the educational side of
Henry’s foundation was developed and extended. The number of
scholars was increased to seventy (as at Winchester), the choristers
to sixteen, and the clerks to ten. Ten chaplains and an usher were
added to the complement, while the bedesmen were reduced to
thirteen. At the same time, the educational link with the king’s
establishment at Cambridge was formalised.

Five years later, Henry drastically extended the architectural
design of his foundation. The chapel was to be pulled down and
rebuilt on a cathedral-like scale with a nave almost as large as any in
England.? It is likely that the newly built hall filling one side of the
second court was to be rebuilt,? at the same time that the court was
to be made three times as large, with a towered entrance on the
north side giving access to a new outer court containing the college
offices and almshouses. There was to be a vaulted cloister on the site
of the present School Yard (like those at Winchester and New
College) with a bell tower 140 feet high on the west side. There were
to be no rooms above or adjoining this cloister. As at Winchester
and New College (and again perhaps through Waynflete’s influ-
ence), it was to be an environment for contemplation, study, and
burial.*

This revised scheme was an astonishing concept for any English
monarch. Not surprisingly in this instance, ambition outstripped
financial resources. Only one element of this grandiose scheme was
carried out. The chapel that had been built during the previous
eight years was pulled down and the present structure commenced
to dimensions laid down in a further document known as “The
King’s Avyse’, probably drawn up early in 1449. Only the chancel
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of his enormous church was constructed, now the body of the
chapel that stands today. Work continued throughout the 1450s,
but at a slower pace than during the previous decade because of the
king’s financial and mental difficulties.

All building activity ceased with Henry’s deposition in 1461 and
the advent of a new dynasty. Two years later, Edward IV obtained a
papal bull for the abolition of the college and transferred all its lands
and relics to St George’s Chapel in Windsor Castle. Possibly
through the advocacy of bishop Waynflete, the young king was per-
suaded from dissolving the foundation and restored sufficient
endowment to enable it to survive. This process began in 1469, with
work resuming on the unfinished chapel, and was extended after
Henry VI's mysterious death in 1471. Even so, the reduced income
made it essential to curtail the founder’s cherished ambitions, pri-
marily by jettisoning the nave, reducing the number of priests and
abandoning the almshouse for poor men. The concept of a college
of secular priests, as well as a school, survived. What also survives,
architecturally, is essentially Henry VI’s work. In his will of 1448,
Henry speaks of the foundation of his two royal colleges at Eton and
Cambridge as ‘the prymer notable work’ of his reign. They still are,
with much more evidence of royal intention at the former than the
latter. For Henry wanted his foundations to be his monument, not
leadership on the battlefield in France. He cared deeply about his
projects and showed a determination, purpose, and enthusiasm for
them which he never felt or expressed for politics.

BUILDING HISTORY

Educationally, the college was based on Wykeham’s precedent at
Winchester and New College, Oxford, with the latter becoming the
predominant influence in Henry’s revised scheme. But while the
Wykehamist concept continued to dominate college design at
Oxford with the hall and chapel in line as the principal courtyard
feature, the Henrician concept placed much greater emphasis on
the chapel and made this the dominant feature, with the domestic
and residential quarters relegated to a second court. Hence the
chapel virtually overwhelms the first court, with the scholars taught
and accommodated in the brick range opposite. The provost,
fellows, and conducts (chaplains) were housed round the second
court, with one side filled by the unobtrusive first-floor hall.
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Work began on site in July 1441 with the royal laying of the foun-
dation stone of a chapel that was just slightly larger than the chapel
at Winchester — royal one-upmanship. There were large deliveries
of bricks in 1442, and over one million bricks were delivered in
1443. But we have few details about the work carried out, nor do we
know the exact nature of the original plan. Work probably began at
once on the chapel and the school buildings opposite. By the
autumn of 1443, the school was nearing completion, for Thomas
Beckington gave a banquet in the new buildings on the north side
of School Yard before the ground-floor chamber had been divided.

With the stabilisation of the foundation’s membership in 1443, a
contract was signed that November for the carpentry associated with
the buildings round the second court — the hall, ten chambers, and
seven towers and turrets. The buildings round Cloister Court with
its three angle towers and four garderobe turrets were erected during
the next few years. The north, east, and south sides were under con-
struction in 1443; the west side (towards School Yard) was still
incomplete in 1448 when it was estimated that only £40 was neces-
sary for making the housing closing the quadrant. The hall wasin use
by 1449, though the windows had not yet been glazed. Towards the
end of Henry’s reign, the Cloister Court is alluded to as a completed
building, so presumably the west range had been built by then. At the
peak of construction nearly 150 workmen had been employed.’

In 1448, all work on the chapel ceased in favour of the king’s more
ambitious scheme. The present structure was initiated and pro-
gressed slowly during the next twelve years, with the east window
erected by 1460. But the nave and aisles for parish use were never
built, nor were any of the original collegiate buildings pulled down
to make way for the more grandiose elements of Henry’s 1449
scheme. Even so, most of the college had been erected within the
first ten years of its foundation. It was only because of Henry VI’s
subsequent plans for the chapel that the whole project was not com-
pleted before his deposition in 1461.

After Edward IV decided against annexing the college to St
George’s at Windsor, work restarted with the chapel, roofed in
wood rather than stone between 1469 and 1475. Plans for the nave
were abandoned and the west end was completed by a much more
modest ante-chapel on the Oxford model between 1479 and 1482
by bishop Waynflete, Henry’s executor and now patron of the
building. The paintings in the chapel, also financed by Waynflete,
were executed between 1477 and 1487 in place of the stall canopies
originally proposed.

Provost Lupton (1504-35) made a number of modifications. He
altered the kitchen in 1507, added a side chapel in 1515, refenes-
trated Lower School, and rebuilt the range separating the two
courts in 1517-20, marking this activity with the imposing gateway
that bears his name.

No further work was undertaken until School Yard was enclosed
on the street side by Upper School in 1670, rebuilt in 1694.¢ The
brewhouse was added in 1714, and a new wing for the provost was
erected north of Cloister Court in 1765-6.7

SCHOOL YARD
Henry VIs intention that his foundation should be primarily a
religious rather than an educational foundation has determined the
form of the first and larger of the two courts. The entrance to
School Yard from the street is markedly undemonstrative compared
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with contemporary colleges at Oxford or Cambridge. It is through
an arch in the middle of the west range or Upper School. The high
wall with centrally positioned wooden gates which originally closed
the court was replaced in ¢.1670 by a two-storeyed range, rebuilt in
a similar style in 1689-94.

Seventy boys had been admitted by 1447. To teach them there
was a magister informator, still the formal title of the headmaster.
They were taught and housed in the originally detached brick range
filling the north side of School Yard. The boys were taught in a
single ground-floor schoolroom (Lower School) and slept in the
large single dormitory above (Long Chamber). The headmaster
worked and slept at the street end, while the master in college (orig-
inally the usher), was accommodated at the other end.

The two fagades of the two-storeyed battlemented school range
are quite different. That facing School Yard is a long flat frontage
running the length of the quadrangle. It is broken only at ground
level by irregularly positioned doors and occasional two-light
windows with hood moulds, but with a larger number of windows,
more regularly spaced, lighting the first-floor dormitory. The
facade is plain as befitted its purpose.® There is evidence that the
school was originally designed with a cloister-walk facing School
Yard. A course of lead is visible in a set-back just below the first-
floor window sills, and in 1876 the foundations of a brick wall were
discovered 10 feet from the outer wall. Whether it was the first
element of a cloister-walk or simply a pentice giving protection to
scholars and fellows between Cloister Court and School Yard is not
clear. It seems to have been removed in 1504 by provost Lupton
who was also responsible for altering many of the existing windows
in Lower School.’?

The north fagade towards Weston’s Yard is much more varied. It
is built on a stone base, is buttressed, and has a stone string course
marking the two floors (as against a brick rebate in School Yard). It
is broken by two projecting stair turrets of three storeys, with a third
diagonally at the west end for the headmaster. The ground floor is
filled with close-set windows, much larger than those on the oppo-
site side. They are still of two lights, but transomed and with sills
closer to the ground. There is considerable evidence of diapered
brickwork.

Internally, the rooms have been modified. Lower School was
divided by two rows of posts in ¢.1630, but is still used for teaching
purposes. Long Chamber, 172 feet by 27 feet, originally extended
almost the length of the range. It served as the dormitory for all
seventy scholars until 1716 when the number was reduced to fifty-
two.!? In 1967, Long Chamber was gutted and a new interior
inserted in the old shell to provide individual rooms for the senior
members of the seventy king’s scholars.

The chapel, totally built of stone, is the revised version initiated
in 1449 and developed until 1461. It was designed to be a pilgrim-
age centre as much as a collegiate church, with fourteen services a
day, and a flock of pilgrims attracted each August by the indulgences
and relics given by Henry before his dethronement. The building
is entirely out of proportion with the remainder of the college, and
would have been even more so had the original intention of the
founder been carried out. It was erected on a site artificially raised
by 13 feet to avoid flooding from the Thames, and it is possible that
this (as much as royal dithering) was the cause of the abandonment
of the initial work in 1448. Henry also took the opportunity to
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ensure that the rebuilding was without any of the fussy mouldings
of which he disapproved. This was a further reason for pulling the
first structure down, for the present arch surmounting the east
window is made up of earlier work with mouldings on the inner face
in a more elaborate style than elsewhere in the present building.!!
The chapel was built as a free-standing structure, and remained
so until Upper School was builtin 1670. The nave that was planned
and never built was replaced by an ante-chapel in 147683, paid for
by Waynflete at the same time that he was building a similar struc-
ture under the same mason, William Orchard, at Magdalen
College, Oxford. The ante-chapel has a single window at either end
above the porches, and three five-light windows towards the street.
Henry VI’s eight chapel bays are filled with tall five-light transomed
windows above a span of blank walling, separated by deep-stepped
buttresses. The nine-light east window is flanked by polygonal
turrets at the corners of the building. Internally, the wall shafts in
the eastern half of the chapel reach to the ground, whereas those in
the western half cease at the window sill to allow for the wall paint-
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ings below. Until the refashioning of the chapel in 1699,
Waynflete’s pulpitum separating the collegiate body from the parish
church stood half-way down the building.!? The form of the origi-
nal roof is not known, though medieval timbers, panels, and beams
were found when the 1670 roof was replaced in 1957 by the present
stone fan vault hung from steel trusses.

The monochrome paintings in the former parish half of the
chapel took ten years from 1477 to 1487.13 Although the names of
two of the painters are known, Gilbert (1485-6) and William Baker
(1486-7) who were clearly English, the style of the paintings seems
more Flemish than English. Extending for nearly 70 feet and filling
both walls to the window sill moulding, the paintings were in two
tiers, each 6 feet high, separated by a 2 foot border. Each tier was
divided into eight panels containing scenes separated by prophets
in niches in the upper tier and saints in the lower. Unfortunately,
the upper tier has been virtually destroyed, mainly in 1847 when
they were scraped off except for a small section on the south side.
The scheme was apparently designed to give the impression of
aisles on either side once it was recognised that Henry VI’s original
plans had been abandoned. Hence, the division of the individual
scenes by pillars, and the use of perspective and depth, a character-
istic particularly obvious on the north side. The paintings on the
north side depict miracles of the Virgin Mary in a series of individ-
ual scenes with a few figures in generous settings. The less satisfac-
tory south side relates a popular medieval story about a mythical
empress in a continuous narrative crowded with figures. From a his-
torical point of view, they are also important for illustrating con-
temporary costume, and a contemporary bedroom (north side).

The paintings use linseed oil applied directly to the stonework,
for although the walls were originally intended to be plastered this
was not done. The paintings are in grisaille with touches of colour,
and give the effect of an unbroken source of light from the west.
Different designers worked on the north and south sides with
several artists working on each, while Andrew Martindale has sug-
gested that a pause may have occurred between the north wall
(¢.1480) and the south wall (c.1486) arising from the shortage of
funds, and explaining the change in style.!* These paintings are the
finest examples of fifteenth-century work to survive in England and
because of their scale they are without peer outside Italy. Those at
Winchester are similar in subject but later in date and inferior in
quality. Whether the work was under the direction of a Flemish
master, or by an Englishman who had first-hand knowledge of con-
temporary Flemish art, has not yet been determined.

The east side of School Yard is filled with Lupton’s range and
gateway, built by Henry Redman between 1517 and 1520 after
working at Hampton Court. The dominating four-storeyed gateway
with its commanding stone oriel (and lead cupolas of 1776) must
have replaced a simpler entry linking the two courts. Redman con-
tinued the use of brick, and designed elements which had not sub-
stantially changed in seventy years. The principal first-floor chamber
over the vaulted passage (election chamber) was probably intended
to be Lupton’s withdrawing chamber, associated with his rooms to
the right. These terminate in the three-storeyed rectangular sluice
tower in front of the hall. The sluice in the basement regulated the
flow of water into the sewers running under the main buildings. The
range to the left with its paired windows of the first-floor library has
been rebuilt, except for that part facing Cloister Court.
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CLOISTER COURT

Three of the ranges round this relatively small court, constructed
between 1443 and 1449, were brick-built with stone dressings, and
were originally two-storeyed. The hall on the fourth side was stone-
built. As the court accommodated the provost, fellows, and con-
ducts of the college, the standard of accommodation was
substantially higher than for the boys in School Yard, with separate
lodgings, stair turrets, corridors, and garderobe turrets. Subsequent
modifications include Lupton’s partially rebuilt west range, the
second storey added to the north and east ranges for additional
accommodation in 1759-62, and the cloister arcade and gallery
builtin classical form in front of the hall in 1725-9 to create a wider
corridor supporting a new college library above. Nevertheless, the
original design is clear.

The ground floor has an open arcade of six stone arches with con-
tinuous moulding on each side. The arches are separated by but-
tresses rising to the original battlement level (as on the west range).
The buttresses terminate abruptly and Loggan’s engraving of 1685
shows this form on the east side before the further storey was added.
The lodging entries are in pairs round three sides of the cloister,
with adjacent pairs of windows. The door heads terminate in
diamond stops.

In each angle is a narrow projecting stair turret giving access to
the first floor. This was corridor-lined on three sides, including one
on the site of the early eighteenth-century library. Whether Lupton
destroyed a corridor on the fourth side when he built his early
sixteenth-century library is not known. Each corridor bay was filled
with a four-light straight-headed window, again of simple design.
The pattern is varied on the west side where Lupton inserted paired
windows to light his library. Individual lodgings opened from the
corridor. There are two former garderobe towers in the outer face
on the east and north sides respectively. These three-storeyed
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facades facing the provost’s and fellows’ gardens respectively are
now filled with Georgian sashed windows."?

The west range was altered by provost Lupton, beginning with
some demolition work in 1516. The angle turrets and the cloister
arcade and brickwork up to the sills of the first-floor windows were
retained, including the part that became Lupton’s Gateway with
large windows rather than an oriel. The upper floor was rebuilt as
a library with roundels of stained glass in the top of the twelve
windows identifying the subject matter of the books in the adjacent
bays. One of the western windows has the date 1524. The library,
of course, was for the use of the fellows and had nothing to do with
the boys. The first library seems to have been in the eastern clois-
ter in 1445 but was moved from there by the close of the century to
the vestry. The books only stayed for twenty-five years in Lupton’s
new library, for in 1547 the room was taken over by the provost as
his dining room. The screen is attributed to that year, though the
roof was apparently reconstructed in 1691.

The raised hall can be best appreciated from Brewhouse Yard,
where the buttressed ragstone fagade, surmounted by eighteenth-
century brickwork above the line of windows (1728), is broken by
the traceried bay window at the upper end. This side also shows that
the hall was not finished in accordance with the original design of
1443. The stonework terminated below its intended height, the
buttresses were cut short, the windows were truncated and finished
in brick, while the oriel window is arched with timber internally
whereas stone was clearly intended. The reasons for this by 1450,
ten years before Henry’s deposition, are not known but it may have
been to avoid unnecessary expenditure through demolition and
rebuilding, or possibly the need to concentrate all available funds
and workmen on the urgent task of rebuilding the chapel.!¢

Because of flooding from the nearby River Thames, the hall was
raised above an undercroft 12 feet high. It was originally ceiled with
wood, but this was replaced with brick vaulting in 1690. The hall is
reached by a wide flight of steps, much damaged in 1691, leading to
the screens passage with the usual three doors. The hall was where
the priests, headmaster, and scholars dined each day. Apart from the
stone-panelled bay window and the highly unusual number of three
fireplaces (none had a chimney when discovered in 1858 and they
had been supplanted by a louvre), the interior essentially dates from
1858 — panelling, dais, stained glass, floor tiles, and screen — with a
replacement roof in 1970.

The offices include a buttery, with its hatch still in use, a door
now leading to the screens gallery, and a third door to a flight of
stairs linking the hall with the ground-floor kitchen. The detached
kitchen was under construction in 1449, and in 1451 the clerk of
works went to Kent to choose paving for the floor.!” The present
octagonal roof and lantern were rebuilt by Lupton in 1507.1% The
kitchen was built above arches under which a brook formerly
flowed, diverted from the main channel under the sluice tower. The
kitchen is square in plan, with the upper octagonal part terminating
in a lantern. Part of the lower walls (south-west) are of stone, but
brick was used elsewhere (north-west and north). Two sides are
filled with hearths with gigantic relieving arches. The centre of the
room is filled with stoves, stainless steel tables, and the parapher-
nalia of modern cooking facilities, for the room is still in daily use.

The irregular back yard, Brewhouse Yard, gives the best view of
the hall, and access to its undercroft. The brewhouse was erected in
1714. Both areas are now used for exhibitions.!?
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pLATE 39 Eton College, Cloister Court: first-floor east corridor showing
fifteenth-century work (1966)

OVERVIEW

Eton College lies in the same relation to Windsor Castle as Lord
Cromwell’s foundation does to Tattershall Castle or the duke of
York’s establishment to Fotheringhay Castle. Eton College was
built of brick, except for the chapel, hall, and part of the kitchen
which were in stone. Robert Westerley, the king’s master-mason,
was in charge until 1448 when he was succeeded by John Smyth
until 1453 followed by Simon Clerk up to 1461. Robert Whetely
was the chief carpenter throughout the college’s development.?
The college is profoundly important for domestic studies because
it gave a further royal imprimatur to the use of brick as a fashion-
able building material. Henry V had used it at Sheen (1414-22),
work concluded by the king’s council for the young Henry VI
(1429-39), but Henry’s own use of this material made it acceptable
for buildings of more profound intent — educational and religious
establishments — as well as domestic residences. It immediately
influenced the development of contemporary buildings as diverse as
Queens’ College, Cambridge, Herstmonceux Castle, Ewelme
almshouse and school, and Ockwells Manor. Furthermore, John
Goodall has pointed out that the college buildings introduced
diaper patterning, with a variety of designs including those of

diamond and cross form, possibly through employing foreign
craftsmen.?! The combination of brick and stone exploited in
Cloister Court demonstrated the aesthetic harmony of these two
materials. Though brick was capable of being highly decorative, as
the Rye House gatehouse amply demonstrates (1443), the windows
at Eton are of uncusped form. They are among the earliest exam-
ples in the country of a type which quickly became popular, as at
Caister Castle (1432-45), Queens’ College, Cambridge (1448-9),
and particularly Tattershall church (1475-82) built for bishop
Waynflete by John Cooper who had served his apprenticeship at
Eton during the 1440s.

The layout of Cloister Court is exactly as in a major secular res-
idence. It displays differentiated accommodation standards as well
as a hall and kitchen that retain their original character and func-
tion to the present day. Moreover, the Court can be closely par-
alleled with that at Herstmonceux Castle (c.1438-49). It mirrored
Eton’s embattled parapet and small towers projecting above the rear
of the ranges, as well as the cloister-walk with glazed gallery above.
This raises the question as to which was the precursor with the pos-
sibility that this lay with the castle. On a broader field, the construc-
tion of the college also spurred the building activities of several of
the king’s ministers and court favourites involved in the organisa-
tion and administration of the foundation, including Thomas
Beckington, Henry VI’s secretary who was created bishop of Bath
and Wells in the college (1443), William Alnwick, bishop of
Lincoln who was the first Visitor to the colleges at Eton and King’s,
William Waynflete, the second provost until appointed bishop of
Winchester, and William earl of Suffolk who superintended the
work on the king’s behalf. Through them and their association with
the development of Eton, the college exerted a powerful influence
on the mainstream of English domestic architecture for the next
two or three generations.
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EWELME MANOR, Oxfordshire

The mid-fifteenth-century church, almshouse, and school tiered
above the stream that runs through the village of Ewelme present
one of the most striking and attractive compositions in Oxfordshire.
They are also a splendid memorial to the duke and duchess of
Suffolk, whereas their manor house to the south-west has been
reduced to an isolated Georgian-looking brick house set back from
the village street. Standing next to open fields, it looks for all the
world like a small early nineteenth-century farmhouse, two-
storeyed with a central porch and large sash windows. Only the
angle buttresses at one end hint at its earlier origins. It is one third
of a lodging range of the manor, fortunately drawn by Samuel Buck
in 1729 before its partial destruction, depicting its early form and
character. This is supplemented by a drawing of 1821 by J. C.
Buckler illustrating the range reduced in size but before the late
Georgian make-over that it displays today.!

This 150 foot long range was a two-storeyed structure made up
of a series of independent rooms at each level, each with its own
entry door, window, and rear-wall fireplace. The upper rooms were
reached from a gallery marked in Buck’s engraving by the line of
sockets for the floor and roof joists. The first of the pair of doors at
the east end was for the stairs to the gallery, and there was a change
in internal plan at the west end, marked by a larger ground-floor
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entry with a superior window above and another in the end wall. It
is this end of the range with its different planning pattern that forms
the basis of the present residence.’

The house frontage 50 feet long and side walls 20 feet deep are
basically the same as those shown by Buck, with the core of brick
walling in common, the stepped buttresses, and the steep pitch of
the roof. Some further features can be made out in the brickwork,
including the outline of the window above the large entry door
(which has been completely brick infilled), and the position of the
first-floor end window. It is also possible to identify the position of
some of the upper entry doors with a little imagination. The east
end of the range is marked in the garden by a single line of bricks.

Internally, the two floors of the house are entirely late Georgian
in layout, but the original roof survives in the attic in first-class con-
dition. The five and a half bays are divided by a partition separating
the first three from the remainder. Each of these 8 foot wide bays is
divided by a braced collar truss with upper collar, enhanced by two
lines of sharply curved wind braces, unusually built in pairs to
spring from intermediate couples as well as the main truss. All
members are hollow chamfered to enhance a sturdy but pleasing
structure of clearly superior form. The remaining two and a half
bays are more simple, with only a single line of more gently arched
wind braces, one pair per bay. The last one was truncated by a brick
wall when the remainder of the range was pulled down.

Leland’s record of Ewelme Manor in 1542 was that ‘the base
court of it is fair, and is buildid of brike and tymbre. The inner part
of the house is sette with in a fair mote, and is buildid richely of
brike and stone. The haul of it is fair and hath great barres of iren
overthurtitinstead of crosse beames. The parler by is exceeding fair
and lightsum: and so be al the lodginges there. The commune
saying is that Duk John made about the beginning of King Henry
the vij. tymes most of the goodly buildinges withyn the mote.”

Bringing the existing illustrative and documentary evidence
together, it looks as though the range with its stepped gables at both
ends was a freestanding structure within the base court. However,
the lack of buttresses at the east end suggests that it adjoined the
two-storey brick gatehouse range, described in the valuation of
1612, and was the range of brick building ‘where in the Honour
Court is monethlie kept’.* Buck shows a watercourse beyond the
right-hand end of the range, probably part of the moat which has
disappeared at this point. The ground floor consisted of six identi-
cal self-contained chambers of two-bay form, 17 feet by 16 inter-
nally, with a narrow stair lobby at the east end and a two-bay hall at
the opposite end. The upper floor was made up of five identical
chambers, gallery entered, with a single bay giving access to the end
hall of narrower bays but larger windows. This end hall and lobby
were the equivalent in size to two lodgings, with the otherwise dark
lobby possibly lit from the rear.’ All upper rooms were open to the
roof but their superior status is also marked by windows with two-
centred heads rather than the square form below, and the larger
windows in the end hall with its more decorative roof. The hexago-
nal turret shown by Buck to the rear of the north-east buttress is in
the apposite position for a garderobe projection serving both halls,
though its shape is unusual for such a purpose. The scale of the lower
hall doorway suggests it may have opened into a through passage,
but this rear projection would have prevented this. In all, the range
consisted of eleven individual lodgings and two halls, all heated,®
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PLATE 40 Ewelme Manor: engraving from the south-east by S. and N. Buck (1729)

with the 5 foot wide gallery shed-roofed and column supported to
give the two-storey appearance described in the 1612 inventory.’

The parallel with the west lodging range at Dartington Hall
(¢.1390-1400) is immediate, repeating the two-storey line of cham-
bers and halls. The Devon lodgings were rather larger, following
the door, window, and rear fireplace pattern but with bigger
windows. While the gallery approach to the upper rooms at
Ewelme might be considered a planning improvement to the indi-
vidual staircases at Dartington, the lack of individual garderobe
facilities was certainly not. In both cases, occupation by senior
household staff or possibly guests is most likely.

The manor of Ewelme had been held by Sir John Burghersh
(d.1391) before it passed to his younger daughter, Maud, who had
married Thomas Chaucer, aspiring courtier and son of the poet
Geoffrey Chaucer. His marriage as well as his career can only be
explained if he had the personal support of the king. He had prob-
ably served under John of Gaunt, and was constable of
Wallingford Castle in 1399, chief butler (1402-13), seven times
member of parliament, and speaker of the House of Commons in
1414. Chaucer was a wealthy wool merchant and royal councillor
(1423) who consolidated his standing in the region by arranging
the marriage of his daughter Alice to the earl of Salisbury (1424),
and on the earl’s death four years later at the siege of Orléans, this
ennobled widow made an equal match with William de la Pole,
earl of Suffolk (1430). ‘For love of her and the commodite of her
landes, [the earl] fell much to dwelle yn Oxfordshir and Barkshir
wher his wifes landes lay’.® Providing a centre for cultured
company, William and Alice were responsible for rebuilding the
church, establishing the almshouse, and founding the school, and
‘translatid and encreasid the manor place of Ewelme’.? Sir Thomas
Chaucer probably initiated the rebuilding of the church before his
death in 1435, with its further development coinciding with
Suffolk’s rise to all-powerful political leadership. Created duke of
Suffolk in 1448, his increasing unpopularity came to a head in a

95

wave of hatred and his murder at sea (1450). Ewelme Manor was
forfeited to the crown after the execution of John, duke of Suffolk
in 1513, but despite occasional royal occupation, the house was in
ruin by 1612 and became a much-used source for building material
thereafter.!0

It has been suggested that the range was part of William and
Alice’s improvements to the estate after 1430!! and, more particu-
larly, in the years after 1444 onwards when William was made a
marquis.!? There is little doubt that a substantial house had existed
here since Thomas Chaucer’s time and probably well before.
Though it is likely that the property was enhanced by William and
Alice, it is pushing the modest evidence too far to claim total
rebuilding.’* Enhancement and refurbishing to create awe-
inspiring interiors was certainly commensurate with their position
and ambition. Though the lack of window cusping has parallels
with projects such as the Cloister Court at Eton College (1440s),
the use of two-centred heads and hoods moulds throughout the
range (except for the ground-floor windows) compared with the
more pronounced four-centred form and rectangular hoods for the
smaller windows in their firmly accredited almshouse buildings of
1437-42'* may indicate that the range was a development of the
previous generation. This is not at variance with Thomas Chaucer’s
own high standing, with construction possible during the 1420s
commensurate with the enhancement of his own household. It
would make the lodgings an early example of brickwork in the
region, though the material had already been used in large quan-
tities in 141617 at Stonor Park nearby. Until resolved by dendro-
chronology, attribution of this intriguing range rests between the
years from ¢.1420 to ¢.1450.

The church, almshouse, and school were not conceived as a
unified scheme but developed over a period of twenty years to cover
the spiritual, educational, and ageing needs of the manor where
Alice Chaucer was born (¢.1404) and lived with her second
husband. This outstanding group of buildings is linked physically
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FIGURE 15 Ewelme Manor: lodging range, floor plans

and metaphorically on the valley slope to form a magnificent
display of mid-fifteenth-century benevolence and architectural
unity which was formerly matched by the spectacular mansion of
this family. The standing buildings were developed in sequence,
beginning with the expansion of the church before 1435 followed
by William and Alice’s remodelling and embellishment of it
between 1437 and 1450. The almshouse was licensed and initiated
in 1437 and probably completed by about 1442, followed by the
school, which was functioning before 1455.

The almshouse statutes of 1448-50 provided for thirteen men
under the care of two resident priests, the master, and the grammar
school teacher. The structure is of flint and brick externally, and
timber-framed with brick noggin towards the central court.
Leaving the manor house range to one side, the use of brick here
was probably a consequence of the earl of Suffolk’s origins in Hull,
the early centre of brick manufacture in this country; brick was used
at this time at Eton College where the earl was an overseer and
patron. More importantly, this almshouse exhibits an innovatory
plan. In a complete break with the tradition of a large dormitory,
separate dwellings were provided for the inmates round a small
quadrangle. The plan is reminiscent of Carthusian practice such as
the charterhouse founded by the earl of Suffolk’s grandfather at
Hull in 1370, but it equally reflects the growing practice of individ-
ual lodgings in corporate buildings such as secular colleges of
priests, and more pertinently, household lodgings such as those at
the manor house nearby.
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The principal entrance is through a tall, diagonally buttressed
porch on the north side with stepped brick gable head, enhanced
with an inset arch with blind trefoiled tracery. There is a second
approach on the east side where a covered passage from the
church leads down steps to the almshouse at a lower level. Both
approaches bring visitors to the small court with a lean-to arcade
with decorative gabled entry in the middle of each walk.’> Each
lodging consisted of a single room with fireplace, but the higher
level towards the church enabled the east side to be two-storeyed,
with the upper floor holding the muniment room and the master’s
lodging. The common hall was on the upper floor. The short pro-
jection on the west side was a much later two-seater garderobe for
the community. Mid-nineteenth-century modifications included
the insertion of a stair in each lodging to the gable-lit bedroom
created in the roof, the enhancement of the decorative woodwork,
and the replacement of the thatched roof with tiles. The 1970
renovation created six flats in place of the thirteen lodgings and
many new windows, and involved the removal of several chimney
stacks.

The school, first mentioned in the statutes of 1448-50,9 is likely
to have been the last of the three buildings developed by the
Suffolks. It is entirely brick-built on a flint base, has more ornate
features than the almshouse, and was probably not finished until
several years after the earl’s murder.!” The school is essentially a
two-storeyed block with stepped angle buttresses, but advantage
was taken of its position at the foot of the slope to create a striking
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street frontage. The principal face of mellow brickwork is inter-
rupted by two prominent chimney breasts with tall stacks, separat-
ing several windows of two cusped lights with pierced spandrels
under square hoods terminating in armorial stops. Those on the
south and west sides are original; those on the east side are replace-
ments. A lower porch projects from the north end, with contempo-
rary traceried doors brought from the church. There is a single
room at each level, linked by an altered spiral stair at the side of the
porch, with the room above the entry serving the grammar master’s
successor. Both schoolrooms are warmed by fireplaces, with the
upper room covered by an arch-braced roof of six bays with three
rows of wind braces and rectangular framing in the end walls. As a
design, the school is striking: to today’s children, the building is
‘lovely’. Between the almshouse and the school is the contemporary
two-storeyed master’s house, drastically expanded in Georgian
times.

The relevance of the almshouse and school to domestic architec-
ture is not peripheral. Apart from the deliberate choice of different
building materials — stone, flint, and some brick for the church;
flint, brick, and timber-framing for the almshouse; brick in an
enhanced decorative manner for the school — the secular buildings
are indicative of the growing desire for privacy at the lower social
level. This ensemble stands virtually unaltered, still serves its orig-
inal purpose, and above all is a rare example of mid-fifteenth-
century charitable and educational patronage that was all too often
destroyed by the Reformation to give us a distorted picture of late
medieval England.

NOTES

1 Brit. Lib., Add. MS 36373 f.21.

2 The kitchen wing to the rear, not shown in Buckler’s drawing, was pre-
sumably added when the house was remodelled in ¢.1830.

3 Itinerary, 1, 113.

4 The survey of the manor made by John Thorpe and Richard Stevens
estimating the value of the property for the Exchequer in 1612 itemised
the base-court ranges. The principal house was organised round an inner
courtyard with named rooms. Inventory transcribed by Goodall (2001)
293-5.

5 The roof structure makes the existence of this division clear.

6 'To be precise, Buck shows that the first upper chamber had a louvre, but
all the other twelve rooms had chimneys which are carefully depicted in
his engraving.

7 HKW, II pt 2 (1982) 91-2; Goodall (2001) 294.

8 Itinerary, I, 112; E. A. Greening Lamborn, Oxoniensia 5 (1940) 78-93.

9 Itinerary, 1, 112. Also N. Wilkins in English Court Culture in the Later
Middle Ages, ed. ]. V. Scattergood and J. W. Sherborne (1983) 198.

10 Goodall (2001) 293-5; HKW, IV, pt 2 (1982) 92.

11 Airs (1978) 280. The plan on page 277 is at variance with the text.

12 Goodall (2001) 12-13.

13 Ibid., 18-20.

14 The two-centred brick form of the almshouse porch entry (1445-50) is
quite different with its inset trefoil cusping, forming a composition
markedly Flemish in character. Goodall 2001) 99-100.

15 The arcaded walk and decorative gable heads should be compared with
those at Ockwells Manor (¢.1455-65).

16 The statutes refer to the duty of the schoolmaster ‘to teche and informe
Chylder in the faculte of gramer’.

17 Goodall (2001) 28-31.

M. Airs, Arch. Four. 135 (1978) 276-80
J. A. A. Goodall, God’s House at Ewelme (2001)

FORTHAMPTON COURT, Gloucestershire

Forthampton Court was a major country house of the abbots of
Tewkesbury who owned the manor from the early twelfth to the
mid-sixteenth century. In 1541, it was given to the last abbot, John
Wakeham (d.1549), who was appointed the first bishop of
Gloucester. The property was subsequently held by the crown and
was granted to Robert Cecil at the beginning of the early seven-
teenth century. It passed through a sequence of families until it
came to the Yorkes in 1762.

The Court is a rambling multi-period house, which makes it dif-
ficult to disentangle the late medieval core from the substantial addi-
tions of 1647, and of 1788 by Anthony Keck, and the individual but
sympathetic work of 1889-92 by Philip Webb. The hall and first-
floor chapel are immediately obvious, but it is possible to identify
further medieval work by tracing the lower courses of freestone
walling with its angle buttresses, and to use early nineteenth-century
house plans to identify internal walls of similar thickness. This
reveals a substantial two-storeyed block linked by the chapel to a
corner of the hall with a short timber-framed wing to the north-west.

The plan is unorthodox. It consisted of the hall with its upper end
close to the present entrance lobby of 1958-60. A door at this end
would lead to a staircase, approximately on the site of the present
open one of 1891 by Philip Webb, leading to the upper floor of the
residential block containing the private apartments of the abbot.!
The three chambers beyond the chapel may well have been his great
chamber (with projecting inner room) and privy chamber. The
block at the lower end of the hall is contemporary and was presum-
ably used for services.

The hall has been subject to so many alterations that it conveys
the form rather than the detail of a medieval apartment. It was used

PLATE 41 Forthampton Court: hall interior
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FIGURE 16 Forthampton Court: ground plan

as a barn in the seventeenth century, divided into two floors and
many rooms in the eighteenth century, with roof repaired by Webb
in 1889, and the whole drastically restored by Maurice Chesterton
in 1913. Only the roof clearly betrays its medieval origin. The room
lacks any original entrances, windows, or fireplace. The upper end
wall has been removed, the walls are badly patched, and the
approach to the private apartments has been destroyed.

The hall, 53% feet by 21 feet, would have been windowed on both
sides originally. According to an early nineteenth-century plan,
there were at least three windows on the north and two on the south,
but only the jambs of one window and its glass rebate survive and
that is at the upper end of the hall at a curious half-level. What was
its purpose, and why was it built above a ground-floor projection
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almost totally removed in 1914? There is no architectural evidence
for the bay window created by Chesterton in that same year which
was necessary to provide light in an otherwise over-dark apartment.
The fireplace built by Philip Webb in 1891 was based on evidence
of fragments of moulding found 7z situ, now kept in the study.

The hall is divided into five bays. The roof is spanned by arch-
braced collar beams, formerly supported on corbels which have
been destroyed except for one, conventionally decorated with a
shield-holding angel. Moulded wall plates, double purlins, and two
tiers of wind braces survive while the two horizontal timbers in the
central bay may indicate a smoke outlet, subsequently replaced by
the fireplace.

The wall at the lower end of the hall is too thin to have been an
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external one and there is little doubt that the studding is original.
However, this end has been subject to fire at some time which not
only affected the wall (substantially repaired in 1914) but also
severely damaged the lower-end block (now the print room). Its
walls are of the same thickness as the hall and probably represent
original work, perhaps the buttery and pantry. It is likely that the
entrance to the screens would have been on the site of the bay
window, with the principal entrance opposite for the house was ini-
tially approached from the west, not the north as at present.

The approach to the upper residential block has been destroyed
and there are no original ground-floor features except a doorframe
and fireplace. On the first-floor, two blocked windows survive
serving the two principal rooms. They are of one and two lights,
marked A and B on the plan. Rather surprisingly, the first-floor
chapel in the angle between this block and the hall survives com-
plete: 16 feet long, it is lit by two windows with traceried heads, the
larger of three lights in the east wall and the second of two lights
facing north. Neither the entrance wall, altar, piscina, nor aumbrey
remains. The roof of two bays is a modest version of that above the
hall but with a single line of ogee wind braces.?

The present kitchen, built in the mid-sixteenth century, lies at the
opposite end of the hall to the original one. Originally detached, it
has been encased in brick, but retains its original hearth in the north
wall.3

In the absence of any documentation, dating depends entirely on
the architectural evidence. The occurrence of four-centred forms
in the hall window, and roof braces, suggests the fifteenth rather
than the fourteenth century. The chapel windows are no later than
the middle of the century while the trefoil lights and vertical bars in
the heads suggest early in the century. In that case, Forthampton
was probably built for abbot Thomas Parker (1389-1421) or
William Bristow (1421-42).

The size of the great hall calls for further comment. Assuming that
the present proportions are the original ones, it was a particularly
large apartment for an abbot’s country house. Because Tewkesbury
Abbey was only 2 miles away, the house was probably used for enter-
taining and therefore intended to vie with comparable episcopal
halls. But the apartment is curiously narrow for its length. Nearly all
halls in the later fourteenth and early fifteenth centuries were more
than 30 feetwide. Yet thatat Forthampton was only 21 feet wide. Was
it formerly of three-bay length instead of five, with the upper two
bays separated from the hall by a destroyed wall to form a withdraw-
ing chamber? Even the roof timbers here were so heavily restored by
Webb in 1891 that any confirmatory evidence has been eradicated.

Forthampton is an excellent example of a house irregularly
extended and developed throughout its history. Yet it is also one
with a particularly warm personality, helped considerably by the
additions of Philip Webb, the modifications of the twentieth
century, and the broad-ranging collection of the Yorke family.

NOTES

1 VCH, VIII (1968) 202 suggests that the timber-framed building to the
north-west is likely to have contained the principal apartments.
However, this part of the Court is probably sixteenth century. The VCH
also suggests that the buttressed block opening from the chapel was an
early sixteenth-century addition.

2 The very fine panel painting here of ¢.1370 of Edward the Confessor and
StJohn the Baptistis believed never to have left the house since its incep-
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tion or the abbey’s dissolution. This helps to explain its remarkably fresh
condition. E. W. Tristram, Burlington Magazine 83 (1943) 160-5; J.
Alexander and P. Binski (eds.), Age of Chivalry Catalogue (1987) 214-15.

3 After he was appointed first bishop of Gloucester, John Wakeham made
improvements to the house, apparently with stone taken from demolish-
ing Tewkesbury’s lady chapel. Hence the stumps of roof bosses in the
outer walls of the residential block and the effigy of William de la Zouche
(d.1335) in the house grounds.

VCH, Gloucestershire, VIII (1968) 199-202
C. Aslet, Country Life (September/October 1979)

FYFIELD MANOR, Berkshire

Fyfield Manor looks like an unhappy conjunction of two houses.
The porch and abutting cross wing of a substantial fourteenth-
century timber-framed house are overwhelmed by the three-
storeyed Elizabethan stone block in the position of the earlier hall.
The loss of the upper cross wing emphasises the disparity.

The porch is of two storeys — a stone ground floor separated by
a low-pitched lip from the timber-framed upper chamber, now
roughcast covered. The outer and inner two-centred entrance
arches are of continuous double-wave moulding, the upper half of
the inner arch enriched with ball-flower decoration.! The contem-
porary wooden window above, of two ogee lights, central quatre-
foil, and blank shields in the spandrels, was inserted here from the
adjacent cross wing by James Parker, the geologist son of the anti-
quarian John Parker, when he restored the house in 1868.2

The cross wing, timber-framed above a limestone rubble ground
floor, stands in line with the porch and dominates it. Two conjoined
arches in the centre of the cross-passage wall, again with continu-
ous double-wave moulding, accessed the services. It is usually con-
sidered that the larger chamber, 25 feet by 17 feet, with a domestic
hearth and an enlarged replacement window, was the kitchen, with
the smaller room used for services. A third contemporary arch at
the far end of the cross passage now opens into a passage but was
formerly the approach to the first-floor chamber. This upper room,
now reached from the added Victorian stair, is of three bays with
a late Elizabethan fireplace and contemporary window below a
fourteenth-century gable window. The three-bay roof is its princi-
pal original feature with heavy braced tie beams supporting queen
posts and a single row of large cusped wind braces.

The late sixteenth-century block incorporates the lower walling
of the earlier hall, 35 feet by 25 feet, when it was divided into two
rooms and the walls heightened to create two further storeys and a
gabled and stone-slate roof line. Two doorways at right angles to
each other in the north-east angle of the ground-floor dining room
indicate the long-established pattern of ground- and first-floor
access to a now lost residential wing. The curved external walling
suggests there was initially a spiral stair here, but the present broad
doorways are of late fifteenth- or early sixteenth-century character
with convex moulding and low four-centred heads.’ They and the
much finer late fifteenth-century doorway inserted in the north-
west angle to an extension of the lower cross wing point to early
Tudor modifications, possibly when the property was held by the
four-times married Lady Katharine Gordon (d.1537).

The porch and cross-passage arches are of ¢.1330-40 and there is
every reason for believing that the cross wing with its impressive
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pLATE 42 Fyfield Manor, south front

upper chamber is contemporary. The manor of Fyfield was held by
Richard Fyfield in the late twelfth century and passed to Sir John
Golafre (d.1363) through his marriage to Elizabeth Fyfield in about
1335.* He was responsible for building the present hall and impres-
sive service wing immediately afterwards. Golafre was also respon-
sible for the chancel of the nearby church, rebuilt after a fire in
1893.7 Itholds a terrifying memento mori monument of a descendant
who died in 1442. This Sir John Golafre founded a chantry in the
church in 1442 and provided the money to build and maintain the
chantry priest’s house and almshouse for five bedesmen, completed
two years after his death.

This Fyfield almshouse, a T-shaped structure, consists of a
rubble-built hall, screens passage, offices, and kitchen in line, with
a timber-framed parlour cross wing at the upper (west) end. The
hall is open to an arch-braced roof with the tall framed window
lighting its upper bay reinstated in 1963. A door in the timber-
framed partition at the upper end of the hall opens to the parlour
lobby and the stone newel to the solar above. A pair of doors in the
partition at the lower end of the hall access the buttery and pantry,
with a further screens door to the chamber over. A door from the
pantry led to the kitchen beyond. The chantry priest occupied the
solar, and the bedesmen the room over the services, but the alms-
house now offers hospitality as the White Hart Inn.
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This structure did not fundamentally differ in its layout from the
manor house built by a Golafre predecessor a century earlier, except
for the position of the kitchen. Yet the manor kitchen may have
served as the precedent, sited beyond the pantry, opening from it
(as a corner door still does), until replaced by the present late med-
ieval three-bay extension. The kitchen may then have been trans-
ferred to the south-west extension with its smoke-blackened
timbers.

NOTES

1 The opposing cross-passage doorway is early Tudor, opening into a
Victorian stair lobby.

2 Marcon (1919) 372. For a photograph of the house frontage before this
restoration, Berks., Bucks., and Oxon. Arch. Jour. 23 (1917) pl. 1, opp. 110.

3 Currie (1992) 121 points out that the head of the east-facing door incor-
porates a two-centred head suggesting a date of ¢.1300 for this residen-
tial wing, but the evidence is too slight for such precision.

4 VCH, IV (1924) 346.

5 C. E. Keyser, Berks., Bucks. and Oxon. Arch. Jour. 23 (1917) 2-8, 86-8.

6 Reported by Currie (1992) 124.

A. Marcon, Country Life (April 1919)
VCH, Berkshire, IV (1924) 345-6
C. R.]. Currie, Oxoniensia 57 (1992) 120-4
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FIGURE 17 Fyfield Manor: ground plan

GLOUCESTER ABBEY and regional abbatial lodgings

The cluster of major monastic foundations in the lower Severn
valley were among the wealthiest in England. Their churches
survive at Tewkesbury, Gloucester, and Bristol and some of the
monastic buildings at Gloucester, but Flaxley, Hailes, and
Kingswood have been reduced to site fragments while
Winchcombe and Cirencester lack even that benefit. Since the
Bristol riots of 1831 when the bishop’s palace was burnt down,! only
Gloucester retains its early abbatial lodging. The surviving range at
Tewkesbury may have served the same function as did that at
Flaxley. In addition to these three lodgings, seven monastic country
houses survive, though none of them of major extent outside
Forthampton Court (q.v.).

Abbot John Thoky (1306-28) of Gloucester was an exemplar of
the fourteenth-century practice of erecting enhanced accommoda-
tion for himself, vacating his Norman house in favour of a new and
quieter site for his lodgings north of the Little Cloister. The chapel
was built by abbot Horton (1351-77), the apartment was extended
during the fifteenth century, while abbot Parker (1514-39) created
the first-floor gallery on the north side linking the hall to the private
rooms at the east end.? This lodging served as the bishop’s palace
from 1541 until damaged in 1856, when wholesale rebuilding by
Ewan Christian rather than rehabilitation was the preferred option
for a residence that has been occupied since 1955 by the King’s
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School. Only an outer wall of the medieval lodging survives, util-
ised for a first-floor gallery and serving as a forecourt boundary in
front of Christian’s house since 1861.

The abbot’s Norman house was promptly taken over by the
priors of Gloucester Abbey for their own use in about 1316 and
extended not long afterwards. Built in line with the west front of the
abbey church facing the great or outer court (now College Green),
this remarkably early house was a two-part residence — a barrel-
vaulted chapel of ¢. 1130 above the abbey’s outer parlour, and a taller
three-storeyed block of services, camera, and upper chamber with
corner garderobe projection (destroyed after 1809).} During the
fourteenth century, the priors continued to occupy this Norman
towered residence but removed whatever building lay to the north-
west to erect a two-storeyed block at right angles, linked to the
earlier house by a stair turret at their junction. The Norman work
is ashlar-faced; the fourteenth-century extension has been rock-
faced since its mid-Victorian restoration by Thomas Fulljames.

The early form of this fourteenth-century extension is unclear. It
may have begun life as a first-floor hall open to the roof above a
ground-floor room, 18 inches lower than today.* During the fif-
teenth century, the upper floor was partitioned into two chambers.
The earlier roof was hidden when the south (Laud) chamber was
ceiled and panelled in ¢.1600 but the original trusses survive, termi-
nating in corbel-supported hexagonal shafts with moulded capitals
and bases and braced ends poking below the ceiling. The visible
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FIGURE 18 Gloucester, Prior’s Lodging: site plan

elements are similar to those supporting the mid-fifteenth-century
roof at Wanswell Court, while the low pitched roof in the adjacent
(Henry) room is a little later in that century.’ The rough carpentry
of its four tie beams is relieved by mottled paintwork attributed to
the late sixteenth century.

This embattled block was attached on its north side to a thir-
teenth-century stone building, originally part of the almoner’s range
but subsequently converted into the great hall. In the late fifteenth
century, this building was cut down, reduced in height and the lower
side walls utilised to support a timber-framed upper floor creating a
gallery, subsequently curtailed at the west end. This structure is con-
cealed from College Green by its twentieth-century brick entry but
the stone ground and timber-framing of the upper floor and end
walls dominate Miller’s Green, the former services court.’

The prior’s lodging was occupied between 1541 and 1940 by the
dean of the cathedral. Among the many alterations for this occu-
pant was the integration of the timber-framed range with the
remainder of the dean’s house, though the unbroken party wall con-
firms thatit had never previously formed any part of it. This has dis-
torted the plan of the lodgings more than the room partitions and
stair enlargements. This activity culminated in the drastic restora-
tion of 1863-70 when all windows were recut, the corridor range
added, and the stair remodelled with a visually intrusive spirelet so
that the complex lost most of its remaining medieval character.”
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Throughout this era, the house continued to function in association
with the three-storeyed Norman house and chapel in what was
always an awkwardly shaped residence. Since 1948, the two parts
have been separated. The Norman block is used for diocesan
administration and the conjoined late medieval buildings serve
public functions as a refectory and kitchen with reception rooms
above. Even so, this house can show nearly 900 years of unbroken
house occupation by abbots, priors, deans, and diocese.

The remaining abbatial lodgings in Gloucestershire are small
beer. That between the precinct gatehouse and the west front of
Tewkesbury abbey is a two-storeyed range which may have been the
abbot’s lodging or the community’s guest house (now the vicarage).
Buck’s engraving shows that the building was in bad condition by
1732 with the late fifteenth-century street frontage standing to roof
level but the remainder close to ruin until its rehabilitation in 1790
when the brick frontage was erected on the south side. The ground-
floor hall and a major upper room with oriel suggest that the range is
likely to have been for the head of the monastery. The hall has
fifteenth-century cusped windows and close-studded partition walls
with three doors at the screens end. The oriel carries the initials of
abbotBeoly (1509-31) with three shields, a damaged inscription, and
a pendant vaulted ceiling internally but frontage renewal and inter-
nal changes have deprived this building of its early residential value.

The abbatial chamber at Flaxley fares little better at a site in a



GLOUCESTER ABBEY

PLATE 43 Gloucester, Prior’s Lodging: from College Green

combe on the edge of the Forest of Dean less than 2 miles from the
River Severn. Most of the monastic buildings were torn down by
Sir William Kingston shortly after 1540 so that nothing survived of
this Cistercian foundation by the time of Kip apart from the west
claustral range and projecting reredorter, partly rewindowed in
Charles II’s reign.8 A fire in 1777 led to the reduction of half the
range, the remodelling of the remainder, and the south extension
by Anthony Keck in a pseudo-Gothic style, handsomely refur-
bished by Oliver Messel in 1960-2.

The twelfth-century vaulted undercroft, possibly the lay broth-
ers’ refectory, has been restored but any evidence of the abbot’s
quarters above was supplanted in the late seventeenth century by a
line of bedrooms, leaving his reception chamber as the sole survi-
val. The ground floor of the projecting wing consisted of two
tunnel-vaulted chambers® serving the reredorter above until it was
appropriated by the abbot in the mid-fourteenth century. The
reason for this was that the crown had long favoured Flaxley as a
base for hunting in the Forest of Dean, and this apartment was
created in ¢.1355 for Edward III’s personal use. Only the garderobe
chute opposite the group of four twelfth-century narrow lights
shown in Kip’s engraving of 1712 remains from its early ablution
use, for the traceried windows and fireplace are imaginative recon-
structions of 1913 and the entrance was remade in 1960 when the
opposite doorway was inserted. The fourteenth-century roof is the
prime survival, crowning a chamber 40 feet by 16 feet by 25 feet.
The three and a half bays are spanned by braced collar trusses on
embattled corbels with intermediate mini trusses terminating at
purlin bosses. There are two rows of cusped wind braces and an
embattled wall plate. This quite grand chamber reflects royal as
much as abbatial dignity, though interest at Flaxley lies as much in
its post-medieval developments and interiors.!

None of the country houses of the abbots of Gloucester was far
from the city. They include three that no longer exist at Over, built
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by abbot Staunton in ¢.1337, Highnam, and the Vineyard west of
Gloucester,'! and standing evidence at Prinknash and Standish.
Once more serving a community of Benedictine monks, Prinknash
commands extensive views over the Severn valley. The abbot of
Gloucester had erected a hunting lodge here in the mid-fourteenth
century which may be incorporated in the south wing!? of the
present substantial house, developed and internally marked with
the rebus of abbot Parker (1514-39). This H-shaped building with
two late nineteenth-century upper-arm extensions, first mentioned
as an abbatial residence in 15263 was erected during the preceding
ten years. The central hall block with its uncusped windows,
concave mouldings, and square hoods was floored by Sir John
Bridgeman in ¢.1630. The ground-floor rooms south of the hall
were used for services, with the abbot’s withdrawing chamber above
retaining its fan-vaulted oriel. Death duties in 1927 forced the sale
of much heraldic glass and its transfer to Gloucester cathedral clois-
ters'* but the contemporary angel glass in the chapel is still in situ.
The eastern arm of the south wing is also early sixteenth century
and the only part of the house to retain its early two-storeyed form,
for the remainder, altered in every succeeding century, now looks
the epitome of a Cotswold vernacular gabled house of the
Elizabethan period.

Forthampton Court was the major country house of the abbots
of Tewkesbury, last used by abbot John Wakeman (1531-49) who
became the first bishop of Gloucester. A much smaller house,
Mythe Tower, a mile north-west of Tewkesbury also seems to have
been abbey property for Wakeman leased it to his brother in 1534.
The squat, three-storeyed fifteenth-century tower was not defen-
sive and was probably associated with an attached residential wing,
but the present one is seventeenth century, as are the windows in
the tower. The rubble walls were heavily cut back in the nineteenth
century.!

Mythe Tower is a very different structure from the prior of
Llanthony’s house at Prestbury near Cheltenham which repeats the
stone ground floor and close timber-framed upper section of the
semi-domestic range that is the sole survivor of the mother house
next to Gloucester docks. The prior’s dwelling at Prestbury imme-
diately west of the church retains a four-bay fourteenth-century
hall, now floored, stone cased, and with most of the arch-braced
collar-beam trusses cut back. The two-storeyed north wing retains
one original and one recut first-floor window with cinquefoil ogee
heads.’® Another house of Llanthony, Brockworth Court, now
swept up in the suburbs of Gloucester, was built by the last prior,
Richard Hart (1534-9). It repeats the stone and timber-framed
form but with the withdrawing chamber positioned above rather
than beyond the ground-floor hall. The arch-braced collar trusses
and roofs of the upper rooms are complete, and part of a wall paint-
ing survives in the withdrawing chamber with the initials of prior
Hart, a Tudor rose, and the pomegranate badge of Catherine of
Aragon."”

NOTES
1 The location of the abbot’s lodging at St Augustine’s is not certain for it
is by no means clear that it was taken over by the bishop. His property
may originally have been the infirmary but it was heavily rebuilt under
bishop Butler (1738-50) and abandoned after its destruction in 1831.
Bristol Catbedral, ed. J. Rogers (2000) 50-1. The last remains were
demolished without adequate recording in the 1960s.
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2 VCH, Gloucestershire, IV (1988) 283; Welander (1991) 150, 309-10, 410.
The gallery windows and oriel overlooking Pitt Street are probably a
legacy of abbot Parker (1514-39).

3 The Norman gable survives with shallow panels and chevron decoration.
The fagade below was remodelled in ¢.1200 in three contrasting-shaped
openings, filled with Victorian tracery at ground- and first-floor levels
and mid-fourteenth-century tracery above. The adjacent chapel and
outer parlour were shortened and set back when the abbey’s west front
was rebuilt by abbot Morwent (1421-37) and the joining wall to the
house awkwardly splayed. The chapel window is inaccurate nineteenth-
century work.

4 W. H. St John Hope thought that this guest hall may have been built by
abbot Horton (1351-77); W. Bazeley, Records of Gloucester Cathedral, 1
(1882) 90-130.

5 VCH, Gloucestershire, IV (1988) 282 favours a late fifteenth- or early
sixteenth-century date for this roof. The embattled parapet dates from
this reroofing. Oswald (1962).

6 The function of this range is difficult to establish since the curtailment
of its west and presumably entrance end. The open-braced collar trusses
are rough, not helped by the indifferent quality of the almost straight-
sided wind braces. The problem is compounded by what is now the
central truss which either is a crude replacement or was always intended
to be a room division. The mortice holes on its underside suggest such
a use or reuse but the third truss is also poorly finished and its line inter-
rupted by one of the oriel windows (reinstated in 1962). Whether this
was an uninterrupted hall or a divided area, architectural pathfinding had
stopped at the church and cloister doors after the fourteenth century.

7 The stair retains its fifteenth-century embattled stone lantern, supported
on a shaped corbel.

8 The probable layout is described in Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 6
(1881-2) 280-3.

9 Now boiler rooms. Keck concealed their function with pastiche blind
windows and wall rendering, and balanced the frontage with a matching
wing at the north end.

10 The Cistercian abbey at Hailes followed the same post-Dissolution
pattern as Flaxley, with the destruction of all but the west claustral range
which had been similarly taken over by the abbot by the fifteenth century.
Kip’s engraving of 1712 shows a two-storeyed tower-like block at its
south end, a fashionable domestic remodelling undertaken towards the
last quarter of the fifteenth century when the cloister was rebuilt. Lyson’s
view of 1794 depicts the ruined embattled unit before the last of the range
was pulled down. Kip also shows a projection at the opposite end of the
range, similar in appearance, reredorter position, and possibly function
to that at Flaxley. J. Coad, Hailes Abbey: Official Handbook (1985 edn) 7.
The Prior’s House at Deerhurst is a post-Dissolution residence on the
site of the chapter-house and east cloister, incorporating earlier elements.

11 Leland, Itinerary, V 158. It was granted as a country house to the first
bishop of Gloucester.

12 Bazeley (1890) 6.

13 Abbot Parker’s Register, ed. W. Bazeley, Records of Gloucester Cathedral
(1882-3), 1, 328. Standish Court, built for the abbots of Gloucester, is
similarly H-shaped with a central hall, but as the house has been subject
to even more drastic alterations than Prinknash its ruined gatehouse is a
more instructive survival (see page 111).

14 Welander (1991) 292-3. The Prinknash Room in the City Art Museum,
St Louis, is made up of several hundred feet of panelling and one of the
two magnificent chimney pieces of ¢.1630 sold at this time; Kingsley
(1989) 148-52.

15 J. Grenville, Southern History 9 (1987) 19-33; VCH, Gloucestershire, VIII
(1968) 135-6. The Elizabethan house, Hatherop Castle near Fairford,
rebuilt in 1850-6, incorporated a low three-storeyed tower, possibly of
late medieval origins when the manor belonged to Lacock Abbey.
Illustrated in Kingsley (1989) 105.

16 The bishop of Hereford also had a country house at Prestbury, useful
when travelling to and from London. For its excavation, H. E. O’Neil,
Tirans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 75 (1956) 5-34.

17 Med. Arch. 23 (1979) 274.

W. Bazeley, The History of Prinknash Park (1890)

VCH, Gloucestershire, I1 (1907) 1-108

A. Oswald, ‘Old Deanery, Gloucester’, Country Life (April 1951;
December 1962)

J. Lees-Milne, ‘Flaxley Abbey’, Country Life (March/April 1973)

B. Watkins, The Story of Flaxley Abbey (1985)

N. Kingsley, The Country Houses of Gloucestershire, I (1989)

D. Welander, The History, Art and Architecture of Gloucester Cathedral
(1991)

GREYS COURT, Oxfordshire

The layout of this defendable house is not immediately apparent.
The towers that form part of its curtilage have been subsumed into
the landscaped gardens surrounding the mid-Elizabethan dwelling
that stands on one side of the sward filling much of the former
courtyard. Four towers remain, two octagonal shaped and two
square shaped. The former are at either end of the present approach
frontage; the latter are near each other towards the north-east
corner of the site, with one diagonally positioned to improve its
defensive capability. This substantial courtyard house was roughly
quadrangular but the sites of the north and south frontages are now
entirely open landscapes facing the parkland and Rother valley
respectively.

The manor of Rotherfield was in the hands of the Grey family
between the late eleventh and early fifteenth centuries, with docu-
mentary evidence of the family resident here during the late thir-
teenth century.! Sir John Grey was a long-serving soldier,
councillor, and steward of the royal household (1350-6) who died
in 1359. As 2nd Lord Grey of Rotherfield from 1338, he obtained a
licence to crenellate his house in 1346 but was followed by a line of
short-lived successors with the hereditary barony merging in 1408
with that of Deincourt upon the death without heirs of Joan Grey.
The difference between the almost miniature octagonal towers and
the more aggressive square towers at Greys Court suggests two
phases of construction, with the square towers as the earlier (pl. 4).

The earlier structures are flint-built with some tile banding, and
dressed stone for windows and doorways. The probably dry moat
has been filled and replaced in part by a ha-ha. The two square
towers, a roofed one of four storeys and a ruined one of two storeys,
stand free of the buildings that formerly abutted them. With walls
5 feet thick, the larger tower (‘Great Tower’) has angled buttresses
to the field and a rebuilt embattled parapet. The single room on
each floor, 12/ feet by 11 feet internally, is fenestrated with loops
to the lower and single lights to the upper room. Two-centred
headed doorways give access to the ground and first floors, both
with garderobe recesses. The two upper rooms were reached from
an internal stair (replaced). The second square tower (North-East
Tower) stands 50 feet northwards. Of comparable form, the ground
and first floors had broader window splays indicative of superior
rooms, and part of the ground-floor garderobe seat. The curtain
wall between the two towers was originally about 25 feet high but
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has been capped for most of its length at about 15 feet. A two-storey
range was built against it with an inserted sixteenth-century
doorway and brick fireplace at ground level, but with a line of orig-
inal loops above.

The much repaired east curtain continues southwards towards
the South-East Tower. This and the similar octagonal south-west
tower (“The Keep’) are 17 feet in diameter externally, three-
storeyed, pyramid-capped, and still inhabited though attached to
much-altered dwellings. The South-East Tower retains its original
loops in each outer face (at least one at ground level with an willer)
and a tall first-floor internal doorway with two-centred head.

In addition to these four towers, two sides of the forecourt lawn
are lined with domestic buildings. The stone-lined well 200 feet
deep within the 1586 wheel-house (donkey driven between the late
sixteenth and early twentieth centuries) suggests the site always
extended over an area almost as large as the present one. The
kitchen at the rear of the Elizabethan house retains a large brick
hearth and a brick doorway with two-centred head. This was part
of a timber and brick range that formerly extended a further 55 feet
southwards, dendro dated to 1450-1. On the opposite side of the
courtyard are the so-called Cromwellian stables, probably a lodging
range, dendro dated to 1578, abutting a low brick wall that is earlier.

These disparate elements essentially fall into three groups — the
medieval structures of the Grey residence, the mid-fifteenth-
century range of the Lovel family, and the sequence of Elizabethan
developments of Sir Francis Knollys after the property had become
a gentleman’s residence. English Heritage conducted a building
recording project at Greys Court in 2002-3, and after examination
of the evidence with Barry Jones of English Heritage, itis clear that
the standing medieval structures reveal several construction phases
between the twelfth and mid-sixteenth centuries.

The early development of Greys Court has to be read entirely on
the east side of the site, for of the four towers that at the south-west
angle is a red herring. It is a brick and render structure, dendro
dated to 1587, and erected by Knollys to match the retained South-
East Tower at the opposite end of the south approach.

Phase 1. The earliest surviving structure is the lower part of the
inner face of the ‘Great Tower’ where the walling consists of alter-
nate courses of knapped flint and tiled bands. This was the end wall
of a chamber 18 feet wide with shadow evidence above the wall pat-
terning of a timber roof truss of arch-braced collar and higher
collar. The truss shaping is more clear in 1950 photographs held by
the NMRC than today, though the plaster infill between the trusses
is still apparent. The roof was probably a fourteenth- or fifteenth-
century structure but the end wall of a quite grand chamber is
earlier. Banded walling was used as early as the mid-twelfth century
(east hall at Wolvesey Palace) and even the late eleventh century
(great tower hall at Chepstow Castle). A twelfth-century date is
possible, though the earliest documentary evidence for a house is
the late thirteenth century.

Phase 2. The curtain wall extending southwards from within the
‘Great Tower’ to A on the plan is built of random flint with occa-
sional bands of reused tiles. It was formerly higher (to 30 feet) but
the upper level has been rebuilt and the central section thinned.
The walling lacks datable features but its height makes it the earli-
est defensive addition, attributable to the years between the late
thirteenth and mid-fourteenth centuries.
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FIGURE 19 Greys Court: ground plan

Phase 3. The ‘Great Tower’ was built against part of the phase 2
wall, covering putlog holes in its face. The ground- and first-floor
doorways were punched through the phase 1 walling to give access
to the added tower. The North-East Tower and linking curtain wall
are coeval, making a prestige statement about the house’s develop-
ment. Square or rectangular mural towers were a development of
the late twelfth century (Windsor, Dover, Framlingham) and early
thirteenth century (Ludlow) until replaced by rounded towers from
the 1220s onwards (Beeston, Bolingbroke). The form continued to
be popular in the north throughout the fourteenth century (Bolton,
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Lumley, Brancepeth), and returned to greater favour in central and
southern England in the mid-fifteenth century (Tutbury, Sudeley,
Kirby Muxloe). The blocked doorway or possibly recess marked B
on the plan has a near-triangular head which suggests the later thir-
teenth or early fourteenth century but the broader phasing of the
mid-fourteenth century to the death of the 3rd Lord Grey in 1375
is preferred, possibly but not necessarily associated with the licence
to crenellate of December 1346.

The quite grand ground-floor doorway at A with its taller rear
arch suggests the approach to a now lost tower built against the
curtain during this phase. The opening at B looks like the inner face
of a loop but it is more likely to be a doorway. It is possible that the
tower was not as large as suggested on the plan and that this
doorway was a postern. The matter remains open but as the
doorway at B is blocked with bricks matching the Tudor brickwork
elsewhere at the Court, it is probable that this tower was pulled
down in the sixteenth century.

Greys Court is such an extensive site that it is not unlikely that it
always consisted of at least two courts, a principal court and a base
court. The principal court extended for at least 180 feet westwards
from the North-East Tower. It would have included the hall and
family rooms, although their location is unclear. The base court
incorporated the well and was probably still wood palisaded during
the second-phase stone enclosure, but it is an open question when
this court was rebuilt in stone.

Phase 4 (or 2A?) The octagonal South-East Tower retains several
early to mid-fourteenth century features. Itis larger than the octag-
onal turrets of the contemporary gatehouse at Maxstoke Castle
built by William Clinton, Grey’s custodian during his personal
dispute with Sir William de la Zouche in 1332.3 Octagonal towers
were characteristic of the mid-fourteenth century as at Wells Palace
precinct (1340), Maxstoke Castle (1342-6), and Stafford Castle
keep (1348), and though the Greys Court tower is not as markedly
tall as those serving the Maxstoke entry, it would have been more
imposing when it carried its original top. It is possible, but by no
means certain, that it may have been one half of a gatehouse
entrance.

The site lacks such a structure but aerial photographs indicate
that the approach to the house lay from the east, north of the
present carriage drive. Among the improvements to the house by
the Grey family during the early to mid-fourteenth century, the
construction of a gatehouse should be numbered. It may have been
at the south-east angle to create an approach position like that at
Barnwell Castle. Stylistic elements suggest association with phase 2
while its form is more common in the middle of the fourteenth
century. The problem is not helped by the tower’s dissociation from
the remainder of the medieval evidence so that its position within
the house’s chronology is uncertain. The construction of a small
tower at A could also be part of this particular phase.

Phase 5. Dendro analysis has dated the kitchen area at the rear of
the house to 1450-1 and confirmed that it was part of a jettied
timber-framed range extending southwards. Its construction, again
parallel with the late fifteenth-century jettied timber range at
Maxstoke, can be attributed to the Lovel family of Titchmarsh and
Minster Lovell. They held the property after Alice, the elder of the
Deincourt heiresses, married William Lovel (d.1455) in 1422 and
this extended range, almost 100 feet long, was for services and
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lodging units. It betokens increasing comfort in a house that was
forfeited by Francis Lovel for rebellion in 1485. The position of this
timber-framed structure in relation to the well points to the pos-
sibility of a third smaller service court by the mid-fifteenth century.

Phase 6. The character of the truncated brick wall abutting the
Elizabethan ‘stables’ favours the mid to late fifteenth century. It has
a low crenellated parapet and a doorway in it closely resembles a
mid-fifteenth-century one at Ewelme. This brick wall was part of a
passageway separating the two principal courts while enhancing the
approach to the upper one.

Only one side stands of this large-scale quadrangular residence
developed over an extended time-scale that lacks early documentary
confirmation. It has lost the towers that would have marked its
north-west and south-west angles, the associated curtain walls, and
initial gateway evidence. Even so, much of the value of Greys Court
lies in tracing the development of an early fortified residence of
probable double-courtyard plan over an extended period. By the
close of Edward III’s reign, it proffered an east-facing parade
approach made up of an octagonal tower (possibly a gateway
element), a tower (lost), the Great Tower (standing), and the North-
East Tower (standing). This was especially noted by Leland in 1542
who recorded: “There appere enteringe into the maner place on the
righte hand 3 or 4 very olde towers of stone, a manifest token that
it was sume tyme a castle. There is a very large courte builyd about
with tymbar and spacyd [infilled] with brike; but this is of a latter
worke.”*

The early domestic apartments must have lain on the east and
north sides of the upper courtyard, for no structural evidence prior
to the mid-fifteenth century has been identified on the west side
where the majority of post-medieval developments lay. All early
domestic buildings were pulled down during the later sixteenth
century as part of the redevelopment of the house. In 1503, Robert
Knollys was at least the third of several tenants with his son holding
the property under letters patent in 1518. The strongly Protestant
Sir Francis Knollys (d.1596) had tactfully gone abroad during
Mary’s reign, but immediately upon his return after the accession of
Elizabeth I, he had commenced the major building project in a
series of developments from 1559 that totally transformed the char-
acter of Greys Court over the next thirty years. He demolished
many of the medieval buildings but there is strong evidence that the
multi-courtyard plan was retained at this stage, for Napier’s History
of Ewelme and Swyncombe’ shows the house in its late seventeenth-
century state after some of Sir Francis’ work had been demolished.
By that time, it consisted of a large quadrangle spanned by two low
gated walls of Tudor date in line with the octagonal towers and the
north end of Knollys’ house respectively,® with a new south-facing
outer court. Except for the loss of these brick walls and the changes
brought about by eighteenth-century landscaping, the appearance
of Greys Court is not radically dissimilar 300 years later.

NOTES
1 Sir Robert Grey (d.1295) complained in 1290 that deer had been taken
from his park at Rotherfield, while the inquisition post mortem of 1295
identifies the existence of a house. His grandson was born there ten years
later. Com. Peer., VI (1926) 144-5.
2 Cal. Pat. Rolls: 1345-48, 514. The licence also covered his dwelling place
at Sculcoates in the East Riding of Yorkshire. The licence was renewed
in February 1348.
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3 Com. Peer., VI (1926) 145-6.

4 Itinerary, V, 72.

5 Published in 1858. The illustration of the Court is a lithoprint copied
from an undated drawing.

6 Their position shows when the grass is parched as in 1955 and 1976. For
a resistivity survey of the site, South Midlands Archaeology 14 (1984) 70
and English Heritage (2004). The two courts at Brancepeth Castle were
similarly united into one vast area by post-medieval development.

C. Hussey, Country Life (June 1944)

The National Trust, Greys Court: Guide Book (1986)

English Heritage, Greys Court: Historic Building Report, ed. B. Jones
(2004) and Vern. Arch. 35 (2004) 99

HARWELL, BAYLIOL’S MANOR, Berkshire

This timber-framed house, set back from the centre of Harwell,
seems merely to be one of the larger properties in a village retain-
ing an extensive number of framed dwellings. They have been
subject to a considerable volume of research,! but Bayliol’s Manor
stands out as the house of an estate purchased by Richard Brounz
in 1355. Brounz enjoyed a trajectory career. Initially one of ten free-
holders in Harwell, he was chosen to be one of the two knights of
the shire to represent Berkshire in most of the parliaments between
1379 and 1390, and held the office of sheriff of Berkshire and
Oxfordshire in 1381-2. He died in about 1392. His house has been
known under several names, reflecting its changes of ownership:
Bayliol’s Manor when it was held by that family during the thir-
teenth century, Brunce’s Court from the early fourteenth to the
early fifteenth century, and Middle Farm after it had been settled

on Magdalen College, Oxford, in 1484 until its sale in 1946. The
property reverted to its earliest name in the late 1980s.

Bayliol’s Manor is a hall and cross-wing house with the wings in
line to the front but with rear projections. It is not the largest hall
and cross-wing house in the region. Hendred House, East
Hendred, 2 miles west, is considerably larger, but in contrast with
that manor house the framework at Bayliol’s Manor is displayed
with a clarity too often obscured by internal divisions and occupa-
tional modifications.

The exterior is not immediately prepossessing. All the windows
are nineteenth-century casements, and while much of the frontal
timberwork was refaced in the early twentieth century, part of the
south wing is an earlier rebuild. At the rear, the opposing walls of
the cross-wing projection have been enclosed by single-storey
extensions with the clay tile roofs sweeping over them from the
ridges. However, the front porch commands immediate attention.

There are two single-storey porches, the original one in line with
the cross passage and an early twentieth-century addition at the
other end of the hall, best removed. Like the hall and upper cross
wing, the contemporary porch stands on a low stone still. The outer
arch has a two-centred ogee head, while the frame of the pitched
roof is multi-cusped. The opposing cross-passage entries have
single-chamfered two-centred heads, but the front entry retains its
original door with lines of studs.

In 1589 (dated bracket), a floor was inserted in the hall and a sub-
stantial chimney stack built at its lower end with its rear face now
forming the right-hand side of the cross passage. A corridor was
also inserted at ground level, not repeated above so that the two
cross wings are still not linked at first-floor level. Originally 31 feet
by 23 feet, the hall was divided into two bays by a handsomely

PLATE 44 Harwell, Bayliol’s Manor: from the rear
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FIGURE 20 Harwell, Bayliol’s Manor: ground plan

exposed central cruck truss of braced tie beam with plain braced
crown post. The wind braces and, more surprisingly, the massive
double wall plates are markedly plain, particularly as the added
member on top of the tie beam was crenellated towards the dais.’
Smoke-blackened timbers indicate an open hearth.

The four-bay upper cross wing is now divided into three rooms
in line at ground- and first-floor level with exposed posts and
braces, bold but plain as elsewhere in this house. The upper rooms
are ceiled but the roof structure has been little touched and stands
unpainted in comparison with the framing elsewhere. The upper
floor was divided into a large three-bay chamber, open to the tie-
beam and crown-post roof, with a single end bay forming an inner
chamber.? The original ground-floor layout is not clear.

Two adjacent doors with two-centred heads and single chamfers
give access to the lower cross wing. This is earlier than the remain-
der of the house and has been subject to several drastic changes.
The only medieval ground-floor evidence is these doorways, oddly
sited towards the rear of the cross passage with one narrower than
the other, inserted when the hall was added. Whatever was here
beforehand became the services, though the present kitchen is late
sixteenth century, when the stack was added, the ceiling raised, and
the east end rebuilt.* The upper floor of two and a half bays sug-
gests a narrow stair bay, still partly filled by the modern stair,’
opening into a substantial chamber. The area is now divided into
two bedrooms with exposed tie-beam trusses with plain crown
posts, both braced four ways but one with two straight and two
downward-curved braces. None of the beams is chamfered.

For much of the middle ages, Harwell consisted of two manors
held by the bishop of Winchester and the earl of Cornwall. The
earls held the honour of Wallingford and used its castle so that the
prosperous village of Harwell was a potential source for royal ser-
vants such as John Harewell, one of the Black Prince’s closest advis-
ors, and Richard Brounz. No medieval documentation has survived
for this property but dendrochronology has identified two con-

struction periods. The timbers of the south wing were felled in
13234, and those of the hall and contemporary upper cross wing
were felled between 1367 and 1371.¢ The south wing was always 15
feet wide and apparently two-storeyed rather than a hall unit, so
that its attachment to an earlier hall, possibly as a solar wing, may
be assumed. Sir Richard Brounz replaced this earlier hall with a
more generous one and an upper wing in about 1372-3 as befitted
his improving position and standing, while the south wing was
downgraded to service use, though still with a high-quality chamber
above. There is a growing body of evidence for this practice else-
where in lowland England during the fourteenth century.’
Incidentally, the difference in building periods is also reflected in
the different cusping of the rear barge boards and the narrower
scantlings of the timbers in the earlier wing.

Bayliol’s Manor reflects the rising status of its gentry owner
during the third quarter of the fourteenth century, though the
house’s expansion was spacious rather than sophisticated. Whereas
single-storey church porches are common, the survival of a single-
storey domestic one is comparatively rare. The property also retains
a later-fourteenth-century outhouse, east of the south wing, and an
early fifteenth-century cruck barn at the corner with Grove Road.

NOTES

1 J. M. Fletcher, Owoniensia 26 (1961-2) 207-14; J. M. Fletcher, Berks.
Arch. Jour. 62 (1965-6) 45-69; C. R. J. Currie, Oxoniensia 57 (1992)
136-62.

2 Caurrie (1992) 151 suggests it was probably the remains of a later smoke
hood with vertical studs. He also notes that the double tie of the base
cruck is the last known example of this type of construction in a domes-
tic context.

3 Currie (1992) 151 hazards that it may be the oratory that was granted to
Richard Brounz and his wife in 1389. Wiltshire Record Office, Reg.
Waltham, £.95 v.

4 This, of course, has destroyed any evidence of whether this wing origi-
nally projected forward or not.

5 The infill between the posts was removed at the same time (as shown on
the ground plan).

6 Currie (1992) 151.

7 E.g. Tiptofts Manor and Little Chesterford Manor, Essex.

J. M. Fletcher, Berks. Arch. Four. 62 (1965-66) 47-56
C. R.]. Currie, Oxoniensia 57 (1992) 143-51

ICOMB PLACE, Gloucestershire

The village of Church Icomb lies on the sheltered slopes of the
Cotswolds overlooking the upper Evenlode valley with Icomb Place
on the edge of the combe to the south-west which gives the house
its name. It was probably built on the site of an earlier moated
house! and it is a good example of a later fifteenth-century gentle-
man’s residence with pretensions to style and scale.

Except for the hall, Icomb Place is a two-storeyed quadrangular
house lacking any forecourt enclosure evidence. The fine ashlar
gateway, slightly forward and to one side of the frontage, is the only
part of the house to retain embattled evidence. The broad four-
centred entry arch, flanked by shallow buttresses, is closed by
modern double doors replacing the original ones which existed in
1869.> The ogee four-light window above with scraped multi-
traceried head and a rear arch with open spandrels, retains the
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square-headed label that characterises all the plainer windows of
this frontage remade in the early sixteenth century. The ground
floor formerly consisted of two medium-sized rooms and a porter’s
lodge immediately right of the passage. The upper floor retains two
original fireplaces with bold external stacks at mid level rising well
above the eaves. The roof trusses, comparable to those in the hall®
but not necessarily of the same date, survive above the present
bedroom ceilings.

The gateway opens into an intimate, irregular-shaped court, no
longer paved since 1956 when it was grassed in the interests of
dryness. The hall lies opposite, filling the south side. Lacking any
porch, the screens entry is a deeply moulded four-centred arch with
tracery and shields in the spandrels, and a more simple opposing
entrance to the south court. The hall, 44 feet by 20 feet, is lit by two
windows of transomed twin lights towards the north and one to the
south. The graceless horse-collar tracery is a stripped-down version
of the original cusped form in the solar range. The fireplace is a
seventeenth-century replacement brought from the lower solar.
The hall is divided into five bays by braced collar-beam trusses sunk
into the side walls, with three lines of wind braces, one with the
regional characteristic of a counter curve (e.g. Frocester barn).

A doorway in the north-east corner,* originally larger, opens into
the lower solar or parlour with its replacement fireplace. This hand-
some room retains a six-light window towards the north court with
cinquefoil heads and a line of cusped ovoids above. Nearby is the
lower half of the bay window which is the dominant feature of the
courtyard with its carved label and buttress stops. Unfortunately,
the bay was truncated when the solar block was foreshortened by 6
feet (except for its north-west corner) to enable the north range to
be extended. This suggests that the entrance range may initially
have been little more than a gateway in a curtain wall.

A newel stair, formerly accessing the roof, leads from the lower
to the upper solar or withdrawing chamber. It repeats the fine fea-
tures and proportions observed below, except that the courtyard
window was of three lights until its enlargement in ¢.1900. The
barrel-shaped roof with close rafters was reopened in the 1970s
when the room was converted into a chapel. This was the use
described by Royce in 1869, but apart from its domestic character
and relation to the hall, the orientation is inappropriate. The stoup
in the north-facing closet is a late Victorian insertion.

The fact that the primary reception rooms were on the cheerless
north-west side of the house was not a worry before the twentieth
century when the occupants preferred the warmer south-east range.
Consequently the withdrawing room and smoking rooms with their
low bay windows were created within the former kitchen and
service areas. Only the evidence of the arches in the cross passage
and a service hatch’® testify to the former layout and use.

The smoking room is the one unit of the south court to survive.
The remainder was pulled down in 1884 after the house had been
‘rescued’ by Simpson-Hayward from two centuries of farmhouse
status. Victorian photographs show that this south court possessed
a late sixteenth- or early seventeenth-century character, but the
siting of the hall suggests it may have been an element of the late
medieval plan.

Icomb Place was attributed by Royce to Sir John Blaket (d.1430)
whose tomb lies in the nearby church, but there is no confirming
documentary evidence. His son’s will of 1444 notes ‘the manor
house at Iccumbe with hall, chambers, bakehouse and kitchen’ but
this may refer to the earlier residence.’ The double-courtyard plan
suggests that the house followed in the wake of Sudeley Castle
(c.1441-58) 12 miles west. The form and decoration of the solar
windows are later fifteenth century while the internal form of that

PLATE 4§ Icomb Place: entry range
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FIGURE 21 Icomb Place: ground plan

above the entrance gate emulates a ground-floor window in the east
range at Sudeley Castle (1470s). The hall has scale, and the double
residential block with its common bay window shows panache. The
gateway attempts to emulate more pretentious houses, as does the
existence of a second court.

It seems that Icomb Place reflects several development phases.
The outer wall of the hall cutting across the splay of the first-floor
window of the solar range is indicative of earlier walling. Not only
is the hall out of proportion to the rest of the house but its upper
end cuts into the line of the solar range. And that range is not to its
rear but to one side of its high end. Icomb Place therefore seems to
have its origins in a modest courtyard house, possibly early fifteenth
century, aggrandised later in the century when the larger hall was
created, the solar range remodelled, and the entrance range formed.
This last was remodelled in the early sixteenth century, the south
court may have been remodelled or extended in ¢.1600, while the
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graceless hall windows are probably contemporary with the nave
windows of St Mary’s, Warwick of 1698-1704.

The Blaket family had held Icomb since the 1340s but when Sir
John’s son, Edmund Blaket, died in 1444, the estate passed to his
sister Anne and her husband Ralph Baskerville (d.c.1480) and their
daughter until the coming of James Whitney of Hereford late in the
fifteenth century. His family sold the estate in 1654, but when this
was partitioned forty years later, the house followed a path of
neglect until its purchase by Simpson-Hayward in 1881. Excessive
tidying and alterations by him and his successors have left a
stripped-down house interior.

NOTES

1 The moat evidence does not share any conformity with the present
building.

2 Royce (1869-70) 102. Cooke (1957) 31 has an illustration also confirm-
ing the existence of the embattled parapet and window below.

3 Royce (1882-3) for longitudinal section, pl. 24, fig. 3.

4 That in the north-west corner is a twentieth-century insertion.

5 Noted by Royce (1882-3) 187. The Jacobean replacement hall screen
was moved into the body of the hall by Hayward and taken out fifty years
later.

6 Royce (1882) 179.

D. Royce, Reports of the Association of Archaeological Societies 10 (1869-70)
101-8

D. Royce, Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 7 (1882-3) 172-90

T. Garner and A. Stratton, The Domestic Architecture of England During
the Tudor Period, 1 (1911) 30-1

VCH, Worcestershire, 111 (1913) 41215

R. Cooke, West Country Houses (1957) 31-3

N. Kingsley, The Country Houses of Gloucestershire, 1 (1989) 111-13.

KINGSWOOD ABBEY and Gloucestershire gatehouses

The gateways at Kingswood and other monastic houses are
included in this volume for comparison with those of nearby secular
residences. Kingswood was a Cistercian house founded by William
Berkeley in ¢.1170 after monks from Tintern had tried to settle at
Hazleton and Tetbury. It became a large and important monastery
during the thirteenth century as a result of its sheep holding. It suf-
fered in the Black Death but recovery was aided by the Berkeleys
and sub-leasing its granges during the fifteenth century. It was dis-
solved in 1538, with clearance proving so wholesale (but helping
with the construction of the hunting lodge at Newark Park in ¢.1550
by the Poyntz family) that the site of the church and claustral build-
ings are not even known.!

The single survival is the richly decorated mid-fifteenth-century
gateway astride the village street with flanking lodges. Only the
front portion of the central gateway survives, for the rear bay has
been pulled down and the upper part board-faced. The central
passage with foot entrance retains its richly bossed lierne vault. The
two-light cinquefoil-headed window above lights a room with a
plain braced collar and two rows of wind braces.

The prime interest of the Kingswood gatehouse lies in its embel-
lishment and treatment like a fifteenth-century Flemish painting of
the Annunciation. The facade is decorated with flanking niches
(one almost destroyed), a shield-carrying angel, pinnacled but-
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PLATE 46 Kingswood Abbey: gatehouse

tresses, and gable ridge crockets. They serve to heighten the
imagery including the Manueline-like mullion of the central
window carved with a lily in a vase, the head of God above, and the
dove in the right-hand niche which formerly held, with its oppos-
ing one, statues of the Virgin Mary and the Archangel Gabriel. The
gable apex still retains the Crucifixion.

The two-storeyed lodgings, with pinnacled buttresses and
square-headed windows missing their cinquefoil lights, were separ-
ately roofed. The lodging to the right is no more than a fagade but
the left-hand one is still occupied.

The gatehouse at Llanthony Priory, Gloucester (1494-1500) was
embellished with the coats of arms of builders and patrons, but as
less than half its frontage stands, the late fifteenth-century gate-
house of Tewkesbury Abbey, more obviously utilitarian in design
than Kingswood, forms an instructive contrast. It is two-storeyed
but box-like, and the broad ground-floor passage of the Tewkesbury
gatehouse was divided by a cross wall with vehicular and foot entries
into two vaulted halves. There was again a single upper chamber
but much of the late fifteenth-century detailing dates from the
capable 1849 restoration.

These three monastic gatehouses should be compared with several

111

secular survivals covering a broader time-span. The fourteenth-
century gatehouse at Quenington originally served a property of the
Knights Hospitallers though it is now the entry to a nineteenth-
century house.? The origin of this tall two-storeyed gateway is pos-
sibly thirteenth century (postern doorway) but the principal
chamfered archway with four-centred head is a fifteenth-century
replacement. Above is an image niche with cinquefoil arch, finial, and
pinnacles fronting the upper room with quatrefoil-enriched roof
trusses.?

The fourteenth-century ruined gatehouse at Standish Court
guards an immaculately maintained house of 1548 and later, replac-
ing that built for the abbot of Gloucester.* Formerly two-storeyed
but lacking its upper floor, the still imposing entry passage, front
buttressed, was divided into vehicular and foot entry (two-centred
heads) to front and rear, as well as dividing the central cross wall as
at Tewkesbury. The porter’s lodge on the right-hand side was a sub-
stantial room with passage window.

The mid-fifteenth-century gatehouses at Icomb Place and at
Olveston and Court Farm, Lower Almondsbury, are described sep-
arately. The early Tudor one at Down Ampney near Fairford was
burntin 1961 and demolished two years later. It was a development
of the entry to Kingswood Abbey with its crocketed entrance gable
and flanking lodges, separated here by tall embattled turrets
forward of the entrance. It was built in 1537 as the entrance to the
home of a younger branch of the Hungerfords of Farleigh
Hungerford Castle.’

NOTES

1 E. S. Lindley, Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 73 (1954) 115-91 with
supplements in the following two volumes. Lindley suggested that the
abbey lay between the mill leat and the stream north of the gatehouse,
ibid. 176. The gatehouse roof has been dendro dated to 1441-66. Vern.
Arch. 34 (2003) 105-6.

2 Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 93 (1975) 136-41. The medieval barn
and dovecote also remain.

3 The twin-entranced gatehouse to Cirencester Abbey, all that stands of
that foundation, is late twelfth century but is an early version of that to
the preceptory at Quenington.

4 VCH, Gloucestershire, X (1972) 234.

5 T. Garner and A. Stratton, The Domestic Architecture of England during the
Tudor Period (1911) 102, pl. 138. J. A. Henderson, Down Ampney and the
Families of Hungerford and Eliot 1374-1929 (1974). The much-altered
four-bay hall, 39 feet by 24 feet, with embellished queen-post trusses and
reversed access, accords more with the Henrician date it used to carry
than with the mid to late fifteenth-century date sometimes accorded it.

LECKHAMPTON COURT, Gloucestershire

This substantial U-shaped house was developed by a branch of the
Giffard family of Brimpsfield. Their thirteenth-century castle, like
those at Berkeley and Beverston sited next to the church, was
destroyed by Edward I in 1322 for the family’s support of the baro-
nial cause. Its owner, Sir John Giffard, was captured and hanged.!
A younger branch of the family had acquired the manor of
Leckhampton 4 miles northwards early in the fourteenth century
and erected the earliest part of the Courtin ¢.1315-25. The open-
ness of the hall range built by Sir John Giffard (d.1330) could not
have formed a greater contrast with the keep and towered enclosure
of the family’s abandoned fortress at Brimpsfield on the hills above.
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pLATE 47 Leckhampton Court: hall and services range from the south-east

Leckhampton Court remained in the possession of the Giffards
until 1486, when it passed by marriage to John Norwood (d.1509)
who built the timber-framed south wing. His son extended an early
residential range on the north side to create a wing of comparable
length. An improvement in Norwood prosperity in ¢.1570 through
marriage to the daughter of Lord Beauchamp of Madresfield led to
internal improvements and the south-east extension where a
doorway is dated 1582, but the Court subsequently suffered from a
series of misfortunes. Kip shows its standing in 1712 but a fire
twenty years later destroyed the majority of the north wing, which
was curiously replaced by a three-and-a-half-storeyed Georgian
house abutting the hall, leaving the end of the wing as a detached
residence. It is in this form that the Court is shown in Lyson’s
Antiquities (1803). The Georgian house was pulled down in 1848,
the Georgian inserted floor in the hall was removed, and the bay
window added at its upper end. The detached north block was
united with the hall by an infill by H. A. Prothero in 1894-1905,
well modelled externally but financially stringent within. The
Court was used as a hospital during the First World War, then suf-
fered from intermittent tenancies, occupation by German prisoners
of war in 1941-5, use as a boarding school in 1957-69, and subse-
quent vandalism. Conversion into a hospice in 1979-82 had to be
drastic but it brought renewed life to a building which had partly
collapsed.

Built and roofed with Leckhampton stone from the hill immedi-
ately behind the house, the Court stands on the lower slopes of the
Cotswold scarp immediately above a band of unstable clay. The
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frontage still faces farmland along the foot of the hills, with its back
to the visible expansion of Cheltenham. The architectural develop-
ment of the Court is written more boldly on the exterior than the
interior of the house as a result of the many domestic changes made
during the last hundred years — not least in adapting it as a hospice.

The early fourteenth-century hall, chamber block, and services
were built in line under a continuous roof ridge. The residential
wing on the left-hand side of the court overlapping the upper end
of the hall is in two sections of 1894-1905 and ¢.1510-15 respec-
tively. The staff wing on the right-hand side of ¢.1490 beyond the
line of the hall range has rear additions of 1848. The ends of the
wings show that enclosure of the courtyard was always by a wall and
not by a gatehouse range.

The two-storeyed entry is a mid to later fifteenth-century addi-
tion with quatrefoil stops to the outer hood and a late sixteenth-
century frontal window above. The diagonal buttresses,
four-centred doorheads, and side openings to the beamed porch
and upper chamber reflect the form of the porch at Little Sodbury
Manor, though surmounted at Leckhampton by an embattled
parapet.? The cross-passage doorways were replaced at the same
time to their present plain four-centred form.

The outer walls of the hall and service range are early fourteenth
century but the hall, 33 feet by 25 feet, is the only apartment to
retain evidence of its initial character. Both side walls are lit by twin
transomed trefoiled lights with quatrefoil head, three on the west
and two on the east, lacking window seats. The end bay of similar
window form is an 1848 viewing insertion while the two north



LEWKNOR CHURCH FARM

Services with
g Hall chambers above
< ¢.1315-25
1848 [oas0) 1848
0 1848
2}
<+
o)
©
- j e 1490
Courtyard
¢.1510-15 1848

0 10 20 30 40 feet
A N N

1T 1T 1 1
0 3 6 9 12 metres
Z<—|7

FIGURE 22 Leckhampton Court: site plan (limited measurement)

windows are 1979 rebuilds arising from roof collapse. The new
almost parabolic roof did not attempt to follow the preceding tra-
ditional form of unclear date — thought to be fourteenth century’
but more probably nineteenth century.*

There is no evidence of a residential block beyond the upper end
wall of the hall, this being precluded by falling ground,® but an
added wing on the site of the Georgian house and the late Victorian
replacement is likely. The conversion of a window rather than an
original doorway in the north-west angle of the hall suggests that
such a wing may have been a later fourteenth- or fifteenth-century
addition replacing the family chambers above the services.

Only the outer walls and end stack survive of the services and
chamber end of the hall range. The stack indicates that the
ground-floor offices were followed by the kitchen, with an outer
and an inner chamber above for family use. Part of a doorhead east
of the stack may have been a garderobe entry. The two pseudo-
fourteenth-century windows in the east side are mid-nineteenth
century; those to the courtyard are late sixteenth-century replace-
ments. Even so, the standing remains at Leckhampton hardly do
justice to the quality of Giffard’s house, particularly if the vaulted
chancel and tower of the church in the grounds of the house, rea-
sonably attributable to Sir John, are taken as a yardstick of his
work.°

The staff and services south wing has a buttressed stone ground
floor and close timber-framed upper floor similar to the late fif-
teenth-century courtyard range at Llanthony Priory, Gloucester. It
is broken by three eighteenth-century window frames cutting
through both floors, replacing earlier openings — rectangular ones
in stone and unframed windows above between the vertical post and
central rail. The rear fagade was stone-faced in the eighteenth
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century, with the west end remodelled in the nineteenth century to
match that of the opposing wing. Apart from the upper framing of
two partition walls and a bay with wind braces (as in the early Tudor
unit opposite), the interior was completely remodelled as bedrooms
in 1980-2.

The family wing was extended in ¢.1510-15 by a two-storeyed
buttressed unit with uncusped windows under square hoods with
diamond-shaped stops. The courtyard doorway is a window con-
version but the principal chamber was the upper one, formerly open
to the roof of collar-braced trusses (one original). Well lit on three
sides including an oriel in the north wall, the corbelled chimney
stack serving a forward lintel is surmounted by two contrasting
brick chimneys, one of twisted moulds.

NOTES

1 J. N. Langston, Tians. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc. 65 (1944) 105-28; A.
Dodd and P. Moss, Glevensis 25 (1991) 34-7. In 1283 Sir John Giffard, a
leading supporter of the earl of Gloucester and the most prominent
member of the family, founded Gloucester Hall at Oxford to encourage
the monks of St Peter’s Abbey to study there. The monastic lodgings are
now part of Worcester College.

2 The hall range parapet is mid-nineteenth century.

3 N. Kingsley, The Country Houses of Gloucestershire, 1 (1989) 123.

4 D. Verey and N. Pevsner, The Buildings of England: Gloucestershire, 11
(1970) 285.

5 The Georgian clasping of the north-east angle, one block incised 1794,
probably made good a destroyed east court wall.

6 Sir John Giffard is also credited with building the south chapel but the
table tomb formerly here was poked into a rear corner of the church and
the effigies of Sir John and his wife transposed when the nave was rebuilt
in 1866-8. A pertinent parallel with Leckhampton’s original hall and
chamber form is the more humble Daneway House at Sapperton, 10
miles south. This much-altered and extended 45 foot rectangular block,
dendro dated to 1315, retains its hall (now floored) with an arch-braced
collar-beam roof, and services unit with chamber over. The oratory that
Henry Clifford obtained permission to erect may have been above the
added porch, marked by a possible stair entry from the ogee trefoil-
arched doorway next to the hall entry. This house has a complex devel-
opment that extends to the present day. D. Verey and A. Brooks, The
Buildings of England: Gloucestershire, 1 (1999) 593-4; T. Garner and A.
Stratton, The Domestic Architecture of England During the Tudor Period, 11
(1911) 178-80; C. Hussey, Country Life (January 1952); VCH,
Gloucestershire, 11 (1976) 17; W. Rodwell, Trans. Bristol and Glos. Arch. Soc.
118 (2000) 11-12.

E. Andred and E. Brewin, Leckbampton through the Ages (1979)

LEWKNOR CHURCH FARM, Oxfordshire

Immediately south-west of the church, a weather-boarded barn, 50
feet by 32 feet, encases the frame of a medieval timber-framed hall.
Crude framing on a brick base, planking, and a hipped roof have
replaced the west end and side walls of the earlier house so that
there is no door or window evidence — only the timber trusses that
supported the roof, and part of the east end wall.

The hall was of two and a half bays, separated by two cambered
tie-beam trusses. The whole of the first or west-facing bay is filled
to its plain wall-plate level by a steel grain store that conceals all
structural evidence. The upper half of the end wall is a nineteenth-
century remake, as is this end of the roof structure, so that only half



THE THAMES VALLEY

PLATE 48 Lewknor Church Farm: hall interior
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LITTLE SODBURY MANOR

the roof bay retains its wind braces. It is probable that this was orig-
inally never more than a half bay, about 9 feet deep, at the lower end
of the hall, particularly as the first truss is a spere truss. The cam-
bered tie beam is supported on two square posts, the central span
double braced, while the 6 foot wide aisles have trefoil-shaped
braces of embryonic ogee form. Above are queen posts with wide
braces to the collar and purlins, and side braces against the roof tiles
to the end of the tie beam. Above is a second collar with multi-
cusped braces and cusped wind braces to the clasped purlins. The
aisles of this spere truss retain their upper infill support.

The second bay, 15 feet deep, is separated from the third bay by
a much-altered truss. Originally, it was a massive tie beam, sup-
ported by arch braces from the side walls with the same superstruc-
ture as the spere truss. However, an inherent weakness in this 30
foot span necessitated the insertion of aisle posts, replicating the
form of those used in the spere truss, with the braces reused to
support the narrowed central span. Itis possible that the arch braces
were originally cusped on the inner edge, hacked away during their
reuse but leaving mutilated mortices.

The third bay, 20 feet deep, has an end wall that was clearly meant
to be appreciated. It is divided into three registers to the later
hipped gable. The lowest consisted of four panels, recently replaced
by concrete blocks but with slight evidence that it was braced.! The
second is divided by struts into four equal panels with cusped braces
repeating the ogee head. The highest level has a simple braced
central panel.

Lewknor Church Farm is a two-and-a-half-bay hall, approxi-
mately 42 feet by 29 feet internally, with a remodelled central truss
and spere truss division. It was clearly an impressive and richly
ornamented structure, though it now lacks all fenestration or entry
evidence. The hall may have been free-standing or with an asso-
ciated block at the lower end, but destruction makes this unclear. It
is a late structure, comparable in span to the hall of Stokesay Castle.
It is attributable to the second quarter of the fourteenth century on
analogy with raised aisle structures in Essex and the rudimentary
ogee-nipped heads, until dendrochronology identifies a more
precise date.? The house was not manorial. From its position close
to the church, it may have been a rectorial property of Abingdon
Abbey until acquired by All Souls College in 1440.3 It is more likely,
however, that it was the home of the Lewknor family who were
established in the parish between the twelfth and later fourteenth
centuries. John Lewknor (d.c.1360) represented the county in par-
liament between 1332 and 1354, and was responsible for rebuilding
the east end of the church between 1320 and 1340.* Despite its
much-mauled condition, the hall was a substantial and impressive
one, but as the farm and outbuildings are all post-medieval, evi-
dence of the house’s scale and enclosure is absent. The lack of any
fireplace insertion suggests the hall was abandoned before the close
of the fifteenth century, possibly after the Lewknors died out, allow-
ing it to be downgraded.

NOTES

1 Morrey and Smith (1973) 343.

2 The period between 1325 and 1360 is also suggested by J. M. Fletcher
on a comparative basis with other nearby fourteenth-century halls:
(1974) 250. Dendrochronology has proved inconclusive so far. Vern.
Arch. 21 (1990) 47, 49.

3 H. L. Turner, Oxoniensia 37 (1972) 187-91.

4 VCH, Oxfordshire, VIII (1964) 101-2; Fletcher (1974) 250-1.

M. C. J. Morrey and J. T. Smith, Oxoniensia 38 (1973) 339-45
J. M. Fletcher, Oxoniensia 39 (1974) 247-53
E. Mercer, English Vernacular Houses (1975) 194

LITTLE SODBURY MANOR, Gloucestershire

The unorthodox plan and development of Little Sodbury Manor
has been determined by its steep siting on the Cotswold escarp-
ment, but lightning and fire in 1556, storms in 1703, and nine-
teenth-century neglect have taken their toll. The resultis a mélange
of several building periods in roughcast Cotswold stone round an
impressive fifteenth-century hall, perched on a narrow platform of
land below the crest of the hills. It was subject to an extended res-
toration by Harold Brakspear in 1913-15 for Lord Grosvenor and
between 1919 and 1926 for Baron de Tuyll incorporating early
material Brakspear found on the site.

The sharp fall in ground level meant that the early approach to
the house lay at the south end of the upper terrace. The gateway
there was destroyed in the 1630s but its foundations survive beneath
the grass. Because the present approach is from the north directly
into the 1703 wing, it is necessary to walk round the west end of the
house to the garden front to reach the former entrance court and
house approach.

The two-storeyed porch with four-centred entrance arch is sup-
ported by diagonal buttresses with decorated offsets. Rising ground
within the porch necessitated a flight of steps to the hall doorway.
The decorative squints here, and in the room above, looking
towards the gateway site were covered when the two-storeyed south
range was added in the early sixteenth century. The room over the
porch has a two-light cinquefoil window above the entrance and a
roof modestly reflecting that of the hall.

The screens passage, unusually 10 feet broad, is as wide as the
porch. The two arches with depressed four-centred heads formerly
giving access to the offices may be associated with the added south
range rather than the earlier hall. The lower end of that apartment
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PLATE 49 Little Sodbury Manor: garden front
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FIGURE 23 Little Sodbury Manor: site plan

is filled with a towering wall of close-set studding divided into five
tiers. As at Buckland Rectory, use was made of the projecting outer
wall of an earlier, possibly fourteenth-century, timber-framed
house. The screen is made up of panels with blind traceried heads,
but although it is said that the section near the porch has always
been there, this is doubtful.

The hall is divided into four bays spanned by arch-braced collar
beams carried on stone corbels decorated with angels holding blank
shields. The steep pitch of the roof necessitated four tiers of wind
braces. Its lofty upper reaches were lit by two windows in the
further end gable with cusped heads. In contrast, the paired lights
in the upper side walls are plain, and are probably early sixteenth-
century replacements set within steep four-centred rear arches.
There were probably no lower windows in the west wall, for the
present ones are 1919 copies replacing 1703 insertions.

The present fireplace is a 1914 insertion, for old photographs
show that it was previously in the middle of the upper end wall.
Equally drastic has been the eradication of the two bays at the upper
end of the hall, leaving only their entry arches. That towards the
west originally provided the principal light at the upper end of the
hall, but it was destroyed in the early sixteenth century to serve as
an approach to an extension to the solar block. The east bay, almost
abutting the hillside, enclosed the stair to the solar until the early
nineteenth century. The wall of the chamber above was pierced by
a spy hole in the shape of a mask, allowing people to look into the
hall unperceived as at Great Chalfield Manor. This bay was recon-
structed by Brakspear reusing an elaborately decorated window
found in the rockery. It serves as a lobby to cloakrooms and the stair
leading to his externally hung corridor ingeniously linking the
north and south ends of the house without having to traverse the
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hall. The hacked courses below the base stops of the entry arches
were a consequence of lowering the hall floor in 1703.

The north wing was remodelled in 1703 and possibly the adja-
cent solar block was abandoned at that time or not long afterwards.
It was pulled down in the early nineteenth century and recon-
structed by Brakspear in 1919. He incorporated a number of very
attractive fifteenth-century windows with multi-cusped heads here
and in other parts of the house, including the east oriel, kitchen, and
offices at the south end of the house. They betoken rooms of con-
siderable splendour and probably originated in the solar apartments
of this manor.

Because of the earlier timber-framed structure, the lower
chamber block was three-storeyed under a common roof ridge with
the hall. The ground-floor offices were altered during the building
of the early sixteenth-century south range. The single rooms on the
first and second floor retain no pre-Reformation features outside
the first-floor oriel and the single roof bay with its three tiers of
wind braces. The approach to these rooms may have been from a
staircase on the site of the present one of ¢.1635 built by Edward
Stephens, high sheriff of the county.

The kitchen projected east of the services instead of in line with
them. It retains the original fireplace (oak lintel replaced) in the
south wall with an oven at the side. The two wooden arches with
flattened heads opposite were formerly the original kitchen
entrance and a hatch, though when the latter was blocked, the
doorway was converted into a hatch and the present entrance
inserted. The window is a 1919 make-up from recovered fragments.

There is little documentation for the early history of this dramat-
ically sited house overlooking the Vale of Berkeley and the Severn
estuary. Three late medieval building phases can be established.
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The retained part of the timber-framed house is possibly fourteenth
century. The hall and destroyed solar block were characterised by
steeply pitched four-centred arches and highly ornate decorative
windows of the second quarter of the fifteenth century as at the
Divinity School, Oxford (c.1430-9), while the plan of porch, hall,
and opposing bays was adopted at a number of nearby houses
including South Wraxall Manor (¢.1460-90), Great Chalfield
Manor (c.1478-85), Bewley Court (later fifteenth century), and
Hazelbury Manor (late fifteenth century). Construction during the
third quarter of the fifteenth century is likely for this work by a
member of the Stanshawe family who had acquired the manor early
in that century.

In 1472, Elizabeth Foster of Little Sodbury Manor married John
Walsh of Olveston Court. Their son, Sir John (d.1547), who inher-
ited the property in 1504, remodelled the house in ¢.1510-20, char-
acterised by plain lights and depressed four-centred arches. A
popular courtier, he added the south range, rebuilt the kitchen with
its upper room, remodelled the hall windows and west bay, and
extended the north wing. The Walsh line continued to occupy the
house until 1608 when it was purchased by Thomas Stephens. His
son Edward inserted the stair tower south of the hall during the
1630s at the same time as he updated some of the rooms nearby.
The two-storeyed wing north of the hall with its fine fenestration
was rebuiltin ¢.1703. This and the Brakspear extension of 1913-15
on the site of the solar block provide the house with an attractive
suite of family rooms.

H. A. Tipping, English Homes, Pds 1 and 2, II (1937) 105-12
R. Cooke, West Country Houses (1967 edn) 34-7

LYPIATT PARK, Gloucestershire

Commandingly sited on the crest of the Cotswolds overlooking
Stancombe valley, Lypiatt Park, formerly the manor house of Over
Lypiatt, was first recorded in 1324 when it was the home of the
Mansel family until the year before Sir Philip Mansel’s death in
1396. His father Sir William may well have been responsible for the
original house, but it was replaced by that of the Wye family at the
beginning of the sixteenth century. Theirs was a double-courtyard
house separated by the great hall flanked by the residential block
and services block under a common roof ridge, not unlike the early
fourteenth-century hall and services range at Leckhampton Court.
Only the walls of the extended hall range at Lypiatt seem to have
been incorporated in Sir Jeffry Wyatville’s remodelling of the house
in 1809-15 for Sir Paul Wathen. Wyatville was typically wholesale
in his impressive Gothick castellated style. The hall has always
remained open to the roof but the apartment is essentially Regency
in character, as are the reception rooms, some whitewashed to set
off Lynn Chadwick’s sculptures. In 1876, Thomas Henry Wyatt
added a more correct but dreary south-west wing in a half-hearted
Tudor style.

The more interesting medieval elements to survive are supple-
mentary to the house — the independent chapel and two agricultu-
ral outbuildings. Sir Philip Mansel was granted a licence for a
private chapel in 1362 and the present two-cell structure in a corner
of the outer court probably dates from that time. The side windows
in both nave and chancel are early Tudor but the four-light tracer-
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PLATE 50 Lypiatt Park: engraving from the south by Johannes Kip
(c.1700)

ied windows at the east and west ends, the latter with the family’s
arms on the head stops, are earlier. The corridor linking the chapel
to the house is a pretty Wyatville addition.

The fourteenth-century granary is a well-preserved two-storeyed
buttressed structure above a low base with external steps to the first
floor and a contemporary grain chute terminating in a spout shaped
like a bull’s head. The floor is supported on an externally projecting
stone ledge to carry the weight of the grain and deter rats. Kip’s view
of the early Tudor house in ¢.1700 shows that the granary and the
contemporary dovecote nearby were among a considerable number
of outbuildings beyond the courtyard curtilage and of a kind all too
often swept away in a continuing domestic context.

R. Cooke, West Country Houses (1967 edn) 29-30
VCH, Gloucestershire, 11 (1976) 111-13

MINSTER LOVELL HALL, Oxfordshire

The principal approach to this early to mid-fifteenth-century
mansion of the Lovel family is unclear. The Hall lies next to the
church at the end of a lane from the village and this is the approach
used today. A less clear one is the path from Witney across the
replacement footbridge on medieval stone abutments spanning the
River Windrush 300 yards south-east of the house. This leads to a
passageway next to the stables and a cobbled path to the hall, but the
entry was a particularly modest one, whereas that from the village led
through the area now occupied by Manor Farm to the vaulted hall
porch. Perhaps this was used by visitors and guests, with their horses
being taken by staff to the river entrance and the adjacent stables.
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Footings of the earlier house of the Lovels were exposed during
site excavations in 1937-9 and have been left, to make the courtyard
layout a confusing one through their lack of differentiation. All
earlier work was swept away by William 7th Lord Lovel (d.1455)
and replaced by the present structure between about 1431 and
1440. His son (d.1465) rather than his grandson (d.1487) added a
residential tower, but there were no major additions after the prop-
erty was forfeited to the crown in 1485 or after its purchase by Sir
Edward Coke in 1602. Thomas Coke, later 1Ist earl of Leicester,
spent his honeymoon here in 1721 and considered residing perma-
nently at Minster Lovell.! Buck’s valuable engraving of 1729 shows
the house in its occupied state, but Coke initiated the development
of Holkham Hall five years later, permanently moved to Norfolk,
and abandoned his Oxfordshire property. The Hall was dismantled
in about 1747 and became a quarry for building material,’ but the
ruins have changed little since that time.

The mansion was built round three sides of a quadrangle, with
the fourth side open to the river until a low buttressed wall was
added to hold back winter flooding. Local Cotswold limestone was
used throughout, with many of the walls retaining putlog holes.
The hall and line of residential apartments stand to roof height, as
does the added tower, but the two wings of lodgings and offices
facing each other have been reduced to foundation level (fig. 24).

The garden of Manor Farm necessitates an approach today
through the churchyard to the decorative cobbled path of uncertain
date leading to the hall porch.? It is part of the residential range
built in front of the hall that introduces the only variant to the
normal fifteenth-century house plan that Minster Lovell otherwise
displays. Instead of the usual porch tower projecting from the hall
face, this porch is at one end of the ground floor, as an integral part
of a two-storeyed range with a major apartment at each level. Entry
is by a two-centred outer arch with wave and hollow moulding,
repeated on the inner face. There were no outer doors. The deep,
two-bay passage with stone side benches was quadripartite vaulted
with oakleaf and rose bosses. Walls and vault were formerly plas-
tered and there was a pair of doors framed by the inner arch with
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bold roll mouldings. The latter is characteristic of the first half of
the fifteenth century but wave moulding is a common West of
England feature of the late fourteenth century. Lacking the
moulded plinth used throughout the remainder of the north range,
this outer arch was probably reused from the earlier house.

The walls of the hall, 50 feet by 26 feet, stand to eaves height,
creating an apartment 40 feet tall with the gables reaching consid-
erably higher. The relationship of height to length and width is dis-
proportionate to our eyes, emphasised by the practice at the time of
limiting the windows to the upper walling, to allow for wall hang-
ings below, but reduced still further here on the north side by the
abutting residential block. Most light comes from the two tall
square-headed transomed and mullioned windows in the south wall
with four-centred rear arch and evidence of cinquefoiled lights.
Only a limited amount of light came from the two opposing
windows, one of which is still complete though lacking the armo-
rial glazing of the Lovels and associated families that formerly filled
all the hall windows.

The walls retain much of their plasterwork but the form of the
four-bay roof supported on the continuous moulded corbel is not
known. The central hearth was never replaced by a mural fireplace,
while Buck’s engraving confirms that there was no louvre, only
small gable-end chimneys. Cross draughts high in the roof helped
the smoke to escape through them and the three square openings
in the gable ends. The cross-passage bay at the lower end has a
single central entry with double doors opening into the kitchen
passage, with a stair entry nearby to the chamber over the services.
There is no evidence that the entry to the south court was porch
protected, for the passageway here, reduced to footings, is a
sixteenth-century addition. The unbroken dais wall is flanked by
identical doorways, relatively small in contrast with those at the
lower end as befitted the approach to the private apartments.

There were two such groups of apartments, only united at first-
floor level. The south door opened into a square stair projection
with angled passage to the ground-floor parlour. Its fireplace was
originally in the wall common with the hall dais but it was moved
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to the opposite side in the sixteenth century, retaining the earlier
lintel with quatrefoil spandrels. The principal window was in the
lost south wall with a slit window in the north-west corner. There
was no link between the parlour and the smaller north-facing room.

The main stair ascended to a vaulted lobby and angled passage to
the first-floor withdrawing or great chamber, nearly 50 feet by 20
feet, extending over both ground-floor rooms. This important
chamber was lit by two-light, mullioned and transomed end-wall
windows, that to the north shown by Buck. His engraving also
includes the chimney to the fireplace that retains no more today
than jamb evidence. This chamber was the pivot to the more private
rooms — the chapel lobby to the north, a mural stair to a secure
room over the lobby vault (Lovel’s treasury), and the family’s more
privy chambers to the west.

The north door from the hall dais opens into a poorly lit lobby
with three-way access — to a west room reduced to foundation level,
to a newel at the north-west corner, similarly reduced, and to a fine
apartment separated from the lobby by a stone screen. The north-
facing wall was filled by three windows set in broad splays to the
floor, with rear arches rising to piered quatrefoil spandrels in four-
centred heads. The rectangular window frames have lost their
heads, but Buck shows that they were of two traceried lights. The
end wall is solid, common with the vaulted porch, but the south side
had a large fireplace, now bereft of all dressed stonework. Though
the newel led to the chapel above (and to a post-Reformation two-
storeyed range shown by Buck but leaving no ground evidence),
these two larger and smaller ground-floor rooms, lobby separated,
were a self-contained suite for a person of quality.

The upper floor, also lobby separated, opened into a five-bay
room which extended over the ground-floor porch. Little remains
other than its inner wall (common with the hall) and moulded roof
corbels. Again, Buck’s engraving shows its four windows of three
traceried lights and similar east window, all with two-centred heads
as against the square heads common elsewhere. Its east-facing posi-
tion, the distinctive window form, and the shallow scar of the fire-
place inserted later point to its use as a chapel before becoming
residential at a later stage in the Hall’s occupation. The principal
entrance, however, was always from the withdrawing chamber into
the lobby or ante-chapel.

The north-west range, similarly two-storeyed, has two low
ground-floor rooms and a particularly tall upper floor. The lower
rooms are without character beyond a simple splayed opening and
corner fireplace to the inner room. The upper floor was almost
identical in proportions to the withdrawing chamber but the thick-
ness of the ground-floor division and the function of private apart-
ments at this time suggest that it was probably divided into a larger
outer and smaller inner chamber.* The key survival is the splendid
transomed end window with its pair of upper and lower cinque-
foiled lights with quatrefoil heads. With its flying rear arch, concave
jambs, window seats, and external hood with head stops, this
window confirms Buck’s evidence that rich fenestration was charac-
teristic of Lovel’s mansion.

Little survives of the two-storeyed courtyard wings beyond their
foundations. The west wing was divided into five ground-floor
rooms, the first two with doorways, the first three with fireplaces,
and the last room with end garderobe drain. Of the upper rooms,
possibly lodgings or guest accommodation, only the end gable sur-
vives with square-headed two-light window.
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Early foundations run across the west wing, as they do confus-
ingly across the east wing, particularly at the south end. The broad
kitchen passage opening from the lower end of the hall was flanked
by timber-partitioned services, one with a double wall cupboard.
The chamber above was a major one with a five-light transomed
end window (Buck). The passage turned a right angle to the cobbled
kitchen with its well and massive hearth in the thickened outer wall.
Further south was the river entry and cobbled through-passage,
flanked by the stables with two rows of stalls on either side of the
central alley.

The Lovel family had held the manor of Minster Lovell since the
twelfth century, with documentary and structural evidence of a
much-loved house here. They also had a large fortified house in
Titchmarsh in Northamptonshire during the thirteenth and early
fourteenth centuries but this had fallen into disrepair. Rather than
remodel the family home at Minster Lovell, John 5th Lord Lovel had
erected an entirely new residence at Wardour in Wiltshire (c.1393).
William 7th Lord Lovel did not enter into his inheritance until the
death of his grandmother in 1423, a year after his marriage to the
heiress of the Deincourt and Grey of Rotherfield baronies, three
years after he had successfully claimed Lord Burnell’s estates, and fifty
years after his grandfather had married the Holand heiress. William
served in France during the 1420s but not after 1431. He obtained a
licence to impark land close to his manor of Minster Lovell in 1440
and to hold it as free chase under his own rather than the king’s forest
officers two years later.’ Reconstruction between about 1431 and
1440 is most probable, by a person who, despite his very considerable
wealth, kept a low profile throughout the years leading to the out-
break of the Wars of the Roses in the same year that he died.

Lord Lovel’s financial resources were the equal of those of Lord
Cromwell,® but while the latter was remodelling Tattershall Castle
and building Wingfield Manor in addition to his other less expen-
sive projects, Lovel’s contemporary activity was far more modest in
scale. It was also conventional in layout, particularly in contrast
with his grandfather’s development at Wardour. The foundation
evidence from the earlier manor house still standing in 14237 sug-
gests that Lovel followed its layout, with the kitchen and services
facing a two-storeyed residential wing as it had at Stanton Harcourt
fifty years earlier. The awkward proportions of the hall show the
influence of the similarly scaled hall at Wardour Castle, here sited
at ground level reusing the previous entry. A ground-floor chapel
like that at Rycote was eschewed in favour of a more old-fashioned
first-floor one opening from the withdrawing chamber, like that at
Broughton Castle a century earlier. The private apartments were
two- rather than three-storeyed, with relatively low ground-floor
rooms.® Buck’s engraving as well as the surviving evidence show that
the house was generously windowed and richly traceried, for the
site had no pretensions to defence or protection. It was simply a
comfortably furnished country house, still memorably close to the
River Windrush in its field- and tree-framed setting.

The only addition was the four-storeyed tower overlapping the
south-west corner of the west wing and almost touching the edge
of the river. It was a combined garderobe and lodging tower with
prospect room, standing to roof level on the west side and partially
so to the north and south. It was built in better-quality stone than
the adjoining west wing and was richly decorated with traceried
windows and gargoyles at roof level and supporting the newel
turret. The ground floor was divided into two garderobe closets
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FIGURE 24 Minster Lovell Hall: site plan

served by a pit against the end wall, flushed by the river. An exter-
nal stair rose to the first floor, retaining a single light and splay evi-
dence of a south-facing window. The two principal rooms above
were reached from the first-floor landing by the newel that termi-
nates in an octagonal head above roof level. The second-floor room
was fairly low, with a drain and south-facing window, while the

120

uppermost room retains part of a larger south-facing oriel with
stopped hood. The ground floor of the High Tower at Wingfield
Manor (1440s) was similarly planned for garderobe purposes with
the first floor approached from the adjacent wing, and the upper-
most room, as in the 1460s tower at Stanton Harcourt, designed to
command wide views.
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PLATE 52 Minster Lovell Hall: south-west tower

There is little difference between the character of this secondary
structure and the earlier windows, plain chapel parapet and gar-
goyles, so that it is more likely to be the work of John 8th Lord
Lovel who died in 1465 than of his successor, Francis 9th Lord
Lovel. Francis did not enter into his inheritance until 1478 when he
was twenty-two years old, already one of the closest friends and a
most loyal supporter of Richard, duke of Gloucester. As a ward of
Richard Neville, earl of Warwick, he was brought up with Richard
at Middleham Castle, served with Richard in the north, and became
chamberlain of the household shortly after Richard’s accession to
the throne. Gloucester had extended the private apartments at
Sudeley Castle, 20 miles away, between ¢.1469 and 1478 so that the
usual attribution of the south-west tower to the young Lovel at his
family home cannot be entirely dismissed. Though Francis escaped
from the battlefield at Bosworth, he failed to do so at Stoke two
years later and never saw Minster Lovell again.’

NOTES

1 He was created Baron Lovel of Minster Lovell in 1728.

2 The massive fifteenth-century door and fireplace with quatrefoil span-
drels in Manor Farm was transferred from the Hall at about this time.

3 The farm has a similar cobbled path.

4 The projection immediately south of the entry probably held garde-
robes. Buck’s engraving shows a surprising absence of windows on the
north side of this range, perhaps to ensure privacy from the churchyard.
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5 Taylor (1997 edn) 18.

6 R. L. Storey, The End of the House of Lancaster (1966) 23.

7 Taylor (1997 edn) 18.

8 The church was also totally rebuilt by Lovel on earlier foundations.

9 For the apocryphal story concerning the discovery of a skeleton two and
a half centuries later, Taylor (1997 edn) 19.

A. J. Taylor, Minster Lovell Hall: Handbook (1939 and many subsequent
editions)

NOTLEY ABBEY, Buckinghamshire

The principal survival of the monasteries at Notley and nearby
Thame is their late medieval abbatial lodgings, sharing a common
development and stylistic enhancement pattern almost indistin-
guishable from that of fashionable contemporary society. Notley’s
domestic range stands in the lee of Long Crendon and at the end of
a tree-lined approach and crossing over the River Thame. This
Augustinian house, founded before 1162, became one of the
wealthier monasteries in the region. The abbey church was exca-
vated in 1937! and two sides of the thirteenth-century cloister garth
survive as a barn and the domestic offices range of the present
house. The main residence is L-shaped, two-storeyed throughout,
built of rubble stone with some dressed work. It has been continu-
ously inhabited and has not suffered major structural loss, though
ithad devolved to farmhouse status by about 1730 until regenerated
in about 1890. The tactful restoration gave it a sympathetic late
medieval character by replacing the many Georgian casement
windows with those of early Tudor form.

The west claustral range, 82 feet long, probably the cellarer’s
domain with guest accommodation above, has been so thoroughly
adapted for twentieth-century kitchen, offices, and bedrooms that
interest focuses entirely on the late medieval north-west building.
It was developed in two phases, a mid-fifteenth-century structure at
right angles to the earlier west range, and an early sixteenth-century
cross wing with a slightly higher roof and a stair turret at the north-
west angle.

The ground floor of the fifteenth-century unit consists of two
unequal-sized rooms (now dining and withdrawing), as it did orig-
inally, but the present division is comparatively recent and has
reversed the rooms’ proportions. The original division is marked by
an external buttress, while the roof structure confirms that the block
was of five bays, with the outer room of three and the inner room
of two bays. The same plan was followed at first-floor level where
the chambers were open to the roof. They are lit at both levels by
identical windows of paired cinquefoil lights, well moulded inter-
nally and externally, with four small trefoil lights in line above under
square hoods. However, this striking fenestration is a rearrange-
ment of ¢.1890. Late nineteenth-century photographs show only
the two windows to the right of the buttress in their present posi-
tion, with a blocked second one at first-floor level further to the
right and another one opposite it on the north side of the block.
Though these last two have been resited to the left of the buttress
to create the present regular pattern, there is no doubt that these
windows are genuine and pertinent to this block.

It consisted of a hall 35 feet long and an inner chamber 20 feet
long at both levels. The ground-floor approach from the claustral
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pLATE 53 Notley Abbey: east frontage

range was by a fifteenth-century doorway with continuous moulded
jambs and two-centred head (now blocked).? The larger room had
a ground-floor fireplace in the middle bay, now eliminated. The
chamfered ceiling beams in both rooms are markedly plain. The
upper floor has been ceiled and divided into bedrooms and a north-
facing corridor, with all windows on this side uncusped lights of
¢.1890. Originally the larger outer chamber was open to a fine three-
bay roof spanned by collar-beam trusses supporting V struts filled
with open quatrefoil tracery, now badly damaged. The two-bay
inner chamber was spanned off-centre by a collar-beam truss sup-
ported by curved moulded braces but minus any decorative quatre-
foil between the struts. The two chambers are separated by a
tie-beam truss to support a partition, with the plaster infill to the
roof ridge decorated with sprigs of flowers. Both chambers have
moulded wall plates and a single line of wind braces. In the absence
of smoke-blackened timbers, a mural fireplace to the upper hall
using the same stack as below may be assumed, but the inner
chamber fireplace survives. Both hall and chamber were lit by the
earlier-mentioned windows — the hall with two facing south and one
in the north wall, and the inner chamber with one identical with that
reinstated next to the fireplace. The markedly low ground-floor
rooms are likely to have been the abbot’s kitchen and offices, con-
veniently next to the cellarer’s range, with the upper rooms occupied
by the abbot.? Their approach has not been traced, but it may have
been in the end wall, rebuilt when the north cloister range was
pulled down.

The abbot’s accommodation proved inadequate, and it was

122

extended in the early sixteenth century by a wing almost at right
angles to the earlier block. It consisted at both levels of a single
room and short projection at the south-west angle, linked by a
newel in the hexagonal turretat the north-west angle. The wing was
raised on a continuous low plinth and supported by end buttresses,
diagonal to the south, with no evidence of a building break between
the projection and the body of the wing. The ground-floor north
window of paired transomed lights with uncusped four-centred
heads under a square hood is original,* and was the pattern for all
the window replacements of ¢.1890. The stair turret with light slits,
two string courses, and an embattled head is in excellent state, and
is unusual in having its own external entry.

The ground floor of the cross wing is an imposing one, particu-
larly as it is now approached through a forced doorway from the
preceding low-ceiled rooms, whereas it was originally entered from
the newel lobby. This spacious chamber, with its original north
window, has a high ceiling, well-moulded beams, and a striking fire-
place 9 feet wide. The wooden lintel and jambs are a copy of those
in the room above, while the low fireplace in the projection was a
doorway at the beginning of the twentieth century.’ The newel
steps are broad, and though the entry to the lower room has been
walled up, that serving the room above has not. The upper chamber
retains its stone jambs to the wooden lintel, with a garderobe to the
side with its shaft integral with the chimney stack. The roof of tie-
beam trusses with queen-post-supported collar and wind braces is
utilitarian and undecorated, and was probably never visible.

This extension was a two-unit lodging at both levels, interlinked,
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FIGURE 25 Notley Abbey: ground plan and room function

butits occupation pattern is conjectural. Because of the height of the
ground-floor room, the chamber above was at a higher level than
the earlier rooms used by the abbot so that the present forced
passage and steps between them would have had to be made at that
time. The abbot now enjoyed a grand suite of rooms — hall, chamber,
second chamber, and bedchamber — while the ground-floor lodging,
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with its independent entry from the newel lobby, would have been
reserved for special guests. It was probably this added first-floor
chamber that was enhanced in about 1530 with the exquisite panel-
ling made for the last abbot, Richard Rydge (1529-39) and bearing
his name in the wooden cornice. In about 1780, the five tiers of
linenfold panelling 12 feet high and the elaborately carved cornice
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were moved to Weston Manor, 12 miles away, where they now line
the great hall.¢

This mid-fifteenth-century development and early sixteenth-
century expansion of the abbot’s lodging closely parallels that at
the Cistercian abbey at Thame, 3 miles to the south. Similarly
two-storeyed but slightly smaller in scale, Notley retains the roof
structures that Thame has lost, whereas Thame retains the con-
temporary panelling and cornice that have been taken from
Notley. The cornice design with its heads in medallions, mer-
maids, urns, arabesques, and acanthus scrolls is very similar to that
at Thame. It is evidence of the close ties between these two foun-
dations where the last abbot, Robert King (1530-9), was similarly
enhancing his lodgings with comparable internal decoration of
outstanding quality. About twenty years earlier, his predecessor
John Warren (1509-29) had extended and enhanced the lodgings
at Thame at about the same time they were being extended at
Notley. Both residences point to the highest standards of comfort
and scale, no different by this time from those of secular society.
Less than 3 miles away, the same craftsmen also worked at Nether
Winchendon House, a residence long owned by Notley Abbey and
leased in 1527 to one of Henry VIII’s privy councillors, Sir John
Daunce (d.1545).” The ground-floor parlour in the extension he
built was lined during the early 1530s with linenfold panelling sur-
mounted by a delicately carved cornice with early Renaissance dec-
oration repeated on the underside of the intersecting cross beams
and comparable with the work at Thame. Ecclesiastical and secular
patronage had become indistinguishable, but who was the initiator
in this closely related circle of early Renaissance craftsmanship in
the Buckinghamshire/Oxfordshire area, church or state?

NOTES

1 Pantin (1941) 25-34. Earlier cloister excavations in 1932-3 recorded by
C. Hohler, Rec. of Berks. 12 and 13 (1939-40).

2 All other doorways throughout the range, internal and external, are post-
medieval.

3 The camera abbatis is mentioned in a visitation of 1447. A. H. Thompson,
Visitations (1436—49) (1918) 256.

4 See page 183 n.5.

5 See RCHM (1912) 245, plan and comment. The shaft access from the
ground-floor hearth is a mid-twentieth-century forced entry.

6 Weston Manor is a mid-sixteenth-century house developed round a
moated medieval house of Osney Abbey and used by their bailiffs from
the thirteenth century to 1539. Though the low north and west wings
round a small court to the rear of the Tudor house retain some medieval
evidence, the principal structure is the early sixteenth-century hall, 42
feet by 19 feet, in the south range. It may have been used as the court
room of the manor but the mid position and height of the projecting stair
turret suggest that it was more probably created from a two-storeyed
chamber block. Today, this room is embellished with the early sixteenth-
century panelling from the abbot’s house at Notley and a fifteenth-
century roof from one of its claustral ranges. This fine five-bay structure
has arch-braced collar trusses with two rows of wind braces, moulded
wall plates, and traces of blue, green, and deep red colouring. It was ini-
tially moved from the abbey to Great Chesterton in the eighteenth
century until transferred to Weston in 1851 and positioned on Victorian
corbels. H. Carr, Country Life (August 1928); VCH, Oxfordshire, VI
(1959) 347.

7 The timber frame of the fifteenth-century hall survives within the post-
medieval stone-clad and brick-built residence. The house retains the
lease of 1527 between Daunce and John Marston, abbot of Notley, and
also holds a near-contemporary tapestry of Henry VIII flanked by Lord

Russell and archbishop Cranmer, with a particularly fine border of early
Renaissance decoration. A. Oswald, Country Life (April-May 1960).

VCH, Buckingbamshire, IV (1927) 36-7

RCHM, Buckingbamshire (South) (1912) 244-6
W. A. Pantin, Oxoniensia 6 (1941) 22-43

OCKWELLS MANOR, Berkshire

The court of Henry VI at Windsor Castle and the construction of
Eton College influenced the development of Ockwells Manor, 7
miles distant. Well over 500 years later, a motorway and the spread
of suburban housing from Maidenhead to within a field’s distance
have deprived the property of its long-held isolation, although it
still faces a rural landscape.

DEVELOPMENT

The manor was acquired by the Lancashire family of Noreys in
1268 when it was granted to Richard Noreys, cook to Queen
Eleanor.! It passed in 1422 to Sir William Noreys, the younger son
of Sir Henry Noreys of Speke near Liverpool, the chosen centre of
the family’s extensive and continuously expanding landholding in
south-west Lancashire and west Cheshire. William served as sheriff
of Berkshire under Henry V and was an esquire of the body to
Henry VI during his infancy. The manor of Ockwells passed to his
son John in about 1446,2 who had entered royal service by 1429 as
an usher of the chamber.? Grants, custodies, and benefits flowed
towards him during the 1430s and 1440s.* He rose to the key house-
hold positions of master of the royal wardrobe (first recorded in
1447) and treasurer of the queen’s chamber (1446-52). He built up
a substantial landholding in Oxfordshire and Berkshire, was sheriff
in those and several other counties between 1437 and 1448, and was
a member of parliament on seven occasions between 1439 and
14535 Though a long-standing and dependable household figure
and a staunch Lancastrian, he seems to have retained his position as
master of the wardrobe under Edward IV.

John Noreys married three times. By 1437 he was married to
Alice Merbrooke of Yattendon near Reading, who brought him that
manor which served as Noreys’ principal residence for much of his
life, crenellated under licence in 1448 and where he rebuilt the
church.® His second wife was Eleanor Clitherow, a Kentish heiress
whose fortune helped to pay for Ockwells Manor, while his third
wife was Margaret Chedworth who married Noreys in September
1459. Within four months of Noreys’ death in September 1466,
Margaret had married that zealous Yorkist the duke of Norfolk
(d.1485), but she retained Ockwells until her own death ten years
later.’

Initially John Noreys owned a house at Windsor to be close to
the royal court he served,® but he initiated the construction of
Ockwells during the last decade of Henry VI’s reign. The armorial
glass in the hall includes the arms of his first and second wives, but
not those of his third, and those of Henry VI and his queen but not
those of Edward IV. It is unlikely that the arms of the house of
Lancaster would have been displayed so prominently after the dep-
osition of Henry VI, particularly as Noreys owed his knighthood
to his Yorkist successor. Other arms limit the construction of the
hall to a date after 1451 when Richard Beauchamp, one of Noreys’
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PLATE 54 Ockwells Manor: entrance front from the outer court

associates, was appointed bishop of Salisbury and before 1459 when
Noreys remarried for the third time. In his will of April 1465,
Noreys made a bequest of £40 to ‘the full bilding and making uppe
of the Chapell with the Chambres ajoyning with’n my manoir of
Okholt in the p’issh of Bray aforesaid not yet finisshed, x1 pounds’.?
Construction of the house was therefore initiated during the early
1450s, and it was essentially built by 1459, with the final work
nearing completion by 1465, eighteen months before Noreys’
death.

The highly important hall glass is entirely a display of the
builder’s patrons, friends, and associates. Apart from the arms of
Henry VI and Queen Margaret, there are those of the queen’s
chamberlain (Lord Wenlock), her keeper of the wardrobe (Richard
Bulstrode), the dukes of Somerset (d.1455), Suffolk (d.1450), and
Warwick (d.1446), the earl of Wiltshire (d.1461), Sir Richard
Nanfan (d.1447), and more locally John Purye of Bray, another
household official, and Sir William Lacon, the chief justice, buried
in Bray church. Just as Ralph, Lord Cromwell, was the centre of a
building programme involving his circle of friends, so Noreys was
influenced by his patrons and associates, including the work of the
king at Eton College, the Beauchamp family at Warwick, Elmley,
Hanley, and Cardiff castles, as well as their extensions of Warwick
collegiate church, Lord Wenlock at Someries, and Sir Richard
Nanfan who initiated the development of Birtsmorton Court.
Noreys’ display could not be a more ostentatious demonstration of
political partisanship!® (see plate 201).

No evidence has been found of any earlier house before the
present one, which stands complete, as do some of the contempo-
rary outbuildings round two sides of the outer court. Quadrangular
shaped round its own smaller inner court, Ockwells Manor stands
two storeys high except for the hall (and originally the kitchen)
which is open to the roof. The entrance fagade is nearly symmetri-
cal, with the hall block in the centre, flanked by a residential range
at each end. The kitchen and service rooms were in an unusual posi-
tion filling the fourth side of the inner court.
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In 1583, the Noreys family sold the property to William Day,
provost of Eton, whose son rebuilt the north side of the inner court
to accommodate a new staircase. The house was rescued from its
dilapidated farmhouse state by Sir Stephen Leach in 1889 who ini-
tiated the restoration, completed at the beginning of the twentieth
century by Sir Edward Barry (d.1949).!! Their thorough pro-
gramme under Fairfax Wade made good the original fabric, but no
record was kept of their work so that the house is now seen through
a late Victorian ‘bloom’. Few basic changes were made, but the
staircase was moved and a large window inserted to light it. The hall
windows were left alone, but all the others in the outer facade were
reconstructed and enhanced with elaborately decorated lights.
Those in the other fronts were totally renewed, and the openings
round the inner court were glazed. Two elaborate sixteenth-century
fireplaces were brought in, while Barry also added a wing of offices
and staff quarters at the north-west angle.

FORECOURT

The manor house stands on one side of a grassed forecourt which
may have originally been divided, physically as well as functionally,
for the outer part is devoted to estate facilities (base court) and the
inner part to domestic buildings (outer court).!? Today, it is among
the larger forecourts of its period in England. Approximately 220
feet by 140 feet towards the lower end, it is smaller than the north
court of Dartington Hall (1388-99) and the contemporary institu-
tional quadrangles planned though not built by Henry VI at Eton
College and King’s College, Cambridge, but larger than the outer
court of Lord Cromwell’s Wingfield Manor (1440—c.1456).1* It was
exceeded by only a handful of quadrangles during the close of the
middle ages such as Thornbury Castle and the outer court of
Eltham Palace which did not take its final shape until the early
Tudor period.'*

The forecourt is entered through an open archway abutting the
house end of the stable block. This was the original approach from
Windsor, and though it lacks door evidence, the entry was presum-
ably closed initially. It was no more defensive than the chambered
lich-gate (1448) to Bray church or that to Long Compton church
in Warwickshire. The stable block is a single storey, timber-framed
with brick infilling, whereas the gateway upper storey is plaster-
filled between the posts. The first-floor room with its apparently
original courtyard-facing oriel of eight cusped lights!® was reached
from the adjacent range, but since the destruction of the latter in
the eighteenth century, the room has been deprived of any point of
entry.

The east side of the court is closed by a box-frame and brick-built
barn of eight bays, 120 feet long, with two prominent wagon
entrances facing the house. Beyond its north end is a brick dove-
cote, supported by four added stepped buttresses with stone facings.
There is no reason to doubt that these outer buildings are contem-
porary with the house.!¢ They provided the essential support for the
estate of a large household, including stabling, straw, hay, wagon
storage, and winter food provision.

That part of the court closer to the house is flanked by two ruined
brick walls marking the position of former ranges. That on the left
has four-centred doorways at each end, separating irregularly spaced
windows. The arms and animals in the spandrels of the doorway next
to the house are claimed to be the arms of Noreys and his first wife,
with the supporters of his second wife.!” It is immediately followed
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OCKWELLS MANOR

by a four-light window with a low sill and a prominent chalk stone
which may mark an internal division of a room 20 feet long. All but
one of the windows in the remainder (and greater part) of the range
are blocked, but the stub of brick walling in the south garden, 30 feet
from the range entry, hints at an L-shaped building. Said to have
been destroyed by fire in 1720,'® this range is the only one to use
dressed stone and a diamond pattern of dark brick headers. These
features point to a slightly later date of construction, while its east-
facing position next to the house gives credence to its attribution as
the chapel and group of chambers mentioned in Noreys’ will of
1465.

The right-hand wall is equally impassive. Of single-storey height
and ata slight obtuse angle to the house, it is interrupted by five slits
in wide embrasures under wooden lintels, 10 feet apart. It has been
suggested these were arrow slits in a curtain wall protecting the
approach from Maidenhead,!? but it is more likely that it was the
outer wall of a courtyard range. Nash and Parker show part of such
a structure on this side of the court, two-storeyed and timber-
framed, linked by a narrow gabled block to the house.?® It had been
truncated by 1859, but the standing brick wall may be part of its
outer face, a remnant of a staff or household lodging range, similar
to those lining the outer court at Wingfield Manor. Furthermore,
this and the opposing ranges slightly taper towards the entrance
front of the house, creating a theatrical approach as the similarly
positioned ranges do more forcefully at Lord Cromwells
Derbyshire mansion.

HOUSE

The house is a box-frame structure, laid on a brick sill, with brick
noggin externally, and plaster infill between the timber studs inter-
nally. Despite its late Victorian elaboration, the entrance facade was
always intended to be a show front. It is not entirely symmetrical in
design, for the outer gables at each end of the central hall block are
slightly higher and larger than the inner gables above the porch and
hall bay window, while the two-storeyed porch projects more
prominently than the bay window, just as the left-hand range does
compared with that to the right.

The fagade’s embellishment lies in four planes — brick noggin,
window heads, gable heads, and barge boards. The brick infill is
patterned in four designs, created by setting the lines of bricks at
different angles between the timber supports. This is most obvious
in the central bays of the hall and the side wall of the porch.
Suspicion that this may be late Victorian elaboration is allayed to
some extent by its depiction at first-floor level in Parker’ illustra-
tion of 1859, and by the increasing identification of similarly pat-
terned contemporary work.?!

Apart from the hall with its plain two-centred lights, each
window is of wide proportions with different patterns of ingeni-
ously shaped heads. These are insertions by Barry. Comparison
with Joseph Nash’s illustration of this frontage in 1838 shows that
only the hall windows survive unaltered. All the others were two-
or three-light openings of Elizabethan date, except for that serving
the first-floor solar where the three lights have the four-centred
heads of the hall oriel.?? Fred Crossley noted that the oriel windows
in the end gables were reconstructed from sufficient indications,
but were reproductions with problematical tracery.* The three
shields and motto on the underside of the porch oriel is again Barry
elaboration. Garner and Stratton noted that the foundations of the
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pLATE 55 Ockwells Manor: engraving of hall interior by Joseph Nash
(1838-48)

bay window to the withdrawing room under the solar existed below
ground and the mortise holes where the main timbers had been
removed gave clear indications of the missing parts. In their
opinion, the rebuilding of this bay had been carried out with much
skill and commendable conservatism.?*

The gable heads are filled with blind panelling and the ornate
barge boards, not surprisingly damaged in places, are also original.
While the two on the left differ slightly from those on the right,
Nash shows them in existence in 1838, as do Turner and Parker
with one illustrated in detail.”® Reference has already been made to
the lost gabled range to the right of the residential block and in line
with it (though lacking its barge board by 1859). The entrance
front, therefore, was less elaborate and more extended than today,
and though Barry’s work was intended to enhance the facade, it
over-gilds the lily. The other three fagades are plain. Their brick-
work is regularly laid and the windows are all Barry replacements.

The hall is entered from the storeyed porch with its small upper
chamber. The spandrels of the depressed four-centred outer arch
have dragons and oak leaves, and those of the similar inner arch
have a griffin and an antelope. The entry door is original, but there
is a secondary door facing the open framework on the north side of
the porch. The hall is of four bays, 41% feet by 24 feet. The screens
passage fills half the first bay, with an original door at the further
end opening into the inner court corridor. The screen, in part orig-
inal, is a plain structure of strong vertical studs with a mid-rail and
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two broad openings into the body of the hall. It has a few panels
with cinquefoil heads near the entry doors, and a low battlemented
cornice.

The hall is lit by windows with plain four-centred lights in the
upper half of the second and the east side of the third bay, with the
fireplace filling most of the opposite wall. The projecting square
window of the fourth bay with two tiers of six lights and three more
in the upper return opens from the dais under a four-centred arch.?
The fireplace is a well-proportioned stone structure, 8 feet wide and
almost as tall, with a pillar on either side and space for an oblong
panel or painted frieze above the head of the four-centred opening.
The lower half of the walls is covered with seventeenth-century
panelling, but the timber framing and plaster infill above are
exposed. The open roof, 36 feet from floor to apex, is a braced
collar-beam structure with simple mouldings and a single line of
curved wind braces.

The hall essentially survives in its original condition, a relatively
plain but well-proportioned structure. The one elaborate feature is
the almost complete and rare display of contemporary armorial
glass in the windows towards the forecourt. Eight out of the nine
upper lights in the bay and the ten lights in the two adjacent
windows are filled with a brilliantly coloured display of arms and
helms against quarries painted with the badge of three distaffs tied
by a gold ribbon, thought to be the badge of the royal wardrobe
which had been under Noreys’ control.?” If so, he was simply emu-
lating Ralph, Lord Cromwell’s practice of displaying the Treasurer’s
purse at Tattershall Castle and Wingfield Manor. Each light is
banded with diagonal stripes of white glass with the mottoes dieu et
mon droit and humble et loial enriching the two royal arms and the
words ffeyth fully serve about the rest. Noreys’ dedication to the
Lancastrian cause could not be clearer, while the quality is so
capable that it could have been the work of the king’ glazier, John
Prudde.”® The arms are no longer in their original order as
they were removed to Taplow Court early in the nineteenth century
until the restoration of the house by Barry warranted their return.

The original approach to the family residential unit has been
superseded by the seventeenth-century staircase, moved by Barry
from the courtyard, but direct corridor access towards the kitchen
at this point would have been unlikely. The ground-floor parlour,
35% feet by 16% feet, is divided into three bays, with ceiling beams
of the plainest character. The fireplace is mid-sixteenth century, the
panelling early seventeenth, and the ten-light bay window a Barry
re-creation on the original foundations.?” The chamber above is of
similar proportions (now with end lobby and bathroom) with a
comparable fireplace to that below and a queen post roof.

The rooms at the lower end of the hall do not follow the conven-
tional plan. Two adjacent contemporary doorways open from the
screens passage into differently proportioned rooms. The larger
one is also approached from a door in the porch (a feature repeated
at Ufton Court) and has a fireplace which the second room lacks.
As there is evidence of a door in the partition wall, Noreys planned
a two-roomed lodging in this position with its own independent
entrance, possibly for a special member of his family. There is a
single large room above.

The small inner court was originally surrounded on three sides
by a double-storeyed cloister with a continuous row of unglazed
wooden windows with plain four-centred heads at both ground-
and first-floor level.** The north side was modified in the seven-

PLATE 56 Ockwells Manor: hatch to buttery

teenth century, and the fourth side is taken up by the hall chimney
stack and rear wall. The ground-floor corridor accessed the offices
and kitchen. The pantry and buttery were formerly separated by a
stud and panel partition, since removed to create a single room, but
the impressive servery hatch survives with its fall-front shelf
towards the corridor, original hinges, and unglazed window
above.’! The kitchen, formerly open to the roof and with a large
hearth in its outer wall and two wells nearby, has been completely
modernised. Leach and Barry’s alterations thoroughly modified this
part of the house when they converted the three service rooms and
the large chamber separating them from the subsidiary staircase to
residential use, and inserted the two elaborate fireplaces dated 1601
and 1673.3? For a family with cooking ability in their blood, the
facilities at Ockwells are elaborate and well planned. Food prepared
in a kitchen well away from the rest of the household would have
been passed to the servery, carried down the two unglazed corridors
to the screens passage, and thence through the hall towards the dais
table.

The first-floor rooms can be approached from the original sub-
sidiary staircase on the south side of the house. They essentially
follow the plan of the rooms below, and have not been greatly
altered from their initial condition through adaptation to modern
living purposes. They benefited from the independent corridor
access, although the area next to the bedroom above the parlour
may have been an outer chamber. None of the fireplaces is of con-
sequence, while all the rooms are open to braced collar-beam roofs
with king- or queen-post supports and single lines of wind braces.

OVERVIEW
Ockwells Manor is a pristine example of a mid-fifteenth-century
home of a well-to-do knight with close courtly connections, little
altered in materials, plan, elevation, or occupation. It is enhanced

128



OCKWELLS MANOR

by survival of some of the associated outbuildings, and the remains
of a chapel and lodging range. Though not as imposing as contem-
porary magnate-built double-courtyard mansions such as Sudeley
Castle and Wingfield Manor, Ockwells can be compared in overall
layout with Great Chalfield Manor (1478-85). They both have an
outer court with chapel, stables, barn, and arched entrance, a sym-
metrical fagade, a slightly unusual disposition of generously propor-
tioned rooms, and a small inner court with arcaded passages.

Ockwells takes pleasure in the use of its building materials.
Pevsner described it as ‘the most refined and most sophisticated
timber-framed mansion in England’,*® although his assessment
included the Victorian embellished windows. Nevertheless, Ockwells
is restrained in comparison with framed houses of the Weald, and
positively subtle judged against work in the Welsh borderland and
Cheshire.** Ockwells has been compared by John Harris with
Cresswells (or Philiberds) Manor in Berkshire, a destroyed timber-
framed residence nearby with some similarities, though the framing
of the timbered gables and the large windows look sixteenth rather
than mid-fifteenth century.*> The primary influence was undoubt-
edly the school buildings at Eton College (1441-9), not only through
links of patronage but also through the predominant use of brick and
possibly the employment of the same craftsmen, initially for in-
filling between the timbers, but more extensively for the ranges
round the outer court. The College was equally influential in the use
of glazed windows without decorative cusping, and the decision to
build a double-storeyed cloister with unglazed windows round the
inner court.

Decoration was primarily concentrated on the entrance facade.
Superficially symmetrical, the frontage is inventive and welcoming.
In proportions, tones, and harmony of materials, this fagade is an
aesthetic pleasure. In contrast, the lack of internal ornamentation is
striking. This particularly applies to the hall screen and roof, the
plain four-centred window heads (where not Victorianised), and the
roofs of the principal upper rooms. On the other hand, the dazzling
armorial glass in the hall suggests that the plainness of the building
may have been deliberate to offset the richness of its furnishings.?¢
This splendid example of the glazier’s art, proudly displaying
Noreys’ badge of office just as Lord Cromwell did, creates a sump-
tuous effect that also points up what has been lost in other houses
through centuries of destruction.

Internally, the Manor was (and is) a spacious, airy residence
which was not so much unconventional as advanced and highly
practical in its planning. The offices and kitchen were moved some
distance from the polite rooms, and a paired lodging was created at
the lower end of the hall pointing towards the preference by later
generations for a second parlour in this position. Noreys’ near con-
temporary Thomas Tropnell built a comfortable parlour below the
screens at Great Chalfield Manor, a further example of the desire
for privacy initiating new design concepts at this period. The size
of the first-floor rooms is noteworthy, while the highly practical
internal corridors at ground- and first-floor levels are a reflection of
the cloister practice adopted at the highest level, including
Herstmonceux Castle, Eton College, and Tattershall Castle,’ to
bring order, shelter, and privacy to the household. Far less altered
than most contemporary houses, Ockwells Manor is a prime
example of a mid-century residence, designed to impress Noreys’
courtly friends and to be a convivial centre to entertain them, and
an unequivocal statement of his success and affluence.
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OLVESTON COURT and Gloucestershire fortified houses

This lightly fortified manor house, 5 miles south-west of Thorn-
bury, came into the possession of the south Gloucestershire
family of Denys through the marriage of Sir William Denys to
Margaret Corbett of Olveston in 1378. His son similarly
acquired Dyrham Park through marriage in 1416, adding to a
portfolio which already included houses not far away at Alvestone
and Siston. Sir Maurice Denys, who seems to have been a Yorkist
supporter, improved Dyrham by adding ‘a new courte’ to the pre-
vious ‘meane howse there’.! In 1472, Olveston Court was
acquired by John Walshe whose family held it until 1600. John
Walshe (d.1498) married Elizabeth Foster of Little Sodbury
Manor and their son moved there in 1511 in preference to the
Court. By the close of the sixteenth century Olveston had entered
a period of neglect, and it was in ruins by 1712 when Atkyns
wrote his history of the county. The remains are not all that dif-
ferent today.

Although the present approach to Olveston Court is from the
village, originally it lay in the opposite direction, with a visitor
cresting a low rise to look down on the moated manor house. The
visitor would then wend his or her way towards the embattled front-
age and gateway, like the similar approach to the grander fortified
houses at Nunney and Wardour. Th